
 

City Commission Agenda 
for 

March 6, 2007 

 
Please Note:  The City Commission agenda format allows citizens to speak on each issue prior 
to Commission discussion.  We encourage your participation. 

 
CALL TO ORDER:  7:00 P.M. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
PROCLAMATION 
 25th Annual Native American Art Show 
 
NEIGHBORHOOD COUNCILS 

1. Miscellaneous reports and announcements. 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 

2. Res. 9625, Cost Recovery, 510 11th Street South.  Assesses total 
charges of $1,079 against property for nuisance abatement.  Action:  
Conduct public hearing and adopt or deny Res. 9625.  (Presented 
by: Mike Rattray) 

3. Eagle’s Crossing Phase II, consisting of 49 single-family residential 
lots located immediately west of Eagle’s Crossing Phase I.  
(Presented by: Ben Rangel) 
A. Res. 9636, Annexes said property.  Action:  Conduct public 

hearing and adopt or deny Res. 9636. 
B. Ord. 2961, Establish zoning classification of R-3 Single-family 

high density district.  Action:  Conduct public hearing and adopt 
or deny Ord. 2961. 

4. Eagle’s Crossing Phase III, consisting of 30 single-family residential 
lots located immediately west of Eagle’s Crossing Phase I.  
(Presented by: Ben Rangel) 
A. Res. 9637, Annexes said property.  Action:  Conduct public 

hearing and adopt or deny Res. 9637. 
B. Ord. 2962, Establish zoning classification of R-2 single-family 

medium density district.  Action:  Conduct public hearing and 
adopt or deny Ord. 2962. 

5. Upper/Lower River Road Water & Sewer District.  (Presented by: 
Ben Rangel) 
A. Res. 9639, Annexes Service District No. 1 (excluding parcels 1, 2, 

& 3).  Action:  Conduct public hearing and adopt or deny Res. 
9639. 



B. Res. 9643, Annexes a segment of BNSF Railroad R/W located in 
Service District No. 1.  Action:  Conduct public hearing and adopt 
or deny Res. 9643. 

C. Ord. 2960, Establish zoning classification of R-1 Single-family 
suburban, R-3 Single-family high density, R-10 Mobile home park, 
and PUD Planned unit development districts to the various 
properties within District.  Action:  Conduct public hearing and 
adopt or deny Ord. 2960. 

 
OLD BUSINESS 

6. Ord. 2950, Great Falls Land Development Code Amendments.  
Amends various chapters of the City Land Development Code.  
Action:  Adopt or deny Ord. 2950.   (Presented by:  Ben Rangel) 

 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS 

7. Ord. 2963, Establish City Zoning Upon Northview Addition Phase 2.  
Establishes zoning classification of PUD Planned unit development 
district.  Action:  Accept Ord. 2963 on first reading and set public 
hearing for April 3, 2007.  (Presented by:  Ben Rangel) 

8. Ord. 2964, Establish City Zoning Upon Cottage Grove Addition 
Phase 2.  Establishes zoning classification of PUD Planned unit 
development district.  Action:  Accept Ord. 2964 on first reading and 
set public hearing for April 3, 2007.  (Presented by: Ben Rangel) 

9. Ord. 2965, Amending OCCGF 9.90 Fireworks Policy.  Action:  Accept 
Ord. 2965 on first reading and set public hearing for March 20, 2007.  
(Presented by: Randy McCamley) 

10. Ord. 2967, Great Falls West Bank Urban Renewal Plan.  Action:  
Accept Ord. 2967 on first reading and set public hearing for March 
20, 2007.  (Presented by: Ben Rangel) 

11. Ord. 2968, Amending OCCGF Title 2, Chapter 50, Section 040 
pertaining to Neighborhood Council candidate requirements.  Action:  
Accept Ord. 2968 on first reading and set final reading for March 20, 
2007.  (Presented by: David Gliko) 

 
CONSENT AGENDA  The Consent Agenda is made up of routine day-to-day items that require 

Commission action.   Items may be pulled from the Consent Agenda for separate discussion/vote by 
any Commissioner. 

12. Minutes, February 20, 2007, Commission meeting. 
13. Total Expenditures of $1,408,534 for the period of February 16-28, 

2007, to include claims over $5000, in the amount of $1,269,300. 
14. Contracts list. 
15. Approve professional services agreement with Interstate 

Engineering, Inc., in the amount of $19,700 for the Rehabilitation of 
the Mitchell, Water Tower and Jaycee Pools, Amendment #1, Splash 
Decks. 

16. Award construction contract to PEC, Inc., in the amount of $120,791 
for the Sanitary Sewer Trenchless Rehabilitation. 



17. Approve Change Order No. 2 to NewMech Companies, Inc., in the 
amount of $8,129 for the Contract 02 – General Construction for the 
Wastewater Treatment Plant Cogeneration Project. 

18. Postpone bid award for one new 2007 tandem axle roll-off cab and 
chassis. 

19. Award bid for one new 2007 tandem axle truck with a new 2007 
rearload refuse packer to I-State Truck Center in Great Falls in the 
amount of $149,137, including trade-in. 

20. Approve granting of funds to assist in the construction of offsite utility 
extensions serving Great Falls Community Ice Foundation's facility. 

21. Authorize City Manager to execute electricity supply contracts for City 
facilities/operations. 

 
Action:  Approve Consent Agenda or remove items for further discussion and 
approve remaining items. 
 
BOARDS & COMMISSIONS 

22. Preliminary Plat, Castle Pines Addition Phase 5.  Consists of 21 lots 
for single-family residences located along the east side of the 13th 
Street South and in the vicinity of 27th Avenue South.  Action:  
Approve or deny Preliminary Plat and the accompanying Findings of 
Fact subject to fulfillment of conditions stipulated by the Planning 
Board. 

23. Miscellaneous reports and announcements. 
 
CITY MANAGER 

24. Miscellaneous reports and announcements. 
 
CITY COMMISSION 

25. Miscellaneous reports and announcements. 
 
PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS 

26. Miscellaneous reports and announcements. 
 
MOTION TO ADJOURN 
 
 
 
 



   
 
 

   
 

      
 

 
 

      
 

  
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

_   _   _  _  _  _ 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA AGENDA # 2  
 
A G E N D A R E P O R T DATE: March 6, 2007 

ITEM Res. 9625, Cost Recovery, L7, B462, GF 1st Add., 510 11th St S 

INITIATED BY     Community Development Department 

ACTION REQUESTED  Conduct Public Hearing and adopt Res 9625 

PREPARED BY     Heather Rohlf, Code Enforcement 

REVIEWED & APPROVED BY     Mike Rattray, Community Development Director 

RECOMMENDATION: 
After closing the public hearing staff recommends the City Commission adopt Resolution 9625 and 
assess the total charges of $ 1,079.00 against the property itself with interest and penalties on the 
unpaid balance. 

MOTION: 
I move to adopt Resolution 9625. 

SYNOPSIS: 
The owner(s): Gary Witsoe (owner’s agent Michael Witsoe), of property at Lot 7, Block 462, Great 
Falls 1st Addition, Great Falls, Cascade County, Montana, was issued a “Notice of Hearing” before 
the City Commission of Great Falls to appear at 7:00 p.m., March 6, 2007.  The hearing is to show 
cause why the owner of the property should not be liable for the costs incurred in abating the 
property known as 510 11th St S. The following expenses were incurred: 

Administrative Fee $ 260.00 

Ownership and encumbrance report by Stewart Title $ 110.00 

Recording Fee $ 24.00 

Publishing – Legal Ad $ 35.00 

Cleanup by Gordon Construction $ 650.00 

TOTAL COSTS INCURRED $ 1,079.00 



 

 
   

 
    

      
   

       

 

 

       
 

 

 

 

 
   

 
  

     
  

 
 

     
 

  
 

    

  

 
 

 

 

BACKGROUND: 
Staff has taken the following action: 

Initial complaint taken for Junk Vehicle & Rubbish 7/12/2006 

Initial inspection of property  7/12/2006 

1st letter sent certified, with 14 & 30-day time period 7/13/2006 

Copy of letter faxed to property owner in Glendive, 
Gary Witsoe                                                  

8/11/2006 

1st 30 day Extension given 8/18/2006 

On-going complaints taken  8/21/2006 
8/28/2006 

Meeting with Michael Witsoe  9/21/2006 

2nd Extension given 9/21/2006 

2nd Inspection 9/28/2006 

Final Inspection 10/3/2006 

Photographs taken  10/3/2006 

Property abatement done by Gordon Construction 1/19/2007 

Photograph’s taken after the property abatement 1/19/2007  

ACTION  DATE  

Ownership and encumbrance report ordered 11/16/2006 

“Notice of Hearing” posted on property 2/22/2007 

“Notice of Hearing” mailed certified to owner’s agent                              2/22/2007 

“Notice of Hearing” published in GF TRIBUNE 2/24/2007 

Notification that a public hearing would be held on March 6, 2007, at 7:00 p.m., for the purpose of 
assessing said costs on the above-mentioned property was given to the property owner and published 
in the TRIBUNE on February 24, 2007. 

cc: Coleen Balzarini, Controller 
Judy Burg, Fiscal Control/Tax 



 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Amended 
RESOLUTION 9625 

A RESOLUTION ASSESSING THE COSTS 
INCURRED IN THE NUISANCE ABATEMENT OF 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT LOT 7, BLOCK 462, 
GREAT FALLS 1ST ADDITION, GREAT FALLS, 
CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA, ADDRESSED 
AS 510 11TH ST S, AGAINST SAID PROPERTY. 

WHEREAS, the owner of the property located at Lot 7, Block 462, Great Falls 1st Addition, 
Great Falls, Montana, 510 11th St S was issued a notice to abate the property. 

WHEREAS, after due notice the property owner did not abate the property. 

WHEREAS, staff hired a contractor to abate and clean the property. 

WHEREAS, the contractor completed abating & cleanup with staff approving the work. 

WHEREAS, the City Commission set March 6, 2007, at 7:00 p.m. for this hearing, to show 
cause why the property owner(s): Gary Witsoe (owner’s agent Michael Witsoe), should not be held 
liable for the costs incurred in abating and cleanup of said property. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 
OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, THAT: 

The amount of $ 1,079.00 $540 (amended 3/6/07 per motion. CK) for abating and cleanup 
costs incurred in the abatement of a nuisance at Lot 7, Block 462, Great Falls 1st Addition, Great 
Falls, Montana, described as 510 11th St S, be assessed against the property itself, with interest and 
penalties on the unpaid balance. 

https://1,079.00


 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

_______________________________________ 

_________________________________ 

_________________________________ 

________________________________ 

PASSED by the Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana, on this 6th day of March, 
2007. 

Dona R. Stebbins, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

David V. Gliko, City Attorney 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade: ss. 
City of Great Falls ) 

I, PEGGY J. BOURNE, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do hereby certify that 
the foregoing Resolution 9625 was placed on its final passage and adoption, and was passed and 
adopted by the City Commission of said City at a Regular Meeting thereof held on the 6th day of 
March 2007, and approved by the Mayor of said City, on the 6th day of March, 2007. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Seal of said City, this 
6th day of March, 2007. 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

  
  
  

 
 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the City Commission will hold a public hearing on March 6, 
2007, at 7:00 p.m., in the Commission Chamber of the Civic Center for assessing abating and 
cleanup costs on the following property in the amount set forth: 

 510 11th St S . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,079.00 

Any person interested or affected by the proposed charge may file written protests or objections, 
containing the description of the property and the grounds for such protest or objections, with the 
Clerk's office prior to the time set for the hearing. 

BY ORDER OF THE CITY COMMISSION 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

OFFICE USE ONLY 

Publication February 24, 2007 

cc: Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

Account # 451-7121-572-3599 

Owner(s): GARY WITSOE & MICHAEL WITSOE (owner’s agent) 
510 11th St S 
Great Falls MT 59405 

(Attach itemized account) 

Post on Property 
Property File 



  
 
 

 
  

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
       

 

ITEMIZED ACCOUNT FOR RECOVERY OF ABATEMENT COSTS 

The following expenses were incurred during the abatement and cleanup of property at Lot 7, Block 
462, Great Falls 1st Addition, Great Falls, Montana, more commonly known as 510 11th St S. 

Administrative Fee $ 260.00 

Ownership and encumbrance report by Stewart Title $ 110.00 

Recording Fee $ 24.00 

Publishing – Legal Ad $ 35.00 

Cleanup by Gordon Construction $ 650.00 

TOTAL EXPENSES INCURRED $1,079.00 



 
 
 

 
 

   
       

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA  AGENDA #  3 

A G E N D A R E P O R T  DATE  March 6, 2007 

ITEM         Public Hearing – Resolution No. 9636 to Annex and Ordinance No. 2961 to Establish City
                   Zoning Upon Eagle’s Crossing Phase II     

INITIATED BY       Eagle’s Crossing Inc., Property Owner and Developer                                  

ACTION REQUESTED     Commission Adopt Resolution No. 9636 and Ordinance No. 2961 and  
                                              Approve Final Plat and Agreement related to Eagle’s Crossing Phase II 

PREPARED BY  Bill Walters, Senior Planner 

APPROVED & PRESENTED BY    Benjamin Rangel, Planning Director                                             

RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended the City Commission approve the final plat and annexation of Eagle’s Crossing Phase II, 
and assign a zoning classification of R-3 Single-family high density district, upon annexation to the City. 

MOTION (Each motion to be separately considered):   
“I move the City Commission adopt Resolution No. 9636 and approve the final plat and Annexation 
Agreement all related to Eagle’s Crossing Phase II.” 

and 

“I move the City Commission adopt Ordinance No. 2961.” 

SYNOPSIS: 
Resolution No. 9636 annexes Eagle’s Crossing Phase II, which consists of 49 single-family residential lots 
located immediately west of Eagle’s Crossing Phase I which is located along the west side of the Bootlegger 
Trail approximately 2800 feet north of 36th Avenue Northeast. Ordinance No. 2961 assigns a zoning 
classification of R-3 Single-family high density district, to Eagle’s Crossing Phase II, upon annexation of 
same to City.  The accompanying Agreement contains terms and conditions associated with annexation of the 
subdivision. 

BACKGROUND: 
On July 18, 2006, the City Commission conditionally approved the preliminary plat of Eagle’s Crossing 
Phases II and III consisting of 79 residential lots located immediately west of Eagle’s Crossing Phase I which 
is located along the west side of the Bootlegger Trail approximately 2800 feet north of 36th Avenue Northeast. 
Phase II will consist of 49 lots and Phase III will consist of 30 lots. 

For additional information, please refer to the Vicinity/Zoning Map attached to Resolution No. 9636 as Exhibit “A” 
and the Final Plat of Eagle’s Crossing Phase II. 

Access to subject property will be provided by Bootlegger Trail and 46th Avenue NE through Phase I of the project. 
As each phase is annexed to the City, the public roadways contained therein will be improved with standard City 
paving, curb and gutter. 

City water, sanitary sewer, and storm sewer mains will be installed in the locations mutually acceptable to the 
project engineer and Public Works Department.  

Phase II’s park obligation was fulfilled as part of the dedication of 11.14 acres of park land in Phase I. 



   

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  

 

 

 
  

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

The final engineering documents relative to the final plat of Eagle’s Crossing Phase II have been prepared by 
the project engineer and submitted to the Public Works Department for review.  The annexation agreement 
has been executed by the applicant. Staff concludes that the basic conditions set forth in the conditional 
approval of the preliminary plat are being met by the developer in the overall process of final plat, final 
engineering and Annexation Agreement preparation for Eagle’s Crossing Phase II. 

Subject property is presently zoned in the County as “A” Agricultural District and it is proposed the property 
be zoned R-3 Single-family high density district, upon annexation to the City. 

Section 76-2-304 Montana Code Annotated lists criteria and guidelines which must be considered in 
conjunction with establishing municipal zoning on land: 

a) is designed in accordance with the growth policy (comprehensive plan); 
b) is designed to lessen congestion in the streets; 
c) will secure safety from fire, panic or other dangers; 
d) will promote health and the general welfare; 
e) will provide adequate light and air; 
f) will prevent overcrowding of land; 
g) will avoid undue concentration of population; 
h) will facilitate the adequate provision of transportation, water, sewerage, schools, parks and other 

public requirements; 
i) gives reasonable consideration to the character of the district; 
j) gives reasonable consideration to the peculiar suitability of the property for particular uses; 
k) will conserve the value of buildings; and 
l) will encourage the most appropriate use of land throughout the municipality. 

Subject property is located on the fringe of the City, which has been attracting high quality single family 
dwelling units. The subdivision is a natural projection of urban growth. 

Goals of the land use element of the Great Falls Growth Policy include: 
- To support and encourage efficient, sustainable development and redevelopment throughout the  

community. 
- To support and encourage a compatible mix of land uses in newly developing areas. 

Applicable policy statements include “residential land uses should be planned and located  so  that  they  do not  
result in adverse impacts upon one another” and “Annexations should be logical and efficient extensions of 
the City’s boundaries and service areas”. 

Annexation of subject property will enhance health, safety and welfare through application of City Codes and 
provision of municipal services. 

It is anticipated the planned single family use of the property will be compatible with neighboring uses. 
Therefore, staff concludes the above-cited criteria are substantially met. 

The City Zoning Commission, at the conclusion of a public hearing held June 13, 2006, unanimously 
recommended the City Commission assign a zoning classification of R-3 Single-family high density district, 
to Eagle’s Crossing Phase II, upon annexation of the area contained therein.  

The Planning Board during a meeting held September 12, 2006, passed a motion recommending the City 
Commission approve the final plat of Eagle’s Crossing Phase II and the annexation of the property contained 
therein subject to the following conditions: 

1) The applicant shall execute an Annexation Agreement acceptable to the City of Great Falls 
and shall submit the appropriate supporting documents referenced in the Agreement. 

2) All applicable fees and charges due as a consequence of either plat or annexation approval 
shall be paid by the applicant. 



 
  
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

3) Any errors or omissions on the final plat noted by staff shall be corrected. 

4) Final engineering documents for required public improvements to serve the subdivision are 
subject to approval by the Public Works Department. 

The above Conditions 1, 2 & 4 have been fulfilled and Condition 3 will be fulfilled prior to filing of the plat. 

Attach: Resolution No. 9636 
Ord. No. 2961 
Reduced Copy of Drawing Portion of Final Plat 
Annexation Agreement [Not available online; on file in City Clerk’s office.]   

cc: HKM Engineering Inc., P.O. Box 49, Great Falls, MT 59403 
Matt Rosendale, 1954 Hwy 16, Glendive, MT 59330 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

   

 
 

 
 
 

  
 

 
  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 9636 

A RESOLUTION BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 
CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, TO EXTEND THE 
BOUNDARIES OF SAID CITY TO INCLUDE EAGLE’S 
CROSSING PHASE II, LOCATED IN SECTION 25, 
TOWNSHIP 21 NORTH, RANGE 3 EAST, P.M.M., 
CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA, MORE PARTICULARLY 
DESCRIBED HEREINBELOW; ALL AS SHOWN ON THE 
MAP ATTACHED HERETO MARKED EXHIBIT “A” AND 
BY THIS REFERENCE MADE A PART HEREOF. 

* * * * * * * * * * 

WHEREAS, the City of Great Falls is a city incorporated under the laws of the State of 
Montana, and having a population of more than ten thousand (10,000) is a city of the first class; 
and, 

WHEREAS, there is contiguous to said City, but without the boundaries thereof, certain 
tracts or parcels of land situated in the County of Cascade, State of Montana, and described as 
follows: 

Eagle’s Crossing Phase II, located in Section 25, Township 21 North, Range 3 
East, P.M.M., Cascade County, Montana, and containing 16.964 acres, 

all as shown on the map attached hereto marked Exhibit “A” and by this reference made a part 
hereof, and according to the final plat of Eagle’s Crossing Phase II; and, 

WHEREAS, Section 7-2-4601, Montana Code Annotated, provides that whenever the 
owners of real property contiguous to any incorporated city of the first class petition to have said 
property made a part of the municipal corporation, such lands may be embraced within the 
corporate limits thereof and the boundaries of such city of the first class extended so as to include 
the same; and, 

WHEREAS, the owner of the hereinabove described property has submitted a petition to 
have said property annexed to the City of Great Falls. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Commission now finds that it is to the best interest of the 
City of Great Falls and its inhabitants to proceed with the incorporation of said territory into the 
City of Great Falls; and, 

WHEREAS, all of the proceedings herein have been conducted in strict compliance with 
and in conformity to the law and constitution of the State of Montana, and all conditions, acts, 
and things required to be done precedent to and in the passage and adoption of this resolution 
have been properly and legally done, and performed; 



 

 
  

 

 
  

 
 

 

 
  

 

 
  

 
         

                                                                          

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
  

     
                                                                                          

_____________________________

__________________________ 

_________________________ 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
GREAT FALLS, MONTANA; 

That the boundaries of the City of Great Falls, Montana, be and the same are hereby 
extended so as to embrace and include within the corporate limits of said city all of the land 
hereinabove described, included as: “EAGLE’S CROSSING PHASE II, LOCATED IN 
SECTION 25, TOWNSHIP 21 NORTH, RANGE 3 EAST, P.M.M., CASCADE COUNTY, 
MONTANA.” 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT 
FALLS, MONTANA: 

The Cascade County Clerk and Recorder is hereby authorized and directed to change the 
appropriate district boundaries of the City of Great Falls, Montana, to include said tract of land; 
and, 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED BY SAID CITY COMMISSION that this Resolution 
shall become effective from and after the date of the filing of said document in the office of the 
Cascade County Clerk and Recorder. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana, 
on this 6th day of March, 2007. 

       Dona R. Stebbins, Mayor    
ATTEST: 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

Approved for legal content: 

David V. Gliko, City Attorney 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade :ss 
City of Great Falls ) 

I, Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do hereby certify that 
the foregoing Resolution No. 9636 was placed on its final passage by the Commission of the City 
of Great Falls, Montana, at a meeting thereof held on the 6th day of March, 2007, wherein it was 
approved by said Commission. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Seal of said City 
this 6th day of March, 2007. 

      ___________________________ 
      Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 



 



 

 

 

 
        

 

 
    

 
 

 

 
  

 
   

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 

ORDINANCE NO. 2961  

AN ORDINANCE ASSIGNING A ZONING CLASSIFICATION 
OF R-3 SINGLE-FAMILY HIGH DENSITY DISTRICT TO 
EAGLE’S CROSSING PHASE II, IN THE NE1/4 OF SECTION 
25, TOWNSHIP 21 NORTH, RANGE 3 EAST, P.M.M., 
CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA 

*  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  * 

        WHEREAS, Eagle’s Crossing, Inc., has petitioned the City of Great Falls to annex Eagle’s 
Crossing Phase II, located in the NE1/4 of Section 25, Township 21 North, Range 3 East, 
P.M.M., Cascade County, Montana; and, 

WHEREAS, Eagle’s Crossing, Inc., has petitioned the area within Eagle’s Crossing Phase 
II be assigned a City zoning classification upon annexation to City as R-3 Single-family high 
density district; and, 

        WHEREAS, notice of assigning the above referenced zoning classifications to said Eagle’s 
Crossing Phase II, was published in the Great Falls Tribune advising that a public hearing on 
this zoning designation would be held on the 6th day of March, 2007, before final passage of 
said Ordinance herein; and, 

WHEREAS, following said public hearing, it was found and recommended that the said 
zoning designations be made, NOW THEREFORE, 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, 
STATE OF MONTANA: 

        Section 1.  It is determined that the herein requested zoning designation will meet the  
criteria and guidelines cited in Section 76-2-304 Montana Code Annotated, and Section 
17.16.40.030 of the Unified Land Development Code of the City of Great Falls.  

        Section 2. That the zoning of Eagle’s Crossing Phase II, be designated as R-3 Single-
family high density district. 

        Section 3. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect thirty (30) days after its passage 
and adoption by the City Commission or upon filing in the office of the Cascade County Clerk 
and Recorder the resolution annexing Eagle’s Crossing Phase II, into the corporate limits of the 
City of Great Falls, Montana, whichever event shall occur later. 

PASSED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, 
MONTANA, this 6th day of March, 2007. 

Dona R. Stebbins, Mayor 



 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

___________________________ 

__________________________ 

_________________________________ 

________________________________ 

ATTEST: 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

David V. Gliko, City Attorney 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade : ss. 
City of Great Falls ) 

          I, Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do hereby certify 
that the foregoing Ordinance No. 2961 was placed on its final passage and passed by the 
Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana at a meeting thereof held on the 6th day of 
March, 2007. 

          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Seal of said 
City on this 6th day of March, 2007. 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk   

(SEAL OF CITY) 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade : ss. 
City of Great Falls ) 

           Peggy J. Bourne, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: That on the 6th day of March, 
2007, and prior thereto, she was the City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana; that as said 
City Clerk she did publish and post as required by law and as prescribed and directed by the 
Commission, Ordinance No. 2961 of the City of Great Falls, in three conspicuous places within 
the limits of said City to-wit: 

           On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Civic Center Building; 
On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Cascade County Court House; 

           On the Bulletin Board, Great Falls Public Library 

                                                                                Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 
(SEAL OF CITY) 



 

 



 

 



  
 
 

 
 

   
       

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA AGENDA #  4 

A G E N D A R E P O R T  DATE  March 6, 2007 

ITEM         Public Hearing – Resolution No. 9637 to Annex and Ordinance No. 2962 to Establish City
                   Zoning Upon Eagle’s Crossing Phase III     

INITIATED BY       Eagle’s Crossing Inc., Property Owner and Developer                                  

ACTION REQUESTED     Commission Adopt Resolution No. 9637 and Ordinance No. 2962 and  
                                              Approve Final Plat and Agreement related to Eagle’s Crossing Phase III 

PREPARED BY  Bill Walters, Senior Planner 

APPROVED & PRESENTED BY    Benjamin Rangel, Planning Director                                             

RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended the City Commission approve the final plat and annexation of Eagle’s Crossing Phase III, 
and assign a zoning classification of R-2 Single-family medium density district, upon annexation to the City. 

MOTION (Each motion to be separately considered):   
“I move the City Commission adopt Resolution No. 9637 and approve the final plat and Annexation 
Agreement all related to Eagle’s Crossing Phase III.” 

and 

“I move the City Commission adopt Ordinance No. 2962.” 

SYNOPSIS: 
Resolution No. 9637 annexes Eagle’s Crossing Phase III, which consists of 30 single-family residential lots 
located immediately west of Eagle’s Crossing Phase I which is located along the west side of the Bootlegger 
Trail approximately 2800 feet north of 36th Avenue Northeast. Ordinance No. 2962 assigns a zoning 
classification of R-2 Single-family high density district, to Eagle’s Crossing Phase III, upon annexation of 
same to City.  The accompanying Agreement contains terms and conditions associated with annexation of the 
subdivision. 

BACKGROUND: 
On July 18, 2006, the City Commission conditionally approved the preliminary plat of Eagle’s Crossing 
Phases II and III consisting of 79 residential lots located immediately west of Eagle’s Crossing Phase I which 
is located along the west side of the Bootlegger Trail approximately 2800 feet north of 36th Avenue Northeast. 
Phase II will consist of 49 lots and Phase III will consist of 30 lots. 

For additional information, please refer to the Vicinity/Zoning Map attached to Resolution No. 9637 as Exhibit “A” 
and the Final Plat of Eagle’s Crossing Phase III. 

Access to subject property will be provided by Bootlegger Trail and 46th Avenue NE through Phase I of the project. 
As each phase is annexed to the City, the public roadways contained therein will be improved with standard City 
paving, curb and gutter. 

City water, sanitary sewer, and storm sewer mains will be installed in the locations mutually acceptable to the 
project engineer and Public Works Department.  

Phase III’s park obligation was fulfilled as part of the dedication of 11.14 acres of park land in Phase I. 



   

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  

 

     

 
  

 

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 

The final engineering documents relative to the final plat of Eagle’s Crossing Phase III have been prepared by 
the project engineer and submitted to the Public Works Department for review.  The annexation agreement 
has been executed by the applicant. Staff concludes that the basic conditions set forth in the conditional 
approval of the preliminary plat are being met by the developer in the overall process of final plat, final 
engineering and Annexation Agreement preparation for Eagle’s Crossing Phase III. 

Subject property is presently zoned in the County as “A” Agricultural District and it is proposed the property 
be zoned R-2 Single-family medium density district, upon annexation to the City. 

Section 76-2-304 Montana Code Annotated lists criteria and guidelines which must be considered in 
conjunction with establishing municipal zoning on land: 

a) is designed in accordance with the growth policy (comprehensive plan); 
b) is designed to lessen congestion in the streets; 
c) will secure safety from fire, panic or other dangers; 
d) will promote health and the general welfare; 
e) will provide adequate light and air; 
f) will prevent overcrowding of land; 
g) will avoid undue concentration of population; 
h) will facilitate the adequate provision of transportation, water, sewerage, schools, parks and other 

public requirements; 
i) gives reasonable consideration to the character of the district; 
j) gives reasonable consideration to the peculiar suitability of the property for particular uses; 
k) will conserve the value of buildings; and 
l) will encourage the most appropriate use of land throughout the municipality. 

Subject property is located on the fringe of the City, which has been attracting high quality single family 
dwelling units. The subdivision is a natural projection of urban growth. 

Goals of the land use element of the Great Falls Growth Policy include: 
- To support and encourage efficient, sustainable development and redevelopment throughout the  

community. 
- To support and encourage a compatible mix of land uses in newly developing areas. 

Applicable policy statements include “residential land uses should be planned and located so that they do not 
result in adverse impacts upon one another” and “Annexations should be logical and efficient extensions of 
the City’s boundaries and service areas”. 

Annexation of subject property will enhance health, safety and welfare through application of City Codes and 
provision of municipal services. 

It is anticipated the planned single family use of the property will be compatible with neighboring uses. 
Therefore, staff concludes the above-cited criteria are substantially met. 

The City Zoning Commission, at the conclusion of a public hearing held June 13, 2006, unanimously 
recommended the City Commission assign a zoning classification of R-2 Single-family high density district, 
to Eagle’s Crossing Phase II, upon annexation of the area contained therein.  

The Planning Board during a meeting held September 12, 2006, passed a motion recommending the City 
Commission approve the final plat of Eagle’s Crossing Phase III and the annexation of the property contained 
therein subject to the following conditions: 

1) The applicant shall execute an Annexation Agreement acceptable to the City of Great Falls 
and shall submit the appropriate supporting documents referenced in the Agreement. 

2) All applicable fees and charges due as a consequence of either plat or annexation approval 
shall be paid by the applicant. 



 
  
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

3) Any errors or omissions on the final plat noted by staff shall be corrected. 

4) Final engineering documents for required public improvements to serve the subdivision are 
subject to approval by the Public Works Department. 

The above Conditions 1, 2 & 4 have been fulfilled and Condition 3 will be fulfilled prior to filing of the plat. 

Attach: Resolution No. 9637 
Ord. No. 2962 
Reduced Copy of Drawing Portion of Final Plat 

 Annexation Agreement 

cc: HKM Engineering Inc., P.O. Box 49, Great Falls, MT 59403 
Matt Rosendale, 1954 Hwy 16, Glendive, MT 59330 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

   

 
 

 
 
 

  
 

 
  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 9637 

A RESOLUTION BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 
CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, TO EXTEND THE 
BOUNDARIES OF SAID CITY TO INCLUDE EAGLE’S 
CROSSING PHASE III, LOCATED IN SECTION 25, 
TOWNSHIP 21 NORTH, RANGE 3 EAST, P.M.M., 
CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA, MORE PARTICULARLY 
DESCRIBED HEREINBELOW; ALL AS SHOWN ON THE 
MAP ATTACHED HERETO MARKED EXHIBIT “A” AND 
BY THIS REFERENCE MADE A PART HEREOF. 

* * * * * * * * * * 

WHEREAS, the City of Great Falls is a city incorporated under the laws of the State of 
Montana, and having a population of more than ten thousand (10,000) is a city of the first class; 
and, 

WHEREAS, there is contiguous to said City, but without the boundaries thereof, certain 
tracts or parcels of land situated in the County of Cascade, State of Montana, and described as 
follows: 

Eagle’s Crossing Phase III, located in Section 25, Township 21 North, Range 3 
East, P.M.M., Cascade County, Montana, and containing 14.412 acres, 

all as shown on the map attached hereto marked Exhibit “A” and by this reference made a part 
hereof, and according to the final plat of Eagle’s Crossing Phase III; and, 

WHEREAS, Section 7-2-4601, Montana Code Annotated, provides that whenever the 
owners of real property contiguous to any incorporated city of the first class petition to have said 
property made a part of the municipal corporation, such lands may be embraced within the 
corporate limits thereof and the boundaries of such city of the first class extended so as to include 
the same; and, 

WHEREAS, the owner of the hereinabove described property has submitted a petition to 
have said property annexed to the City of Great Falls. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Commission now finds that it is to the best interest of the 
City of Great Falls and its inhabitants to proceed with the incorporation of said territory into the 
City of Great Falls; and, 

WHEREAS, all of the proceedings herein have been conducted in strict compliance with 
and in conformity to the law and constitution of the State of Montana, and all conditions, acts, 
and things required to be done precedent to and in the passage and adoption of this resolution 
have been properly and legally done, and performed; 



 

 
  

 

 
  

 
 

 

 
  

 

 
  

 
         

                                                                          

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
  

   
                                                                                        

_____________________________

__________________________ 

_________________________ 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
GREAT FALLS, MONTANA; 

That the boundaries of the City of Great Falls, Montana, be and the same are hereby 
extended so as to embrace and include within the corporate limits of said city all of the land 
hereinabove described, included as: “EAGLE’S CROSSING PHASE III, LOCATED IN 
SECTION 25, TOWNSHIP 21 NORTH, RANGE 3 EAST, P.M.M., CASCADE COUNTY, 
MONTANA.” 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT 
FALLS, MONTANA: 

The Cascade County Clerk and Recorder is hereby authorized and directed to change the 
appropriate district boundaries of the City of Great Falls, Montana, to include said tract of land; 
and, 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED BY SAID CITY COMMISSION that this Resolution 
shall become effective from and after the date of the filing of said document in the office of the 
Cascade County Clerk and Recorder. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana, 
on this 6th day of March, 2007. 

       Dona R. Stebbins, Mayor    
ATTEST: 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

Approved for legal content: 

David V. Gliko, City Attorney 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade :ss 
City of Great Falls ) 

I, Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do hereby certify that 
the foregoing Resolution No. 9637 was placed on its final passage by the Commission of the City 
of Great Falls, Montana, at a meeting thereof held on the 6th day of March, 2007, wherein it was 
approved by said Commission. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Seal of said City 
this 6th day of March, 2007. 

        ___________________________ 
        Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 



 



 

 

 

 

 
        

 

 
    

 
 

 

 
    

 
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 

ORDINANCE NO. 2962  

AN ORDINANCE ASSIGNING A ZONING CLASSIFICATION 
OF R-2 SINGLE-FAMILY MEDIUM DENSITY DISTRICT TO 
EAGLE’S CROSSING PHASE III, IN THE NE1/4 OF SECTION 
25, TOWNSHIP 21 NORTH, RANGE 3 EAST, P.M.M., 
CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA 

*  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  * 

        WHEREAS, Eagle’s Crossing, Inc., has petitioned the City of Great Falls to annex Eagle’s 
Crossing Phase III, located in the NE1/4 of Section 25, Township 21 North, Range 3 East, 
P.M.M., Cascade County, Montana; and, 

WHEREAS, Eagle’s Crossing, Inc., has petitioned the area within Eagle’s Crossing Phase 
III be assigned a City zoning classification upon annexation to City as R-2 Single-family 
medium density district; and, 

        WHEREAS, notice of assigning the above referenced zoning classifications to said Eagle’s 
Crossing Phase III, was published in the Great Falls Tribune advising that a public hearing on 
this zoning designation would be held on the 6th day of March, 2007, before final passage of 
said Ordinance herein; and, 

WHEREAS, following said public hearing, it was found and recommended that the said 
zoning designations be made, NOW THEREFORE, 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, 
STATE OF MONTANA: 

        Section 1.  It is determined that the herein requested zoning designation will meet the  
criteria and guidelines cited in Section 76-2-304 Montana Code Annotated, and Section 
17.16.40.030 of the Unified Land Development Code of the City of Great Falls.  

        Section 2. That the zoning of Eagle’s Crossing Phase III, be designated as R-2 Single-
family medium density district. 

        Section 3. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect thirty (30) days after its passage 
and adoption by the City Commission or upon filing in the office of the Cascade County Clerk 
and Recorder the resolution annexing Eagle’s Crossing Phase III, into the corporate limits of the 
City of Great Falls, Montana, whichever event shall occur later. 

PASSED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, 
MONTANA, this 6th day of March, 2007. 

Dona R. Stebbins, Mayor 



 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

___________________________ 

__________________________ 

_________________________________ 

________________________________ 

ATTEST: 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

David V. Gliko, City Attorney 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade : ss. 
City of Great Falls ) 

          I, Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do hereby certify 
that the foregoing Ordinance No. 2962 was placed on its final passage and passed by the 
Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana at a meeting thereof held on the 6th day of 
March, 2007. 

          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Seal of said 
City on this 6th day of March, 2007. 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk   

(SEAL OF CITY) 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade : ss. 
City of Great Falls ) 

           Peggy J. Bourne, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: That on the 6th day of March, 
2007, and prior thereto, she was the City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana; that as said 
City Clerk she did publish and post as required by law and as prescribed and directed by the 
Commission, Ordinance No. 2962 of the City of Great Falls, in three conspicuous places within 
the limits of said City to-wit: 

           On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Civic Center Building; 
On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Cascade County Court House; 

           On the Bulletin Board, Great Falls Public Library 

                                                                                Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 
(SEAL OF CITY) 



 

 



 

 



  
 
 

 
 

  
  

    
 

     
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

  
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

   

 

 
 
 

  

_   _   _   _   _ 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA AGENDA #  5 

A G E N D A R E P O R T  DATE  March 6, 2007 

ITEM     Public Hearing - Resolutions No. 9639 and 9643 to Annex Service District No. 1 of  
Upper/Lower River Road Water & Sewer District and involved segment of BNSFRailroad R/W,  
respectively, and Ordinance No. 2960 to Establish City Zoning Therein      

INITIATED BY      Upper/Lower River Road Water & Sewer District Board and Property Owners 
within Service District No. 1 

ACTION REQUESTED     Commission Adopt Resolutions No. 9639 and 9643 and Ordinance No. 2960 

PREPARED BY  Bill Walters, Senior Planner 

APPROVED & PRESENTED BY    Benjamin Rangel, Planning Director                                                 

RECOMMENDATION: 
The City Planning Board has recommended the City Commission annex Service District No. 1 of the 
Upper/Lower River Road Water & Sewer District (ULRRWSD), of which the involved segment of the BNSF 
Railroad R/W is a part, and the City Zoning Commission has recommended the City Commission apply a 
zoning classification of R-1 Single-family suburban, R-3 Single-family high density, R-10 Mobile home park, 
and PUD Planned unit development districts to the various properties within said District. 

MOTIONS (Each motion to be separately considered):   
“I move the City Commission adopt Resolution No. 9639.” 

and 

“I move the City Commission adopt Resolution No. 9643.” 

and 

“I move the City Commission accept Ordinance No. 2960.” 

SYNOPSIS: 
Resolution No. 9639 annexes Service District No. 1 (Excluding parcels 1, 2 & 3) of the ULRRWSD and 
Resolution No. 9643 annexes a segment of BNSF Railroad R/W located in Service District No. 1. Ordinance 
No. 2960 assigns a zoning classification of R-1 Single-family suburban, R-3 Single-family high density, R-10 
Mobile home park, and PUD Planned unit development districts to the various properties within said District 
upon annexation to the City. 

BACKGROUND: 
Beginning in 1996 the Cascade County City-County Health Department and State Department of 
Environmental Quality initiated an 18-month groundwater pollution study in the Upper and Lower River 
Road and Donovan Park areas. Subject area is occupied by about 3,000 residents and is the largest area in 
Cascade County with this type of density having neither a public water or sewage system. No imminent health 
hazards were found as a result of the study. However, it was determined that impacts to the area groundwater 
were being caused from individual sewage septic systems and two aging sewage lagoons serving the Pearson 
Addition and the Trailer Terrace Mobile Home Court in the Donovan Park area. The study recommended area 
residents alleviate potential public health problems by developing an official sewer and water district in order 
to be eligible for state and federal grants for the planning and construction of public water and sewer systems. 
In addition, such a district would have contracting authority for any interlocal agreements that might be 



 

 

 

 
 

 

      
 

 

 

   

  

 

 

 
 

 

 

possible with the City of Great Falls for connection to City water and sewer lines already present in a portion 
of the study area. The study was divided into two separate geographic areas (Lower and Upper River Road 
and Donovan Park). Although problems were noted during the study in both areas, the worst problems were 
noted in the northern portion of the study area along Lower and Upper River Road, and therefore, focus was 
directed to correcting the problems in that area. The Donovan Park area is generally located a mile and a half 
south of the Lower and Upper River Road area. 

In 2001, property owners along Lower and Upper River Roads voted to create a water and sewer district and 
subsequently elected a five-member board of directors to find the best solutions to the water and sewer 
problems and  the money to pay for it. The District and the City entered into a Memorandum of Understanding 
 dated August 19, 2003, wherein, it was noted the most  cost effective manner of providing water and sewer 
services to serve the District was to connect to the City’s water and sewer systems, thereby requiring 
annexation to the City.  

In November, 2003, voters in the defined District, roughly bounded by the Missouri River, 41st Avenue 
South, 4th Street South, and the city limit at 19th Avenue South, defeated a $5.7 million bond to pay for 
extension of City water and sewer lines into the area. Subsequently and to reduce the per household cost of 
the project, the District was divided into smaller service areas.  

On August 12, 2004, the electors of Service District No. 1 authorized the issuance of $938,000 in revenue 
bonds to finance a portion of the design and construction costs to serve the District with City water and sewer 
systems. The engineering documents for the planned infrastructure to serve the District were prepared by the 
District’s engineer and conditionally approved by the City’s Public Works Department in the summer of 
2005. The District awarded a contract to Western Municipal Construction of Billings, which completed 
installation of the water and sewer infrastructure in the winter of 2006. As a prerequisite to obtaining City 
water and sewer services, property owners in Service District No. 1 were required to sign several documents, 
including an annexation petition. To date, the owners of 70% of the parcels in Service District No. 1 have 
signed and submitted annexation petitions to the City. By statute, this is a sufficient percentage to proceed 
with annexation. 

There are three properties in Service District No. 1 not being annexed. These include: 
1) A 5.77 acre State of Montana parcel located along the Missouri River and just north of 
           Riverside Townehomes Addition; 
2) A Janetski/Marsik Sand Dredge parcel located between Rada’s Mobile Home Court and 

the Missouri River; and 
3) Pleasant View Park, consisting of 2.42 acres within Pearson Addition. 

Because these three parcels are either publicly owned or are used for industrial purposes, state statutes require 
the owner submit a request for annexation. No requests or petitions for annexation were received from these 
property owners in response to inquiries by the District’s engineer. 

All of the parcels within Service District No. 1, which are not used for agricultural or industrial purposes and 
are not publicly owned, are being annexed under MCA Section 7-2-4601. As such, if more than 50% of the 
resident electors owning real property in the area to be annexed; or the owners of 50% of the real property in 
the area to be annexed petition for annexation, then the governing body may approve the annexation by 
adopting a resolution. A 4.259 acre segment of BNSF right-of-way between Pearson Addition and Lower 
River Road is also proposed to be annexed (Res. No. 9638). 

It is proposed City zoning classifications of R-1 Single-family suburban, R-3 Single-family high density, R-
10 Mobile home park, and PUD Planned unit development districts be assigned to the various properties 
within Service District No. 1 as depicted on the attached zoning map. The three existing mobile home courts 
along Lower River Road (Missouri Meadows, Rivershore, and Rada’s) are proposed to be zoned R-10 Mobile 
home park; Pearson Addition, with lots less then 11,000 sq ft and located at the south end of Upper River 
Road, is proposed to be zoned R-3 Single-family high density district; Southridge Condominiums located 
south of 40th Avenue South is proposed to be zoned PUD Planned unit development; and the remaining 
parcels are proposed to be zoned R-1 Single-family suburban. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

   

 

 
 

 
  

 

  

 

 

 

      

 

  

 
 

  

Section 76-2-304 Montana Code Annotated lists criteria and guidelines which must be considered in 
conjunction with rezoning and establishing municipal zoning on land: 

a) is designed in accordance with the growth policy (comprehensive plan); 
b) is designed to lessen congestion in the streets; 
c) will secure safety from fire, panic or other dangers; 
d) will promote health and the general welfare; 
e) will provide adequate light and air; 
f) will prevent overcrowding of land; 
g) will avoid undue concentration of population; 
h) will facilitate the adequate provision of transportation, water, sewerage, schools, parks and other 

public requirements; 
i) gives reasonable consideration to the character of the district; 
j) gives reasonable consideration to the peculiar suitability of the property for particular uses; 
k) will conserve the value of buildings; and 
l) will encourage the most appropriate use of land throughout the municipality. 

The Environmental Element of the City of Great Falls Growth Policy notes that the only significant 
groundwater problem in the immediate vicinity of Great Falls is located near Upper/Lower River Road and 
advocates finding an acceptable solution to the groundwater problems. A goal of the Environmental Element 
is “To maintain and improve the quality of the area’s air and water, even as the community grows”. 

Goals of the Land Use Element of the City Growth Policy include: 
- To support and encourage efficient, sustainable development and redevelopment throughout the  

community. 
- To preserve and enhance the character, quality, and livability of existing neighborhoods. 
- To support and encourage a compatible mix of land uses in newly developing areas. 

Annexation of subject property will enhance health, safety and welfare through application of City Codes and 
provision of municipal services. 

For the most part, the proposed zoning assignments recognize and conform to existing land uses on the 
parcels proposed to be annexed and will not, without processing of separate applications, result in additional 
development. Existing legal land uses, which are not permitted by right in the zoning classifications proposed 
to be assigned to the properties occupied by such uses, will continue to be recognized and allowed as legal 
nonconforming uses. 

The proposed assignments of City zoning to the predominately developed areas, coincides with existing 
County zoning designations. Therefore, staff concludes the above-cited criteria are substantially met. 

The proposed annexation of Service District No. 1 of the ULRRWSD is the culmination of a 10 year process 
to address public health and utility service problems in the area. With the recent extension of City water and 
sewer services to most of the 115 serviceable parcels in Service District No. 1, annexation will bring the 
involved area into compliance with City policies and codes regarding provision of such services. However, it 
should be recognized and understood that the City, by accepting and approving the annexation, is incurring 
significant responsibilities and liabilities. Some public infrastructure, including roadways, paving, curb, 
gutter, sidewalks, and storm sewer/drainage is nonexistent or substandard. There are undoubtedly several 
instances of buildings not complying with City building codes, mobile home parks not complying with 
current applicable design standards or yards not complying with property improvement standards. However, 
to require full compliance at the time of annexation could create extreme hardship for property owners and 
could jeopardize the ability to ever annex these properties. Therefore, per a Memorandum of Understanding 
between the City and the ULRRWSD, the City has agreed to phase in additional improvements and code 
compliance requirements involving a schedule and financial plan palatable to the property owners. 
Additionally, as properties in the District are further subdivided, rezoned, subjected to conditional use permit 
requirements, and subjected to building permit requirements, opportunities will arise to gradually improve the 
area to City standards. 



 
   

 
 

 

 

   

 
 
  

The Planning Board/Zoning Commission on January 23, 2007, conducted a joint public hearing on annexing 
and establishing City zoning on Service District No. 1 of the ULRRWSD. The only individuals who spoke 
during the hearing were John Stephenson-Love and Roland Leitheiser who both are members of the Board of 
Directors of the ULRRWSD and reside in Service District No. 1. At the conclusion of the public hearing, the 
Zoning Commission unanimously passed a motion recommending the City Commission approve establishing 
a City zoning classification of R-1 Single-family suburban, R-3 Single-family high density, R-10 Mobile 
home park, and PUD Planned unit development districts to the various properties within said District upon its 
annexation to the City and the Planning Board passed a motion recommending the City Commission annex 
Service District No.1 (Excluding parcels 1, 2 & 3) of the ULRRWSD located in Sections 23 through 26, 
Township 20 North, Range 3 East, Cascade County, Montana and as depicted on the map of Service District 
No. 1 attached to Resolution No. 9639 as Exhibit “A”, subject to compliance to the Memorandum of 
Understanding dated November 3, 2004, and the Interlocal Agreement dated October 18, 2005, between the 
City and the ULRRWSD 

Attach: Res. No. 9639 
 Res. No. 9643 
 Ord. No. 2960 

cc: Lyle Meeks, Neil Consultants, 4509 North Star Blvd, 59405 
John Stephenson-Love, 300 Central Ave, 7th Floor, 59401 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 9639 

A RESOLUTION BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 
CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, TO EXTEND THE 
BOUNDARIES OF SAID CITY TO INCLUDE SERVICE 
DISTRICT NO. 1 OF THE UPPER/LOWER RIVER ROAD 
WATER & SEWER DISTRICT, LOCATED IN SECTIONS 23, 
24, 25 & 26, TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 3 EAST, 
P.M.M., CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA, MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED HEREINBELOW; ALL AS 
SHOWN ON THE MAP ATTACHED HERETO MARKED 
EXHIBIT “A” AND BY THIS REFERENCE MADE A PART 
HEREOF. 

* * * * * * * * * * 

WHEREAS, the City of Great Falls is a city incorporated under the laws of the State of 
Montana, and having a population of more than ten thousand (10,000) is a city of the first class; 
and, 

WHEREAS, there is contiguous to said City, but without the boundaries thereof, certain 
tracts or parcels of land situated in the County of Cascade, State of Montana, and described as 
follows: 
 Beginning at a point on the south right-of-way line of a county road (40th Ave. South),  
being the northwest corner of Parcel Z on Certificate of Survey # 3032 in Section 25, T20N, R3E,  
P.M.M. Montana, said certificate being on file in the Cascade County Clerk and Recorder’s 
Office; thence South 36° 17‘ West, 365.85 feet, to the northwest corner of Lot 1, Block 1,  
Southridge First Addition, filed of record under PL# 1795 in the Office of Cascade County Clerk 
& Recorder’s, thence South 0° 09’ West, 341.3 feet along the east boundary  of Southridge First 
Addition to a point on the northerly right-of-way line of BNSF Railroad, thence westerly along  
said northerly right-of-way line of BNSF Railroad the following six courses; South 77° 57’ 25”  
West, a distance of 120.70 feet; a curve to the right having a center angle of 20° 12’ 06”, a radius 
of 1394.45 feet and a length of 491,66  feet; North 81° 50’ 30” West 142.53 feet to a point the 
west boundary line of said Section 25; North 81° 52’ 29” West a distance of 211.13 feet; North  
80° 20’ 40” West a distance of 100.00 feet; a curve to the right having a center angle of 38° 36’ 
05”, a radius of 689.30 feet and a length of 464.39 feet to southerly tip of the Pearson Addition;  
thence South 48° 22’ 09” West, a distance of 100.00 feet to a point along the western right-of-
way line of BNSF Railroad; thence South 48° 22’ 09” West, across Lower River Road a distance 



  
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

   

 

  

 

 

  

 
 

 

  

of 148.0 feet to the northerly bank and low water line of the Missouri River; thence northwesterly 
along said right bank and low water mark of the Missouri River in Section 26, T20N, R3E, a 
distance of 815.0 feet, more or less, to the south boundary of Section 23, T20N, R3E, (said point 
also being the southwest corner of McLean Garden Tracts, a convenience plat); thence northerly, 
downstream on the right bank and low water mark of the Missouri River a distance of 5272.0 feet 
more or less to the northeast corner of Lot 1C as described on the Amended Plat of a Portion of 
Lot 1, McLean Garden Tracts, filed of record under Pl# 1798 in the Office of Clerk & Recorder’s, 
Cascade County, which point is on of the westerly right-of-way line of a County Road known as 
Lower River Road, which road is on the Federal Aid Urban Highway system; thence East 77.0 
feet to the easterly right-of-way line of said Lower River Road and the westerly right-of-way line 
of the BNSF Railroad, thence South 2° 32‘ West (said bearing from the McLean Garden Tracts 
map) along said Railroad right-of-way 3727.8 feet more or less to a point  directly west of and 
across the 100.1 foot wide railroad right-of-way from the Northeast corner of the Pearson 
Addition; thence East, 933.2 feet (said bearing being from the Pearson Addition plat) along the 
north line of the Pearson Addition, to the northeast corner of the Pearson Addition and the west 
right-of-way line of a county road known as Upper River Road, thence East, 60.0 feet to the east 
right-of-way line of said Upper River Road; thence southerly 1037 feet, more or less along said 
easterly right-of-way line, thence South 89° 42‘ 15” East, a distance of 10.0 feet on said right-of-
way line, thence southerly and easterly around a curve to the left a distance of 409.07 feet to a 
break in said right-of-way line, thence South 00° 09‘ West, 10.0 feet along the right-of-way 
break; thence South 89°51‘ East a distance of 658.2 feet more or less along the northerly right-of-
way line of the same county road which is now called 40th Avenue South; thence southerly 60.0 
feet to the true point of beginning.  

Excepting therefrom several parcels to wit:  

1.  Two (2) subdivisions which have been annexed into the City of Great Falls and are not 
within the Upper/Lower River Road Water & Sewer District, as follows: 

a. Riverside Townehomes Addition on file as PL# 196 and filed on January 2, 
1996, with the Office of Clerk & Recorder’s, Cascade County and the 
Amended Subdivision Plat of Lot1, Block 1 of the Amended Plat of Lots 1, 2, 
3, 4, & 5, Block 1 Riverside Townehomes and on file as PL# 1598 and filed on 
March 16, 1998, in the Office of Clerk & Recorder’s, Cascade County; and 

b. Lots 1A and 1B of the Amended Plat of a Portion of lot 1, McLean Garden 
Tracts, on file as PL# 1798 and filed on March 25, 1998 with the Office of 
Clerk & Recorder’s, Cascade County. 

2.  Those industrial parcels which cannot be annexed by petition, but must be annexed by the 
contiguous lands statutes. These are: 

a. Janetski/Marsik Sand Dredge parcel, on file as Certificate of Survey No. 4411 
and filed on 03 October, 2006 with the Cascade County Clerk and Recorder’s. 

b. Burlington Northern Santa Fe Rail Right-of-Way parcel, on file as Certificate 
of Survey No. 4409 and filed on 06, October, 2006 with the Cascade County 
Clerk and Recorder’s. 

3. A 5.77 acre parcel in Section 23, owned by the State of Montana and described on 
Certificate of Survey No. 1141, filed with the Office of Clerk & Recorder’s, Cascade 
County. 



 
 

 

 
 

 
 

   

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 
  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

4. Pleasant View Park, consisting of 2.42 acres within the Pearson Addition, filed on 
December 30, 1957 with the Office of Clerk & Recorder’s, Cascade County, cannot be 
annexed by petition, but must be annexed by the contiguous government land statutes. 

The overall area being annexed by this resolution, excluding the parcels contained in 1 thru 4 
above, is165.0 acres, all as shown on the map attached hereto marked Exhibit “A” and by this 
reference made a part hereof; and, 

WHEREAS, Section 7-2-4601, Montana Code Annotated, provides that whenever the 
owners of real property contiguous to any incorporated city of the first class petition to have said 
property made a part of the municipal corporation, such lands may be embraced within the 
corporate limits thereof and the boundaries of such city of the first class extended so as to include 
the same; and, 

WHEREAS, more than fifty percent (50%) of the resident electors owning real property 
within the hereinabove described area, have submitted petitions to have their property annexed to 
the City of Great Falls. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Commission now finds that it is to the best interest of the 
City of Great Falls and its inhabitants to proceed with the incorporation of said territory into the 
City of Great Falls; and, 

WHEREAS, all of the proceedings herein have been conducted in strict compliance with 
and in conformity to the law and constitution of the State of Montana, and all conditions, acts, 
and things required to be done precedent to and in the passage and adoption of this resolution 
have been properly and legally done, and performed; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
GREAT FALLS, MONTANA; 

That the boundaries of the City of Great Falls, Montana, be and the same are hereby 
extended so as to embrace and include within the corporate limits of said city all of the land 
hereinabove described, included as: “SERVICE DISTRICT NO. 1 OF THE 
UPPER/LOWER RIVER ROAD WATER & SEWER DISTRICT, LOCATED IN SECTIONS 
23, 24, 25 & 26, TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 3 EAST, P.M.M., CASCADE COUNTY, 
MONTANA.” 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT 
FALLS, MONTANA: 

The Cascade County Clerk and Recorder is hereby authorized and directed to change the 
appropriate district boundaries of the City of Great Falls, Montana, to include said territory; and, 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED BY SAID CITY COMMISSION that this Resolution 
shall become effective from and after the date of the filing of said document in the office of the 
Cascade County Clerk and Recorder. 



  

 
         

                                                                          
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
  

  
 
        

                                                                                             
 

_____________________________

__________________________ 

_________________________ 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana, 
on this 6th day of March, 2007. 

       Dona R. Stebbins, Mayor    

ATTEST: 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

Approved for legal content: 

David V. Gliko, City Attorney 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade :ss 
City of Great Falls ) 

I, Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do hereby certify that 
the foregoing Resolution No. 9639 was placed on its final passage by the Commission of the City 
of Great Falls, Montana, at a meeting thereof held on the 6th day of March, 2007, wherein it was 
approved by said Commission. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Seal of said City 
this 6th day of March, 2007. 

  ___________________________ 
   Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 



 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO.  9643 

A RESOLUTION BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF 
THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS TO EXTEND THE 
BOUNDARIES OF SAID CITY TO INCLUDE A 
SEGMENT OF BURLINGTON NORTHERN SANTA FE 
RAILROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY IN SECTIONS 23 & 26, 
TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 3 EAST, P.M.M., 
CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA. 

* * * * * * * * * * 

WHEREAS, the City of Great Falls is a city incorporated under the laws of the 
State of Montana, and having a population of more than ten thousand (10,000) is a city of 
the first class; and, 

WHEREAS, there is contiguous to said City, but without the boundaries thereof, a 
segment of the Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railroad Right-of Way in Sections 23 and 
26, Township 20 North, Range 3 East, P.M.M., Cascade County, Montana, containing 
4.259 acres, all as shown on the map attached hereto marked Exhibit “A” and by this 
reference made a part hereof, and according to the Certificate of Survey filed under 
S0004409 in the Clerk and Recorder’s Office of Cascade County, Montana; and, 

WHEREAS, Section 7-2-4311, Montana Code Annotated, provides that whenever 
any unplatted land that has been surveyed and for which a certificate of survey has been 
filed, may be incorporated and included in the municipality to which it is contiguous. 

WHEREAS, in the judgment of the City Commission of said City, expressed by 
Resolution No. 9638 entitled: 

A RESOLUTION OF INTENTION BY THE CITY 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS TO 
EXTEND THE BOUNDARIES OF SAID CITY TO 
INCLUDE A SEGMENT OF BURLINGTON 
NORTHERN SANTA FE RAILROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY 
IN SECTIONS 23 & 26, TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, 
RANGE 3 EAST, P.M.M., CASCADE COUNTY, 
MONTANA, DIRECTING NOTICE TO BE GIVEN BY 
THE CITY CLERK AS PROVIDED BY LAW. 



 

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

duly and regularly passed and adopted on the 6th day of February, 2007, stating that it 
will be in the best interest of said city and the inhabitants thereof, that the boundaries of 
said City of Great Falls shall be extended so as to include “A SEGMENT OF 
BURLINGTON NORTHERN SANTA FE RAILROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY IN 
SECTIONS 23 & 26, TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 3 EAST, P.M.M., CASCADE 
COUNTY, MONTANA.” 

  WHEREAS, the City Clerk of said City, pursuant to said Resolution and the 
statute in such case made and provided, forthwith caused to be published in the Great Falls 
Tribune, the newspaper published nearest said tract of land, at least once a week for two 
(2) successive weeks, a notice to the effect that said Resolution had been duly and 
regularly passed, and that for a period of twenty (20) days after the first publication of said 
notice, said City Clerk would receive expressions of approval or disapproval, in writing,  
of the said proposed extension of the boundaries of said City, and also stating therein the 
time and place set for the public hearing provided by said Resolution; and, 

WHEREAS, the first publication of said notice hereinbefore referred to was the 
11th day of February, 2007; and, 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held by the City Commission of the City of 
Great Falls on March 6, 2007, at 7:00 P.M., in the Commission Chambers of the Great 
Falls Civic Center, where said Commission heard all persons and all things relative to the 
proposed annexation of said property; 

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Commission now finds that it is to the best interest 
of the City of Great Falls and its inhabitants to proceed with the incorporation of said 
right-of-way into the City of Great Falls; and, 

WHEREAS, all of the proceedings herein have been conducted in strict 
compliance with and in conformity to the law and constitution of the State of Montana, 
and all conditions, acts, and things required to be done precedent to and in the passage 
and adoption of this resolution have been properly and legally done, and performed; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE 
CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA; 

That the boundaries of the City of Great Falls, Montana, be and the same are 
hereby extended so as to embrace and include within the corporate limits of said city all 
of the land hereinabove described, included as: “SEGMENT OF BURLINGTON 
NORTHERN SANTA FE RAILROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY IN SECTIONS 23 & 26, 
TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 3 EAST, P.M.M., CASCADE COUNTY, 
MONTANA.” 



  

 
 

 
  

 
  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

_____________________________ 

__________________________ 

________________________    

___________________________ 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
GREAT FALLS, MONTANA: 

The Cascade County Clerk and Recorder is hereby authorized and directed to 
change the appropriate district boundaries of the City of Great Falls, Montana, to include 
said right-of-way; and, 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED BY SAID CITY COMMISSION that this 
Resolution shall become effective thirty (30) days after its passage and approval. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, 
Montana, on this 6th day of March, 2007. 

Dona R. Stebbins, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

Approved for legal content: 

David V. Gliko, City Attorney 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade :ss 
City of Great Falls ) 

I, Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do hereby 
certify that the foregoing Resolution No. 9643 was placed on its final passage by the 
Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana, at a meeting thereof held on the 6th day 
of March, 2007, wherein it was approved by said Commission. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Seal of 
said City this 6th day of March, 2007. 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 



 



 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
     

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 
         

 
 

  

 
    

 
  

 
 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2960 

AN ORDINANCE ASSIGNING  ZONING CLASSIFICATIONS 
OF R-1 SINGLE-FAMILY SUBURBAN, R-10 MOBILE HOME 
PARK, R-3 SINGLE-FAMILY HIGH DENSITY AND PUD 
PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT, FOR PORTION OF 
SERVICE DISTRICT NO. 1 WITHIN UPPER/LOWER RIVER 
ROAD WATER & SEWER DISTRICT, IN SECTIONS 23, 24, 25, 
AND 26, TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 3 EAST, P.M.M., 
CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA 

*  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  * 

        WHEREAS, numerous property owners along Lower and Upper River Roads in Sections 23, 24, 25, 
and 26, Township 20 North, Range 3 East, P.M.M., Cascade County, Montana, have elected to create a 
water and sewer district known as the Upper/Lower River Road Water & Sewer District; and, 

        WHEREAS, more then seventy per cent (70%) of the 73 property owners within what is described 
as Service District No. 1 of the Upper/Lower River Road Water & Sewer District have executed and 
submitted applications to annex their properties to the City of Great Falls; and, 

WHEREAS, the Great Falls Zoning Commission, at the conclusion of a public hearing held 
January 23, 2007, passed a motion recommending the City Commission of the City of Great Falls assign 
zoning classifications of R-1 Single-family suburban, R-3 Single-family high density, R-10 Mobile home 
park, and PUD Planned unit development districts to the properties within said Service District No. 1 
being annexed to the City of Great Falls, as depicted on the zoning map attached hereto as Exhibit “A” 
and by this reference made a part hereof. 

        WHEREAS, notice of assigning zoning classifications of R-1 Single-family suburban, R-10 Mobile 
Home Park, R-3 Single-family high density and PUD Planned unit development, to the portion of 
Service District No. 1 within the Upper/Lower River Road Water Sewer District being annexed to the 
City, was published in the Great Falls Tribune advising that a public hearing on this zoning designation 
would be held on the 6th day of March, 2007, before final passage of said Ordinance herein; and, 

   WHEREAS, following said public hearing, it was found and recommended that the said zoning 
designations be made, NOW THEREFORE, 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, STATE OF 
MONTANA: 

Section 1. It is determined that the herein described zoning designations will meet the criteria and 
guidelines cited in Section 76-2-304 Montana Code Annotated, and Section 17.16.40.030 of the Unified 
Land Development Code of the City of Great Falls. 

        Section 2. That the zoning of Service District No. 1 of the Upper/Lower River Road Water & 
Sewer District, be designated as R-1 Single-family suburban, R-3 Single-family high density, R-10 
Mobile home park, and PUD Planned unit development districts as depicted on the attached Exhibit “A”. 

        Section 3. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect either thirty (30) days after its passage 
and adoption by the City Commission or upon filing in the office of the Cascade County Clerk and 
Recorder the resolution annexing Service District No. 1 of the Upper/Lower River Road Water & Sewer 
District, into the corporate limits of the City of Great Falls, Montana, whichever event shall occur later. 



 
        

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
            

 
 
        

 
 

 

 

 
         

  
  

 
 
        
        
         

 

                                                                                    

_______________________________ 

___________________________ 

_________________________ 

________________________________ 

PASSED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, this 
6th day of March, 2007. 

 Dona R. Stebbins, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

David V. Gliko, City Attorney 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade  : ss. 
City of Great Falls  ) 

I, Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do hereby certify that the 
foregoing Ordinance No. 2960 was placed on its final passage and passed by the Commission of the 
City of Great Falls, Montana at a meeting thereof held on the 6th day of March, 2007. 

  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Seal of said City on 
this 6th day of March, 2007. 

_________________________________
     Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk   

(SEAL OF CITY) 

State of Montana ) 
County  of Cascade  : ss. 
City  of Great Falls  ) 

   Peggy J. Bourne, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: That on the 6th day of March, 2007, 
and prior thereto, she was the City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana; that as said City Clerk she 
did publish and post as required by law and as prescribed and directed by the Commission, Ordinance 
No. 2960 of the City of Great Falls, in three conspicuous places within the limits of said City to-wit: 

   On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Civic Center Building; 
   On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Cascade County Court House; 
   On the Bulletin Board, Great Falls Public Library

        Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 
(SEAL OF CITY) 



 



 

                                
 

   
              

        
                                                                                                   

   
 

       
                                                                                       

      
                                                
 
 

 

 

 

   

 
 
 

 

 

_   _   _   _   _  

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA     AGENDA #       6  
        
A G E N D A R E P O R T     DATE  March 6, 2007  

ITEM Ordinance 2950 Great Falls Land Development Code Amendments 

INITIATED BY  City Staff 

ACTION REQUESTED Adopt Ordinance 2950 with any additional amendments 

PREPARED BY City Staff 

PRESENTED BY    Benjamin Rangel, Planning Director 

RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended the City Commission consider the following alternative motions.  

MOTION: 
Alternative Motion 1: “I move the City Commission adopt Ordinance 2950, with the exception that 
Items A.”Legislative Findings” and B. “Purpose” in Section 17.20.5.040 Large format retail stores 
be retained and with the following additional amendments (state proposed amendments).”” 

Alternative Motion 2: “I move the City Commission adopt Ordinance 2950, with the exception that 
Items A. “Legislative Findings” and B. “Purpose” in Section 17.20.5.040 Large format retail stores 
be retained and that an economic analysis and a building size cap of 100,000 square feet be added to 
the referenced section, as recommended by the Planning Board/Zoning Commission.” 

SYNOPSIS: 
On February 6, 2007, the City Commission conducted a public hearing on Ordinance 2950 regarding 
amendments to the Great Falls Land Development Code.  After the public hearing was closed, a 
motion was approved to table the ordinance and take action in two weeks.  On February 20, 2007, 
the Commission removed the ordinance from the table and approved a motion to postpone 
Ordinance 2950 until March 6, 2007 to give staff additional time to prepare information requested 
by the Commission.  The attached matrix provides the additionally requested information.  

Ordinance 2950 amends various chapters of the City Land Development Code to address editorial, 
typographical and housekeeping items; to provide additional clarification and consistency; to refine 
wording and definitions; to reduce some procedural steps and requirements; and, to expand some 
provisions. The amended Code is attached in its entirety as Exhibit “A” to Ordinance 2950. 
Deletions are “lined through” and additions are “bolded.” 

BACKGROUND: 
In May 2003, the City Commission hired the consulting firm of Vierbicher Associates, Inc. to work 
with members of the community and City staff to develop a new and updated set of guidelines, 
requirements and standards to help govern zoning and physical growth and development within the 
City of Great Falls. 

 1 



  

 

 

  
   
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

On June 14, 2005, the former Great Falls City-County Planning Board conducted a public hearing on 
the proposed land development code and zoning map.  The Board unanimously passed a motion 
recommending that the Official Code of the City of Great Falls be amended to include new and 
updated provisions under “Title 17 – Land Development Code.”  Following an additional lengthy 
public hearing process, the City Commission adopted Title 17 on September 6, 2005, which became 
effective 30 days later on October 6th. 

With just over a year of working experience with the new Code, City staff identified a number of 
items and provisions warranting further consideration. The majority of proposed amendments can be 
placed into one of these categories: 
• typographical/editorial/housecleaning/debugging items 
• clarification/consistency items 
• improve and refine wording and definitions for better Code application, interpretation and 

enforcement 
• reduce some procedural steps and requirements 
• expand provisions for better Code application 

It is offered the proposed amendments will further benefit the general public and specific Code 
users, as well as assist City staff to more clearly apply, interpret and enforce the Code. 

The proposed amendments were reviewed with the City Commission during its work session on 
December 19, 2006.  Copies of the amended Code were provided to the Planning Board/Zoning 
Commission on December 21, 2006 for review prior to its work session on January 8, 2007.  The 
amended Code, with “lined through” deletions and “bolded” additions, has been available for public 
review and downloading on the City web site since December 20, 2006.  Copies of the amended 
Code have also been available for review at the Planning Office. 

Notice of the Planning Board/Zoning Commission public hearing was published in the Great Falls, 
Tribune on December 24, 2006.  Notice of the City Commission public hearing was published in the 
Great Falls, Tribune on January 21 and 28, 2007. 

Following a public hearing on January 9, 2007, the Planning Board/Zoning Commission 
recommended to the City Commission that the amended Land Development Code be approved, as 
presented, with the exception that items A. “Legislative Findings” and B. “Purpose” in Section 
17.20.5.040 Large format retail stores be retained and that an economic analysis and a building size 
cap of 100,000 square feet be added to the referenced section. 

Attachment: Ordinance 2950, with amended Code as Exhibit “A”    
         Summary of Proposed Amendments, with additional information 

2 



 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

________________________________________ 

________________________________________ 

ORDINANCE 2950 

AN ORDINANCE TO REVISE TITLE 17 OF THE 
OFFICIAL CODE OF THE CITY OF GREAT 
FALLS, MONTANA, PERTAINING TO LAND 
DEVELOPMENT CODES AND REPEALING 
ANY AND ALL PREVIOUS ORDINANCES OR 
INTERIM ORDINANCES 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, 
MONTANA: 

 Section 1. That OCCGF Title 17 pertaining to the Land Development Code be amended 
as depicted in Exhibit “A” which removes any language indicated by a strike-out code and adds 
any language which is bolded. 

PASSED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, this 
6th day of March, 2007. 

___________________________________ 
       Dona R. Stebbins, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

David V. Gliko, City Attorney 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade : ss. 
City of Great Falls ) 

I, Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do hereby certify that 
the foregoing Ordinance 2950 was placed on its final passage and passed by the Commission of the 
City of Great Falls, Montana, at a meeting thereof held on the 6th day of March, 2007, and 
approved by the Mayor of said City on the 6th day of March, 2007. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Seal of said City 
on this 6th day of March, 2007. 

____________________________________ 
       Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade : ss. 
City of Great Falls ) 

Peggy J. Bourne, being first duly sworn, deposes and says:  That on the 6th day of March, 
2007, and prior thereto, she was the City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana; that as said 
City Clerk she did publish and post as required by law and as prescribed and directed by the 
Commission, Ordinance 2950 of the City of Great Falls, in three conspicuous places within the 
limits of said City to-wit: 

On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Civic Center Building; 
On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Cascade County Court House; 
On the Bulletin Board, Great Falls Public Library 

____________________________________
       Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 



 

 
   

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Zoning & Land Development Code 
Proposed Amendments 2007 

Title 17 

LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE 

Chapter Tab 

4 General Provisions 4 

8 Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 8 

12 Administrative and Enforcement Bodies 12 

16 Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 16 

20 
Land Use Note: Section 17.20.6.250 (Special Standards for Telecommunications Facilities) is still under 
review and may see additional changes to accomodate requirements from Title 5 OCCGF) 

20 

24 Subdivision and Platting 24 

28 Design Review 28 

32 Transportation Facilities 32 

36 Parking 36 

40 Outdoor Lighting 40 

44 Landscaping 44 

46 Hillside Development Standards (not adopted) 46 

48 Erosion Control During Site Development 48 

52 Stormwater Management 52 

54 Airport Overlay Districts 54 

56 Floodplain Overlay Districts 56 

58 Neighborhood Conservation Overlay District 58 

60 Signs 60 

64 Nonconformities 64 

68 Timing of Improvements, Improvement Agreements, and Dedications 68 

Appendix A – Content of Site Plans, Plats, and Surveys A 

Appendix B – List of Required Trees for Boulevard Areas and Street Medians B 

Appendix C – Traffic Calming Measures C 

Appendix D – Sample Hold Harmless Agreement D 

Appendix E – Criteria for Evasion of the Subdivision and Platting Act E 

Appendix F – Land Use Definitions F 



 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
    

    
     

  
  

  
 

 
   

  

  
  

  
  

  
  
 

 
   

 
  

 
 

 

    
     

  
      

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Chapter 8 
INTERPRETATION, CONSTRUCTION, AND DEFINITIONS 

Sections: 
17.8.010 General rules of construction  
17.8.020 Responsibility for interpretation  
17.8.030 Delegation of authority 
17.8.040   Internal conflicts 
17.8.050 Use of graphics, illustrations, headings, 

references, and statutory citations 
17.8.060   Interpretation of  boundaries and 

designations for base land use  districts 

17.8.070 Interpretation of  boundaries and 
designations for overlay  districts 

17.8.080 General rules of interpretation 
17.8.090 Measurements 
17.8.100 Computation  of  time 
17.8.110 Abbreviations  
17.8.120 General definitions  

17.8.010 General rules of construction  
A. Generally.  In the interpretation and application of this Title, all provisions shall be construed so the true intent 

and meaning of the Land Development Code is carried out. 
B. Minimum requirements. The interpretation and application of any provision of this Title shall be held to be the 

minimum requirement adopted for the promotion of the public health, safety, and general welfare and not be 
deemed a limitation or repeal of any other powers granted by Montana State statute. 

C. Abrogation and greater restriction.  This Title is not intended to repeal, abrogate, annul, impair, or interfere 
with any easements, covenants, deed restrictions, or other private agreement. However, when this Title imposes a 
greater restriction, the provisions of this Title shall apply.  

17.8.020 Responsibility for interpretation 
In the event a question arises concerning any provision or the application of any provision of this Title, interpretations 
shall be provided consistent with Chapter 16 of this Title. 

17.8.030 Delegation of authority 
Wherever a provision in this Title requires an elected official, department supervisor, or some other employee to do 
some act or perform some duty, it is to be construed to authorize that individual to designate, delegate, and authorize 
subordinates to perform the required act or duty unless State law or the terms of the provision or section specify 
otherwise. 

17.8.040  Internal conflicts 
More specific provisions of this Title shall be followed in lieu of more general provisions that may be more lenient than 
or in conflict with the more specific provision. 

17.8.050 Use of graphics, illustrations, headings, references, and statutory citations 
A. Purpose. Graphics, illustrations, headings, references, and statutory citations are included to improve the 

readability of this Title and increase reader comprehension.  Specifically, graphics and illustrations are included to 
help the reader visualize the meaning of the text.  Headings and subheadings are printed in boldface and generally 
state the content of that section and are intended to help the reader quickly find the information the reader is 
looking for.  References and statutory citations are included where the section is related to State or local law or is 
related to another section.  These are included to help the reader understand how that section relates to other 
provisions. 

B. Interpretation. In case of any difference of meaning, interpretation, or implication between the text and any 
graphic, illustration, heading, reference, or statutory citation, the text shall control.   They shall not be deemed to 
govern, limit, modify, or in any manner affect the scope, meaning or intent of any provision. 

C. Effect of deficiency.  No provision shall be held invalid by reason of any deficiency in any graphic, illustration, 
heading, reference, or statutory citation, since the text controls. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 1 



 

 

 

 

 
      

 
  

 
  

 

   

  

 
        

  
      

     

    
 

  
   

    
 

   
  

     

 

  
   

   
   

   

    
  
    

  
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.8.060 Interpretation of boundaries and designations for base land use districts 
A. Boundary line interpretations. Interpretations regarding boundaries of land use districts shall be made in 

accordance with the following rules:  
1. Centerlines. Boundaries shown as following, or approximately following, any easement, railroad, alley, 

road, street, highway or similar feature shall be construed as following the centerline of such feature. 
2. Property lines.  Boundaries shown as following, or approximately following, any platted lot line or other 

property line shall be construed as following such line.  
3. Political boundaries.  Boundaries shown as following, or approximately following, any political boundary 

shall be construed as following such line.  
4. Section lines. Boundaries shown as following, or approximately following, section lines, half-section lines, 

or quarter-section lines shall be construed as following such lines. 
5. Natural boundaries.  Boundaries shown as following, or approximately following, any natural feature such 

as a stream, river, canal, other bodies of water, or topographical features such as watershed boundaries shall 
be construed as following such natural feature as verified by field inspection when necessary. 

B. Division of lots. Where a lot or parcel is divided into 2 or more districts, the following interpretation of the 
boundary and designation shall apply: 
1. Lots of 5 acres or less.  For lots of 5 acres or less, the designation of the largest area of the lot shall be 

applicable to the entire lot. 
2. Lots larger than 5 acres. For lots larger than 5 acres, the lot shall be divided as depicted by the district 

boundary. 
C. Street abandonments. Where a public road, street, or alley is officially vacated or abandoned, the regulations 

applicable to the land to which it reverted shall apply to such vacated or abandoned road, street, or alley. 

17.8.070 Interpretation of boundaries and designations for overlay districts 
A. Generally. The location of the overlay district boundaries shall be as shown on the zoning map, except as 

provided in this section. 
B. Floodplain boundaries.  The boundaries of the 100-year floodplain and floodway shall be determined by scaling 

distances on the official floodplain maps and using the floodway data table contained in the flood insurance study 
report.  The maps may be used as a guide for determining the 100-year floodplain boundary, but the exact location 
of the floodplain boundary shall be determined where the base flood elevation intersects the natural ground.  For 
unnumbered A Zones and AO Zone floodplains, where there is a conflict between a mapped floodplain boundary 
and actual field conditions, the floodplain administrator may interpret the location of the 100-year floodplain 
boundary based on field conditions or available historical flood information. 

17.8.080 General rules of interpretation 
In the construction of this Title, the following shall be observed, unless such construction would be inconsistent with the 
text or with the manifest intent of this Title:  

1. Gender. Words of the masculine gender include the feminine and neuter. 
2. Singular and plural words. Words in the singular include the plural and words in the plural include the 

singular. 
3. Tense. Words in the present tense include the past and future tense and the future tense includes the present 

tense. 
4. Shall or will. The word "shall" or "will" is mandatory. 
5. May or should. The word "may" or "should" is permissive.  
6. Includes or including. The word "includes" or "including" shall not limit a term to the specific examples, but 

is intended to extend its meaning to all other instances or circumstances of like kind or character. 
7. Such as. The phrase “such as” shall not limit a provision to the specific examples, but is intended to extend 

its meaning to all other instances or circumstances of like kind or character. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 2 



 

 

 

 

 
  

  

 
   

  
   

   
 

  
    
   
 

  
 

   
   

  
 

 

    

 
 

  
 

   

 
  

 

     
  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.8.090 Measurements 
In this Title, standards have been adopted to control the size, height, and placement of various structures and buildings. 
The following rules shall be used in measuring these to ensure compliance: 

1. Height of telecommunication tower. The height of a telecommunication tower shall be measured from the 
natural undisturbed ground surface below the center of the base of said tower to the top of the tower itself or, 
if higher, to the tip of the highest antenna or piece of equipment attached thereto.  In the case of 
building-mounted towers the height of the tower includes the height of the portion of the building on which it 
is mounted.  In the case of "crank-up" or other similar towers whose height can be adjusted, the height of the 
tower shall be the maximum height to which it is capable of being raised.   

2. Sign height. The height of a sign is measured from the ground surface on which it is located to the uppermost 
part of the sign or its support. 

3. Lot area. Lot area is measured on the horizontal plane. 
4. Lot depth. Lot depth is measured at a right angle to the front lot line. 
5. Lot width. Lot width is measured between side lot lines along the front yard setback line.  
6. Lot frontage.  On straight  or  curvilinear streets, lot frontage 

is measured along the street right-of-way between the side 
lot lines (Exhibit 8-1).  

Exhibit 8-1. Lot frontage measurements 

7. Building height. The height of a building shall be measured 
from grade plane to the average height of the highest roof 
surface in accordance with the current adopted edition of the 
International Building Code. as the average between the 
highest point and lowest point of finished ground level 
adjoining the building at the exterior wall to the highest 
peak of the highest roof. 

8. Floor area. The floor area of a building shall be measured 
from exterior face to exterior face, excluding porches, 
stoops, steps, and the like. 

9. Distance between specified land uses. Specified minimum 
distances between land uses shall be measured in a straight 
line from the structure housing the use to the structure 
housing the other use, unless otherwise specified in this 
Title. 

10. Height of outdoor lights. The height of an outdoor 
luminaire is the vertical distance from the elevation of the surrounding grade being illuminated to the bottom 
of the luminaire. 

11. Average slope.  The average slope of a lot shall be determined using the following formula:   

S = 
I * L *0.0023 

A 
Where:  
S = Average slope of lot in  percent 
I = Contour interval (20 feet or less) 
L = Sum of length  of all contours on lot in  feet 
A = Area of the lot in acres 

17.8.100  Computation of time 
When a time period is specified in this Title, the first day shall be the first day after the event that triggered the time 
clock to start. For example, if an action is to be taken within 35 days following a meeting, the time clock starts the day 
after the date of the meeting. If the last day is a Saturday, Sunday, or a legal holiday, that day shall be excluded. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 3 



 

 

 

 

   
  
  

  
   

 
   

 
 
  

    
 

   
  

   
   

 
   

 
 

 
 

   
      

 
 

 

 

   
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.8.110  Abbreviations 
The following abbreviations shall be associated with the term as listed: 

ARM Administrative Rules of Montana 
ADA Americans with Disabilities Act 
AASHTO American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (Professional) 
CFR Code of Federal Regulations 
DNRC Department of Natural Resources & Conservation (Montana) 
DPHHS Department of Public Health & Human Services (Montana) 
EPA Environmental Protection Agency (Federal) 
FEMA Federal Emergency Management Agency (Federal) 
IESNA Illuminating Engineering Society of North America (Professional) 
LDC Land Development Code 
MCA Montana Code Annotated 
NRCS Natural Resources Conservation Service (Federal) 
SHPO State Historic Preservation Office 
USC United States Code 
USCA United States Code Annotated 

17.8.120  General definitions 
A. Words and terms not defined. Unless specifically defined in this section, words or phrases used in this Title shall 

be interpreted so as to give them the meaning they have in common usage and to give this Title its most reasonable 
application. 

B. Words and terms defined. For the purpose of this Title, certain terms and phrases are defined below and shall 
have the meaning ascribed to them, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning. 

A 
“A-type sign” See: sandwich board sign. 

“Abandoned sign” a sign that has not advertised a bona fide business, product or service for a period of 180 consecutive 
days; a sign that is damaged, in disrepair, or vandalized and not repaired within 30 days from the onset of damages. 

“Accessible entrance” means an entrance to a facility meeting the minimum accessibility requirements of the Americans 
with Disabilities Act. 

“Accessible route” means a continuous unobstructed path connecting all accessible elements and spaces of a building or 
facility. Interior accessible routes may include corridors, floors, ramps, elevators, lifts, and clear floor space at fixtures. 
Exterior accessible routes may include parking access aisles, curb ramps, crosswalks at vehicular ways, walks, ramps, 
and lifts. (Source: “ADA Standards for Accessible Design” 28 CFR Part 36, revised as of July 1, 1994) 

“Accessory building/structure” means any building or structure that is clearly incidental and subordinate to and 
customarily found with a principal use. 

“Accessory land use” See: land use, accessory. 

“Accessory use” means a use that is incidental and subordinate to the main use of a property and is located on the same 
lot as the main use. 

“Adjudicative decision” means a decision that is discretionary in nature and that is made by elected or appointed 
governmental officials in the context of existing standards, requirements, and procedures and that applies to a specific 
instance. Examples include annexation requests and subdivision proposals. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 4 



 

 

 

 

  
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
    

  
   

    

 
 

   
   

   

   
 

 
    
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

   
    

   
     
   

 
   

 
    

 
   

    
     

    

 
 

  

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Administrative decision” means a decision that is made by a governmental employee in the context of existing 
standards, requirements, and procedures and that applies to a general or specific instance. For example issuance of a 
building permit is an administrative decision. 

“Administrative government center” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended as a 
governmental office or administrative facility.  The term includes post offices, courthouses, correctional facilities, and 
the like. 

“Administrative services” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for providing 
administrative functions where customers are infrequent. The term includes data processing centers, customer service 
centers via telecommunications, architectural firms, engineering firms, and the like. 

“Adult arcade” means any place to which the public is permitted or invited wherein coin-operated or slug-operated or 
electronically, electrically, or mechanically controlled still or motion picture machines, projectors, or other image-
producing devices are maintained to show images to 5 or fewer individuals per machine at any one time, and where the 
images so displayed are distinguished or characterized by an emphasis on the depiction or description of specified 
sexual activities or specified anatomical areas. 

“Adult book store/adult video store” means a commercial establishment which, as one of its principal business 
purposes, offers for sale or rental for any form of consideration any one or more of the following: 
1. books, magazines, periodicals, or other printed matter, or photographs, films, motion pictures, video cassettes or 

video reproductions which are characterized by an emphasis on the depiction or descriptions of specified sexual 
activities or specified anatomical areas; 

2. instruments, devices, or paraphernalia which are designed for use in connection with specified sexual activities. 

“Adult cabaret” means a nightclub, bar, restaurant, or similar commercial establishment which regularly features: 
1. persons who appear semi-nude; or 
2. live performances which are characterized by the exposure of specified anatomical areas or by specified sexual 

activities; or 
3. film, motion pictures, video cassettes, slides or other photographic reproductions which are characterized by the 

exhibition or display of specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas. 

“Adult motel” means a hotel, motel, or similar commercial establishment which: 
1. offers accommodations to the public for any form of consideration; provides patrons with closed-circuit television 

transmissions, films, motion pictures, video cassettes, slide, or other photographic reproductions which are 
characterized by an emphasis on the depiction or description of specified sexual activities or specified anatomical 
areas; and has a sign advertising availability of this type of photographs reproduction; or 

2. offers a sleeping room for rent for a period of time that is less than 10 hours; or 
3. allows a tenant or occupant of a sleeping room to sub-rent the room for a period of time that is less than 10 hours. 

“Adult motion picture theater” means a commercial establishment which, for any form of consideration, regularly 
shows films, motion pictures, video cassettes, slides or similar photographic reproductions that are distinguished or 
characterized by an emphasis on the depiction or description of specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas. 

“Affordable housing” means a dwelling unit that may be purchased or rented by a household earning no more than 120 
percent of the median annual income in the specified area and where the monthly housing costs do not exceed 30 
percent of the family's total monthly income.  For example, in an area with a median income of $15,000, the term 
"affordable housing" would only be applied to those households earning less than $18,000 ($15,000 x 1.2 = $18,000). 
For a household with an annual income of $15,000, their total housing costs should not exceed $375 per month 
(($15,000 x 0.3) / 12 months = $375). 

“Aggrieved person” means a person that has or likely will suffer an adverse effect resulting from a decision made 
pursuant to this Title. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 5 



 

 

 

 

  
  

 

 
  

   
 

  

 
  

    
 

 

   
 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
    

  
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Agricultural commodity storage facility” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended 
to store bulk food stuffs prior to shipment and/or processing. The term includes grain elevators and such facilities. 

“Agricultural water user facility” means those facilities which  provide  water for agricultural land as defined in  15-7-
202, MCA, or  which  provide water  for the production of agricultural products as defined in  15-1-101, MCA, including  
ditches, pipes, and head  gates.  

“Agriculture, horticulture, nursery” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
growing fruit, vegetables, flowers, and other plants typically grown on farming operations in the region. 

“Agriculture, livestock” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for raising horses 
and/or cattle, exclusively. 

“Agriculture sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended to be used for retail sale 
of a product(s) unique to and directly related to farm and ranch operations.  The term includes feed/seed sales, irrigation 
equipment sales, farm machinery sales and repair, and the like.  The term does not include wholesale sales. 

“Air contaminant” means any fume, smoke, particulate matter, vapor, gas, or any combination. The term does not 
include water vapor or steam condensation. 

“Airport” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for the landing and takeoff of 
airplanes, helicopters, similar craft, including all necessary facilities for the housing and maintenance of the same. 

“Airport, private” means an airport that is  used by the owner and other persons authorized  by the owner and not  
open for general  public  use. 

“Airport, public” means an airport that is open for general public use. 

“Airport elevation” means the highest point of an airport's usable landing area measured in feet from sea level. 

“Airport influence area” means all land in the proximity of an airport within a defined boundary, the use of which may 
be affected by the airport's existence. 

“Alley” means a vehicular accessway providing secondary access to the back of lots that front on a street. 

“Alteration” See: structural alteration. 

“Amateur radio station” means a radio station operated by a federally licensed amateur radio operator as part of the 
Amateur Radio Service. 

“Animal shelter” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended to temporarily house stray 
pets. 

“Annexation” means the process of adding land to the jurisdictional area of a city or town.  

“Antenna” means a device that can be used to receive and transmit electromagnetic waves.  The term includes 
directional antennas and omni-directional antennas. The term does not include (1) mobile services providing public 
information coverage of news events of a temporary nature or (2) hand held devices such as cell phones, business-band 
mobile radios, walkie-talkies, cordless telephones, garage door openers, and similar devices. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 6 



 

 

 

 

  
   

 
 

  
 

  

 

 

   

 

 

 
   

 
   

  
 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 
   

 
  

  
 

 
 

 
   

 

 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Antenna, building-mounted” means any antenna, other than an antenna with its supports resting on the ground, 
directly attached or affixed to a building, tank, tower, building-mounted mast less than 10 feet tall and 6 inches 
in diameter, or structure other than a telecommunication tower. 

“Antenna, directional (also known as a panel antenna)” means an antenna that transmits and/or receives radio 
frequency signals in a directional pattern of less than 360 degrees. 

“Antenna, ground-mounted” means any antenna with its base, single or multiple posts, placed directly on the 
ground. 

“Antenna, omni-directional”  means an antenna that transmits and/or receives radio frequency signals in a 360-
degree radial pattern. For the purpose of this Title, an  omni-directional antenna is up to  15  feet in  height and  up  
to 4 inches in  diameter. 

“Antenna, parabolic (also known as satellite dish antenna)” means any device incorporating a reflective surface 
that is solid, open mesh, or bar configured that is shallow dish, cone, horn, bowl or cornucopia–shaped and is 
used to transmit and/or receive electromagnetic or radio frequency communication/signals in a specific 
directional pattern. This definition is meant to include, but is not limited to, what are commonly referred to as 
satellite earth stations and satellite microwave antennas. 

“Antenna, portable” means any device used to transmit and/or receive electromagnetic or radio frequency 
communication/signals in a specific directional pattern, located on a portable or moveable base designed to be 
placed either for temporary or long-term use at a given site. 

“Antenna, vertical” means a vertical type antenna with no horizontal cross-section greater than one half inch in 
diameter. 

“Appeal” means a process initiated by an aggrieved party to review: (1) a decision made pursuant to this Title; or (2) an 
alleged failure to act as required by this Title. 

“Appellant” means a person who has filed an appeal pursuant to this Title. 

“Applicant” means a person who submits an application as required by this Title. 

“Approach surface” means a surface longitudinally centered on the extended airport runway centerline, extending 
outward and upward from the end of the primary surface and at the same slope as the approach zone height limitation 
slope.  In plan view, the perimeter of the approach surface coincides with the perimeter of the approach zone. 

“Approved plastic” means slow-burning plastic of no greater combustibility than that approved for sign use by 
Underwriter Laboratories, Inc. 

“Aquifer” means a water-bearing, subsurface formation capable of yielding sufficient quantities of water to a water well 
for a beneficial use.

 “Arboricultural standards and specifications” means the standards for the planting, care, and maintenance of trees, 
shrubs, and landscaping on file with the City Forester. 

“Arcade” means a covered walkway often with shops on one side or both.  

“Architect” See: registered architect. 

“Area of special flood hazard” See: 100-year floodplain. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 7 



 

 

 

 

   
  

  
    

     

 
  

 

 

 
      

 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

   
 
 

 
 

    
 

 

 

 
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Artificial obstruction or development” means any obstruction which is not natural and includes any dam, diversion, 
wall, riprap, embankment, levee, dike, pile, abutment, projection, revetment, excavation, channel rectification, bridge, 
conduit, culvert, building, refuse, automobile body, fill or other analogous structure or matter in, along, across, or 
projecting into any 100-year floodplain which may impede, retard or alter the pattern of flow of water, either in itself or 
by catching or collecting debris carried by the water, or that is placed where the natural flow of water would carry the 
same downstream to the damage or detriment of either life or property. 

“Artisan shop” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for creating works of art 
and/or production of handmade craft items on a small-scale. Examples of such items include paintings, sculptures, 
pottery, jewelry, hand blown glass, small wooden items, candles, soaps, and lotions. 

“Assessed value” means that value established by the State of Montana for taxing purposes. 

“Auction sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended to be used for auctioning 
goods to the general public. The term does not include estate sales and the like. Vehicle auctions are considered as 
vehicle sales and rentals. 

“Automated teller machine (ATM)” means an automated device for conducting financial transactions. 

“Automated teller machine (ATM), exterior” means an automated teller machine that is accessed from outside of an 
enclosed building. 

“Automated teller machine (ATM), interior” means an automated teller machine that is accessed from inside of an 
enclosed building. 

“Average daily traffic (ADT)” means the average number of vehicles passing a specific point on a roadway during a 
single 24-hour period. 

“Average trip generation rate” means the average number of vehicles entering and exiting a site during a 24-hour 
period. 

“Avoid” means to take an action so that a negative impact does not occur. 

“Awning or canopy” means a material or structure intended to provide protection from the weather that is mounted on 
the exterior of a building. Signage placed on an awning or a canopy is calculated as wall signage. 

B 
“Bank stabilization” means any effort to  harden the bank  of  a stream to prevent lateral movement. Such  measures 
include:  bio-engineering, native material revetment, rip-rap, bin-walls, barbs, vanes, and other such techniques. 

“Banner” means fabric, plastic, paper, or other light, pliable material not enclosed in a rigid frame that is suspended, 
mounted or attached to buildings or poles at 2 ends or continuously across its longest side. 

“Base flood” See: 100-year flood. 

“Base flood elevation” means the elevation above sea level of the base flood in  relation to  National Geodetic Vertical 
Datum of 1929 unless otherwise specified in  the flood hazard study. 

“Bed and breakfast” means a single family residence that  offers overnight accommodations and a meal for a daily 
charge and which also serves  as a primary residence of the  operator or owner.   (Refer to:  50-51-102, MCA) 

“Bench/transit shelter sign” means an off-premise sign attached to a bench or transit shelter. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 8 



 

 

 

 

 
  

 
   

   
 

 
   

 
   

 
 

  
 

 
    

 

 
 

   
 

 
    

 

 
   

 
 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 
  

 

 
  

  

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Berm” means a mound or embankment of earth, generally man-made. 

“Best management practice (BMP)” means, in relation to erosion control, a practice, technique, or measure that is an 
effective, practical means of preventing and reducing soil erosion and/or water pollution during land development 
activities. BMPs can be structural, vegetative, or operational practices. 

“Bike lane” means a portion of a roadway which has been designated by striping, signing, and pavement markings for 
the preferential or exclusive use of bicyclists. 

“Bike path” means a bikeway physically separated from motorized vehicular traffic by an open space or barrier and 
either within the roadway right of way or within an independent right of way.  

“Bike route” means a segment of a system of bikeways designated by the jurisdiction having authority with appropriate 
directional and informational markers, with or without a specific bicycle route number. 

“Bikeway” means any road, path, or way which in some manner is specifically designated as being open to bicycle 
travel, regardless of whether such facilities are designated for the exclusive use of bicycles or are to be shared with other 
transportation modes. 

“Billboard” means a sign larger than 200 square feet in area, mounted on a permanent structure, designed to advertise 
products, services, or businesses not available on the premise upon which the sign is located. 

“Block” means a group of lots, tracts, or parcels within well-defined and fixed boundaries (e.g., streets and public parks, 
cemeteries, railroad rights-of-way, shorelines of waterways, municipal boundary lines or subdivision boundary lines). 

“Block face” means all of the lots situated on one side of the street. 

“Board of Adjustment” means the board of adjustment created by the City Commission and more fully described in this 
Title. 

“Board of County Commissioners” means the governing body of Cascade County, Montana. 

“Boulevard” means that area  within the street right-
of-way  not occupied  by street  paving, curb and gutter,  
and sidewalks.  

Exhibit 8-2.  Building coverage 

“Boulevard, inside” means that portion of the 
boulevard between the sidewalk and the lot.  

“Boulevard, outside” means that portion of the 
boulevard between the sidewalk and the street. 

“Boulevard banner” means a decorative sign 
constructed of cloth, canvas, or vinyl that contains 
upper and lower pole pockets and is secured by a pole 
banner bracket system.  Boulevard banners are 
designed as attachments to street light poles or 
boulevard lamps and advertise special community 
events. 

“Buffer area” means a landscaped area intended to separate and partially obstruct the view between uses, serve as an 
attractive boundary, or both. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 9 



 

 

 

 

 
    

    
 

 
   

    
    

 

 
  

 
  

 

 

 
 

  

 
 

 

 
 

  
 

 
   

 
  

 

 

 
 

   

  
 

 
  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Building” means a structure having a roof supported by walls or columns, or other supports intended for the shelter or 
enclosure of people, animals, chattels, or property of any kind.  

“Building area” means the total horizontal projected area of a building. 

“Building coverage” is a measure of land use intensity. It compares the portion of a site that is covered by a building(s) 
with the overall area of the site. For example, a development consisting of 2 buildings with a total footprint of 0.6 acres 
on a 2-acre site has a building coverage of 0.3 or 30 percent (0.6 / 2 = 0.3). (Exhibit 8-2) 

“Building mass” means the three-dimensional bulk of a building represented by its height, width, and depth. 

“Building permit” means a permit that is issued prior to the construction of or addition to a building or structure or the 
installation of a mobile home. 

“Burden of proof” means the obligation of a party to establish a fact by evidence. 

“Bus transit terminal” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for loading and 
unloading of bus passengers along with facilities for ticket sales and food service areas primarily intended for bus 
passengers. 

C 
“Campground” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for public camping, where 
people can camp, secure tents or cabins, or park trailers, camping trailers, pickup campers, automobiles, and 
recreational vehicles for camping and sleeping purposes. The term includes accessory buildings such as a laundromat 
and retail sales for the convenience of campground guests.   (Source: 50-52-101, MCA) 

“Cascade County Conservation District” means the governmental subdivision of Montana organized in accordance with 
Title 76, Chapter 15, Part 2, MCA, that functions in Cascade County to address issues relating to soil and water 
conservation. 

“Casino” means any and all establishments that offer legalized gambling authorized under Title 23, Chapter 5, Part 1, et. 
seq., MCA and where any one of the following characteristics applies: 

a. the establishment is referenced as a “casino” or “gambling establishment”, or makes any reference to legalized 
gambling by signage, advertisement or by name; and/or 

b. five or more gambling machines are on the premises; and/or 
c. a card table is on the premises. 

“Casino, type I” means a casino allowed in certain zoning districts only if specific development and appearance  
standards are  met. 

“Casino, type II” means a casino allowed in certain zoning districts without specific development or appearance  
standards. 

“Cemetery” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for burial purposes.  Accessory 
uses include columbariums, crematories, mausoleums, and mortuaries when operated in conjunction with and within the 
boundaries of such area. 

“Central Business District” means the C-4 Central Business Core zoning district. 

“Certificate of appropriateness” means a permit issued indicating conformance with design guidelines or other similar 
requirements as contained in this Title. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 10 



 

 

 

 

 
    

 
 

 
 

  
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 
 

 

 

  
 

 
 

   

 
 

    
  

 
 

   
     

  
 

   
 

 
 

   

 
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Certificate of survey (COS)” means a drawing of a field survey prepared by a registered land surveyor for the purpose 
of disclosing facts pertaining to boundary locations. 

“Changeable copy sign” means a sign whose content is changed by manual, electric, electromechanical or electronic 
means. Examples include electronic message boards, time and temperature boards or manually changed reader boards. 

“Channelization project” means the excavation and/or construction of an artificial channel for the purpose of diverting 
the entire flow of a stream from its established course. 

“City Attorney” means the position of City Attorney for the City of Great Falls. 

“City Clerk” means the position of City Clerk for the City of Great Falls. 

“City Commission” means the governing body of the City of Great Falls. 

“Civic use facility” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for large gatherings of 
people.  The term includes zoos, arenas, stadiums, fairgrounds, and the like. 

“Co-located telecommunication antennae” means an antenna that is mounted on an existing tower. 

“Co-location” See: telecommunication facility, co-located. 

“Collector street” means a roadway that links local access streets to the arterial roadway network (minor and principal 
arterials). Speeds are generally lower than on arterials and access to adjacent land uses has a high priority. This is one 
level in the City’s functional classification system for roads within its jurisdiction. 

“Color rendering index (CRI)” means a measurement comparing the color of an object under a light source to a 
reference light source of comparable color temperature. CRI values generally range from 0 to 100. As the CRI 
approaches 100, the color of the lit object becomes truer or closer to the original color. 

“Commercial educational facility” means an educational facility operated by private institutions or individuals that is 
used or is intended for preparing students for jobs in trades or professions.  The term includes music schools, hair 
styling schools, real estate schools, and the like. 

“Commercial kennel” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for housing 3 or 
more dogs, cats or other domesticated animals over 6 months of age or for the purpose of boarding, breeding, training, 
or sale.  The term includes boarding kennels, dog motels, and dog training centers.  The term does not include animal 
hospitals, animal grooming parlors, or pet shops. 

“Commercial use” means a use that involves the exchange of cash, goods or services, barter, forgiveness of 
indebtedness, or any other remuneration in exchange for goods, services, lodging, meals, entertainment in any form or 
the right to occupy space over any period of time. 

“Commercial zoning district” means any zoning district established by this Title that has a “C” followed by a number as 
its abbreviation (e.g., C-1). 

“Community center” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for short-term and 
intermittent meetings or gatherings of nonresident individuals that are generally open to the public for purposes of 
recreation, sharing information, entertainment, social service, or similar activities.  The term includes fraternal, social, 
or civic clubs, lodges, union halls, and the like. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 11 



 

 

 

 

  
 

 
    

  
        

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Community cultural facility” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for studying, 
reading, personal education, or for viewing the visual arts.  The term includes libraries, museums, art galleries, 
observatories, and the like.  The term does not include performing arts. 

“Community garden” means an outdoor area that is used to grow vegetables, fruits, flowers, and the like by a group of 
unrelated individuals who primarily use what is grown for their personal use. The community garden can be divided 
into individual plots of land for the exclusive use of the person assigned each plot, or the entire garden may be a 
cooperative effort of any number of people, or a combination thereof. 

“Community residential facility” means any one of the following as defined: 
a.  “Community group  home” means a family-oriented residence that is designed to  provide residential services 

for 2 to 8 individuals with severe disabilities and does not provide skilled  or intermediate nursing care.  The 
term does not preclude the provision of skilled  or intermediate nursing care by  third-person providers.  
(Source: 52-4-202, MCA)  

b.  “Youth foster home” means a youth care facility licensed  by the State in  which  one to  6 children or youth  other 
than the foster  parents' own children, stepchildren,  or wards are given food shelter, security and safety, 
guidance,  direction, and if necessary, treatment.  (Source:  52-2-602, MCA)   

c. “Youth group  home” means a youth care facility licensed  by the State in  which  7 to 12  children  or youth are 
given food shelter, security and safety, guidance, direction, and if necessary, treatment.  (Source: 52-2-602, 
MCA)   

d. “Halfway house” means a place and/or building, or portion  thereof, that is  used o r is intended to prov ide 
treatment, rehabilitation, and prevention of chemical dependency. (Source: 53-24-103, MCA) 

e. “Adult foster family care home” means a private residence owned by  one or more individuals  18 years of age 
or older which offer light  personal care or custodial care to  disabled adults who are not related to the owner by  
blood or marriage or which offer light personal care or  custodial care to aged individuals. (Source:  52-3-302 
MCA)  

“Community residential facility, type I” means a community residential facility with  8  or fewer individuals. 

“Community residential facility, type II” means a community residential facility with 9  or more individuals. 

“Composting facility” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for collecting and 
processing vegetation (but not food  wastes) for composting. The term includes the storage and manipulation of  
materials prior to, during, and  following composting.  

“Comprehensive sign plan” means a plan submitted for Design Review Board approval in conjunction  with a permit  
application for a building  or sign. The plan must show all signage  for a planned  or existing multi-tenant  development. 

“Conditional use” See: land  use, conditional. 

“Conditional use permit” means a permit authorizing establishment of a conditional use consistent with the provisions 
of this Title. 

“Condominium” means a form of ownership with  unrestricted right  of  disposal of  one or more units in  a multiple unit  
project with the land and all  other parts of the project  held in common ownership or  use with  owners of the other units. 

“Conical surface” means a surface extending outward and upward from the periphery of the horizontal surface at a slope 
of 20:1 for a horizontal distance of 4,000 feet. 

“Conservancy area” means a property or portion of a property designated on a recorded plat, deed, covenant, or other 
legally binding document to protect the natural features of the area designated. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 12 



 

 

 

 

 
 

     
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

   
 

    

 
 

 
  

 
  

 

 

 
  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Conserve” means to manage and use in a prudent and sustainable manner to provide for future availability. 

“Construction materials sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, used or is intended for wholesale or 
retail sales of bulk construction materials such as roofing, lumber, bricks, component parts (trusses), and the like.  The 
term does not include hardware stores, concrete plants, asphalt mixing plants, or any facility that manufactures building 
materials and offers them for retail sale on the premises. 

“Contractor yard” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended to be used by a 
contractor/builder with one or more of the following: construction material storage, machinery storage or repair, 
including trucks and heavy equipment, shops, and office space. 

“Contractor yard, type I” means a contractor yard that would be compatible in size and scope in a residential setting 
as defined by performance standards herein described or as may be adopted. 

“Contractor yard, type II” means a contractor yard that would be compatible in size and scope with industrial and 
commercial activities as defined by performance standards herein described or as may be adopted. 

“Contributing structure, building or property” means a structure, building or property within a historic district that 
contributes to the historic integrity of the district. 

“Convenience sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for personal services 
or retail sale of a limited product line of frequently needed personal items.  The term includes convenience stores, small 
grocery stores, barber shops, beauty parlors, and the like. 

“County Clerk and Recorder” means the clerk and recorder for Cascade County. 

“Covenant” means a legally binding agreement contained in a deed, declaration,  or other legal  document or  on the face  
of a plat that restricts or regulates the use of  specified real property. 

“Critical habitat” means the area occupied  by a species which contains those physical and biological features that are (1) 
essential to the conservation  of the species and  (2) which may require special considerations or  protection.  Critical  
habitat shall not include the entire geographic  area which can be occupied by the species. 

“Cumulative effect” means a noticeable overall effect which results from the incremental effects of other projects, 
where the increment from each project may not necessarily be noticeable or considered unacceptable. 

“Curb” means the barrier  used to separate  roads and other vehicle use areas from the surrounding environs. 
 
“Curb cut” means the width of the opening in the curb along a street that provides vehicular access to private property. 

“Curb line” means the line at the back of the curb  nearest to  the lot line. In the absence of a curb, the curb line is 
established by  the City Engineer. 

“Curb radius” means the radius of  the circle  formed by the  curve of the curb at the corner. 

“Curb  ramp” means a short ramp cutting through a curb or built up to it. 

“Cutoff luminaire” means a luminaire where less than 2.5 percent of the lamp lumens occur at or above the horizontal 
plane and no more than  10 percent of the lamp lumens occur above 80  degrees. 

D 
“Date of completeness” means the date an application is deemed complete by the City. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 13 



 

 

 

 

  
    

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

          
   

 

   
 

  
 

      
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
     

  
 

 

 
    

  
 

 
  

     
 

 
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Day care center” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended to provide day care to 13 
or more children on a regular basis. (Source: 52-2-703, MCA) 

“Deck” means an above-ground, unroofed platform extending from a building and intended for outdoor living. 

“Dedication” means the deliberate appropriation of land by an owner for any general and public use, reserving to the 
landowner no rights that are incompatible with the full exercise and enjoyment of the public use to which the property 
has been devoted. (Source: 76-3-103(3), MCA) 

“Demolition” means an act or process that destroys, in whole or in part, a structure. 

“Demolition by neglect” means the gradual destruction of a building or structure due to a lack of normal maintenance. 

“Demolition permit” means a permit issued consistent with this Title authorizing the complete or partial demolition of a 
structure. 

“Density” means the number of dwelling units per acre, calculated as follows: number of dwelling units divided by the 
acreage of the parcel of land, whether gross or net.  As the context would indicate, density can be based on the actual, 
proposed, or permitted number of dwelling units. 

“Density, gross” means the density based on the acreage of the entire parcel of land. For example, a development of 
20 houses on a 40-acre parcel of land has a gross density of 0.5 dwelling units per gross acre (20 / 40 = 0.5). 

“Density, net” means the density based on the acreage of the entire parcel of land, excluding the acreage used for 
parks or which will not be further developed.   For example, a development of 20 houses on a 40-acre parcel of 
land, with 20 acres in a floodplain or a conservation easement, has a net density of 1 dwelling units per net acre (40 
- 20 / 20 = 1). 

“Department Director” means a City of Great Falls official designated as the head of a specific City Department, 
or his/her designee, authorized to act on his/her behalf. 

“Design review” means an evaluation of a project’s design features as enumerated in this Title including architecture, 
site layout, and landscaping. 

“Design Review Board” means that board created by the City Commission to administer the design review process 
consistent with this Title.  

“Design wavier” means a grant of relief from the strict application of the adopted regulations that will avoid unintended 
and unwanted results and therefore result in a better development. 

“Detention” means the temporary storage of storm runoff in a stormwater management practice with the goals of 
controlling peak discharge rates and providing gravity settling of pollutants. 

“Detention facility” means a detention basin or alternative structure designed for the purpose of temporary storage of 
stream flow or surface runoff and gradual release of stored water at controlled rates. 

“Development” See: land development.  

“Development exaction” means money, land (on-site or off-site), or infrastructure (on-site or off-site) that a developer 
provides to a local unit of government to alleviate a specified impact created by the proposed development.  The nature 
of the mitigation is determined on a case-by-case basis.  

“Deviation, major” means a deviation from the terms of a permit or other approval other than a minor deviation. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 14 



 

 

 

 

 
   

   
      

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Deviation, minor” means a deviation from the terms of a permit or other approval issued pursuant to this Title that is 
necessary in light of technical or engineering considerations first discovered after the permit issuance or other approval 
and not reasonably anticipated during the review process and if had been known during the review process would not 
have materially altered the decision to issue the permit or approval. 

“Diameter at breast height (DBH)” means a tree measured 4½ feet above the ground surface on the uphill side of the 
tree. For a multi-trunk tree, DBH is the sum of the diameter of the 3 largest trunks. 

“Directional sign” means a sign that designates the location or direction of a place or area. 

“Discourage” means to avoid or hinder an event or some occurrence. 

“Display surface” means the area of a sign structure that displays the advertising message. 

“District” See: zoning district.  

“Division of land” means the segregation of  one or more parcels of land from a 
larger t ract held  in  single or undivided ownership by  transferring or  contracting 
to transfer title to or possession  of a portion of the tract or properly filing  a 
certificate of survey or  subdivision  plat establishing the identity of the segregated 
parcels pursuant to the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act. The conveyance 
of a tract of record or an entire parcel of land that was created  by a previous  
division  of land is  not considered a division  of land. (Source: 76-3-103(4), MCA) 

Exhibit 8-3.   Drip line 

“Drainage way” means any channel that conveys surface runoff throughout the 
site. 

“Drip line” means a vertical line that extends from the outermost edge of the tree 
canopy to the ground. (Exhibit 8-3) 

“Dwelling  unit” means a single building  or portion thereof providing complete, 
independent living  facilities for one family, including permanent provisions  for 
living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and  sanitation.   

E 
“Easement” means a less than fee interest to use the property of another for specific purposes.  

“Easement, private road and public utility easement” means an easement shown  on a plat where private roads are 
located and where public utility companies may place utility service for customers.  

“Easement, public road and  public utility easement” means an easement shown  on a plat where public roads are 
located and where public utility companies may place utility service for customers.  

“Educational facility (K-12)” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used  or is intended  for use as a 
preschool, elementary, junior  high, or high  school. 

“Educational facility (higher education)” means any place and/or building, or portion thereof, that offers  or is intended  
to provide secondary education.  The term includes colleges, universities, community colleges, and  vocational schools. 

“Electric sign” means a sign containing electrical wiring. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 15 



 

 

 

 

 

 
    

 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 

 

 
      

 

 
 

 

 

 
  

 

 

 

 
 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Electronic message board” See: changeable copy sign.  

“Emergency shelter” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used  or is intended to provide temporary  
housing and ancillary services to  primarily indigent, needy,  homeless, or transient individuals. 

“Encourage” means to stimulate, foster, or help advance an event or some occurrence. 

“Engineer” See: registered professional engineer. 

“Engineering department” means the engineering department for the City of Great Falls. 

“Enhance” means to improve or increase in value or attractiveness. 

“Ensure” means to guarantee or make sure something will happen. 

“Environmental assessment” means a written  report that documents the environmental, social, and  cultural impacts and 
consequences of  a proposed development  project.  

“EPA’s Menu  of BMPs” means the manual  prepared  by the Environmental Protection Agency. 

“Erosion” means the detachment and movement of soil or rock fragments by water, wind, ice, or gravity. 

“Erosion and sediment control plan” means a plan that is designed to minimize the accelerated erosion and sediment 
runoff at a site during construction activities. 

“Erosion control” means a measure that prevents erosion. 

“Erosion control permit” means a permit issued by the municipality for the construction or alteration  of ground  
improvements and structures for the control  of erosion, runoff, and grading. 

“Establish” means to construct, place, insert, or excavate. 

“Exaction” See: development exaction. 

“Examining land surveyor” means a registered land surveyor appointed by the City to review surveys and plats 
submitted for filing.  

“Existing manufactured  home park or subdivision” means a manufactured  home park  or subdivision  where the 
construction  of facilities for servicing the manufactured home lots is completed  before the effective date of the 
floodplain management regulations.  This includes, at a minimum, the installation of utilities, the construction  of streets, 
and either final site or grading, or  pouring of  concrete  pads.  

“Ex  parte communication” means any form  of communication  (e.g., written, verbal), whether voluntary or  occurring  
inadvertently, that occurs prior to and  outside of the public hearing between an individual who will vote on an 
adjudicative matter pending before the decision-making body on which he/she serves and  another individual and which 
relates to the matter pending. 

F 
“Factory-built home” See: Residence, manufactured/factory built. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 16 



 

 

 

 

     
  

 
 

 
  

 

   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

   

 
 

 
    

 
 

 
  

 
 

 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

   

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Family” means an individual, or 2 or more individuals related by blood, marriage or adoption or other legal means, or a 
group of not more than 5 individuals who are not related by blood, marriage or adoption, living together as a single 
housekeeping unit within a dwelling unit. 

“Family day care home” means a private residence in which day care (meaning care is less than 24 hours per day) is 
provided to 3 to 6 children from separate families on a regular basis.  (Source: 52-2-703, MCA) 

“Fee in lieu” means a payment of money in place of meeting all or part of the storm water performance standards 
required by this ordinance. 

“Fence” means a structure around the perimeter of a space that provides privacy, aesthetics, or security. 

“Financial services” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for providing financial 
and banking services.  The term includes banks, savings and loan institutions, other lending institutions, and check 
cashing facilities.  The term does not include automated teller machines, which are considered an accessory use to 
commercial enterprises. 

“Finding” means a written conclusion or determination that is considered in reaching a decision. 

“Fish habitat structure” means any structure that is designed to create fish habitat. Examples include random instream 
boulder cover and bank cover. This term is to be narrowly construed to exclude any structure which may offer fish 
habitat as a secondary benefit.  

“Flag” means a square, rectangular, or triangular piece of fabric that is mounted along one side upon a pole, cable, or 
rope. 

“Flood or flooding” means a general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation of normally dry lands 
from the overflow of a stream, or the unusual and rapid accumulation or runoff of surface waters from any source. 

“Flood, 100-year” means a flood having a one percent chance of  being equaled or exceeded in any given year. A 
100-year  flood is the same as a base flood. 

“Flood insurance rate map (FIRM)” means the map on which the Federal Emergency Management Agency has 
delineated both the 100-year floodplains and the risk premium zones. 

“Flood insurance study” means the report in which the Federal Emergency Management Agency has provided flood 
profiles, as well as the flood boundary-floodway map and the water surface profiles. 

“Floodplain” means the area generally adjoining a stream which would be covered by floodway. From a regulatory 
standpoint, it consists of the floodway and floodway fringe. 

“Floodplain, 100-year” means the area generally adjoining a stream that would be covered by floodwater during a 
100-year flood event except  for designated shallow flooding areas that  receive less than one foot  of water per 
occurrence.  

“Floodplain Administrator” means the individual the Director of Community Development assigns to administer the 
floodplain regulations contained in this Title. 

“Floodplain island” means an area of land that is above the base flood elevation and is wholly surrounded by an area 
that is below the base flood elevation.  

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 17 



 

 

 

 

 
    

 

 

 

 
  

   
 

 
  

 
   

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

     
    

 
 

 
 

 
   

   
 

  
 

 
  

  
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Floodway” means the channel of a stream and the adjacent overbank areas that must be reserved in  order to discharge a  
base flood without cumulatively increasing the water surface elevation more than ½ foot. 

“Floodway fringe” means that portion of a floodplain outside the limits of the floodway. 

“Floor area” means the total horizontal area contained within the outside perimeter of a building. 

“Foot-candle” means a measure of light falling on a given surface. One foot candle is equal to one lumen per square 
foot. 

“Foundation planting” means plant material  placed in planting beds along and near a foundation of a building. Intended  
to complement the building and connect the building to the site. 

“Freestanding sign – a.k.a. pole sign” means a sign supported wholly by a pole or poles, I-beam, or a structure in the 
ground with no part of itself attached to a building. 

“Freight terminal” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for unloading, loading 
or storage of freight for routing or reshipment the temporary storage of items that will be reloaded onto trucks for 
final shipment. 

“Frontage” means a side of a building that faces a public right-of-way or provides off-street parking, or provides a 
customer entrance, or any side of a lot or parcel that borders on a public right-of-way. 

“Frontage road” See: road, frontage. 

“Fuel tank farm” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for commercial bulk 
storage of petroleum products or any other fuel. 

“Fugitive dust” means solid airborne  particulate matter resulting  from any activity conducted on a parcel zoned, or used, 
for industrial purposes. 

“Full-cutoff luminaire” means a luminaire where no light occurs above the horizontal plane and no more than 10 
percent of the lamp lumens occur above 80 degrees. 

“Funeral home” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, used or intended for the care and preparation of 
human dead for burial.  The term includes funeral homes and mortuaries. 

G 
“Gaming, accessory” means a portion of a hotel, motel, restaurant or tavern with legalized gambling authorized under 
Title 23, Chapter 5, part 1, et. seq., MCA, permitted with specific development and use standards. 

“Garage, private” means a building that is intended to house vehicles and household items belonging to the owner or 
occupant of the principal residence. 

“Garage sales” means the occasional non-business public sale of secondhand household goods and other goods 
incidental to household uses.  The term also includes yard sales, patio sales, and the like.  The term does not 
include any sales defined as itinerant outdoor sales.   

“General repair” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for the repair of consumer 
goods such as shoes, bicycles, appliances, business equipment, and the like. The term does not include repair of vehicles 
or industrial equipment. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 18 



 

 

 

 

 
   

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

  
 

   
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
 

 
  

     
 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“General sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for retail sale of a diverse 
product line. The term includes grocery stores, warehouse retail outlets, comparison shopping stores, full-line 
department stores, and the like. 

“General services” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for providing services 
not otherwise included in any other service type category. The term includes photography studios, weight loss centers, 
commercial postal services, beauty shops, pet grooming shops, photocopying and printing services, linen services, dry 
cleaning services, diaper services, and the like. 

“Geological hazard” means the potential for geological instability arising from geologic features or conditions, 
including faults, landslides, avalanches, stream channel movement, fluvial erosion, and the like. 

“Glare” means luminance in excessive of what the human eye is accustomed to resulting in annoyance, discomfort, or 
loss of visual performance and visibility. 

“Golf course/driving range” means a place, whether organized for profit or not, that is used or is intended for playing 
golf. 

“Grade control structure” means a structure consisting of stones, rocks, or analogous material that is placed on the bed 
of a stream to control or otherwise influence the grade of the stream. 

“Grading” means the excavation or fill of soil material, including the resulting conditions thereof. 

“Groundcover” means a low-growing plant material (other than turf grass) that characteristically does not grow higher 
than 18 inches and forms a more or less continuous cover over the ground surface. 

“Groundwater” means water occupying the voids within a geologic stratum and within the zone of saturation. 

“Group day care home” means a private residence in which day care (meaning care is less than 24 hours per day) is 
provided to 7 to 12 children on a regular basis. (Source: 52-2-703, MCA) 

“Growth policy” means that document the City Commission has adopted consistent with 76-1-601, MCA.  

H 
“Hazard” means any condition, whether man-made or natural, which presents a tangible danger to the public health, 
safety, and general welfare. 

“Hazard to air navigation” means an obstruction determined to have a substantial adverse effect of the safe and efficient 
utilization of the navigable airspace. 

“Hazardous substance” means any material regulated by the "Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act 
of 1986" 42 USC 1101-11050, as may be amended.  

“Hazardous waste” means a waste or combination of wastes that because of its quantity, concentration, or physical, 
chemical, or infectious characteristics, may (1) cause or significantly contribute to an increase in mortality or an 
increase in serious irreversible or incapacitating reversible illness; or (2) pose a substantial present or potential hazard to 
human health or the environment when improperly treated, stored, transported, or disposed of or otherwise managed. 
The term does not include substances governed by Title 82, Chapter 4, Part 2, MCA. (Source: 75-10-403, MCA)  

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 19 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 
 

  

 
 

 
 

      
 

  

 
 

 
 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

 
   

 
   

 
 

    

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Health care center clinic” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for providing 
medical services including prevention, diagnosis, treatment, or rehabilitation.  The term includes dental clinics, doctor’s 
offices, and sports medicine facilities.  The term does not include those uses as classified as a health care facility. 

“Health care facility” means a place and/or  building, or portion thereof, whether public or private, excluding federal 
facilities, whether organized for profit or not, that is used  or is intended to provide health  services, medical treatment, or  
nursing, rehabilitative, or  preventative care to any person  or  individuals.  The term does not include offices of private 
physicians or dentists.  The term includes ambulatory surgical facilities, hospitals, kidney treatment centers, long-term  
care facilities, medical assistance facilities, mental health centers, outpatient facilities, public health centers, 
rehabilitation facilities, residential treatment facilities, and adult day-care centers as defined in State law.  (Source: 50-5-
101, MCA) 

“Health care sales and services” means a place and/or building or portion thereof, that is used or intended to 
provide for the sale of health care products and services.  The term includes pharmacies, vision care facilities, 
hearing aid facilities, prosthetic facilities, etc. 

“Height” means a line of measurement between two given points contained in a plane that is perpendicular to horizontal 
ground level.  See Section 17.8.090 for definition of “building height.”  

“Heli-pad” means a place that is used or intended to land helicopters. 

“Historic district” means a geographically defined area that possesses a significant concentration, linkage or continuity 
of sites, buildings, structures or objects united historically or aesthetically by plan or physical development. 

“Historic preservation advisory commission (HPAC)” means the commission created jointly by the Great Falls City 
Commission and Cascade Board of County Commissioners to administer its local preservation program consistent with 
State and local requirements and/or guidelines. 

“Historic preservation officer” means the individual so designated by the City. 

“Historic structure” means any structure that is a contributing or a primary structure or any structure individually listed 
on the National Register of Historic Places.  

“Home occupation” means any occupation, profession, enterprise, or similar activity that is conducted on the premises 
of a single-family residence as an accessory use and that would be compatible in size and scope in an urban residential 
setting.  The term does not include hobbies or similar non-commercial activities or any activity that would meet the 
definition of heavy industry. 

“Home owners association” means a corporation consisting of homeowners and created pursuant to State law for the 
purpose of owning, operating, and maintaining various common properties. 

“Horizontal surface” means a horizontal plane one hundred fifty feet above the established airport elevation, the 
perimeter of which in plan coincides with the perimeter of the horizontal zone. 

“Hotel/motel” means a building that is used, intended, kept, maintained as, advertised as, or held out to the public to be 
a hotel, motel, inn, motor court, tourist court, public lodging house, or place where sleeping accommodations are 
furnished for a fee to transient guests (as defined in State law) with or without meals.  (Source: 50-51-102, MCA) 

“Hotspot” means an area where land use or activities generate highly contaminated runoff, with concentrations of 
pollutants in excess of those typically found in stormwater. 

“Household” means one or more individuals (related or unrelated) that usually occupy a dwelling unit. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 20 



 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
  

 
   

 

 
  

  
 

 
 

  
 

 

 
  

    

  

 
 

 
   

 
 

  
  

 
 

   
 

I 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Illuminance” means the amount of light falling on a surface. Illuminance may be measured in lux or in foot-candles. 

“Illuminating Engineering Society of North America (IESNA)” means a professional organization that was created to 
advance knowledge and disseminate information for the improvement of the lighted environment to the benefit of 
society. Its membership includes engineers, architects, designers, manufacturers, contractors, distributors, utility 
personnel, educators, students, and scientists. 

“Immediate family” means a spouse, children by blood or adoption, and parents. 

“Impervious surface” means that portion of a lot that substantially reduces or prevents the infiltration of stormwater into 
the ground.  It includes areas of compacted soil and surfaces such as buildings, sidewalks, parking lots, driveways, and 
similar features.  

“Incidental sign” means a sign indicating services, credit cards, hours of operation, or other similar information that 
pertains to the premises where the sign is located.   

“Indoor entertainment” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for indoor 
entertainment of all types.  The term includes theaters, movie theaters, dance halls, theaters for performing arts, and the 
like. 

“Indoor sports and recreation” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for indoor 
recreation of all types.  The term includes bowling alleys, skating rinks, billiard and pool halls, arcades, athletic clubs, 
indoor racquetball courts, athletic training centers, gyms, and the like. 

“Industrial, heavy” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for the following or 
similar uses: processing or manufacture of materials or products predominantly from extracted or raw materials; storage 
of or manufacturing processes using flammable or explosive materials; or storage or manufacturing processes that 
potentially involve hazardous or commonly recognized offensive conditions.  The term includes motor vehicle 
assembly, oil refineries, textile production, sawmills, post and pole plants, log yards, asphalt and concrete operations, 
primary metal processing, and the like. 

“Industrial, light” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for the manufacture, 
predominantly from previously prepared materials, of finished products or parts, including processing, fabrication, 
assembly, treatment, packaging, incidental storage, sales and distribution of such products, but excluding basic 
industrial processing.  The term includes furniture production, metal fabrication, apparel manufacturing, printing, 
publishing, and the like. 

“Industrial park” means a planned and coordinated development designed to accommodate a variety of and more than 2 
industrial uses. 

“Industrial zoning district” means any zoning district established by this Title that has an “I” followed by a number as 
its abbreviation (e.g., I-1). 

“Inhabited area" means any residence, any other structure regularly occupied by people, or any outdoor area 
used by people on a regular basis. 

“Infill development” means the construction of new structures on one or more vacant lots within a previously 
established or approved development or area. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 21 



 

 

 

 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
  

  
    

 

 
 

 

 
 

  
 

 
 

    
 

 
 

 
   

  

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
     

 
  

 
    

  
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Instream structure” means any structure that is placed within the ordinary high water mark for irrigation purposes, for 
controlling lateral or horizontal stream movement. Examples include bank stabilization, grade control structures, 
headgates, and the like.  

“Instructional facility” means any place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended to offer 
instruction, training, or tutelage in such areas as gymnastics, dance, art, music, martial arts, and the like. 

“International Building Code” current, adopted edition of the International Building Code published by the International 
Codes Council. 

“Interstate highway” means a roadway intended to carry vehicles over long distances with access restricted to 
interchanges. This is one level in the City’s functional classification system for roads within its jurisdiction. 

“Itinerant outdoor sales” means a place that is used or is intended for retail sales over a limited duration.  The term 
includes seasonal sales such as fireworks and Christmas trees, flea markets, and the like.  The term does not include 
private yard or garage sales or the sale of agricultural products produced on the premises. 

“Irrigation ditch” means a man-made structure to carry water for irrigation purposes. 

“Irrigation system” means a permanent, artificial watering system designed to transport and distribute water to 
landscape plants. 

J 
“Junk vehicle” means a discarded, ruined, wrecked, or dismantled motor vehicle, including component parts, which is 
not lawfully and validly licensed and remains inoperative or incapable of being driven. (Source: 75-10-501, MCA) 

“Junk yard” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for selling, exchanging, 
storing, cleaning, packing, processing, or otherwise handling salvage materials.  

L 
“Land clearing” means the removal of trees, understory, shrubbery, brush, groundcover, and/or topsoil from any part of 
the land. The term does not include standard maintenance practices including lawn mowing, pruning, and the like. 

“Land development” means any activity that must comply with the provisions of this Title. 

“Land use” means, as the context would indicate, (1) the development that has occurred on the land (2) development 
that is proposed on the land, or (3) the use that is permitted on the land under an adopted and legally enforceable 
regulatory framework. 

“Land use, accessory” means any land use that is clearly incidental and subordinate to and customarily found with a 
principal land use. 

“Land use, beneficial” means any use of a parcel of land that is common in the region, on similarly situated 
properties, even if it does not involve development. 

“Land use, conditional” means a land use that would not be appropriate generally or without restriction throughout 
a specified area but which, if controlled as to the number, area, location, or relation to the neighborhood, could 
promote the public health, safety, or general welfare. 

“Land use, permitted by right” means a land use that is allowed throughout a specified area.  Land uses permitted 
by right shall be reviewed to ensure that all provisions of local, State, or federal regulations are met. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 22 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  
 

   
  

 
    

  
 

  
  

  
 

    
   

 
    

 
 

   
 

 
 

     
 

 

 

 

 

   
  

    
 

 
 

  
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Land use, principal” means the dominant land use of a parcel of land. 

“Land use, water-dependent”  means any land  use that is by necessity dependent  upon access to a water body  for 
water-borne transportation including  ports or marinas, recreation,  electrical generating  facilities, or water supply. 

“Land use, water-related” means any land  use that is  not  by  necessity dependent  upon access to a water body, but  
which predominantly provides goods and services that are directly associated with  water-dependent land uses. 

“Landscape architect” See: registered landscape architect. 

“Landscape plan” means a scaled plan that shows the areas of a site to be landscaped and provides design, planting, and 
irrigation specifications. 

“Landscaping” means living material (e.g., turf grass, ground cover, shrubs, vines, hedges) and nonliving durable 
material commonly used in landscaping (e.g., bark, rocks, pebbles, decorative walls, fences, art and benches). 

“Landslide” means a natural movement of a large mass of soil and/or rock moving down slope under gravitational 
forces. 

“Large equipment rental” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for renting large 
equipment that is normally stored out of doors. Typical items would include trucks, vertical lifts, fork lifts, back hoes, 
other types of heavy equipment, and modular buildings. 

“Larger than utility runway” means a runway that is constructed for and intended to be used by propeller-driven aircraft 
of greater than 12,500 pounds maximum gross weight and jet powered aircraft. 

“Lattice tower” means a self supporting support structure, erected on the ground, which consists of metal crossed strips 
or bars to support antennas and related equipment. 

“Legislative decision” means a decision generally discretionary in nature, made by elected governmental officials, that 
creates a new law or that repeals or modifies a previously adopted law. The adoption of a local comprehensive plan or a 
zoning code is an example of a legislative decision. 

“Levee” means a manmade structure, usually earthen embankment, designed and constructed in accordance with sound 
engineering practices to contain, control or divert the flow of water so as to provide protection from temporary flooding. 

“Levee system” means a flood protection system which consists of a levee, or levees, and associated structures, such as 
drainage and closure devices, which are constructed and operated in accordance with sound engineering practices. 

“Local street” means a roadway intended to predominantly provide access to adjoining properties. Traffic speeds are 
characteristically lower and access to and from driveways is frequent. This is one level in the City’s functional 
classification system for roads within its jurisdiction. 

“Light manufacturing and assembly” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
manufacturing and/or assembly of goods where no air contaminants or potentially offensive odors are emitted outside of 
the building or area of manufacture/assembly; no radioactive materials or hazardous substances or hazardous wastes or 
regulated substances are handled or produced.  Such uses do not produce offensive noises outside of the building or area 
of manufacturing/assembly. Such uses typically have relatively small volumes of products shipped in and out, so as to 
not adversely impact neighboring uses (such as residential, office or commercial in mixed use zones). Typical uses 
include assembly of computers; testing, producing and/or packaging software; packaging of pre-made goods; etc.  This 
term does not include any uses specifically listed under the definition of “industrial, light”. 

“Light meter” means a device that measures the amount of light energy falling on a given surface. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 23 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

    

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

    

  

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Light trespass” means light emitted by a lighting installation that falls outside the boundaries of the property on which 
the installation is sited. 

“Lighting fixture” See: luminaire. 

“Loading area” means an off-street area set aside for the 
purpose of unloading or loading a motor vehicle, trailer, or 
truck. 

Exhibit 8-4.  Examples of lot types 

“Local services” means any and all services or facilities the 
City is authorized to provide. 

“Logo” means a graphic design representing an activity, 
service, or business. 

“Lot” means a parcel of ground with a definable location based 
on a recorded survey or similar instrument. (Exhibit 8-4) 

“Lot, corner” means a lot situated at the junction of and 
fronting on 2 or more roadways.  A lot abutting on a 
curved street shall be considered a corner lot if straight 
lines drawn from the foremost points of the side lot lines 
to the foremost point of the lot meet at an interior angle of 
less than 135 degrees. 

“Lot, flag” means a lot with access provided by a corridor 
from a street to the bulk of the lot. 

“Lot, interior” means a lot that abuts only one road. 

“Lot, through” means a lot having a frontage on 2 more or less parallel streets. 

“Lot, Z” means a type of interior lot that is generally situated on an angle to the street.  

“Lot, zero lot line” means a lot where the 
building is place on or near one of the side lot 
lines. 

Exhibit 8-5.  Lot lines and types of yards 

“Lot area” means the area of the horizontal plane 
bound by the vertical planes through front, rear, and 
side lot lines.  

“Lot coverage” is a measure of land use intensity. It 
compares the portion of a site that is covered by 
impervious surfaces with the overall area of the site. 
For example, a 2-acre site with 0.5 acres of 
impervious surface has a lot coverage of 0.25 or 25 
percent (0.5 / 2 = 0.25). 

“Lot line” means a line dividing one lot from another 
lot or from a street or alley.  

“Lot line, front” means a lot line described for each of the following types of lots: on an interior lot, the lot line 
abutting a street; or, on a corner lot, the shorter lot line abutting a street; or, on a through lot, the lot line abutting 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 24 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
   

 
 

 
   

 
 

 

 

 
  

 

 
   

 

 

 

 
 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

the street providing the primary access to the lot; or, on a flag lot, the interior lot line most parallel to and nearest 
the street from which access is obtained (Exhibit 8-5).  

“Lot line, rear” means a lot line that does not intersect a front lot line and that is most distant from and most closely 
parallel to the front lot line (Exhibit 8-5). 

“Lot line, side” means a lot line not a front  or rear lot line (Exhibit 8-5). 

“Low-profile sign” means a freestanding pole or monument sign with a height limit of 8  feet from finished grade to the  
top  of the sign  structure.  

“Lowest floor” means any floor used  for living purposes, storage, or  recreation or that could be converted to such a use. 

“Lumen” means a measure of light energy generated by a light  source. Manufacturers list ratings  for all their lamps. 
Average lumen ratings are slightly lower than initial lumen ratings. 

“Luminaire” means a complete lighting unit consisting of a light source and all necessary mechanical, electrical, and 
decorative parts. 

M 
“Maintain” means to support, keep, and continue in an existing State or condition  without  decline. 
“Manufactured home” See: Residence, manufactured/factory-built.  

“Manufactured home park or subdivision” means a parcel or contiguous parcels of land divided into 2 or more 
manufactured home lots for rent or sale. 

“Manufactured housing sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for on-site 
display and sales of mobile homes, modular homes, or other forms of manufactured housing. 

“Market value” means the value as reported on Cascade County  Assessor’s roll.   

“Marquee” means a permanent, roofed structure that projects over public property and is attached to and supported by a 
building. 

“Marquee sign” means a sign attached to a marquee. 

“Mean sea level” means the National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD) of 1929 or other datum to which base flood 
elevations are referenced. 

“Micro-brewery” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, which is used  or is intended for (1) the manufacture 
of malt beverages and (2) the sale and on-site consumption of those beverages, along with other beverages and food. 

“Mini-storage facility” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is divided into individual spaces and that  
is used  or is intended as individual  storage units that are rented, leased, or  owned.  The term  includes a tract of land  used  
to store vehicles that are not for sale or trade. 

“Miniature golf” means a place and/or  building, or  portion thereof, that is  used  or is intended for playing miniature golf.  

“Minimize” means that no other alternative would result in a lesser impact. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 25 



 

 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

   

 
   

 
 

  
     

   
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

  
  

 

 
 

   
 

   
   

 
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Minor arterial” means a roadway that is designed to carry vehicles quickly from place to place, but access to adjacent 
land use has a high priority. This is one level in the City’s functional classification system for roads within its 
jurisdiction. 

“Mitigate” means to take an action designed to offset or rectify a negative effect. 

“Mixed-use building” means a building that contains 2 or more of the following uses: residential, retail, office, 
employment, or civic. 

“Mixed-use zoning district” means any zoning district established by this Title that has an “M” followed by a number as 
its abbreviation (e.g., M-1). 

“Mobile home” means a dwelling unit that is: (1) constructed off-site; and (2) equipped with the necessary utility 
service connections; and (3) made so as to be readily movable as a unit or units on its (their) own running gear; and (4) 
designed to be used with or without a permanent foundation. 

“Mobile home pad” means the area of a mobile home space which has been prepared for the placement of a mobile 
home. 

“Mobile home park” means a place providing 2 or more mobile home lots for lease or rent to the general public.  
(Source: 50-52-101 MCA) 

“Mobile home space” means a designated portion of a parcel of land designed for the accommodation of one mobile 
home and its accessory buildings or structures for the exclusive use of the occupants. 

“Mobile home subdivision” means a tract of land specifically designed, improved and maintained for locating mobile 
homes, which is platted into lots, blocks and streets and the lots then sold or rented to the occupant. 

“Modular home” See: Residence, manufactured/factory-built. 

“Monopole” is a wireless communication facility which consists of a monopolar structure, erected on the ground to 
support wireless communication antennas and connecting appurtenances. 

“Monument” means any structure of masonry, metal, or other permanent, durable material placed in the ground, which 
is exclusively identifiable as a monument to a survey point, expressly placed for surveying reference. 

“Monument sign” means a low-profile, freestanding sign whose entire structure consists of solid material.  Monument 
signs, in their entirety, are limited to a total height of 8 feet. 

“Motor vehicle graveyard” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is maintained and operated by a 
county and that is used  or is intended as a collection point for junk motor vehicles prior to their disposal.  (Source: 75-
10-501, MCA)  

“Motor vehicle wrecking facility” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
buying, selling, or dealing in 4 or more vehicles per year, of a type required to be licensed, for the purpose of wrecking, 
dismantling, disassembling, or substantially changing the form of the motor vehicle; or a facility that buys or sells 
component parts, in whole or in part, and deals in secondhand motor vehicle parts.  A facility that buys or sells 
component parts of a motor vehicle, in whole or in part, is a motor vehicle wrecking facility whether or not the buying 
or selling price is based upon weight or any other type of classification.  The term does not include a garage where 
wrecked or disabled motor vehicles are temporarily stored for a reasonable period of time for inspection, repairs, or 
subsequent removal to a junkyard. (Source: 75-10-501, MCA) 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 26 



 

 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 
    

  
 

 
    

 
    

 
   

 
 

    
 

   

 

 
 

      
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  

 
  

  
 

  
 

  
 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Mulch” means nonliving organic and synthetic materials customarily used in landscape design to retard erosion and 
retain moisture, and that provide a protective covering around plants to reduce weed growth and to maintain even 
temperatures around plant roots. Examples include bark, wood chips, and coffee bean hulls. 

N 
“National Register of Historic Places” means the official list of the Nation’s historic places worthy of preservation. 
Authorized under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 and administered by the National Park Service, it is 
part of a national program to coordinate and support public and private efforts to identify, evaluate and protect our 
historic and archaeological resources. Properties listed in the National Register include districts, sites, buildings, 
structures, and objects that are significant in American history, architecture, archeology, engineering, and culture. 

“Native material revetment” means bank stabilization using root wads, logs, boulders, vegetation plantings, and sod 
mats. This type of design improves visual and biological values as opposed to some of the more “hard” approaches such 
as rip-rap. 

“Neighborhood council” means the elected body for one of the neighborhood districts within the City. 

“Neighborhood district” means the geographic area established pursuant to the City’s charter. 

“Neighborhood plan” means a plan for a geographic area within the boundaries of the jurisdictional area that addresses 
one or more of the elements of the growth policy in more detail. (Source: 76-1-103, MCA) 

“New construction” means structures for which the start of construction, substantial improvement, or alteration 
commences on or after the effective date of these regulations. 

"NIER" means non-onizing electromagnetic radiation, which is electromagnetic radiation primarily in the 
visible, infrared, and radio frequency portions of the electromagnetic spectrum. 

“Noncombustible material” means material that does not ignite at or below a temperature of 1200 degrees Fahrenheit 
during a five-minute exposure and that does not continue to burn or glow at that temperature, as specified in the current, 
adopted edition of the International Building Code. 

“Nonconforming building” means any building that at the time of construction conformed to existing rules and 
regulations, but is now inconsistent with this Title. 

“Nonconforming structure” means any structure that at the time of construction or placement conformed to existing 
rules and regulations, but is now inconsistent with this Title. 

“Nonconforming use” means any use of land that at the time of establishment conformed to existing rules and 
regulations, but is now inconsistent with this Title. 

“Noncontributing structure, building or property” means a structure, building or property within a historic district that 
does not contribute to the historic integrity of the district. 

“Non-cutoff luminaire” means a luminaire where a considerable amount of light occurs above the horizontal plane. 

“Non-ionizing electromagnetic radiation (NIER)” means electromagnetic radiation primarily in the visible, infrared, and 
radio frequency portions of the electromagnetic spectrum. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 27 



 

 

 

 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
   

 
   

 
 

     
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
   

 
 

     

 
  

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Non-precision instrument runway” means runway having an existing instrument approach procedure utilizing air 
navigation facilities with only horizontal guidance, or area type navigation equipment, for which a straight-in non-
precision instrument approach procedure has been approved or planned. 

“Nonstructural trim” means molding battens, caps, nailing strips, latticing, walkways, cutouts, or letters attached to a 
sign structure. 

“Noxious weed” means any exotic plant species established or that may be introduced in the State which may render 
land unfit for agriculture, forestry, livestock, wildlife, or other beneficial uses or that may harm native plant 
communities and that is designated by the Montana Department of Agriculture or by a weed management district. 

“Nursing home” means a place that provides 24-hour services including room and board to unrelated residents who 
because of their mental or physical condition require nursing care. 

O 
“Occupancy” means the purpose for which a building, or part thereof, is used or intended to be used. 

“Off-premise sign” means a sign that directs attention to a business, commodity, service, activity, or product not sold, 
conducted, or offered for sale on the premise where the sign is located. 

“Off-site facility” means any facility located outside of the subject property. 

“Off-site liquor sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for retail sales of 
alcoholic beverages for off-site consumption.  The term includes package liquor stores.  

“On-premise sign” means a sign that directs attention to a business, commodity, service, activity, or product sold, 
conducted, or offered for sale on the premise where the sign is located. 

“On-site construction office” means a building placed on a construction site that is used by the contractor as a field 
office and removed when construction is complete. 

“On-site facility” means any facility located inside of the subject property. 

“On-site real estate sales office” means a residential dwelling in a residential development that is temporarily used as a 
sales office for other on-site residential dwellings.  

“Open space” means a vacant, undeveloped or unimproved parcel or area of land that is intended to remain free of 
development. Such lands typically include undeveloped park lands or other public lands, private lands in high hazard 
areas or with conservation easements, open water bodies, etc. 

“Ordinary high-water mark” means the line that water impresses on land by covering it for sufficient periods to cause 
physical characteristics that distinguish the area below the line from the area above it.  Characteristics of the area below 
the line include, when appropriate, but are not limited to deprivation of the soil of substantially all terrestrial vegetation 
and destruction of its agricultural value.  A floodplain adjacent to surface waters is not considered to lie within the 
surface waters' high-water mark. (Source: 23-3-301, MCA) 

“Outdoor entertainment” means a place and/or structure, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for outdoor, 
spectator-type uses or events.  The term includes race tracks, motocross courses, sports arenas, concerts, religious 
assemblages, and the like. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 28 



 

 

 

 

 
  

    
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

  
  

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
 

   
 

 

 
  

 
   

 
  

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Outdoor entertainment, temporary” means a short-term outdoor event such as concerts, performances, 
religious assemblages and the like.  The term does not include sporting events such as motocross, auto racing and 
the like. 

“Overall development plan” means the master site plan for a single tract of land showing the proposed project submitted 
for review and the conceptual layout of land excluded from the project. It is intended to show how the entire property 
will likely be developed over time.  

“Overlay district” means a geographic area that is placed over land use districts that adds additional requirements to 
those of the underlying district. 

“Owner of record” means the person, or persons, that are listed in the official county records as the legal owners of a 
tract of record. 

P 
“Parapet” means a low protective wall or railing along the edge of a raised structure such as a roof. 

“Parcel of land” means a unit of land all parts of which are contiguous, including contiguous lots, in the possession of, 
owned by, or managed by the same person. 

“Park” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for recreational activities for use by 
the general public or  by a homeowners' association. The term includes developed and undeveloped areas and 
neighborhood recreation centers. 

“Park dedication” means land set aside by the developer for park purposes.  

“Park dedication, cash-in-lieu of” means a cash payment that is equal to the assessed value of the land that would have 
been dedicated for park dedication purposes. 

“Parking garage” means an off-street building used to temporarily park  vehicles. 

“Parking lot” means an off-street area, located beyond the right-of-way or easement of a street, used to temporarily park 
vehicles. 

“Parking lot, principal use” means an off-street parking facility intended to temporarily store vehicles, not 
accessory to any principal use. 

“Parking structure” means a multilevel structure that is used or is intended for parking motor vehicles for a short 
duration. The term does not include underground parking. 

“Pedestrian pass-through” means a walkway that provides unconstrained pedestrian access through a building. 

“Pedestrian scale (human scale)” means the proportional relationship between the dimensions of a building or building 
element, street, outdoor space, or streetscape element and the average dimensions of a human body, taking into account 
the perceptions and walking speed of a typical pedestrian. 

“Perimeter control” means a barrier that prevents sediment from leaving a site by filtering sediment-laden runoff or 
diverting it to a sediment trap or basin. 

“Permanent foundation” means a continuous foundation wall around the perimeter of a building. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 29 



 

 

 

 

   
 

    
 

 
   

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

 

  
 

 

  
 

 

 
 

   
 

 
 

   
  

   
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Permit” means a written governmental authorization allowing the holder to take action not otherwise allowed. 

“Permitted use” means a use which may be lawfully established in a particular district or districts provided it conforms 
with all requirements, regulations, and standards of such district. 

“Person” means any individual, corporation, governmental agency, business trust, estate, trust, partnership, association, 
two or more persons having a joint or common interest, or any other legal entity.   

“Planned unit  development (PUD)” means a land development project consisting of residential clusters, industrial parks,  
shopping centers, or office building  parks that comprise a planned mixture of land  uses built in a prearranged  
relationship to each other and having open space and community facilities in a common ownership or use. (Source: 76-
3-103, MCA)  

“Planning Board” means the Great Falls Planning Advisory Board.  

“Plat” means a graphical representation of a subdivision showing the division of land into lots, blocks, streets, alleys, 
and other divisions and dedications. 

“Plat, amended” means a plat showing adjustments to a final plat that has been recorded with the County Clerk and 
Recorder. 

“Plat, concept” means a drawing of a proposed subdivision that is general in nature and shows the essential 
elements of the project. 

“Plat, final” means a plat to be filed with the County Clerk and Recorder and that contains all of the elements and 
requirements set forth in this Title and the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act. 

“Plat, preliminary” means a plat that is submitted for review and that contains the minimum information required in 
this Title and the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act. 

“Pole sign – a.k.a. freestanding sign” means a sign supported wholly by a pole or poles, I-beam or structure in the 
ground and not a part of or attached to a building at any point. 

“Pollution or pollutants” means the presence in the outdoor atmosphere, ground, or water of any substance, 
contaminant, noise, or any other manmade or man-induced alteration of the chemical, physical, biological, or 
radiological integrity of air, soils, or water, in quantities or at levels which are or may be potentially harmful or injurious 
to human health or welfare, animal or plant life, or property, or unreasonably interfere with the enjoyment of life or 
property. 

“Pollution, nonpoint source” means a diffuse source of pollution resulting from the activities of man over a 
relatively large area, the effects of which normally must be addressed or controlled by a management practice 
rather than by an engineered containment or structure.  (Source: 16.20.1001, ARM) 

“Pollution, point source” means a single, discernable source of pollution resulting from the activities of man, the 
effects of which normally must be addressed or controlled by an engineered system.  

“Porch” means a part of a building with a roof of its own that covers an entrance. 

“Portable sign” means a sign that is not permanently affixed to a building, structure, or the ground. 

“Precision instrument runway” means a runway having an existing instrument approach procedure utilizing an 
instrument landing system or a precision approach radar.  It also” means a runway for which a precision approach 
system is planned and is so indicated on an approved airport layout plan or any other planning document. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 30 



 

 

 

 

   
  

   
  

 
 

 
   

 
 

  
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

     

 
 

 
   

   

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 
 

 
  

  
  

 
    

 
    

   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Premise” means a single tract of land; whether described by metes and bounds, certificate of survey, and/or by lot or 
lots and block designation as in a recorded plat, which at the time of application for a building permit or for taxation is 
designated by its owner or developer as the tract to be used, developed or built upon as a unit of land under single 
ownership or control. 

“Preserve” means to save from change or loss and reserve for a special purpose. 

“Primary structure, building or property” means a structure, building or property within a historic district that 
contributes to the historic integrity of the district. 

“Principal arterial” means a road that carries vehicles efficiently from place to place. Access to adjacent land uses is a 
minor function for this classification. This is one level in the City’s functional classification system for roads within its 
jurisdiction. 

“Principal building” means the primary building on a lot or a structure that houses a principal use. 

“Principal land use” See: land use, principal. 

“Private stable/barn” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for noncommercial 
activities relating to rearing, training, and riding horses or raising other permitted livestock.  This term includes pole 
barns. 

“Professional engineer” See: registered professional engineer. 

“Professional services” means a building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended to house services involving 
predominantly professional, clerical, or similar operations where customers come on a regular basis.  The term includes 
law offices, real estate offices, insurance offices, travel agencies, and the like. 

“Projecting sign” means a wall sign that projects from and is supported by a building or structure. 

“Projection” means the distance by which a sign extends over public property or beyond the building. 

“Public improvement” means any structure or facility constructed to serve the residents of a subdivision or development 
project or the general public. 

“Public notice” means that way in which a government uses or is required to use to formally notify people of a proposed 
governmental hearing or action. 

“Public safety facility” means any place and/or building, or portion thereof, whether public or non-public, that is used or 
is intended for housing public safety services.  The term includes ambulance services, fire stations, police stations, and 
the like. 

“Public service use or facility” means a use operated or used by a public body or public utility in connection with any of 
the following services: water, waste water management, public education, parks and recreation, fire and police 
protection, solid waste management, transportation or utilities. 

"Public view" means a point 6 feet above the surface of the center of any adjacent public right-of-way including but not 
limited to avenues, streets and alleys. 

“Public way” means and includes all public streets and utility easements, now and hereafter owned by the City, but only 
to the extent of the City's right, title, interest or authority to grant a license to occupy and use such streets and easements 
for telecommunications facilities. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 31 



 

 

 

 

 
 

  
   

 
 

 
  

 

 
 

 

 
 

   
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
  

   

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Q 
“Quasi-public use” means a use serving the public at large, and operated by a private entity under a franchise or other 
similar governmental authorization, designed to promote the interests of the general public or operated by a recognized 
civic organization for the benefit of the general public. 

R 
“Railroad yard” means a place and/or building,  or portion thereof, that is  used  or is intended for switching train cars, 
loading and u nloading cars, and where train cars and engines are serviced  and stored while not in  use. 

“Readily visible” means an object that stands out as a prominent feature of the landscape when viewed with the naked 
eye. 

“Real estate sign” means a sign pertaining to the sale, lease or rental of land or buildings. 

“Recharge” means the replenishment of underground water reserves. 

“Recreation trail” means a linear path  which  may be dedicated  to a single use or multiple uses. Examples include hiking  
trails, bike trails, x-country ski trails, and  horse trails. 

“Recreational vehicle” means a vehicular type unit primarily designed as a temporary living quarters for recreational, 
camping, or travel use that either has its own motor power or is mounted on or drawn by another vehicle. 

“Recreational vehicle park” means a tract of land available to and principally used  by the public for camping, where  
people  can park recreational vehicles for camping and sleeping purposes.  

“Recreational vehicle space” means a designated portion of a recreational vehicle park designed for the placement of a 
single recreational vehicle and the exclusive use of its occupants. 

“Recycling center” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used  or is intended for collecting and/or 
processing recoverable materials prior to shipment to others who use those materials to  manufacture new products.   
Typical types of recoverable materials include glass, newspaper, metal, and plastic.  The term shall not include a junk  
yard. 

“Redevelopment” means the development of a site where the site was at one time developed and  has been, or will be, 
cleared in  whole or in  part, to allow new construction.  

“Registered architect” means an individual licensed to practice architecture in Montana. 

“Registered land surveyor” means an individual licensed to  practice surveying in Montana.  

“Registered landscape architect” means an individual licensed to practice landscape architecture in Montana. 

“Registered professional engineer” means an individual licensed to practice engineering in Montana. 

“Regulated substance” means any hazardous substance as defined in 75-10-602, MCA, or petroleum, including crude 
oil or any fraction thereof, which is liquid at standard conditions of temperature and pressure.  This term does not 
include hazardous wastes as regulated by State law. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 32 



 

 

 

 

 
 

   
  

 
   

 
  

   
 

  
 

 
 
 

 
 

   
  

 
 

  

 
 

 
    

 
  

  
    

 
   

 
 

    
   

 
   

   
 

   
  

 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Related equipment” means all equipment ancillary to the transmission and reception of voice and data via radio 
frequencies. Such equipment may include, but is not limited to cable, conduit, and connectors. 

“Remainder” means that part of an original tract which is not created for transfer, but which is left after parcels are 
segregated for transfer. (See letter of opinion from Montana Attorney General to Robert M. McCarthy, April 22, 1987) 

“Remodel” means to only change the interior and/or exterior appearance of a structure, where there is not a change in 
the footprint and does not constitute alteration or substantial improvement. 

“Residence, accessory” means place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used, or is intended to provide 
housing, as a single family residence for a caretaker, employee or owner of the principle use and the like.  This 
residence is accessory to a principle use. 

“Residence, condominiums” means separately owned single-family dwelling units with common elements located on 
property submitted to the provisions of the Montana unit ownership act, title 70, chapter 23, MCA. 

“Residence, manufactured/factory-built” means a single-family dwelling unit built in a factory in accordance with the 
United States Department of Housing and Urban Development code or approved by the Montana Department of Labor 
and Industry Building Codes Bureau. 

“Residence, multi-family” means a single building situated on one lot and that contains 3 or more separate dwelling 
units. Entrances to the dwelling units may be separate or combined. The units may be rented or owned as in a 
condominium.  

“Residence, single-family detached” means a single building that is situated on one lot, contains one dwelling unit, and 
is not attached to any other dwelling unit by any means. The term includes factory-built homes, manufactured homes, 
and stick-built homes, but excludes mobile homes. 

“Residence, townhouse” means a building containing multiple dwelling units where they are adjacent to one another on 
separate lots each having separate entrances. 

“Residence, two-family” means a single building that is situated on one lot and that contains 2 dwelling units. 

“Residence, zero lot line” means a single building that is situated on one lot, contains one dwelling unit, and is not 
attached to any other dwelling unit by any means. The side wall of the building is placed directly on or very close to one 
of the adjoining side yard property boundary lines. The term includes factory-built homes, manufactured homes, and 
stick-built homes, but excludes mobile homes. 

“Residential zoning district” means any zoning district established by this Title that has an “R” followed by a number as 
its abbreviation (e.g., R-1). 

“Restaurant” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for the preparation and sale of 
food and beverages for immediate consumption on or off site the premises, and where consumption of beer, wine, or 
other liquors, if any, is clearly secondary and subordinate to the sale of food and beverages.  The term does not include a 
grocery or convenience store with a food service section.  Such establishments may include a drive-through 
window, and may or may not include on-site seating.  

“Retirement home” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended to provide independent 
living quarters, either owned or rented, to individuals generally 62 years of age or older. Limited commercial and 
medical facilities constructed and used for the exclusive use of residents shall be an accessory use of the retirement 
home.  

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 33 



 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 

 

 
  

 
 

  
  

  
  

 
  

 
   

 
 

  

 
 

 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Rezoning” See: zoning map amendment. 

“Right-of-way” means that land which the Montana Department of Transportation, county, or City has title to, or right 
of use, for public roads and appurtenances, including  utilities. 

“Right-of-way” means a strip of land dedicated or acquired for public use. 

“Riprap” means a structure consisting of stone and or rocks (not concrete or other cement product) that is placed along 
the bank  or bed of a stream for the purpose of alleviating lateral bank erosion.  

“Riverfront Corridor” means the area along River Drive and Giant Springs Road extending between the southern and 
northeastern limits of the City. 

“Road” See: street. 

“Road maintenance agreement” means a written instrument recorded  with the County Clerk and Recorder that defines 
how a private road will be maintained in  perpetuity, or until such time as the City, county, or the State accepts it as a  
public road, and the rights and  obligations of the parties to  the agreement. 

“Roadside farmer’s market” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for the retail 
sale of produce grown exclusively on the premises. 

“Roof sign” means a sign attached to  roof structure – including parapet, fascia and rake framing, walls and/or columns 
of a building so that a portion of the advertising  display is at or above roof level. 

“Rotating sign” means a sign  or portion of a sign that revolves or rotates.   

“Runway” means a defined area on an airport prepared for landing and takeoff of aircraft along its length. 

S 
"Salvage material" means material or fragments of material discarded as waste in manufacturing operations, or 
machines, tools, equipment or parts of these, no longer in serviceable condition, or such items and materials no longer 
used for their original intent or purpose or such items or materials which are valuable only as raw material for 
reprocessing. Examples include metal, rubber, textiles, rope, paper, leather, lumber, plastics, and equipment made of 
these. 

“Sandwich board sign a.k.a. A-type sign” means a portable sign that rests on the ground and is not permanently attached 
to anything.  

“Satellite earth station” means a telecommunication facility consisting of more than a single satellite dish smaller than 
10 feet in diameter that transmits to and/or receives signals from an orbiting satellite. 

“Screening” means a feature, such as a wall, fence, hedge, berm, or similar feature, used to shield or obscure elements 
of a development from adjacent sites.  

“Secondhand sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for retail sale of goods 
and merchandise which are not being sold for the first time.  The term includes secondhand stores, thrift stores, 
consignment shops, and the like. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 34 



 

 

 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
 

   
 

 
  

 
 

 
   

 
 

   

 

  

 
    

 
    

 
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

    

 
 

 

 
 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Security lighting” means outdoor lighting used for, but not limited to, illumination for walkways, roadways, equipment 
yards, parking lots, and outdoor security where general illumination for safety or security of the grounds is of primary 
concern. 

“Sediment control” means any measure that prevents eroded sediment from leaving the site. 

“Semi-cutoff luminaire” means a luminaire where less than 5 percent of the lamp lumens occur above the horizontal 
plane and no more than 20 percent of the lamp lumens occur above 80 degrees. 

Setback” means a specified horizontal distance between two actual or imaginary objects (e.g., property lines, ordinary 
high water mark, buildings, wells, septic systems, etc.) 

“Sexually-oriented business” includes the following types of uses: adult arcades, adult book stores/adult video stores, 
adult cabarets, adult motels, and adult motion picture theaters. 

“Shared parking” means one or more parking spaces that, partially or entirely, meet the parking requirements of two or 
more uses. 

“Shopping center” means more than one sales or service use built on a single site which is planned, developed, owned, 
and managed as an operating unit. 

“Shrub” means a self-supporting woody perennial plant that characteristically grows to a height of 12 feet at maturity. It 
typically has multiple stems and branches continuous from the base. 

“Sidewalk café” means an outdoor dining area located upon public property, including a sidewalk, and operated as an 
integral part of an adjacent restaurant where food and beverages are sold or served primarily for consumption on the 
premises. 

“Sidewalk food vendor” means the sale of food and beverage from a mobile cart located on public property or within 
the public right-of-way. 

“Sign” means a notice bearing a name, direction, warning, or advertisement that is displayed or posted for public view. 

“Sign structure” means the supports, uprights, braces and framework of a sign. 

“Silhouette” means a representation of the outline of a structure, especially a tower and antenna associated with 
a telecommunication facility, as seen from an elevation perspective. 

“Site-built home” means a dwelling unit that is constructed on the site on which it will be located. 

“Site plan” means a plan drawn to scale that shows the layout of existing and proposed features including property lines, 
easements, structures, uses, utilities, parking areas, streets, signs, buffers, landscaping, adjacent land uses and other 
information as may be required. 

“Small equipment rental” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for renting small 
equipment and supplies that typically are stored indoors. Typical rentals include hand tools, party equipment, lawn care 
and yard equipment. 

“Soil amendment” means organic and inorganic materials added to soil to improve texture, nutrients, moisture holding 
capacity, and infiltration. 

“Soil stabilization” means the use of practices that prevent exposed soil from eroding. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 35 



 

 

 

 

 

 
  

     
 

  

 

 

 
 

  
   

 

 
   

  
    

     
 

  
   

 

 
  

 
    

 
  

 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Solid waste” means all putrescible and nonputrescible wastes.  (Refer to: 75-10-103, MCA) 

“Solid waste transfer station” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for temporary 
collection of solid waste prior to transport to a processing plant or to final disposal. (Refer to: 16.14.403, ARM) 

“Special event” means a promotional or community event, e.g. a bazaar, street fair, show, exhibition, sporting event or 
fun run. 

“Special exception” See: conditional use. 

“Special improvement district (SID)” means a geographic area established by a local governing body where property 
owners pay a special assessment to finance public improvements (e.g., sidewalks, lighting). 

“Specialty sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for retail sale of a limited 
product line. The term includes antique shops, furniture stores, auto part stores, bookstores, drug stores, clothing 
boutiques, pet stores, and the like. 

“Specified anatomical areas” means the male genital in the state of sexual arousal and/or the vulva or more intimate 
parts of the female genitals. 

“Specified sexual activity” means and includes any of the following: (1) the fondling or other erotic touching of human 
genitals, pubic region, buttocks, anus, or female breasts; (2) sex acts, normal or perverted, actual or simulated, including 
intercourse, oral copulation, or sodomy; (3) masturbation, actual or simulated; or (4) excretory functions as part of or in 
connection with any of the activities set forth in parts 1 through 3 of this definition. 

“Start of construction” means the first land-disturbing activity associated with a development, including land 
preparation such as land clearing, grading, and filling; installation of streets and walkways; excavation for basements, 
footings, piers, or foundations; erection of temporary forms; and installation of accessory buildings such as garages. 

“State” means the State of Montana.  

“Stoop” means a raised platform in front of an entrance to a building with one or more steps. 

“Stop work order” means an order issued by the City which requires that any activity found in violation of this Title 
cease. 

“Storage container” means an enclosed metal container exceeding 90 cubic feet that is typically used to temporarily 
store merchandise. 

“Stormwater” means water from a rainfall event or melting snow that flows over the ground surface. 

“Stormwater detention structure” means a structure designed to collect and temporarily store stormwater with 
subsequent gradual release. 

“Stormwater management” means the use of structural or non-structural practices that are designed to reduce storm 
water runoff pollutant loads, discharge volumes, peak flow discharge rates and detrimental changes in stream 
temperature that affect water quality and habitat. 

“Stormwater retention structure” means a structure designed to collect and prevent the release of a given volume of 
stormwater by complete on-site storage. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 36 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

     
 

 
  

 

 
  

 

 
   

 

 
 

  
 

  

 
  

 

  
  

 
   

   
  

  

 

   
  

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Stormwater retrofit” means a stormwater management practice designed for an existing development site that 
previously had either no stormwater management practice in place or a practice inadequate to meet the stormwater 
management requirements of the site. 

“Stormwater runoff” means flow on the surface of the ground, resulting from precipitation.  

“Stormwater treatment practices” means measures, either structural or nonstructural, that are determined to be the most 
effective, practical means of preventing or reducing point source or non-point source pollution inputs to stormwater 
runoff and water bodies. 

“Stream” means a natural body of running water flowing continuously or intermittently in a channel on or below the 
surface of the ground. 

“Street” means a public access way within a public right-of-way or private easement. 

“Structural alteration” means any change or addition to a structure that increases its external dimensions and/or 
increases its potential flood hazard.  

“Structure” means any permanent or temporary object that is constructed, installed, or placed by man, the use of which 
requires a location on a parcel of land.  It includes buildings of all types, bridges, instream structures, storage tanks, 
fences, swimming pools, towers, poles, pipelines, transmission lines, smokestacks, signs, and other objects. 

“Structure ridgeline” means the line along the top of a roof or top of a structure, if it has no roof. 

 “Subdivider” means any person which causes land to be subdivided or  which  proposes a subdivision.  (Source: 76-3-
103(15), MCA). 

“Subdivision” means a division of land or land so divided that it creates one or more parcels containing less than 160 
acres that cannot be described as a one-quarter aliquot part of a United States government section, exclusive of public 
roadways, in order that the title to or possession of the parcels may be sold, rented, leased, or otherwise conveyed and 
includes any re-subdivision and further includes a condominium or area, regardless of its size, that provides or will 
provide multiple space for recreational camping vehicles or mobile homes. (Source: 76-3-103(16), MCA) 

“Subdivision, major” means a subdivision not qualifying as a minor subdivision. 

“Subdivision, minor” means a subdivision containing 5 or fewer lots where proper access to all lots is provided and 
where no land in the subdivision will be dedicated to public use for parks or playgrounds, and the subdivision is 
eligible for review under 76-3-505 or 76-3-609, MCA.  

“Substantial improvement” means any repair, reconstruction, or improvement of a structure, the cost of which equals or 
exceeds 50 percent of the market value of the structure either: (1) Before the improvement or repair is started; or (2) If 
the structure has been damaged, and is being restored, before the damage occurred. For the purposes of this definition, 
substantial improvement is considered to occur when the first construction to any wall, ceiling, floor, or other structural 
part of the building commences.  The term does not include: (1) Any project for improvement of a structure to comply 
with existing State or local health, sanitary, or safety code specifications which are solely necessary to assure safe living 
conditions; or (2) Any alteration of a structure listed on the National Register of Historic Places or State Inventory of 
Historic Places. 

“Suitable fill” means material which is stable, compacted, well-graded, pervious, generally unaffected by water and 
frost, devoid of trash or similar foreign matter, devoid of tree stumps, or other organic material; and is fitting for the 
purpose of supporting the intended use of and/or permanent structure. 

“Surveyor” See: registered land surveyor. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 37 



 

 

 

 

 
 

  
  

 

 
 

  
 

 

 
 

  

 
  

    
 

 
   

 
  

     
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

   
  

 
 

     
 

 
  

    
  

 
  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

T 
“Tavern” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for retail sales of alcoholic 
beverages for on-site consumption and where food consumption, if any, is clearly secondary to the sale of alcoholic 
beverages.  The term includes bars and lounges. 

“Taxi cab dispatch terminal” a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for dispatching taxi 
cabs and where taxi cabs are kept while not in use. 

“Telecommunication equipment building, shelter or cabinet" means a cabinet or building used to house 
equipment used by telecommunication providers to house equipment at a facility. 

“Telecommunication facility” means a facility that transmits and/or receives electromagnetic signals. It includes 
antennas, microwave dishes, horns, and other types of equipment for the transmission or receipt of such signals, 
telecommunication towers or similar structures supporting said equipment, equipment buildings, parking area, and other 
accessory development. 

“Telecommunication facility, co-located” means a telecommunication facility comprised of a single 
telecommunication tower or building supporting one or more antennas, dishes, or similar devices owned or used by 
more than one public or private entity. 

“Telecommunication facility, commercial” means a telecommunication facility that is operated primarily for a 
business purpose or purposes. 

“Telecommunication facility, concealed” means (1) an antenna that a casual observer would consider it a part of the 
structure to which it is attached or made a part of, or (2) an antennae and tower structure that is camouflaged to 
blend into the surroundings (e.g., camouflaged trees). 

“Telecommunication facility, multiple user” means a telecommunication facility comprised of multiple 
telecommunication towers or buildings supporting one or more antennas owned or used by more than one public or 
private entity, excluding research and development industries with antennas to serve internal uses only. 

“Telecommunications facility, noncommercial” means a telecommunication facility that is operated solely for a 
non-business purpose. 

“Telecommunication facility, unconcealed” means an antenna mounted on a tower or mounted on the ground. 

“Telecommunications tower” means a mast, pole, monopole, guyed tower, lattice tower, free-standing tower, or other 
structure designed and primarily used to support antennas. A ground or building mounted mast greater than 10 feet tall 
and 6 inches in diameter supporting one or more antenna, dishes arrays, etc. shall be considered a telecommunications 
tower. 

“Temporary sign” means a sign, banner, pennant, valance or advertising display constructed of cloth, canvas, light 
fabric, cardboard, wallboard, plywood or other light material, with or without frames, intended for display during a 
limited period of time.  

“Tract of record” means an individual parcel of land, irrespective of ownership, that can be identified by legal 
description, independent of any other parcel of land, using documents on file in the records of the County Clerk and 
Recorder’s office. (Source: 76-3-103(17)(a), MCA) 

“Traffic impact analysis” means a written report that documents the traffic impacts and consequences of a proposed 
development project. Typical components would address each of the following: (1) existing conditions, (2) on-site 
traffic circulation (3) impacts on public roads; and (4) recommendations/alternatives to alleviate identified impacts. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 38 



 

 

 

 

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

  
 

  
 

   
 
 

 

  
 

    

 
 

 
 

 
       
   

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Transit shelter sign” means an off-premise sign painted on or posted within a transit shelter. 

“Tree” means a self-supporting woody plant that characteristically grows to a minimum height of 15 feet at maturity 
and has a trunk which can be maintained over 5 feet of clear wood. 

“Tree, protected” means a significant tree on public or private property that may be threatened with 
removal or damage during a construction project. 

“Tree, significant” means a tree that is 6 inches or larger in trunk diameter when measured at one foot 
above the ground. 

“Truck terminal” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for storage of freight for 
routing or reshipment. 

“Turf or turfgrass” means hybridized grasses, that when regularly mowed characteristically forms a dense growth of leaf 
blades and roots. 

U 
“Uniformity ratio” means the ratio of average illumination to minimum illumination within a given area. 

“Use by right” See: land use, permitted by right. 

“Utility installation” means a place, building and/or structure, or portion thereof, whether public or private, that is used 
or is intended for providing basic infrastructure or utility services generally having moderate to high impact on 
neighboring property.  The term includes pipeline pumping stations, sewage treatment plants, electrical 
substations, water towers, wind turbines and the like. It does not include public water system wells, sewer lift 
stations, irrigation ditches, or linear electric, communications or natural gas utilities, and the like. This term shall 
not include linear electric, communications or natural gas facilities which are not regulated under this Title. 

“Utility installation, major” means a utility installation generally having moderate to high impact on neighboring 
property.  The term includes pipeline pumping stations, sewage treatment plants, electrical substations, water 
towers, and the like. 

“Utility installation, minor” means a utility installation generally having low impact on neighboring property.  The 
term includes public water system wells, sewer lift stations, irrigation ditches, and the like. 

“Utility runway” means runway that is constructed for and intended to be used by propeller-driven aircraft of 12,500 
pounds maximum gross weight and less.  

V 
“Variance” means a grant of relief from the strict application of a rule or regulation that would permit development in a 
manner otherwise prohibited. 

“Vehicle fuel sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for the retail sale of 
gasoline, kerosene, diesel, or other petroleum-based motor fuels.  The term includes the sale of convenience foods and 
goods, provided it is ancillary to the sale of fuels, and light maintenance activities, such as engine tune-ups, lubrication, 
minor repairs, and the like. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 39 



 

 

 

 

   
  

  
 

 
   

   
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
   

   

 

 

 
 

 
   

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Vehicle repair” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for maintenance, service, 
and repair of vehicles.  Typical services include transmission repair, body work and painting, brake repair, vehicle 
upholstery, tire shop, engine repair and overhauls, and similar activities. 

“Vehicle sales and rental” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for buying, 
selling, exchanging, taking for consignment, renting, or leasing new or used vehicles, including cars, light trucks, 
snowmobiles, motorcycles, all-terrain vehicles (ATVs), recreational vehicles, personal water craft. 

“Vehicle services” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for servicing vehicles 
where they typically are not left overnight. Examples include quick lube/oil change, car washes, tire stores, vehicle 
cleaning including cleaning, washing, polishing, waxing, or similar activities. 

“Vehicular use area” means those areas of a lot used for vehicle circulation and parking, including loading berths, 
parking lots, service drives, internal roads, and the like. 

“Vendor cart” means a small non-motorized vehicle equipped with all necessary appurtenances to prepare and serve a 
limited menu and beverages. 

“Veterinary clinic” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for the medical care of 
animals.  A veterinary clinic may include office space, medical labs, appurtenant facilities, and kennels and/or 
enclosures for animals under the immediate medical care of a veterinarian.  The term includes pet clinics, dog and cat 
hospitals, animal hospitals, and the like. 

“Veterinary clinic, large animal” means a veterinary clinic that specializes in the care and treatment of large 
animals and livestock. 

“Veterinary clinic, small animal” means a veterinary clinic that specializes in the care and treatment of small 
animals including dogs, cats, birds, and other small domesticated and semi-domesticated animals.   

“Vicinity map” means a map that shows the location of a proposed project relative to other parcels and roads in the area. 

“Visual runway” means a runway intended solely for the operation of aircraft using visual approach procedures. 

W 
“Wall sign” means a sign attached to the wall of a building or structure with the exposed face of the sign in a plane 
parallel to the plane of the wall. Wall signs include signs painted on awnings and the exterior walls of buildings.  

“Warehouse” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for the storage of goods and 
materials, for wholesale sales, temporary storage, and distribution.  The term includes moving and storage facilities. 
The term does not include fuel tank farms. 

“Water quality volume (WQv)” means the storage needed to capture and treat 90 percent of the average annual 
stormwater runoff volume.  Numerically (WQv) will vary as a function of long term rainfall statistical data. 

“Water right” means a legal right to use water that is protected under Montana law. 

“Waterbody” includes rivers, streams, creeks, irrigation ditches, lakes, and ponds, both natural and man-made. 

“Wetland” means those ecological entities so defined by the current edition of the "Federal Manual for Identifying and 
Delineating Wetlands". 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 40 



 

 

 

 

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

 
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

   
 

  
      

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Wildland fire” means an unplanned and uncontrolled fire spreading through vegetation that may also consume 
structures or other improvements as well. 

“Window sign” means a sign affixed to a window. 

“Worship facility” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that has tax-exempt status and that is used or is 
intended as a place where people can regularly assemble for religious worship and associated activities. The term 
includes sanctuaries, chapels, cathedrals, churches, synagogues, and temples and other onsite accessory buildings such 
as parsonages, friaries, convents, fellowship halls, Sunday schools, and rectories, and day care centers within the 
same structure. The term does not include day care centers, community recreation facilities, dormitories, private 
educational facilities, emergency shelters, health care facilities, and the like. 

“Written or in writing” means any representation of words, letters, drawings, graphics, or pictures. 

Y 
“Yard” means the area on the same lot with a building, that is unoccupied and unobstructed from the ground upward, 
except by trees or shrubbery or as otherwise provided herein. 

“Yard, front” means a yard that extends across the front of a lot between the side lot lines from the front line of the 
building (excluding the front steps) to the front lot line. 

“Yard, rear” means a yard that extends across the rear of a lot between the  side lot lines from the rear line of the 
building (excluding steps) to the rear lot line. 

“Yard, side” means a yard that extends from the side line of the building (excluding steps) to the side lot line 
between the front and rear yards.  

“Year” means a calendar year. 

Z 
“Zoning district” means a geographic area as delineated on the zoning map that identifies a base zoning district. 

“Zoning permit” means a permit that is issued prior to the issuance of a building permit to ensure that the proposed use 
is consistent with the allowable uses within the district in which it is to be located. 

Chapter 8 – Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions 41 



  
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

  
  

 
 

  

  
   
   

    
  

   

   

   
    

   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Chapter 16 
ADMINISTRATIVE AND ENFORCEMENT PROCEDURES 

Articles: 
2. Generally  
4. Public notice requirements 
6. Public hearings  
7.  Annexation by  petition 
8. Zoning permit  
10. Floodplain determination
12. Floodplain permit
14.  Emergency floodplain permit waiver  
16. Sign permit  
17. Landscape design review 
18. Design  review  
19. Outdoor lighting 

20. Design  waiver 
21. Erosion control permit 

22. Stormwater management permit 
23. Demolition permit  
26. Subdivision – pr eliminary and minor plats 
27.  Subdivision – fi nal plat 
28. Subdivision – fi nal site plan  

 29. Planned unit  development 
 30. Certificate  of  occupancy  

32.  Variance  
34. Administrative  appeal 
36. Conditional use permit  
38. Code  interpretation  
40. Amendment to Cha pter 20 Land Use  and the  

zoning map 
46. Enforcement   
48. Request for extension of approval period   

Article 2 
GENERALLY 

Sections: 
17.16.2.010 Legislative findings 
17.16.2.020 Purpose 
17.16.2.030 Permission to enter subject property
17.16.2.040 Revocation of approval  due to false or  

inaccurate information  
17.16.2.050 Burden of proof  
17.16.2.060 Effect of an outstanding violation 

17.16.2.070 Types of  decisions 

17.16.2.080 Review authority 
17.16.2.090 Concurrent review 

 17.16.2.100 Application fees 
17.16.2.110 Ex parte communication 

17.16.2.120 Building permit 
17.16.2.130 Non-confidentiality of submitted 

information 

17.16.2.010 Legislative findings 
The City Commission makes the following findings: 

1. Excessive procedural requirements add unnecessary costs to development projects. 
2. The public, adjacent landowners, and affected agencies have a right to know about proposed projects and 

have meaningful participation in the review process. 
3. Written findings should accompany every adjudicative decision to serve as a permanent record 

documenting the reasons for approval or denial and the conditions of approval, if any. 
4. Enforcing the rules and regulations contained in this Title is an important function of City government. 

17.16.2.020 Purpose 
This chapter is established to promote the public health, safety and welfare and is intended to accomplish the 
following purposes: 

1. provide efficient and timely review of applications and ensure fairness and due process 
2. ensure that applications are reviewed consistently by establishing objective criteria in making 

recommendations and final decisions 
3. ensure complete and timely compliance 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 1 



  
 
 

 
 

 

   
 

  
    

  
  

    
      

     
 

  
   

    
  

 
 

  
    

 

 
      

 
   

 
     

   

  
   

   

 
 

   

 
     

 

 
  

    
     

   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.16.2.030 Permission to enter subject property 
Submission of an application as required in this Title authorizes officials and employees of the City, or other 
designated agents to enter the subject property to verify information in the application and to conduct other site 
investigations as may be necessary to review the application. This does not authorize any individual to enter any 
building on the subject property in the absence of the property owner or his/her authorized agent. Failure to allow 
access to the subject property shall be sufficient grounds to deny the application. 

17.16.2.040 Revocation of approval due to false or inaccurate information 
The City Commission may revoke, suspend, or reconsider any permit or other authorization if it determines that the 
information in the application or otherwise provided by the applicant or the applicant’s agent is false or inaccurate, 
and that the misrepresentation materially altered the final outcome. 

17.16.2.050 Burden of proof 
A. During application process. During the application processes, the applicant has the burden of proof to show 

that the proposed development is consistent with this Title. 
B. During appeal of an administrative decision. In instances where an applicant appeals an administrative 

decision to the Board of Adjustment, the administrative unit or department making said decision has the burden 
of proof to show that the decision is consistent with this Title. 

C. During enforcement proceedings. During enforcement proceedings, the administrative unit or department 
taking enforcement action has the burden of proof to show that the action or development is in violation of this 
Title. 

17.16.2.060 Effect of an outstanding violation 
No permit or approval of any kind may be given on a parcel that is in violation of this Title, except to correct the 
violation. 

17.16.2.070 Types of decisions 
As more fully described in the following articles, there are a number of permits that may be issued in the 
administration of this Title. Exhibit 16-1 lists whether the decision is legislative, adjudicative, or administrative in 
nature. The type of decision has a direct bearing on the level of public input, amount of discretion in the review 
process, type of public notice required (if any), and the type of factors that can be considered. 

17.16.2.080 Review authority 
Exhibit 16-1 identifies in a summary format the entity responsible for rendering decisions for the various permits and 
approvals required in this Title.  In case of discrepancies, the text controls. 

17.16.2.090 Concurrent review 
To the extent possible, development projects requiring multiple reviews shall be done concurrently.  Where one 
approval is a condition precedent to approval of another application, the approvals shall be issued in the requisite 
order. 

17.16.2.100 Application fees 
At its discretion the City Commission may set and revise application fees by resolution. The City Clerk shall maintain 
the official fee schedule. 

17.16.2.110 Ex parte communication 
To promote open decision-making and due process, members of the various bodies involved in reviewing an 
application that is considered adjudicative in nature (See Exhibit 16-1) shall not voluntarily engage in ex parte 
communication relating to a particular application pending before the body. However, it is acknowledged that a 
member may involuntarily or inadvertently be part of an ex parte communication. In such instance, the member shall 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 2 



  
 
 

 
 

 

     
     

  

 

  

  
   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

disclose the content of that communication during the public hearing as specified in Article 6 of this chapter. The 
intent of this disclosure is to insure that everyone at the public hearing is aware of the content of that communication 
and is allowed to consider, question, rebut, or respond to such information. 

17.16.2.120 Building permit 
A building permit for new construction or expansion of an existing building shall not be issued until such time as a 
zoning permit has been issued or a written determination is made that one is not required. 

17.16.2.130 Non-confidentiality of submitted information 
All written information that a potential applicant submits to staff during a pre-submittal meeting is considered part of 
the public record. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 3 



  
 
 

 
 

 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Page reserved for exhibit 16-1 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 4 



  
 
 

 

    
   

 
        

     

 

  

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

    
  

 
   

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Article 4 
PUBLIC NOTICE REQUIREMENTS 

Sections:  
17.16.4.010 When required  
17.16.4.020 Content of required notice 
17.16.4.030 Cost of  notice 
17.16.4.040 Public notice 

17.16.4.050 Neighborhood council notice  

17.16.4.060 Property owner  notice  
17.16.4.070 Premises sign  
17.16.4.080 Agency notification 
17.16.4.090 Comment period f or floodplain 

applications  
  

17.16.4.010 When required 
Public notice as required in this chapter shall be provided for as shown in Exhibit 16-2, except where greater or 
different notice is specifically required by State or federal law. 

Exhibit 16-2.  Public notice 

Article Type of Action Public  

Notice 

Neighborhood 

Council  

Notification  

Property  

Owner  

Notification 

Premises  

Sign  

Agency  

Notification 

7 Annexation X X X X X 

8 Zoning  permit - - - - -

10 Floodplain determination - - - - -

12 Floodplain permit  X  - X  - X  

14 Emergency floodplain permit waiver - - - - -

16 Sign  permit - - - - -

17 Landscape  design  review  - - - - - 

18

 

 

Design review  - - X  - - 

19 Outdoor  lighting  permit  - - - - - 

20 Design waiver - - - - - 

21 Erosion  control  permit  - - - - - 

22 Stormwater  management  permit  - - - - - 

24 Demolition permit – structure not historically  significant - - - - -

24 Demolition permit – structure historically significant X  - - X  X  

26 Subdivision –  preliminary  plat  –  major or second minor X  X  X  X  X  

26 Subdivision  – preliminary plat –  minor  - - - - X  

27  Subdivision – final plat  - - - - - 

28 Subdivision – final site  plan - - - - -

29 Planned unit development X  X  X  X  X  

30 Certificate of occupancy  - - - - -

32 Variance (non-subdivision)  X - X  - X

34 Administrative  appeal X  - - - -

36 Conditional  use permit  X X  X X  X 

38 Code interpretation  - - - - -

40 Amendment to  this Title –  map amendment – landowner  

initiated 

X X X X  X

40 Amendment to  this Title –  map amendment – City initiated X  X  - - X  

40 Amendment to  this Title – text amendment  X  - - - X  

44 Signature development  designation - - - - -

46 Enforcement  - - - - -

48 Request for extension of approval period -

 

- -

 

-

 

 

-

Formatted: Font: Bold 

Formatted: Font: Bold 

Deleted: -

X indicates that that type of notice is required   

- indicates that that type of notice is not required 

 
 

 
Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 5 



  
 
 

 
 

 

  
   

 
      

      

   

   

    

   

   
    

 
  

  
 

 
     

  
    

   

    

    

 
   

    
      

    
      

  
  

  
    

  
 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.16.4.020 Content of required notice 
Notices shall include the information as listed in Exhibit 16-3. 

Exhibit 16-3.  Content of notice 

Public  

Notice 

Neighborhood 

Council 

Notification 

Property  

Owner  

Notification 

Premises 

Sign  

Agency  

Notification 

Applicant name  X X X - X 
Subject property address or legal  description by which the public can 
locate the  property  X X X - X

Nature of the application X  X  X  X  X  

A description of  the  proposed project X  X  X  X  X  

Name  of body or official who will consider the application X  X  X  X  X  

Date,  time  and location of the hearing  or  for accepting public  comment  X  X  X  X  X  

Location where the  public can view the  application X  X  X  X  X  

The criteria that will  be used  to evaluate the pr oposal  - X  X  - X  

Location map  - X X -

 

X  

Formatted: Line spacing:  Exactly 9 
pt 

X indicates that that type of information is to be provided with that type of notice  

- indicates that that type of information is not required with that type of notice 

17.16.4.030  Cost of notice 
The City shall pay for all notices required under this article which is recouped through the associated application fees. 

17.16.4.040 Public notice 
When required, the official responsible for processing the application shall place public notice in a newspaper of 
general circulation consistent with the following provisions: 

1. Time requirements. The notice shall be published at least 15 days prior to, but no more than 30 days prior 
to the public hearing or the first day that a decision could be made. 

2. Content. The notice shall include the information as required by this article. (Exhibit 16-3) 

17.16.4.050 Neighborhood council notice 
When required, the official responsible for processing the application shall mail a notice to the appropriate 
neighborhood council chair consistent with the following provisions: 

1. Time requirements. The notice shall be mailed at least 15 days prior to the first scheduled hearing or date 
of decision. 

2. Content. The notice shall include the information as required by this article. (Exhibit 16-3) 

17.16.4.060  Property owner notice 
When required, the official responsible for processing the application shall mail notices to all property owners within 
150 feet of the property involved in the application consistent with the following provisions: 

1. Time requirements. The notices shall be mailed at least 15 days prior to the first scheduled hearing or date 
of decision. 

2. Content. The notice shall include the information as required by this article. (Exhibit 16-3) 
3. Sources of names and addresses. The names of property owners shall be deemed to be those listed on the 

most current ad valorem tax roll maintained by the county. 
4. Failure to notify owner. The failure of an owner required by this section to receive mailed notice shall not 

invalidate or otherwise have any effect upon a public hearing or other action taken on the application. 
5. Additional notice.  Where the applicant is the owner of the land adjoining the property involved in the 

application, the official responsible for processing the application may require that notices be mailed to 
additional property owners as appropriate. 

6. Special provisions for subdivisions. Each property owner of property immediately adjoining the proposed 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 6 



  
 
 

 
 

 

  

    

  
   
 

  
   

 

 

 
  

  
  

 
 

 
 

 
  

  
   
  

     
    
    

  
  

 
  

  
 
      

 
   
   
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

subdivision shall be notified via certified mail or registered mail. (See: 76-3-605, MCA) 

17.16.4.070 Premises sign 
When required, the official responsible for processing the applicant shall post a sign on the premises involved in the 
application consistent with the following provisions: 

1. Time requirements. The sign shall be posted the week preceding the date of the meeting when the 
application will be reviewed. 

2. Size. The signs shall not be less than 18” in height by 24” in width. 
3. Content. The notice shall include the information as required by this article. (Exhibit 16-3) 
4. Placement. Signs shall be posted on the property involved in the application.  Where the property does not 

front on a public road, the official responsible for processing the application shall designate the location 
where the sign shall be posted. Under all circumstances, the sign shall be plainly visible and unobstructed 
from the street. 

17.16.4.080 Agency notification 
When required, the official responsible for processing the application shall send a copy of the application and the 
information as required by this article to other units of government and other service providers substantially affected 
by the proposal. Public utilities shall be notified of all subdivision applications. (See: 76-3-504, MCA) 

17.16.4.090 Comment period for floodplain applications 
Public notice and landowner letters for floodplain applications shall allow for at least a 15-day comment period. 

Article 6 
PUBLIC HEARINGS  

Sections: 
17.16.6.010 Legislative findings 
17.16.6.020 General requirements
17.16.6.030 Procedure 

17.16.6.040 Continuances 
 17.16.6.050 Public comment  

17.16.6.010   Legislative findings 
The City Commission makes the following findings: 

1. Public hearings should be conducted in an orderly, timely, and efficient manner. 
2. Public input is important and should be encouraged. 

17.16.6.020   General requirements 
A. Meetings to be public. All public hearings shall be conducted in a place that is open to the public. 
B. Notice of meetings. Notice of public hearings shall be given as provided for in Article 4 of this chapter. 
C. Minutes. The body conducting the hearing shall keep minutes of the proceedings, indicating the attendance of 

each member, and the vote of each member on each question. The body conducting the hearing shall approve 
the minutes, and upon approval shall become part of the public record. 

17.16.6.030   Procedure 
The body conducting the public hearing shall follow the following general procedure: 

1. The presiding officer shall announce the purpose and subject of the public hearing. 
2. The presiding officer shall ask the staff to present a staff report, if required. 
3. Members of the body conducting the public hearing may direct questions to both the applicant and staff, if 

present. 
4. The presiding officer shall ask for statements from the public who are in favor of the application. 
5. The presiding officer shall ask for statements from the public who oppose the application. 
6. The presiding officer shall call for discussion of the members of the body conducting the public hearing 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 7 



  
 
 

 
 

 

    
  

  
   

    
      
   

   

  
     

   
     

 
 
 

  
 

   
    

 
 

   
 

 
 

 
  

   
 

  
 

  
 

  
  
  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

during which time they may ask questions of the applicant and staff, if present. 
7. The presiding officer shall ask the applicant if he/she wishes to (1) respond to any comment made by an 

individual during the proceeding; (2) submit additional information; (3) and/or amend the application. 
8. Following discussion, a motion to approve or deny the application or a motion to recommend approval or 

denial, as appropriate, shall be made and seconded. 

17.16.6.040   Continuances 
A. Initiation. The applicant may request a continuance during the proceedings and the body conducting the public 

hearing may agree to the continuance upon a showing of good cause. Likewise, the body conducting the public 
hearing may ask the applicant for a continuance, who is not under compulsion to grant such continuance. 

B. Effect. A continuance stops the time clock for making a decision. 

17.16.6.050  Public comment 
A. Time limitations on public comment. The presiding officer may impose time limits on each individual who 

wishes to speak to assure completion of the agenda in a timely manner. 
B. Written comment. Members of the public may submit written statements to the body conducting the public 

hearing. 

Article 7 
ANNEXATION BY PETITION 

Note: State statutes prescribe different annexation procedures for different circumstances. This article describes 
annexation by petition when the majority of property owners seek annexation or when the property owner(s) own 
more than 50 percent of the land to be annexed. (See Title 7, Chapter 2, Part 46, MCA)  Although the Montana State 
statues for annexation by petition do not require a public hearing, an annexation typically involves simultaneous 
establishment of municipal zoning, whose enabling statutes do require public hearing(s). Therefore, the following 
annexation procedures do incorporate a public hearing before the Planning Board, as the City Zoning Commission, 
and a public hearing before the City Commission. 

Sections: 
17.16.7.010 Generally  
17.16.7.020 Compliance with State law  
17.16.7.030 Application and review procedure  
17.16.7.040 Extension of review period 
17.16.7.050 Basis of decision 

17.16.7.060 Imposition  of  conditions 
17.16.7.070 Staff report content 
17.16.7.080 Content  of decision 
17.16.7.090 Appeal 
  

17.16.7.010 Generally 
This article describes the procedure and requirements for annexation by petition when signed by more than 50 percent 
of the resident electors owning real property in the area to be annexed; or by the owner(s) of 50 percent of the real 
property in the area to be annexed. (See Title 7, Chapter 2, Part 46, MCA) 

17.16.7.020 Compliance with State law 
Annexation of land to the City shall be in accordance with this part and with State law in effect at the time of 
annexation. 

17.16.7.030 Application and review procedure 
A. Pre-submittal meeting. Before submitting an application, the applicant or the applicant's agent shall meet with 

the Director of the Planning Department to: 
1. review applicable procedures; 
2. review applicable goals and objectives of the City’s growth policy and applicable neighborhood plans, if 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 8 



  
 
 

 
 

 

 

   
   

  

    

 
  

    
   

      
   

 
 

    
 

  
  

    
     

 
  

 
  

  
   
 

  
  

  
   
 

  
     

 
 

      
    

  
  

 

   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

any; and 
3. review the proposal. 
The pre-submittal meeting may, at the discretion of the director and concurrence of the applicant or the 
applicant's agent, be held via telephone conference. Prior to the conference, the applicant shall submit 
background information to the director. A representative from the Community Development Department, Public 
Works Department, Fire Department, and other City departments as appropriate should participate in this 
preliminary discussion. 

B. Neighborhood council contact recommended. Prior to submitting an application, the applicant may meet with 
representatives of the neighborhood council in which the project is located to present the project and solicit 
feedback. 

C. Submittal of application. The applicant shall submit an application to the Planning Department along with the 
application fee as may be established by the City Commission. 

D. Determination of completeness. Within 10 days, but not sooner than 4 days, of submittal, the director shall 
determine whether the proposed application is complete or incomplete and notify the applicant of any 
deficiencies.  If the application is incomplete, the applicant has 6 months to resubmit the application or forfeit 
the application fee. The director shall take no further steps to process the application until the deficiencies are 
remedied. 

E. Schedule date of review. Following a determination of completeness, the director shall schedule a public 
hearing date to review the application allowing for proper public notice.  

F. Notice. Consistent with Article 4 of this chapter, the director shall provide for public notice, neighborhood 
council notification, property owner notification, agency notification, and posting of a sign on the premises. 

G. Staff report. The director shall prepare a written staff report as described in this article and mail it to each 
member of the Planning Board, the applicant, and the applicant’s agent, if any, at least 3 days prior to the public 
hearing. He/she shall also provide a copy to interested people upon request. 

H. Public hearing. The Planning Board shall conduct a public hearing to review the application and staff report. 
I. Planning Board recommendation. The Planning Board, after considering the comments and recommendations 

of the staff report, shall make a recommendation to the City Commission, based on the decision criteria 
contained in this article, to either: 

1. approve the annexation, 
2. approve the annexation with conditions, or 
3. deny the annexation. 

J. City commission decision. The City Commission, after considering the comments and recommendation of the 
Planning Board and after reviewing the staff report, shall make a decision, based on the criteria contained in 
this article, to either: 

1. approve the annexation, 
2. approve the annexation with conditions, or 
3. deny the annexation. 
The decision shall be prepared consistent with the requirements contained in this article. 

K. Annexation resolution. City Commission approval shall be done through the adoption of a resolution officially 
annexing the subject property. 

L. Compliance. If the annexation is approved, the applicant  shall  comply with all the conditions, if  any, of the 
approval. 

M. Filing Formatted: Strikethrough 

Formatted: Font color: Red 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

Formatted: Font: Bold 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

 Recording  of resolution. The City Clerk shall promptly make and certify a copy of record  the 
annexation resolution and file it with the County Clerk and Recorder. (See: 7-2-4607 (1), MCA) 

17.16.7.040 Extension of review period 
A. Generally. Prior to the final decision of the City Commission, an applicant may request an extension to the 

review period if the applicant wishes to amend the application with new or different information. 
B. Procedure. If the City Commission approves the extension, the Planning Board will  rehear the amended 

application with  appropriate notice.  
C. Extension requirements. Unless otherwise stated in writing, an extension request automatically extends the 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 9 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 

 
  

 
    

  
   
    
    

 
   
     
   

   
   

     
 

   
 

  

  
    

  
 

 
  

 
  

  
 
  
  

 
   

    
  
   
   
     
  
    

  
   
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

review period to 30 days beyond the date when the Planning Board hears the amended application. 

17.16.7.050 Basis of decision 
The Planning Board's recommendation and the City Commission's decision to approve, conditionally approve, or deny 
an application shall be based on whether the application, staff report, public hearing, Planning Board recommendation, 
or additional information demonstrates that each of the following criteria have been satisfied: 

1. The subject property is contiguous to the existing City limits. 
2. The proposed annexation is consistent with the City’s growth policy. 
3. The proposed annexation is consistent with applicable neighborhood plans, if any. 
4. The proposed annexation is consistent with other planning documents adopted by the City Commission, 

including a river corridor plan, transportation plan, and sub-area plans. 
5. The City has, or will have, the capacity to provide public services to the subject property. 
6. The subject property has been or will be improved to City standards. 
7. The owner(s) of the subject property will bear all of the cost of improving the property to City standards 

and or/ the owner(s) has signed an agreement waiving the right of protest to the creation of a special 
improvement district created to pay, in whole or in part, any necessary improvement. 

8. The subject property has been or will be surveyed and officially recorded with the County Clerk and 
Recorder. 

9. The City will provide both water and sewer service to each of the uses in the subject property that may 
require potable water and waste water treatment and disposal. 

10. The subject property is not located in an area the City Commission has designated as unsuitable for 
annexation. 

11. The subject property is not located in another city or town. (See: 7-2-4608 (1), MCA) 
12. The subject property is not used in whole or in part for agriculture, mining, smelting, refining, 

transportation, or any other industrial or manufacturing purpose or any purpose incidental thereto. (See: 7-
2-4608 (2), MCA) 

17.16.7.060 Imposition of conditions 
In approving the application, the City Commission may impose such conditions as may be necessary to show the 
annexation is in the public interest. 

17.16.7.070 Staff report content 
At a minimum, the staff report shall contain the following information: 

1. A summary of the comments received from the interdepartmental/agency review; 
2. Findings for each of the decision criteria listed in this article; 
3. A preliminary list of conditions if approval is recommended; and 
4. A recommendation to approve the application, approve it with conditions, or deny the application. 

17.16.7.080 Content of decision 
A. Content for approval. If the application is approved, the decision shall at a minimum include the following: 

1. A statement that the annexation is approved subject to filing a resolution. 
2. A description of the subject property (e.g., acres, location). 
3. Findings for each of the review criteria established in this article. 
4. A list of conditions which may be imposed. 
5. Specifications and requirements for development improvements, if any. 
6. The zoning classification(s) for the subject property. 
7. A statement specifying under what conditions the City Commission may withdraw its decision to approve 

the annexation. 
8. How long the decision is valid. 
9. A statement that the decision may be appealed to a court of competent jurisdiction. 
10. Date of the decision. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 10 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 
   

    
  
  
   
     

   
 
  

        
   

 
 

 
 

  
  

 
  

 

 
 

  
 

  
    

    
   

   
   

  
 

  
  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

11. A signature block for the City Commission. 
12. The extent to which the petitioners have met the terms of approval and a resolution of annexation should 

therefore be adopted. 
B. Content for denial. If the application is denied, the decision shall include the following: 

1. A statement that the annexation is denied. 
2. A description of the subject property (e.g., acres, location) 
3. Findings for each of the review criteria established in this article. 
4. A statement that the denial does not limit the applicant's ability to resubmit a revised application for 

consideration. 
5. A statement that the decision may be appealed to a court of competent jurisdiction. 
6. Date of the decision. 
7. A signature block for the authorized representative of the City Commission. 

17.16.7.090 Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal 
with a court of competent jurisdiction within 30 days of the final decision. 

Article 8 
ZONING PERMIT 

Sections: 
17.16.8.010 Legislative findings 
17.16.8.020 Permit required 
17.16.8.030 Application and review procedure  

17.16.8.040 Basis of  decision 
17.16.8.050 Expiration of approval 
17.16.8.060 Appeal  

17.16.8.010 Legislative findings 
The City Commission makes the following findings: 

1. Landowners need to know, prior to construction, whether the proposed development complies with this 
Title. 

2. Tenants and landowners need to know prior to moving into an existing non-residential building whether the 
proposed use complies with this Title. 

17.16.8.020 Permit required 
A. New construction. No building or other structure shall be erected, moved, added to, or structurally altered 

without a zoning permit. 
B. Change in use. A change in use to an existing non-residential building or structure, and occupancy thereof, 

shall not occur without a zoning permit. 

17.16.8.030 Application and review procedure 
A. Submittal of application.  The applicant shall submit a completed application to the Planning Department 

along with the application fee as may be established by the City Commission.  
B. Determination of completeness. Within 2 days of submittal, the Director of the Planning Department shall 

determine whether the submitted application is complete or incomplete and notify the applicant, in writing, of 
any deficiencies. If the application is deemed incomplete, the applicant has 20 days to resubmit the application 
or forfeit the application fee. The director shall take no further steps to process the application until the 
deficiencies are remedied. 

C. Determination of compliance. Within 3 days after a determination of completeness, the director shall either 
issue or deny issuance of the permit based on the decision criteria established in this article. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 11 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 
     

 

        
  

 
 

 
 

 

  
   

  
 

  
 

 

  
     
 

  
 

   
 

  
   

  
   

  
  

 
     

  
  

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.16.8.040 Basis of decision 
The decision to issue or deny issuance of the permit shall be based on whether the intended use is consistent with the 
zoning requirements. 

17.16.8.050 Expiration of approval 
The permit shall expire one year after the date of issuance unless substantial work has commenced under the permit 
and continues in good faith to completion. 

17.16.8.060 Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal 
with the Board of Adjustment within 30 days of the final decision. 

Article 10 
FLOODPLAIN DETERMINATION 

Sections: 
17.16.10.010 Legislative findings 
17.16.10.020 Application and review procedure  

17.16.10.030 Basis of decision  
17.16.10.040 Appeal  

17.16.10.010 Legislative findings 
The City Commission makes the following findings: 

1. A mechanism is needed to let people know, on a case-by-case basis, whether their property is located within 
a designated 100-year floodplain and is therefore subject to the floodplain regulations contained in this 
Title. 

2. Because there are numerous companies that make floodplain determinations for flood insurance purposes, it 
is not necessary for the City to assume this role. (Note: Such companies are required to keep track of each 
determination and notify those clients when the flood insurance designation on their property changes.) 

17.16.10.020 Application and review procedure 
A. Submittal of application. The applicant shall submit a completed application to the floodplain administrator. 
B. Determination of completeness. Within 10 days of submittal, the floodplain administrator shall determine 

whether the application is complete or incomplete and notify the applicant of any deficiencies. If the application 
is deemed incomplete, the applicant has 6 months to resubmit the application or forfeit the application fee. The 
floodplain administrator shall take no further steps to process the application until the deficiencies are 
remedied. 

C. Floodplain administrator decision. Within 10 days after a determination of completeness, the floodplain 
administrator shall review the application and determine if the property in question, or portion thereof, is 
located within a designated 100-year floodplain. 

D. Applicant notification of determination. Within 5 days following the determination, the floodplain 
administrator shall mail the determination to the applicant. 

E. Creation of permanent record. The floodplain administrator shall maintain such determination as a public 
record and for future reference.  

17.16.10.030 Basis of decision 
To determine whether the property in question or portion thereof is located in the designated 100-year floodplain, the 
floodplain administrator shall review the adopted floodplain map(s), contour maps, elevational survey data supplied 
by the applicant, and other information as may be necessary. The floodplain administrator shall conduct an onsite 
inspection if deemed appropriate. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 12 



  
 
 

 
  

 

        
  

 
 

 
 

 

 

  

  
   

  

  
   

     
    

 
 

 
   

 
  

 
  

   
    

   
 

  
  

  
   

      
    

     

    

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.16.10.040 Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal 
with the Board of Adjustment within 30 days of the final decision. 

Article 12 
FLOODPLAIN PERMIT 

Sections: 
17.16.12.010 Permit required 

17.16.12.020 Application and review procedure  
17.16.12.030 Basis of decision 
17.16.12.040 Imposition of  conditions 
17.16.12.050 Content of decision 

17.16.12.060 Preliminary application form and 
content 

17.16.12.070 Final application form and content 
17.16.12.080 Compliance certification requirements 
17.16.12.090 Expiration of approval 
17.16.12.100 Appeal  

17.16.12.010 Permit required 
A floodplain permit shall be required before any structure, building, fill, or any other regulated activity occurs in the 
100-year floodplain except for those activities specifically exempted. 

17.16.12.020 Application and review procedure 
A. Pre-submittal meeting. The applicant or the applicant's agent shall meet with the floodplain administrator 

prior to submitting a floodplain application to review the project and identify potential issues and also to review 
applicable regulations and procedures. 

B. Submittal of preliminary application. The applicant shall submit the preliminary floodplain application to the 
floodplain administrator. 

C. Notification of requirements for final floodplain application. Upon receiving the preliminary application, 
the floodplain administrator shall notify the applicant in writing of additional materials that must be submitted 
with the final application. 

D. Submittal of final application. The applicant shall submit the final application to the floodplain administrator 
along with the application fee as may be established by the City Commission.  

E. Determination of completeness. Within 10 days of submittal, the floodplain administrator shall determine 
whether the application is complete or incomplete and notify the applicant of any deficiencies. If the application 
is deemed incomplete, the applicant has 6 months to resubmit the application or forfeit the application fee. The 
floodplain administrator shall take no further steps to process the application until the deficiencies are 
remedied. 

F. Notice. Consistent with Article 4 of this chapter, the floodplain administrator shall provide for public notice, 
property owner notification, and agency notification and provide for a comment period of not less than 15 days.  

G. Additional notice. The floodplain administrator shall notify the floodplain administrator and other responsible 
officials from other jurisdictions when the proposed project could potentially affect their jurisdictions. 

H. Inter-agency review. The floodplain administrator shall forward one copy of the complete application to the 
Department of Natural Resources and Conservation and one copy to the Cascade County Conservation District 
when the proposed development may impact the bed or bank of a stream. 

I. Public hearing. Depending on the magnitude of the project and the comments from adjoining property owners 
and the general public, the floodplain administrator may require a public hearing. 

J. Floodplain administrator decision. Within 60 days after a determination of completeness, the floodplain 
administrator shall review the final application and shall approve the application, approve it with conditions, or 
deny it based on the decision criteria as described in this article or request additional information as may be 
needed to adequately evaluate the application. 

K. Applicant notification of decision. Within 7 days following the decision, the floodplain administrator shall 
mail the floodplain decision to the applicant. 

L. DNRC notification of decision. The floodplain administrator shall send a copy of the decision to the Montana 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 13 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 
 

    
 

 
  

  
  

 

 
 

 
   

  
   
  

  

   

    
 
  
  

      
  

    
  
  
      

 
     
    

       
   

    
   

 
   

   
  
   
   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Department of Natural Resources and Conservation, Floodplain Management Section. (See: 36.15.204 (2)(e) 
ARM) 

M. Certification of permit compliance. Within 10 days following completion of the project, the applicant shall 
provide the floodplain administrator with the certification of compliance as required by this article. 

17.16.12.030 Basis of decision 
A. Generally. Decisions to approve, approve with conditions, or deny a floodplain application shall be based on 

whether the application, public comments, or additional information demonstrates that the proposed project: 
1. meets the standards of this Title and the Montana Floodplain and Floodway Management Act (Title 76, 

Chapter 5, MCA); and 
2. is consistent with the City’s growth policy, the applicable neighborhood plan(s), if any, and other planning 

documents adopted by the City Commission including the transportation plan and river corridor plan. 
3. is in the public interest. 

B. Review criteria. To determine whether the proposal would be in the public interest, the floodplain 
administrator shall consider the following: 

1. the danger to life and property due to increased flood heights, increased flood water velocities or alterations 
in the pattern of flood flow caused by encroachments; 

2. the danger that materials may be swept onto other lands or downstream to the injury of others; 
3. the proposed water supply and sanitation systems, if any, and the ability of these systems to prevent disease, 

contamination and unsanitary conditions; 
4. the susceptibility of the proposed facility and its contents to flood damage and the effects of such damage 

on the individual owner; 
5. the likelihood that the structure or building will be threatened due to its proximity to the stream or potential 

lateral movement of the stream; 
6. the importance of the services provided by the facility to the community; 
7. the requirement of the facility for waterfront location; 
8. the availability of alternative locations not subject to flooding for the proposed use; 
9. the compatibility of the proposed use with existing development and anticipated development in the 

foreseeable future; 
10. the relationship of the proposed use to the City’s growth policy, neighborhood plan, if any, the document 

entitled, and floodplain management program for the area; 
11. the safety of access to property in times of flooding for ordinary and emergency services; 
12. effects of the project on other properties; 
13. the cumulative effect of the proposed project along with other existing projects; and 
14. such other factors as are in harmony with the purposes of this Title, the Montana Floodplain and Floodway 

Management Act, and the National Flood Insurance Program. 

17.16.12.040 Imposition of conditions 
The floodplain administrator shall impose conditions on the issuance of a permit as may be necessary to allow a 
positive finding that the project is in the public interest. The floodplain administrator shall require the applicant to file 
a mitigation agreement with the County Clerk and Recorder's office if there is a possibility that the project may 
negatively affect the adjoining property or the function/stability of the river. In addition, the floodplain administrator 
shall require the applicant to file a monitoring agreement with the County Clerk and Recorder's office for projects that 
will result in a significant alteration of the river or that use experimental designs and/or materials. 

17.16.12.050 Content of decision 
A. Content for approval. If the application is approved, the decision shall at a minimum include the following: 

1. A statement that the application is approved. 
2. A general description of the project. 
3. An evaluation of the criteria considered in reaching the decision. 
4. Conditions of approval and/or required project specifications, if any. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 14 



  
 
 

 
  

 

  
     

  
   

   

   
  

   
 

   
 
 

     
   
 
   
     

   
 
 

  
    

   
   

  
  

  
    

    
   

  
  

  
    
      

    
 

    
 

   
    

 
   

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

5. The procedures and requirements when there is a major or minor deviation from the floodplain decision. 
6. A statement specifying under what conditions the floodplain administrator may withdraw the floodplain 

decision. 
7. How long the floodplain decision is valid. 
8. A statement that the applicant will obtain all other local, State, and federal permits prior to commencement 

of work (e.g., Section 404 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972 and Natural Streambed and 
Land Preservation Act). 

9.  A statement describing how and when the application applicant will provide certification to the floodplain 
administrator following completion of the project to ensure the project met the conditions of approval. 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

10. A statement that changes in this Title shall not affect the approval and that no additional conditions shall be 
imposed. 

11. A statement that the decision may be appealed to a court of competent jurisdiction. 
12. Date of the decision. 
13. A signature block for the floodplain administrator. 

B. Content for denial. If the application is denied, the decision shall at a minimum include the following: 
1. A statement that the application is denied. 
2. A description of the project. 
3. An evaluation of the criteria considered in reaching the decision. 
4. A statement that the denial does not limit the applicant's ability to resubmit a revised application for 

consideration. 
5. A statement that the decision may be appealed. 
6. Date of the decision. 
7. A signature block for the floodplain administrator. 

17.16.12.060 Preliminary application form and content 
A. Preparation. The preliminary application may be prepared by the applicant, registered architect, registered 

professional engineer, registered land surveyor, or other qualified individual, as appropriate to the project. 
B. Format. The application, as may be used by the floodplain administrator, shall be completed. 

17.16.12.070 Final application form and content 
A. Preparation.  The final application shall be prepared by a registered professional engineer, registered land 

surveyor, and/or registered architect, or other qualified individual, as appropriate to the project. When the 
project entails the practice of engineering, a professional engineer shall complete the application and 
certification, if required.  Examples of such projects include grade control structures, channel shaping / 
relocation, water diversions, bridges/culverts, utility lines, levees and floodwalls, river channelization, bank 
stabilization projects in excess of 200 cumulative feet, and dams. 

B. Required content. The final application shall include: 
1. an application form, as may be used by the floodplain administrator; 
2. a site plan prepared at a scale of 1”=20’ and containing the information listed in Appendix A; 
3. a vicinity map showing the location of the subject property and the location and name of adjacent roads and 

municipal boundaries; 
4. the names and complete mailing addresses of all owners of record owning property adjoining the subject 

property, as identified on the most recent tax rolls of the county; 
5. project specifications for floodproofing, filling, excavating, grading, riprapping, storage of materials, and 

location of utilities; 
6. a plan view of the proposed development indicating external dimensions of structures, street or road 

finished grade elevations, well locations, individual sewage treatment and disposal sites, excavation and/or 
fill quantity estimates, site plan and/or construction plans; 

7. copies of issued or requested permits where applicable, including the following: 
a. 404 Permits, pursuant to Section 404 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972, 33 U.S.C. 

1334, 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 15 



  
 
 

 
  

 

  
 

  
  

  
   
    

   
  

  
 

   
 

  

 
 

 
   

    
    

   
  

    

 
     

 
 

 
 

  
  

 

 
        

   
 

 

 
 

 

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

b. 310 Permits, pursuant to Natural Streambed and Land Preservation Act, Title 75, Chapter 7, Part 1 
MCA), 

c. Short-Term Exemption from Surface Water Quality Turbidity Standards; 
8. a list of variances, requested or granted, that are relevant to the application and completed applications for 

all requested variances; 
9. design calculations, as may be prepared by a professional engineer or registered architect; 
10. as appropriate, certification by a professional engineer or registered architect that the proposed project has 

been designed to be in compliance with this Title. 
C. Additional information may be required. The floodplain administrator may require whatever additional 

information is necessary to determine whether the proposed activity meets the requirements of this Title. 
Additional information may include the following: 

1. A hydraulic study documenting probable effect on upstream, downstream, or adjacent property owners 
caused by the proposed development; or 

2. The calculated increase in the 100-year flood water surface profile caused by the proposed development. 

17.16.12.080 Compliance certification requirements 
A. Generally. To determine that the permit specifications and conditions have been completed, applicants shall 

furnish the following at the time of an on-site conformance inspection, as appropriate: 
1. Certification by a registered professional engineer or registered land surveyor of the actual mean sea level 

elevation of the lowest floor (including basement) of all new, altered, or substantially improved buildings. 
2. If flood proofing techniques were used for buildings, the mean sea level elevation to which the flood 

proofing was accomplished must be certified by a professional engineer with demonstrated expertise in 
structural engineering or licensed architect in the same manner. 

3. Certification shall also be required, for artificial obstructions other than buildings, verifying that the activity 
was accomplished in accordance with this Title and the design plans submitted with the application for the 
permit activity. 

4. Certification of a flood proofing and/or elevation shall be provided on a standard form available from the 
floodplain administrator. 

5. Flood proofing must be certified by a registered professional engineer or architect that the flood proofing 
methods are adequate to withstand the flood depths, hydrodynamic and hydrostatic pressures, velocities, 
impact, buoyancy, and uplift forces associated with the 100-year flood. 

B. Waiver of certification requirements. The floodplain administrator may waive certain certification 
requirements when an on-site inspection clearly demonstrates that the conditions of the approval were satisfied. 

17.16.12.090 Expiration of approval 
The permit shall expire one year after the date of issuance unless substantial work has commenced under the permit 
and continues in good faith to completion. 

17.16.12.100  Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal 
with a court of competent jurisdiction within 30 days of the final decision. 

Article 14 
EMERGENCY FLOODPLAIN PERMIT WAIVER 

Sections: 
17.16.14.010 Generally  
17.16.14.020 Application and review procedure 
17.16.14.030 Content of written waiver 

17.16.14.040 Termination of waiver 
17.16.14.050 Appeal 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 16 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 
   

  
 

  
   

 

  
     

     
 

   
  

   
 

  
   

 
 

        
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
     

   
   

  
 

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.16.14.010 Generally 
The floodplain administrator may issue an emergency floodplain permit waiver consistent with this part when in 
his/her judgment an emergency exists and there is a clear and present danger to public facilities such as roads, public 
wells, public water and sewer facilities, and flood control works. 

17.16.14.020 Application and review procedure 
A. Initiation. The official responsible for protecting the public facility shall submit the following information to 

the floodplain administrator in writing, or verbally: the nature of the emergency, the specific threat to the public 
facility, and the proposed action. 

B. Determination. The floodplain administrator shall consider all of the facts known at that time, and determine if 
an emergency permit is warranted. If a permit is authorized, it initially may be given verbally or in writing. If 
verbal authorization is given, the floodplain administrator shall provide such determination in writing. 

C. Establishment of record. The floodplain administrator shall assign a unique number for this action and 
establish a permanent written record. 

17.16.14.030 Content of written waiver 
The emergency waiver shall be in writing and shall describe the nature of the emergency, the specific risk to the 
public facility if action were not taken, the action authorized to abate the threat, and whether verbal authorization was 
given prior to written authorization. 

17.16.14.040 Termination of waiver 
Upon cessation of the emergency condition that prompted the waiver, the waiver shall be null and void and all work as 
authorized by the waiver shall cease, except for those specific and limited actions that are needed to protect the 
immediate public health, safety, and welfare. All subsequent work shall be conducted in conformance with a 
floodplain permit as issued in this chapter. 

17.16.14.050 Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal 
with a court of competent jurisdiction within 30 days of the final decision. 

Article 16 
SIGN PERMIT 

Sections: 
17.16.16.010 Permit required 
17.16.16.020 Application and review procedure  
17.16.16.030 Basis of decision 

17.16.16.040 Application form and content  
17.16.16.050 Expiration of approval 
17.16.16.060 Appeal  

17.16.16.010 Permit required 
A sign permit shall be required before any new sign is located within the City or any existing sign is expanded, 
reconstructed, or moved any distance. 

17.16.16.020 Application and review procedure 
A. Submittal of application.  The applicant shall submit a completed application to the Community Development 

Department. 
B. Determination of completeness. Within 2 days of submittal, the Director of Community Development shall 

determine whether the submitted application is complete or incomplete and notify the applicant, of any 
deficiencies. The director shall take no further steps to process the application until the deficiencies are 
remedied. 

C. Determination of compliance. Within 3 days after a determination of completeness, the director shall approve 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 17 



  
 
 

 
  

 

   
  

        

 
    

 

   
   

 
 

  
   
   
    
 
   

 
 

        
  

   
 

  
 

 

  
     

 
   

   
   

  
 

  
  

  
  

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

the permit, approve it with conditions, or deny the permit based on the decision criteria established in this 
article. 

D. Permit fee. At the time of issuance of the permit, the applicant shall pay the applicable permit fee as may be 
established by the City Commission. 

17.16.16.030 Basis of decision 
The decision to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the permit shall be based on whether the application, as 
submitted, meets the standards and requirements of this Title and applicable Building Code requirements. 

17.16.16.040 Application form and content 
A. Preparation.  The applicant shall prepare the application submittal with the assistance of a sign 

designer/contractor, registered architect, or registered engineer, as may be appropriate. 
B. Required content. The application submittal shall include the following: 

1. an elevation drawing of the sign drawn to scale that shows overall dimensions and materials; 
2. a site plan prepared at a scale of 1” = 20’ and containing the information listed in Appendix A; 
3. a copy of design waivers or variances that have been granted for the project; 
4. a description of design waivers or variance that are needed for the project; 
5. an application form; and 
6. applicable Building Code requirements as in Title 15, OCCGF. 

17.16.16.050 Expiration of approval 
The permit shall expire 180 days after the date of issuance. 

17.16.16.060 Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal 
with the Board of Adjustment within 30 days of the final decision. 

Article 17 
LANDSCAPE DESIGN REVIEW 

Sections: 
17.16.17.010 Application and review procedure  
17.16.17.020 Basis of decision 
17.16.17.030 Application form and content  
17.16.17.040 Landscape  plan  

17.16.17.050 Irrigation plan  
17.16.17.060 Plant substitutions 
17.16.17.070 Installation deferral 
17.16.17.080 Appeal  

17.16.17.010 Application and review procedure 
A. Submittal of application. The applicant shall submit a completed application to the Community Development 

Department along with the application fee as may be established by the City Commission.  
B. Determination of completeness. Within 5 days of submittal, the Director of Community Development shall 

determine whether the submitted application is complete or incomplete and notify the applicant, in writing, of 
any deficiencies. If the application is deemed incomplete, the applicant has 20 days to resubmit the application 
or forfeit the application fee. The director shall take no further steps to process the application until the 
deficiencies are remedied. 

C. Determination of compliance. Within 3 days after a determination of completeness, the director shall approve 
the application, approve it with conditions, or deny the permit based on the decision criteria established in this 
article. 

D. Resubmittal of application. If the application is denied, the applicant has 20 days to submit another 
application or forfeit the original application fee. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 18 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 
     

   

   

 
   
  
  

 
    

    
        

  
 

   
  
  
   
     

       

  

 
    

  
      

 
 

  
    

 

 
    

   
 

  
     

  

      
  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.16.17.020 Basis of decision 
The decision to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the submitted landscape plan shall be based on whether the 
application, as submitted, meets the standards and requirements of this Title. 

17.16.17.030 Application form and content 
The application submittal shall include the following: 

1. An application form. 
2. A landscape plan prepared consistent with this Title. 
3. An irrigation plan prepared consistent with this Title. 
4. A list of variances and design waivers, requested or granted, that are relevant to the application. 

17.16.17.040 Landscape plan 
A. When required. A landscape plan as described in this section shall be prepared and submitted when a project 

must provide landscaping as required by this Title (except single-family residences). 
B. Qualifications to prepare. A landscape plan shall be prepared by a registered landscape architect, registered 

professional engineer, registered architect, or other qualified individual, as appropriate to the project, who is 
knowledgeable of landscaping principles and plant selection and care. 

C. Format. A landscape plan shall be prepared according to the following format: 
1. The page size shall not exceed 24” by 36”. 
2. Where multiple sheets are necessary, a cover sheet with an index shall be included. 
3. The plan shall be legible and show all of the required information. 
4. The plan shall be prepared at an appropriate scale to show the required information. For sites smaller than 

one acre, a scale of 1” = 20’ is generally appropriate and for projects larger than one acre, a scale of 1” = 
50’ is generally appropriate. 

D. Content. At a minimum the landscape plan shall contain the information as listed in Appendix A. 

17.16.17.050 Irrigation plan 
A. When required. An irrigation plan as described in this section shall be prepared and submitted when a 

landscape plan involves the installation of an irrigation system. 
B. Qualifications to prepare. An irrigation plan shall be prepared by a person who is knowledgeable of irrigation 

system components and maintenance, water efficient design principles, evapotranspiration rates, hydrology, 
local soil conditions, and locally used plant materials and their respective water needs.  

C. Format. An irrigation plan shall be prepared in the same format of the submitted landscape plan. 
D. Content. At a minimum the irrigation plan shall depict the location of and specifications for all irrigation 

components and include a recommended watering schedule. 

17.16.17.060 Plant substitutions 
Minor revisions to an approved landscape plan may be requested due to a lack of plant availability or seasonal 
planting constraints. 

17.16.17.070 Installation deferral 
If climatic conditions or other circumstances prevent proper and complete installation of the landscaping required in 
this Title prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy, the City Forester may defer such installation until the next 
growing season for just cause, provided the property owner / developer provides the City with a financial guarantee 
pursuant to Chapter 68 of this Title. In no case shall the time for completion be extended beyond June 1 immediately 
following the completion date. 

17.16.17.080 Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal 
with the Board of Adjustment within 30 days of the final decision. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 19 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 
 

 

  

  
 

 
 
 

  
  

  
   

 
     

     
  

   
    

  
 

 
   

  
    

   
 

  
  

  
  

  
   
 

    

  
 

  
  

    

 
     

   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Article 18 
DESIGN REVIEW 

Sections: 
17.16.18.010 Application and review procedure  
17.16.18.020 Extension of review period 
17.16.18.030 Basis of decision 
17.16.18.040 Application form and content  

17.16.18.050 Staff report content 
17.16.18.060 Expiration of approval  
17.16.18.070 Appeal 

17.16.18.010 Application and review procedure 
A. Pre-submittal conference. Before submitting an application, the applicant or the applicant's agent is 

encouraged to meet with the Director of Community Development to: 
1. review applicable regulations and procedures; 
2. review applicable goals and objectives of the City’s growth policy, neighborhood plans, if any, and other 

plans, as appropriate; and 
3. review a concept drawing of the project. 
The pre-submittal conference may, at the discretion of the director and with concurrence of the applicant or the 
applicant's agent, be held via telephone conference. Prior to the conference, the concept drawing shall be 
submitted to the director. 

B. Submittal of application. The applicant shall submit an application, as described in this article, to the 
Community Development Department along with the application fee as may be established by the City 
Commission. 

C. Determination of completeness. Within 10 days, but not sooner than 4 days, of submittal, the director shall 
determine whether the proposed application is complete or incomplete and notify the applicant of any 
deficiencies.  If the application is incomplete, the applicant has 6 months to resubmit the application or forfeit 
the application fee. The director shall take no further steps to process the application until the deficiencies are 
remedied. 

D. Schedule date of review.  Following a determination of completeness, the director shall schedule a meeting 
with the Design Review Board. Public notice shall be given of the date and time of the meeting.   

E. Staff report. The director shall prepare a written staff report as described in this article and mail it to each 
member of the Design Review Board, the applicant, and the applicant’s agent, if any, at least 3 days prior to the 
public meeting. He/she shall also provide a copy to interested people upon request.  

F. Public hearing. The board shall conduct a public hearing to review the application. 
G. Board decision. Within 10 days of the public meeting (unless the applicant consents in writing to an extension 

of the review period), the Design Review Board after considering the comments and recommendations of the 
staff report shall render a decision to: 

1. approve the application, 
2. approve the application with conditions, or 
3. deny the application. 

H. Applicant notification of decision. Within 5 days following the decision date, the director shall mail the 
board’s decision to the applicant. 

17.16.18.020 Extension of review period 
A. Generally. Prior to the final decision of the board, the board or the applicant may request an extension to the 

review period. The applicant may wish to amend the application with new or different information or the board 
may request new or additional information. 

B. Extension requirements. Unless otherwise stated in writing, an extension request may extend the review an 
additional 30 days. 

17.16.18.030 Basis of decision 
The Design Review Board’s decision to approve, conditionally approve, or deny an application shall be based on 
whether the application, staff report, public input, or additional information demonstrates that each of the following 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 20 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 
    
    

   
  

 
 

  
   

    
   
  
  

 
 

 
 

   

    

 
    

   
   

  
    

     
   

  
 
 

 
 

  
  

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

criteria have been satisfied: 
1. The proposal meets the required design standards; and 
2. The proposal meets the design guidelines to the greatest extent possible. 

17.16.18.040 Application form and content 
A. Preparation. In conjunction with a registered architect or design professional, the applicant shall prepare the 

application. 
B. Required content. The application submittal shall include the following: 

1. building elevations as prepared by an architect or design professional that shows all windows, doors, eaves, 
roof lines, exterior materials, vents, chimneys, HVAC units, signage, and other similar design features; 

2. a site plan prepared at a scale of 1”=20’ and containing the information listed in Appendix A; 
3. a copy of design waivers or variances that have been granted for the project; 
4. a description of design waivers or variances that are needed for the project; and 
5. an application form. 

C. Optional content. The application may include other information including colored renderings, three-
dimensional models, computer simulation, and other types of visual aids. 

17.16.18.050 Staff report content 
At a minimum, the staff report shall contain the following: 

1. an analysis of the building and related site design based on the design standards and guidelines contained in 
this Title; and 

2. a preliminary list of deficiencies, if any. 

17.16.18.060 Expiration of approval 
The approval shall expire one year after the date of issuance unless substantial work has commenced under the permit 
and continues in good faith to completion. 

17.16.18.070 Appeal 
Within 30 days of the Design Review Board’s decision, the applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal the 
decision by petitioning the City Commission in writing. A majority vote of the City Commission shall be required in 
order to place the appeal on the commission’s agenda for formal action.  Any City Commission action is superior to 
the Design Review Board’s decision, unless such decision is upheld. If the City Commission fails to review the 
project or if the City Commission hears the application, the applicant and/or aggrieved person may appeal the City 
Commission’s decision by filing an appeal with a court of competent jurisdiction within 30 days of the City 
Commission’s decision on appeal or decision to not hear the appeal. 

Article 19 
OUTDOOR LIGHTING 

Sections: 
17.16.19.010 Permit required 
17.16.19.020  Reviewing entity  
17.16.19.030 Application and review procedure for  

independent review  
17.16.19.040 Basis of decision 
17.16.19.050 Application form and content  

17.16.19.060 Lighting plan  
17.16.19.070  Expiration of approval  
17.16.19.080 Appeal 

17.16.19.010 Permit required 
An electrical permit and an outdoor lighting application and plan shall be required before any new outdoor lighting is 
located within the City or any existing lighting is expanded, reconstructed, converted, or moved any distance. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 21 



  
 
 

 
  

 

  
   

  

   
 

  

   
     

 
   

    
   

  
  

  
   

  
        

 

 
      

 

   

 
  
   

 
 

    

    
  
  
   
     

       

   

 
   

20

30

40

50

60

70

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.16.19.0  Reviewing entity 
A. Review. When the Design Review Board reviews a project, it shall also review the proposed lighting, if any, to 

ensure it complies with the lighting standards contained in this Title.  The Design Review Board shall follow 
the review process and render a decision consistent with this article. 

B. Administrative review. When an outdoor lighting application is submitted and is not subject to any other 
review procedure, the Director of Community Development shall conduct the review and render a decision 
consistent with this article. 

17.16.19.0  Application and review procedure for independent review 
A. Submittal of application. The applicant shall submit a completed application to the Community Development 

Department along with the application fee as may be established by the City Commission.  
B. Determination of completeness. Within 2 days of submittal, the Director of Community Development shall 

determine whether the submitted application is complete or incomplete and notify the applicant, in writing, of 
any deficiencies. If the application is deemed incomplete, the applicant has 20 days to resubmit the application 
or forfeit the application fee. The director shall take no further steps to process the application until the 
deficiencies are remedied. 

C. Determination of compliance. Within 3 days after a determination of completeness, the director shall approve 
the permit, approve it with conditions, or deny the permit based on the decision criteria established in this 
article. 

D. Applicant notification. Within 5 days following the decision, the director shall mail the applicant the original 
(signed) copy of the permit and retain a copy for the public record. 

17.16.19.0 Basis of decision 
The decision to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the permit shall be based on whether the application, as 
submitted, meets the standards and requirements of this Title and applicable Building Code requirements. 

17.16.19.0 Application form and content 
The application submittal shall include the following: 

1. An application form. 
2. A lighting plan prepared consistent with this Title. 
3. A list of variances, requested or granted, that are relevant to the application. 

17.16.19.0  Lighting plan 
A. When required. A lighting plan as described in this section shall be prepared and submitted when a project 

includes outdoor lighting. 
B. Qualifications to prepare. A lighting plan shall be prepared by a lighting designer/contractor, registered 

architect, or registered engineer, as may be appropriate. 
C. Format. A lighting plan shall be prepared according to the following format: 

1. The page size shall not exceed 24” by 36”. 
2. Where multiple sheets are necessary, a cover sheet with an index shall be included. 
3. The plan shall be legible and show all of the required information. 
4. The plan shall be prepared at an appropriate scale to show the required information. For sites smaller than 

one acre, a scale of 1” = 20’ is generally appropriate and for projects larger than one acre, a scale of 1” = 
50” is generally appropriate. 

D. Content. At a minimum the lighting plan shall contain the information as listed in Appendix A. 

17.16.19.0  Expiration of approval 
The permit shall expire 180 days after the date of issuance unless substantial work has commenced under the permit 
and continues in good faith to completion. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 22 



  
 
 

 
  

 

        
  

 
 

 
 

 

  
  

  
   

 

 

    
 

     
 

     

  
    

     
  

   
 

    
   

  
  

  
   

  
 

 
   

     
  

    

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.16.19.080 Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal 
with the Board of Adjustment within 30 days of the final decision. 

Article 20 
DESIGN WAIVER 

Sections: 
17.16.20.010 Legislative findings 
17.16.20.020 Application and review procedure  
17.16.20.030 Basis of decision 
17.16.20.040 Limitations on issuing a design waiver  
17.16.20.050 Imposition  of  conditions 

17.16.20.060 Application form  and  content  
17.16.20.070 Expiration of  approval 
17.16.20.080 Appeal 

17.16.20.010 Legislative findings 
The City Commission makes the following findings: 

1. There may be instances where certain design requirements of this Title that if enforced may cause 
unintended and unwanted results, as opposed to a hardship where a variance may be the appropriate 
remedy. 

2. Minor deviations from this Title may help to promote a better development and protect environmental and 
cultural resources. 

3. A mechanism is needed to allow an administrative deviation from this Title when it can be shown that the 
grant of relief will avoid unintended and unwanted results and result in a better development. 

4. Such a mechanism should be simple, handled at the administrative level, and be consistently and fairly 
applied. 

5. Issuance of a design waiver does not imply or guarantee subsequent approval or conditional approval of any 
review process required by this Title.  

17.16.20.020 Application and review procedure 
A. Submittal of application. The applicant shall submit a completed application, as described in this article, to the 

Community Development Department along with the application fee as may be established by the City 
Commission. 

B. Determination of completeness. Within 10 days, but not sooner than 4 days, of submittal, the Director of 
Community Development or appropriate City department director shall determine whether the proposed 
application is complete or incomplete and notify the applicant of any deficiencies.   If the application is 
incomplete, the applicant has 6 months to resubmit the application or forfeit the application fee. The director 
shall take no further steps to process the application until the deficiencies are remedied. 

C. Decision. Within 15 days after submittal, the director shall review the request and approve it, approve it with 
conditions, or deny it based on the decision criteria established in this article. 

D. Applicant notification of decision. Within 5 days following the decision, the director shall mail the decision to 
the applicant. 

E. Ratification by reviewing authority. The board, commission, or official responsible for a subsequent review 
shall ratify the issuance of the waiver or revoke the waiver if it was not issued in compliance with this article. 

17.16.20.030 Basis of decision 
The director of the appropriate City department shall not approve the application unless he/she makes a positive 
finding, based on substantial competent evidence, on each of the following: 

1. The requirement would cause an unintended or undesirable result if applied to the particular circumstance 
and if relaxed would result in a better overall development design and/or protect environmental or cultural 
resources. 

2. The exceptional and unique circumstances do not result from the actions of the applicant. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 23 



  
 
 

 
  

 

    

  

  
 

     
 

  

  
      

 

 
   

 

   

  
  

 
   

    
 

    
 

     

 
 

 
 

  

  
     

    
  

   
  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

3. The applicant has no other option to improve the development's design or avoid negative impacts on 
environmental and/or cultural resources. 

4. The request is not based exclusively upon a desire to reduce the cost of developing the site or to maximize 
the developer's profit. 

5. The granting of the design waiver will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or general welfare or 
injurious to other adjoining properties. 

6. The effect of the proposed design waiver is in harmony with the general intent of this Title and the specific 
intent of the relevant subject area(s). 

7. The design waiver requested is the minimum necessary to accomplish the intent of this part. 

17.16.20.040 Limitations on issuing a design waiver 
The waiver is limited to design requirements only. In no case shall a City department director modify lot size or other 
requirements to increase the permitted density or intensity of use or consider any waiver application that should be 
considered a variance. 

17.16.20.050 Imposition of conditions 
In issuing a design waiver, a City department director may impose such conditions and restrictions upon the premises 
benefited as may be necessary to allow a positive finding to be made on any of the foregoing factors. 

17.16.20.060 Application form and content 
The application submittal shall include the following: 

1. An application. 
2. Other information as may be necessary for the appropriate City department director to make the findings as 

required. 

17.16.20.070 Expiration of approval 
A design waiver shall be personal to the owner of record at the time of its approval and shall expire either 18 months 
after the date of approval or by earlier action by the director issuing the waiver or the City Commission, unless 
construction has commenced and continues in good faith to completion. 

17.16.20.080 Appeal 
Because the nature of a design waiver is discretionary, an applicant may not appeal the decision of the City 
department director to deny a design waiver application. If the board, commission, or official responsible for a 
subsequent review ratifies the issuance of the waiver, an aggrieved person may appeal that decision to the Board of 
Adjustment. 

Article 21 
EROSION CONTROL PERMIT 

Sections: 
17.16.21.010 Application and review procedure  
17.16.21.020 Basis of decision 
17.16.21.030 Application form and content  

17.16.21.040 Expiration of  approval 
17.16.21.050 Appeal 

17.16.21.010 Application and review procedure 
A. Submittal of application. The applicant shall submit a completed application to the public works department 

along with the application fee as may be established by the City Commission.  
B. Determination of completeness. The Director of Public Works shall determine whether the submitted 

application is complete or incomplete and notify the applicant, in writing, of any deficiencies. If the application 
is deemed incomplete, the applicant has 20 days to resubmit the application or forfeit the application fee. The 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 24 



  
 
 

 
  

 

  
     

 
   

 
     

   
    

   

 
   
   
  
  

   
  
  
   
     

       

   
 

   

  
  

   
     

 
    

  
   

      
  

   

 

      
  

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

director shall take no further steps to process the application until the deficiencies are remedied. 
C. Determination of compliance. After a determination of completeness, the director shall approve the permit, 

approve it with conditions, or deny the permit based on the decision criteria established in this article.  
D. Applicant notification. Following the decision, the director shall mail the applicant the original (signed) copy 

of the permit and retain a copy for the public record. 

17.16.21.020 Basis of decision 
The decision to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the permit shall be based on whether the application, as 
submitted, meets the standards and requirements of this Title. 

17.16.21.030 Application form and content 
A. Preparation. The application shall be prepared by a registered professional engineer, or other qualified 

individual who is knowledgeable of erosion control practices and procedures, as deemed acceptable by the 
Director of Public Works. 

B. Required content. The application submittal shall include the following: 
1. a site plan prepared as described in this part; 
2. a copy of design waivers or variances that have been granted for the project; 
3. a description of design waivers or variances that are needed for the project; and 
4. an application form. 

C. Site plan format. A site plan shall be prepared consistent with the following:  
1. The page size shall not exceed 24” by 36”. 
2. Where multiple sheets are necessary, a cover sheet with an index shall be included. 
3. The plan shall be legible and show all of the required information. 
4. The plan shall be prepared at an appropriate scale to show the required information. For sites smaller than 

one acre, a scale of 1” = 20’ is generally appropriate and for projects larger than one acre, a scale of 1” = 
50’ is generally appropriate. 

5. The site plan shall contain the information as listed in Appendix A and information from the application 
that can be depicted. 

D. Application content. In addition to general information about the applicant and preparer, the application shall, 
at a minimum, solicit the following information: 

1. A sequence of construction of the development site, including stripping and clearing; rough grading; 
construction of utilities, infrastructure, and buildings; and final grading and landscaping. Sequencing shall 
identify the expected date on which clearing will begin, the estimated duration of exposure of cleared areas, 
areas of clearing, installation of temporary erosion and sediment control measures, and establishment of 
permanent vegetation. 

2. All erosion and sediment control measures necessary to meet the objectives of this chapter throughout all 
phases of construction and after completion of development of the site.  Depending upon the complexity of 
the project, the drafting of intermediate plans may be required at the close of each season. 

3. Seeding mixtures and rates, types of sod, method of seedbed preparation, expected seeding dates, type and 
rate of lime and fertilizer application, and kind and quantity of mulching for both temporary and permanent 
vegetative control measures. 

4. Provisions for maintenance of control facilities, including easements and estimates of the cost of 
maintenance. 

17.16.21.040 Expiration of approval 
The permit shall expire one year after the date of issuance unless substantial work has commenced under the permit 
and continues in good faith to completion. 

17.16.21.050 Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal 
with the Board of Adjustment within 30 days of the final decision. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 25 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 

 
 

  

  
    

    
  

   
  

  
   

 
   

 
      

   
  
 

    
    

  
 

   
  
  

 

        
  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Article 22 
STORMWATER MANAGEMENT PERMIT 

Sections: 
17.16.22.010 Application and review procedure  
17.16.22.020 Basis of decision 
17.16.22.030 Application form and content  

17.16.22.040 Expiration of approval 
17.16.22.050 Appeal  

17.16.22.010 Application and review procedure 
A. Submittal of application. The applicant shall submit a completed application to the public works department 

along with the application fee as may be established by the City Commission.  
B. Determination of completeness. The Director of Public Works shall determine whether the submitted 

application is complete or incomplete and notify the applicant, in writing, of any deficiencies. If the application 
is deemed incomplete, the applicant has 20 days to resubmit the application or forfeit the application fee. The 
director shall take no further steps to process the application until the deficiencies are remedied. 

C. Determination of compliance. After a determination of completeness, the director shall approve the permit, 
approve it with conditions, or deny the permit based on the decision criteria established in this article.  

D. Applicant notification. Following the decision, the director shall mail the applicant the original (signed) copy 
of the permit and retain a copy for the public record. 

17.16.22.020 Basis of decision 
The decision to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the permit shall be based on whether the application, as 
submitted, meets the standards and requirements of this Title. 

17.16.22.030 Application form and content 
A. Preparation. In conjunction with a registered engineer, the applicant shall prepare the application submittal. 
B. Required content. The application submittal shall include the following: 

1. design specifications for all storm water facilities along with documentation for all calculations. 
2. The plan shall be prepared at an appropriate scale to show the required information, including the 

information listed in Appendix A. For sites smaller than one acre, a scale of 1” = 20’ is generally 
appropriate and for projects larger than one acre, a scale of 1” = 50’ is generally appropriate. 

3. a copy of design waivers or variances that have been granted for the project. 
4. a description of design waivers or variances that are needed for the project; and 
5. an application form. 

17.16.22.040 Expiration of approval 
The permit shall expire one year after the date of issuance unless substantial work has commenced under the permit 
and continues in good faith to completion. 

17.16.22.050 Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal 
with the Board of Adjustment within 30 days of the final decision. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 26 



  
 
 

 
 

  

  
  

  
    

        
 

 
 

  
     

 
  

     
   

    
 

  
 

  
  

     
     

   

 
 

         
   

  
 

    

 
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Article 23 
DEMOLITION PERMIT 

Sections: 
17.16.23.010 Legislative findings 
17.16.23.020 Permit required 
17.16.23.030 Application and review procedure  
17.16.23.040 Special requirements for condemnation  

process 

17.16.23.050  Demolition requirements 
17.16.23.060 Expiration of  approval 
17.16.23.070 Appeal 

17.16.23.010 Legislative findings 
The City Commission makes the following findings: 

1. If done improperly, building demolition can release carcinogenic and/or other hazardous substances into the 
atmosphere that can threaten public health, safety, and welfare. 

2. Building demolition can have a negative or positive effect on the properties in the area and community 
character depending on circumstances of the proposed demolition. 

3. Historic buildings are valuable assets to the entire community and should be protected from demolition 
when warranted. 

17.16.23.020 Permit required 
No private or public building shall be demolished in whole, or in part, without a demolition permit. 

17.16.23.030 Application and review procedure 
A. Submittal of application. The applicant shall submit a completed application to the Community Development 

Department. 
B. Determination of completeness. Within 10 days of submittal, the Director of Community Development shall 

determine if the application is complete. If the application is deemed incomplete, it shall be returned to the 
applicant and the applicant has 6 months to resubmit the application or forfeit the application fee. The director 
shall take no further steps to process the application until it is deemed complete. 

C. Determination of review authority. In consultation with the Historic Preservation Officer, the Director shall 
determine if the building proposed for demolition is of historic value, meaning it is individually listed on the 
National Register of Historic Places, is eligible for listing, or is designated as a contributing or primary property 
to an existing historic district. 

D. Review if building is not of historic value. If a determination is made that the building is not of historic value, 
the director shall issue a demolition permit provided the demolition complies with all other requirements of this 
Title and other laws and ordinances of the State of Montana and City of Great Falls as may apply. 

E. Review if building is of historic value. If a determination is made that the building is of historic value, the 
applicant and the Historic Preservation Officer shall meet to discuss the proposed demolition. The Historic 
Preservation Officer shall discuss options for the property, such as alternative designs, grants, tax credits, tax 
abatements, purchase, land exchanges, and building relocation. 

F. Neighborhood council contact recommended. The applicant may meet with representatives of the 
Neighborhood Council in which the project is located to discuss the proposed demolition and solicit feedback. 

G. Staff report. The historic preservation officer shall prepare a staff report as described in this article and mail it 
to each member of the Historic Preservation Advisory Commission, the applicant, and the applicant’s agent, if 
any, no later than 3 days prior to the public hearing. He/she shall also provide a copy to interested people upon 
request. 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

HG. Additional procedural steps. If the permit is issued, the applicant shall work with the Building Community 
Development Department to ensure compliance with this part and other regulations that may apply.    

 

 

 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.06", 
Hanging:  0.31", Tabs:  0.38", Left 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering 

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, 
Strikethrough 

IH.  Permit fee. At the time of issuance of the permit, the applicant shall pay the applicable permit fee as may be 
established by the City Commission. 

 
  

 
Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 27 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 
   

  
 

  
  

 
  

 

 
 

 

    
  
     

  
 

     
  

 
 

  
 

 

   
 

  
  
  
  
     

 
   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.16.23.040 Special requirements for condemnation process 
In those cases where a condemnation results in an application for demolition, the official responsible for initiating the 
condemnation proceedings shall meet with the Historic Preservation Officer to discuss options. 

17.16.23.050 Demolition requirements 
A. Generally. The Building Department shall ensure that the methods for demolition do not pose a threat to public 

health, safety, or welfare. 
B. Harm to adjoining properties. The demolition shall not physically harm or endanger adjoining properties.  
C. Dust abatement and asbestos management. The applicant shall ensure that dust, asbestos, or other 

contaminants are not released into the environment. 
D. Damaged public/private improvements. The applicant shall be responsible for repairing any public and 

private improvements (e.g., sidewalks, curb and gutter, roads) that are damaged by the demolition. 

17.16.23.060 Expiration of approval 
The permit shall expire 30 days after the date of issuance unless substantial work has commenced under the permit 
and continues in good faith to completion. 

17.16.23.070 Appeal 
A.    Historic buildings. Within 30 days of a final decision, the applicant and/or an aggrieved party may appeal the 
decision of the commission to the City Commission, which shall hold a public hearing to consider the appeal. If the 
decision of the commission is appealed to the City Commission, the applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal 
the City Commission’s final decision by filing an appeal with a court of competent jurisdiction within 30 days of the 
City Commission’s final decision. 

 Formatted: Bullets and Numbering 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

B. Non-historic buildings. The applicant and/or an aggrieved party may appeal a final decision made pursuant to 
this article by filing an appeal with the Board of Adjustment within 30 days of the final decision. 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

Article 26 
SUBDIVISION – PRELIMINARY AND MINOR PLATS 

Sections: 
17.16.26.010 Application and review procedure for a 

major subdivision  
17.16.26.020 Application and review procedure for a 
  minor subdivision or for a second or  

subsequent  minor subdivision  from a 
tract of  record  

17.16.26.030 Extension of review period 
17.16.26.040 Basis of decision 
17.16.26.050 Content of decision 
17.16.26.060 Concept plat  form and content 

17.16.26.070  Preliminary  or minor plat form and 
content 

17.16.26.080 Application form  and content  

17.16.26.090 Staff report content 
17.16.26.100 Environmental assessment 
17.16.26.110 Expiration of approval   
17.16.26.120 Appeal 

17.16.26.010 Application and review procedure for a major subdivision (See: 76-3-601, MCA) 
A. Pre-submittal meeting. Before submitting an application, the applicant or the applicant's agent shall meet with 

the Director of the Planning Department to: 
1. review applicable State laws and local regulations and procedures; and, 
2. review applicable goals and objectives of the City’s growth policy; and, 
3. review the concept plat; and, 
4. create a list of the public utilities, agencies of local, State and federal government and other entities to be 

contacted for comment on the subdivision application and the timeframes that the public utilities, agencies 
and other entities are given to respond. 

The pre-application meeting may, at the discretion of the director and concurrence of the applicant or the 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 28 



  
 
 

 
  

 

  
    

 

  
     

 
  

   
  

  
   

  
 

   
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

  
    

     
  

     
   

 
    

   
   

  

  
  
   
   

   
 

  
  

     
    

  
  

 

  
   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

applicant's agent, be held via telephone conference within 30 days from the date the subdivider requests such a 
meeting. Prior to the conference, the concept plat shall be submitted to the director. A representative from the 
Community Development Department, Public Works Department, Fire Department, and other City departments 
as appropriate should participate in this preliminary discussion. 

B. Neighborhood council contact recommended. Prior to submitting an application, the applicant should meet 
with representatives of the neighborhood council in which the project is located to present the project and solicit 
feedback. 

C. Submittal of application. The applicant shall submit an application to the Planning Department along with the 
application fee as may be established by the City Commission, within 6 months of the pre-application meeting 
referenced in A above. 

D. Determination of completeness. Within 5 working days of submittal, the director shall determine whether the 
proposed application contains all of the listed materials as required by section 17.16.26.080 of this Article, and 
notify the applicant of any deficiencies.  The director has an additional 15 working days to determine whether 
the application and required elements contain detailed, supporting information that is sufficient to allow for 
review of the proposed subdivision under the provisions of this chapter and local regulations adopted pursuant 
to this chapter.  If the application is incomplete, the applicant has 6 months to resubmit the application or forfeit 
the application fee. The director shall take no further steps to process the application until the deficiencies are 
remedied. (See: 76-3-604 (1) and (2), MCA) 

E. Schedule date of review. Following a determination of completeness, the director shall notify the Planning 
Board of the application. If more than 2 majors are submitted in any given month, the Planning Department, in 
consultation with the Planning Board president, may schedule separate meetings to consider them. Applications 
will be scheduled on a first-come first-serve basis. 

F. Notice. Consistent with Article 4 of this chapter, the director shall provide for public notice, neighborhood 
council notification, property owner notification, agency notification, and posting of a sign on the premises. 

G. Staff report. The director shall prepare a written staff report as described in this article and mail it to each 
member of the Planning Board, the applicant, and the applicant’s agent, if any, at least 3 days prior to the public 
hearing. He/she shall also provide a copy to interested people upon request. 

H. Public hearing. Allowing for proper public notice, the Planning Board shall conduct a public hearing to review 
the application. (See: 76-3-501(1)(n) and 76-3-605 (1), MCA) 

I. Review session. Allowing for proper notice, the Planning Board may conduct a review session to review the 
application. The purpose of this session is to allow the Planning Board members and the applicant to informally 
discuss the preliminary plat without making a formal recommendation. 

J. Planning Board recommendation. Within 10 days of the public hearing (unless the applicant consents in 
writing to an extension of the review period), the Planning Board after considering the comments and 
recommendations of the staff report shall make a recommendation to the City Commission, based on the 
decision criteria contained in this article to either: 

1. approve the preliminary plat; or, 
2. approve the preliminary plat with conditions; or,  
3. deny the preliminary plat. (See: 76-3-605 (4) and 76-1-107, MCA) 

K. Consultation. If the City Commission intends on imposing conditions of approval to mitigate negative impacts 
that are different than and/or in excess of those voluntarily included in the application of record by the 
applicant, the commission shall consult with the applicant and give due weight and consideration to the 
expressed preference of the applicant. (See: 76-3-608(5)(b), MCA) 

L. Supplemental consideration. If as a result of the consultation, the proposed subdivision is materially and 
substantially different than the original application, the City Commission may direct the Planning Board to 
conduct another public hearing to consider the application as may be changed by the anticipated mitigation. 

M. City Commission decision. Within 60 days of the determination of completeness (unless the applicant consents 
in writing to an extension of the review period), the City Commission after considering the comments and 
recommendation of the Planning Board and after reviewing the staff report shall make a decision, based on the 
decision criteria contained in this article, to either: 

1. approve the preliminary plat; or, 
2. approve the preliminary plat with conditions; or, 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 29 



  
 
 

 
  

 

   
 

    
 

 
  

 
  
   
     

  
 

   
   

   
 

  
     

 
     

  

   
  

  
 

   
  

 
 

    
  

  
 

   
  

   
    

     
 

   
    

 
  

  
  

    

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

3. deny the preliminary plat. (See: 76-3-604 (2), MCA) 
The preliminary plat decision shall be prepared consistent with the requirements contained in this article. 

17.16.26.020 Application and review procedure for a minor subdivision or for a second or subsequent 
minor subdivision from a tract of record (See: 76-3-505 (2) and 76-3-609, MCA) 
A. Pre-submittal meeting. Before submitting an application, the applicant or the applicant's agent shall meet with 

the Director of the Planning Department to: 
1. review applicable subdivision regulations and procedures; and, 
2. review applicable goals and objectives of the City’s growth policy; and, 
3. review the concept plat; and, 
4. create a list of the public utilities, agencies of local, State and federal government and other entities to be 

contacted for comment on the subdivision application and the timeframes that the public utilities, agencies 
and other entities are given to respond. 

The pre-application meeting may, at the discretion of the director and concurrence of the applicant or the 
applicant's agent, be held via telephone conference within 30 days from the date the subdivider requests such a 
meeting. Prior to the conference, the concept plat shall be submitted to the director.  A representative from the 
Community Development Department, Public Works Department, Fire Department, and other City departments 
as appropriate should participate in this preliminary discussion. 

B. Neighborhood council contact recommended. Prior to submitting an application, the applicant should meet 
with representatives of the neighborhood council in which the project is located to present the project and solicit 
feedback. 

C. Submittal of application. The applicant shall submit an application, as described in this article, to the Planning 
Department along with the application fee as may be established by the City Commission, within 6 months of 
the pre-application meeting referenced in A above.  

D. Determination of completeness. Within 5 working days of submittal, the director shall determine whether the 
proposed application contains all of the listed materials as required by section 17.16.26.080 of this Article, and 
notify the applicant of any deficiencies.  The director has an additional 15 working days to determine whether 
the application and required elements contain detailed, supporting information that is sufficient to allow for 
review of the proposed subdivision under the provisions of this chapter and local regulations adopted pursuant 
to this chapter.  If the application is incomplete, the applicant has 6 months to resubmit the application or forfeit 
the application fee. The director shall take no further steps to process the application until the deficiencies are 
remedied. (See: 76-3-604 (1) and (2), MCA) 

E. Schedule date of review. Following a determination of completeness, the director shall notify the Planning 
Board of the application. If more than 6 minors are submitted in any given month, the Planning Department, in 
consultation with the Planning Board president, may schedule separate meetings to consider them. Applications 
will be scheduled on a first-come, first-serve basis. 

F. Notice. Consistent with Article 4 of this chapter, the director shall provide for, appropriate notification, 
depending upon whether the application involves a minor plat or a second or subsequent minor subdivision 
from a tract of record (See: 76-3-605 (3), MCA). 

G. Staff report. The director shall prepare a written staff report as described in this article and mail it to each 
member of the Planning Board, the applicant, and the applicant’s agent, if any, at least 3 days prior to the date 
of Planning Board consideration. He/she shall also provide a copy to interested people upon request. 

H. Public hearing for a second or subsequent minor subdivision from a tract of record.  Allowing for proper 
public notice, the Planning Board shall conduct a public hearing to review the application for a second or 
subsequent minor subdivision from a tract of record. (See: 76-3-501(1) and 76-3-605 (1), MCA) 

I. Planning Board recommendation. Within 10 days of the public meeting (in the case of a minor plat) or the 
public hearing (in the case of a second or minor subdivision from a tract of record), (unless the applicant 
consents in writing to an extension of the review period), the Planning Board after considering the comments 
and recommendations of the staff report shall make a recommendation to the City Commission, based on the 
decision criteria contained in this article, to either: 

1. approve the minor plat; or, 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 30 



  
 
 

 
  

 

  
 

    
 

  
  

  
 

  
  
 

 
    

 

  
 

  
 

 
   

 

 
 

     
 

  
  
 
 

    
 

   
 

   
  

 

 
   

 
 

   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

2. approve the minor plat with conditions; or, 
3. deny the minor plat. (See: 76-3-505 (2)(b), MCA) 

J. Consultation. If the City Commission intends on imposing conditions of approval to mitigate negative impacts 
that are different than and/or in excess of those voluntarily included in the application of record by the 
applicant, the commission shall consult with the applicant and give due weight and consideration to the 
expressed preference of the applicant. (See: 76-3-608(5)(b), MCA) 

K. City Commission decision. Within 35 days of the determination of completeness (unless the applicant consents 
in writing to an extension of the review period), the City Commission after considering the comments and 
recommendation of the Planning Board and after reviewing the staff report shall make a decision, based on the 
decision criteria contained in this article, to either: 

1. approve the minor plat; or, 
2. approve the minor plat with conditions; or, 
3. deny the minor plat. (See: 76-3-604 (2), MCA) 
The minor plat decision shall be prepared consistent with the requirements contained in this article. 

L. Applicant notification of decision. Within 5 days following the decision date, the City Commission decision 
on the minor plat shall be mailed to the applicant. 

17.16.26.030 Extension of review period 
A. Generally. Prior to the final decision of the City Commission, an applicant may request an extension to the  

review period if the applicant wishes to amend the application with new or different information. (See: 76-3-
604 (2), MCA)  

B. Procedure. If the City Commission approves the extension, the Planning Board will rehear the amended 
application with appropriate notice. If the requested change in the application is minor, the Planning 
Department shall simply notify the president of the Planning Board of the change. 

C. Extension requirements. Unless otherwise stated in writing, an extension request automatically extends the 
review period to 30 days beyond the date when the Planning Board hears the amended application. 

17.16.26.040 Basis of decision 
A. Generally. The Planning Board's recommendation and the City Commission’s decision to approve, 

conditionally approve, or deny an application shall be based on whether the application, preliminary plat or 
minor plat, environmental assessment and public hearing, if applicable, or additional information demonstrates 
that the proposed subdivision: 

1. meets the standards of this Title and the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act (Title 76, Chapter 3, MCA); 
2. is consistent with the City’s zoning regulations and covenants, if any (See: 76-3-608 (1), MCA); and 
3. is in the public interest. 

B. Review criteria. To determine whether the proposal would be in the public interest, the governing body shall 
weigh and make specific findings regarding each of the following criteria: 

1. effects on agriculture, including: effects on the agricultural sector, loss of agricultural ground, and effects 
on surrounding agricultural activities or practices; 

2. effects on agricultural water-user facilities; 
3. effects on local services, including: public road system, police and fire protection, utilities, and public 

schools; 
4. effects on the natural environment, including: riparian/wetland areas, soil erosion, vegetation  and air 

pollution, and noxious weeds; 
5. effects on wildlife and wildlife habitat, including: fisheries and mammals; and 
6. effects on public health and safety, including: police and fire protection, wildland fire hazard, traffic safety, 

and the presence of other known hazards (on-site and off-site) such as high-pressure natural gas lines; 
airports, railroads, overhead power lines,  industrial activities, mining activities, irrigation ditches, and 
defined dam inundation areas. 

In addition, the following criteria shall be weighed and supported by specific findings: 
1. compliance with the survey requirements of this Title and State law 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 31 



  
 
 

 
  

 

  
   
   

   
   

     
  

   
  

 
   

  
    

 
      
  
  
 
  
  
 
   

 
     

  
       

  
  
    

  
 

  

 
 

      
 

   
    
    
   

      
  

 
   
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

2. compliance with these regulations 
3. the provision of easements for the location and installation of any planned utilities 
4. the provision of legal and physical access to each parcel within the subdivision and the required notation of 

that access on the applicable plat and any instrument of transfer concerning the parcel 
C. Factors not considered. The following may not be considered in making a recommendation or decision: 

1. Effects on education, if it is the sole negative impact. However, the effects on education may be considered 
when there are other negative effects. (See: 76-3-608 (1), MCA) 

2. The failure of an agency to complete the review of the subdivision plat. (See: 76-3-504 (1)(h), MCA) 
3. Consistency with the growth policy, until the City Commission adopts a resolution requiring that 

subdivisions conform to the comprehensive plan.  (See: 76-1-606 (1), MCA) 
D. Mitigation of negative effects of subdivision. The City Commission may as a condition of approval require 

the applicant to reasonably mitigate potentially significant adverse impacts, if possible. It is recognized that 
there may be impacts which can not be sufficiently mitigated and would therefore preclude approval of the plat. 
(See: 76-3-608 (5), MCA) Such means to minimize the identified impacts may include the following: 

1. reduce the number of lots to allow an acceptable amount of impact, 
2. relocate or redesign a road(s), 
3. reconfigure a lot line(s), 
4. relocate or redesign an access point(s) to a private, county, or State road(s), 
5. require fencing to mitigate effects on neighboring properties, 
6. redesign other elements as appropriate, 
7. require appropriate infrastructure (on- and off-site) to support the development, and 
8. other actions as appropriate. (See: 76-3-608 (4), MCA) 
For major subdivisions, the Planning Board will  rehear the application allowing  for appropriate notice, if the 
required changes materially  deviate f rom the in itial preliminary plat application.   

17.16.26.050 Content of decision 
A. Content for approval. If the preliminary plat or minor plat is approved or conditionally approved, the decision 

shall at a minimum include the following: 
1. A statement that the preliminary plat or minor plat is approved and provides the conditions that apply to the 

approval, if any. 
2. A description of the project, including acreage and number of lots. 
3. Findings for the public interest assessment and that support the required mitigation, if any. (See: 76-3-608 

(2 & 4), MCA) 
4. Findings stating the consistency of the project with the City’s growth policy, neighborhood plans, zoning, 

and covenants, if any. 
5. Identification of the regulations and statutes used in reaching the decision to impose conditions and 

explaining how they apply to the decision to impose conditions. (See: 76-3-620 (2) MCA) 
6. Provision of the facts and conclusions relied upon to impose conditions, and reference of documents, 

testimony or other materials that form the basis of the decision. (See: 76-3-620 (3) MCA) 
7. A list of all materials that must be submitted for review of the final plat, to include an abstract of title for 

the property being subdivided.  (See: 76-3-604 (3) and 76-3-612, MCA) 
8. Specifications for the final plat, including the requirements for the survey in a digital format. 
9. A list of special features/statements, if any, that must be shown on the final plat. (See: 76-3-604 (3), MCA) 
10. Specifications and requirements for development improvements, if any. (See: 76-3-604 (3), MCA) 
11. The amount, if any, of land being dedicated or the cash being donated in fulfillment of the park dedication 

requirements. 
12. A statement that the preliminary plat decision and the decision to file the final plat may be appealed 

consistent with Section 76-3-625, MCA. (See: 76-3-620 (3), MCA) 
13. Date of the decision. 
14. A signature block for the authorized representative of the City Commission. (See: 76-3-604 (3), MCA) 
15. Signature blocks for appropriate reviewing departments authorizing the filing of the final plat. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 32 



  
 
 

 
  

 

      
     
  
   

  
 

   
   

  
   

   
    

 
      

 
   

 
   

  
   

    

   
    

    
  

 
   

 
   
      

 
 

 

     
   

 
 

    
   
   
    
     

    

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

B. Content for denial. If the preliminary plat or minor plat is denied, the decision shall include the following: 
1. A statement that the preliminary plat or minor plat is denied. 
2. A description of the project, including acreage and number of lots. 
3. Findings for the public interest assessment that support the decision. (See: 76-3-620 and 76-3-608 (2), 

MCA) 
4. Findings stating the consistency of the project with the City’s growth policy, neighborhood plans, zoning, 

and covenants, if any. 
5. Deficiencies in the preliminary plat or minor plat. 
6. Identification of the regulations and statutes used in reaching the decision to deny, and an explanation of 

how they apply to the decision to deny. (See: 76-3-630 (2) MCA) 
7. Provision of the facts and conclusions relied upon to deny, and reference of documents, testimony or other 

materials that form the basis of the decision. (See: 76-3-620 (3) MCA) 
8. A statement that the denial does not limit the applicant's ability to resubmit a revised preliminary plat or 

minor plat for consideration. 
9. A statement that the preliminary plat or minor plat decision and the decision to file the final plat may be 

appealed consistent with Section 76-3-625, MCA. (See: 76-3-620 (3), MCA) 
10. Date of the decision. 
11. A signature block for the authorized representative of the City Commission. (See: 76-3-604 (3), MCA) 

17.16.26.060 Concept plat form and content 
A. Preparation. The concept plat may be prepared by the applicant, land use planner, professional engineer, 

professional land surveyor, or other qualified individual. 
B. Format. The concept plat shall be legible showing the layout of proposed features in relation to existing 

conditions. 
C. Required content. The concept plat shall include, at a minimum, the information as listed in Appendix A. 

17.16.26.070 Preliminary or minor plat form and content (See: 76-3-504 (1)(c), MCA) 
A. Preparation. The preliminary plat or minor plat shall be prepared by a land use planner, professional engineer, 

or a professional land surveyor. 
B. Format. The preliminary plat or minor plat shall be prepared according to the following format: 

1. The page size shall be 24” x 36” or 18” x 24” (overall dimensions) to include a margin of 1½ inches on the 
binding (left) side and ½ inch on the remaining sides. 

2. Where multiple sheets are used, a cover sheet with index shall be included and each sheet shall show the 
number of that sheet and the total number of sheets included. 

3. The plat shall be legible showing all of the required information. 
4. The plat shall be prepared at a scale necessary to show the required information. In most cases, a scale of 1" 

= 50' is appropriate. 
C. Required content. The preliminary plat or minor plat shall include, at a minimum, the information as listed in 

Appendix A. 

17.16.26.080 Application form and content (See: 76-3-504 (1)(a), MCA) 
A. Preparation. In conjunction with appropriate consultants, the applicant shall prepare the preliminary plat or 

minor plat application. 
B. Required content. The application submittal shall include one copy of the following: 

1. agent authorization form 
2. subdivision questionnaire 
3. a preliminary plat or minor plat prepared consistent with this article  
4. a description of variances that are needed for the project 
5. a vicinity map (8½” x 11”) which shows the location of the subject property and the location and names of 

roads in the area  
6. preliminary engineering plans for public infrastructure, if necessary 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 33 



  
 
 

 
  

 

    
    
    

  
    

  
 

 

 
 

    
    
 
  
   

 

 
  

  
    

 
       

 

        
   

 
 

 
 

  
   

    
   

 
     

  
  

 
    

    

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

7. traffic impact analysis report, if required 
8. grading and drainage plan, if required 
9. a copy of existing easements, covenants, deed restrictions, or other similar restrictions that apply to the 

subject property 
C. Purpose. The subdivision application shall constitute the applicant's expressed preference for the subdivision 

and the proposed mitigation efforts that will be taken to minimize potentially significant adverse impacts. An 
applicant may amend the application up until the Planning Board makes a motion to approve, approve with 
conditions, or deny the subdivision. (See: 76-3-608 (5)(b), MCA) 

17.16.26.090 Staff report content 
At a minimum, the staff report shall contain the following: 

1. a summary of the comments received from the interdepartmental/agency review; 
2. findings for each of the decision criteria listed in this article; 
3. deficiencies in the preliminary plat or minor plat; 
4. a preliminary list of conditions if approval is recommended; and 
5. a recommendation to approve the application, approve it with conditions, or deny the application. (See: 76-

3-604, MCA) 

17.16.26.100 Environmental assessment 
Because the City has a growth policy adopted pursuant to State law, zoning regulations, and a strategy for 
development, maintenance, and replacement of public infrastructure pursuant to 76-1-601, MCA, an environmental 
assessment shall not be required of the applicant. (See: 76-3-210, MCA) 

17.16.26.110 Expiration of approval 
An approved preliminary plat shall expire 3 years after the date of decision unless an extended time period is agreed to 
by the applicant and the City Commission. (See: 76-3-610 (2), MCA) 

17.16.26.120 Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal 
with a court of competent jurisdiction within 30 days of the final decision. 

Article 27 
SUBDIVISION – FINAL PLAT 

Sections: 
17.16.27.010 Application and review procedure  
17.16.27.020 Basis of decision 
17.16.27.030 Content for denial  

17.16.27.040 Final plat form and content  
17.16.27.050 Application form and content  
17.16.27.060 Appeal 

17.16.27.010 Application and review procedure 
A. Submittal. Following approval of the preliminary plat but before the expiration date of the original preliminary 

plat decision or the extension thereto, the applicant shall submit all of the items as specified in the preliminary 
plat decision to the Planning Department along with the application fee as may be established by the City 
Commission. 

B. Staff review. Within 10 days of submittal, the Director of the Planning Department shall examine the submitted 
items and recommend approval only when they conform to the preliminary plat decision, the Montana 
Subdivision and Platting Act, and this Title. 

C. County treasurer review. The County Treasurer shall certify that all real property taxes and special 
assessments assessed and levied on the land to be subdivided have been paid. (See: 76-3-611 (1) (b), MCA) 

D. Clerk and recorder review. The County Clerk and Recorder shall examine the final plat to ensure that it 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 34 



  
 
 

 
  

 

        
  

   
   

   
   

 
  

    

 
  

   

 
  

 
   
   
    

   
    

 

   
    

     
    
    
   
    

 

    
   

   
    

  
 

      
   

 
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

conforms to the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act. The County Clerk and Recorder shall refuse to accept 
any  plat for record that is not in proper form.  

E. City attorney review. The City Attorney may review the title abstract or certificate of title and other elements 
of the final plat submittal as appropriate. (See: 76-3-612 (2), MCA) 

F. Planning Board recommendation on majors. The Planning Board shall review the final plat and provide a 
recommendation to the City Commission. 

G. City Commission decision. After considering the comments and recommendations of the Planning Board (only 
for majors), the City Commission shall review the final plat application and approve the plat or deny it based on 
the decision criteria as described in this part. 

H. Resubmittal of final plat. If the final plat is denied, the applicant may make the necessary corrections and 
resubmit the final plat for approval provided that it is resubmitted within the approval period of the preliminary 
plat. 

I. Filing of final plat. After approval of the final plat, the County Clerk and Recorder shall officially file the plat 
according to State law. 

17.16.27.020 Basis of decision 
Decisions to approve or deny an application shall be based on whether the application meets the standards and 
requirements of this Title, Montana law, and all aspects of the preliminary plat decision. 

17.16.27.030 Content for denial 
If the City Commission denies the final plat, it shall provide a written decision to the applicant which shall include the 
following: 

1. A statement that the final plat is denied. 
2. The reason(s) why the final plat is denied. 
3. A statement that the denial does not limit the applicant's ability to resubmit a revised final plat for 

consideration, provided it is resubmitted before the approval period of the preliminary plat expires. 
4. A statement that the decision to deny the submitted plat may be appealed consistent with Section 76-3-625, 

MCA. (See: 76-3-620 (3), MCA) 
5. Date of the decision. 

17.16.27.040 Final plat form and content (See: 76-3-504 (1)(c), MCA) 
A. Preparation. A professional land surveyor shall prepare the final plat.  All engineering plans, specifications, 

and reports, when included as part of the plat shall be prepared and certified by a professional engineer. 
B. Format. The final plat shall be prepared consistent with the requirements of the preliminary plat. 
C. Required content. The final plat shall include, at a minimum, the information as listed in Appendix A. 
D. Consistency with approved preliminary plat. The final plat shall conform to the preliminary plat decision. 
E. Consistency with uniform standards. The final plat shall comply with the Montana Uniform Standards for 

Final Subdivision Plats. (ARM 8.94.3003) 

17.16.27.050 Application form and content (See: 76-3-504 (1)(c), MCA) 
A. Generally. The application shall include all those elements as required by the preliminary plat decision. This 

shall include the survey in a digital format as specified by the Director of the Planning Department. 
B. Final plat as a portion of preliminary plat. The final plat may constitute a portion of the approved 

preliminary plat the subdivider wishes to file, provided that such portion conforms to all requirements of this 
Title and is approved by the City Commission in writing. 

17.16.27.060 Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal 
with a court of competent jurisdiction within 30 days of the final decision. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 35 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

  

 
  

 
  

 

 
 

 
  
   
     

    
 

 

    
 

  

   

       
   

 
 

 
 

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Article 28 
SUBDIVISION – FINAL SITE PLAN 

Note: For campgrounds and trailer parks, a site plan must be 
submitted and recorded with the City Clerk. A final subdivision plat 
is not filed since no lots are being created for transfer. 

Sections: 
17.16.28.010 Application and review procedure  
17.16.28.020 Basis of decision 
17.16.28.030 Content for  denial 

17.16.28.040 Final  plan form and content  
17.16.28.050 Appeal   

17.16.28.010  Application and review procedure  (See: 76-3-504 (1)(b), MCA)  
Application and review procedure for final site plans is the same as 17.16.26.010.  After approval of the plan, the plan 
shall be filed with the City Clerk. 

17.16.28.020 Basis of decision 
Decisions to approve or deny a final plan shall be based on whether it meets the standards and requirements of the 
Montana Subdivision and Platting Act and this Title.  

17.16.28.030 Content for denial 
If the City Commission denies the final plan, it shall provide a written decision to the applicant which shall include the 
following: 

1. A statement that the final plan is denied. 
2. The reason(s) why the final plan is denied. 
3. A statement that the denial does not limit the applicant's ability to resubmit a revised final plan for 

consideration. 
4. A statement that the decision to deny the submitted plan may be appealed consistent with 76-3-625, MCA. 

(See: 76-3-620 (3), MCA) 
5. Date of the decision. 

17.16.28.040 Final plan form and content (See: 76-3-504 (1)(c), MCA) 
A. Preparation. A professional land surveyor or professional engineer shall prepare the final plan. All engineering 

plans, specifications, and reports, when included as part of the plan shall be prepared and certified by a 
professional engineer. 

B. Required content. The final plan shall include, at a minimum, the information as listed in Appendix A. 

17.16.28.050 Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal 
with a court of competent jurisdiction within 30 days of the final decision. 

Article 29 
PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 

Sections: 
17.16.29.010 Generally  
17.16.29.020 Application and review procedure  
17.16.29.030 Extension of review period 
17.16.29.040 Imposition  of  conditions 
17.16.29.050 Basis of decision 

17.16.29.060 Application form and content  
17.16.29.070 Staff report content  
17.16.29.080 Effect of approval 
17.16.29.090 Appeal 
17.16.29.100 Changes in Planned Unit Development Formatted: Font: Bold 

Formatted: Font: Bold 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 36 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 
   

  
 

  

  
 

  
 
 

 
 

  
     

 
  

    
   

   
   

 
 

    

  
  

    
   

 
 

  
  

 
  

  
   
  

    
 

   
 

 

    
   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.16.29.010 Generally 
A planned unit development may be proposed as a subdivision or as a single development project with multiple 
buildings involving a homeowners or property owners association. When proposed as a subdivision, PUDs shall 
follow the procedures herein established. This article applies to single development projects resulting in a new zoning 
classification. 

17.16.29.020 Application and review procedure 
A. Pre-submittal meeting. Before submitting an application, the applicant or the applicant's agent shall meet with 

the Director of the Planning Department to: 
1. review applicable regulations and procedures; 
2. review applicable goals and objectives of the City’s growth policy and the applicable neighborhood plan(s), 

if any; and 
3. review the proposal. 
The pre-submittal meeting may, at the discretion of the director and concurrence of the applicant or the 
applicant's agent, be  held via telephone conference. Prior to the conference, any preliminary  drawings and m aps 
shall be submitted to the director. A representative  from the Community  Development  Department, Public 
Works Department, Fire Department, and other City  departments as appropriate should participate in  this 
preliminary discussion. 

B. Neighborhood council contact recommended. Prior to submitting an application, the applicant should meet 
with representatives of the neighborhood council in which the project is located to present the project and solicit 
feedback. 

C. Submittal of application. The applicant shall submit an application to the Planning Department along with the 
application fee as may be established by the City Commission. 

D. Determination of completeness. Within 10 days, but not sooner than 4 days, of submittal, the director shall 
determine whether the proposed application is complete or incomplete and notify the applicant of any 
deficiencies.  If the application is incomplete, the applicant has 6 months to resubmit the application or forfeit 
the application fee. The director shall take no further steps to process the application until the deficiencies are 
remedied. 

E. Schedule date of review. Following a determination of completeness, the director shall schedule a public 
hearing with the Zoning Commission allowing for proper public notice. 

F. Notice. Consistent with Article 4 of this chapter, the director shall provide for public notice, neighborhood 
council notification, property owner notification, agency notification, and posting of a sign on the premises. 

G. Staff report. The director shall prepare a written staff report as described in this article and mail it to each 
member of the Zoning Commission, the applicant, and the applicant’s agent, if any, no later than 3 days prior to 
the public hearing. He/she shall also provide a copy to interested people upon request. 

H. Public hearing. The Zoning Commission shall conduct a public hearing to review the application.  
I. Zoning Commission/Planning Board recommendation. Within 10 days of the public hearing (unless the 

applicant consents in writing to an extension of the review period), the Zoning Commission after considering 
the comments and recommendations of the staff report shall make a recommendation to the City Commission, 
based on the decision criteria contained in this article to either: 

1. approve the planned unit development, 
2. approve the planned unit development with conditions, or 
3. deny the planned unit development. 

J. City Commission public hearing.  Allowing for proper public notice, the City Commission shall conduct a 
public hearing to consider the application. 

K. City Commission decision. Within 10 days of the public hearing (unless the applicant consents in writing to an 
extension of the review period), the City Commission after considering the comments and recommendation of 
the Zoning Commission and after reviewing the staff report shall make a decision, based on the decision criteria 
contained in this article, to either: 

1. approve the planned unit development, 
2. approve the planned unit development with conditions, or 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 37 



  
 
 

 
  

 

  

  
  

 
  

   
  

 
    

 
    

  

 

  
   

   
    
      

 
 

   
 

     
  

    
 

  
   

 

   

    
    
      

 
  

   
    
  
  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

3. deny the planned unit development. 
The decision shall be prepared consistent with the  requirements contained in this  article.  

17.16.29.030 Extension of review period 
A. Generally. Prior to the final decision of the City Commission, an applicant may request an extension to the 

review period if the applicant wishes to amend the application with new or different information. 
B. Procedure. If the City Commission approves the extension, the Zoning Commission will rehear the amended 

application with appropriate notice. 
C. Extension requirements. Unless otherwise stated in writing, an extension request automatically extends the 

review period to 30 days beyond the date when the Zoning Commission hears the amended application. 

17.16.29.040  Imposition of conditions 
The Zoning Commission may recommend and the City Commission may impose such conditions and restrictions as 
may be necessary to grant approval. Such conditions and restrictions may relate to the establishment, location, 
construction, maintenance, and operation of the use. In addition, the City Commission may require the provision of 
off-site exactions that may be necessary to approve the application. 

17.16.29.050 Basis of decision 
The Zoning Commission’s recommendation and the City Commission’s decision to approve, conditionally approve, 
or deny an application shall be based on whether the application, staff report, public hearing, the Zoning 
Commission’s recommendation, or additional information demonstrates that each of the following criteria have been 
satisfied: 

1. The development project is consistent with the City’s growth policy; 
2. The development project is consistent with applicable neighborhood plans, if any; 
3. The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the development project will not be detrimental to, or 

endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare; 
4. The development project will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within the 
neighborhood; 

5. The development project will not impede the normal and orderly development and improvement of the 
surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 

6. The proposed design of the building and other structures are compatible with the desired character of the 
neighborhood; 

7. Adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being provided;  
8. Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so as to minimize traffic 

congestion in the public streets. 

17.16.29.060 Application form and content 
The application submittal shall include the following: 

1. an application form as may be used; 
2. a site plan prepared at an appropriate scale and containing the information listed in Appendix A; and 
3. a list of variances and design waivers, requested or granted, that are relevant to the application. 

17.16.29.070 Staff report content 
At a minimum, the staff report shall contain the following information: 

1. a summary of the comments received from the interdepartmental/agency review; 
2. findings for each of the decision criteria listed in this article; 
3. a preliminary list of conditions if approval is recommended; and 
4. a recommendation to approve the application, approve it with conditions, or deny the application. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 38 



  
 
 

 
  

 

  
  

        
   

 

   

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

 
 

  
 

 

    

 
  

  

 
    

 
  

 

    
     

   

        
  

 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.16.29.080 Effect of approval 
If the City Commission approves the application, the approval shall run with the land and be binding on all subsequent 
property owners. 

17.16.29.090 Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal 
with a court of competent jurisdiction within 30 days of the final decision. 

17.16.29.100  Changes in Planned Unit  Development  
A Planned Unit Development shall be developed only according to the approved final plan and all supporting data.  
The final plan and supporting data together with all recorded amendments shall be binding on the applicants, their 
successors, grantees, and assigns, and shall limit and control the use of premises (including the internal use of 
buildings and structures) and location of structures in the Planned Unit Development as set forth therein. 
A. Major Changes. Major changes in the plan of development or supporting data similarly approved shall be 

considered the same as a new petition, and reapplication shall be made in accordance with the procedures 
for a new application.  Major changes include increase in density, heights of buildings, change in location 
and types of nonresidential land uses, changes in road standards or alignment, changes in the location 
and/or amount of land devoted to open space, parks or other common facilities. 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering 

B. Minor Changes. Minor changes may be approved by the zoning administrator or Planning  Director 
following approval  of such change  by  the appropriate property owners’ association if applicable.  Minor 
changes are defined as any change not defined as  a major  change.  

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering 

Article 30 
CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY 

Sections: 
17.16.30.010 Certificate  required  

17.16.30.020 Basis of decision 

17.16.30.030 Issuance of a certificate when partially  
complete 

17.16.30.040 Appeal 

17.16.30.010 Certificate required 
No newly constructed building shall be occupied until such time as a certificate of occupancy has been issued, in 
accordance with the current adopted edition of the International Building Code. 

17.16.30.020 Basis of decision 
The Director of Community Development may withhold issuance of a certificate of occupancy when the available 
evidence shows the structure and associated development does not meet the standards and requirements of this Title, 
the current adopted edition of the International Building Code or other laws and ordinances of the City of Great Falls 
and State of Montana that may apply. 

17.16.30.030 Issuance of a certificate when partially complete 
The Director of Community Development may at his/her discretion issue a certificate of occupancy for that area of the 
building that has been completed, according to the current adopted edition of the International Building Code and 
other laws and ordinances of the City of Great Falls and State of Montana that may apply. 

17.16.30.040 Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal 
with the Board of Adjustment within 30 days of the final decision. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 39 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 
 

 

 
 

  
  

 
  

   

 

     

     
 

 
  

     
  

  

    
    

  
   

 

    
 

  
   

  
   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Article 32 
VARIANCE 

Note: As described in this article, the City Commission is 
responsible for considering those variances relating to the 
subdivision regulations and the Board of Adjustment considers all 
others. 

Sections: 
17.16.32.010 Legislative findings 
17.16.32.020 Application and review procedure for  
  variances that do not relate to  the  

subdivision regulations 
17.16.32.030 Application and review procedure for  

variances that relate to the subdivision  
regulations 

17.16.32.040 Basis of decision for a dimensional 
variance 

17.16.32.050 Additional findings  for a floodplain 
variance 

17.16.32.060 Vote needed f or Board of Adjustment  
action 

17.16.32.070 Limitations on issuing a variance  
17.16.32.080 Imposition  of  conditions 

17.16.32.090 Airport height variances 
17.16.32.100 Notifications regarding specified 

variances 

17.16.32.110 Staff report content 

17.16.32.120 Effect of approval  

17.16.32.130 Expiration of approval  

17.16.32.140 Appeal  

17.16.32.010  Legislative findings 
The City Commission makes the following findings: 

1. There may be instances where certain requirements of this Title that if enforced would cause unnecessary 
hardship to individual landowners. 

2. Minor deviations from this Title may help to alleviate those unnecessary hardships without circumventing 
or undermining the intent of this Title. 

17.16.32.020  Application and review procedure for variances that do not relate to the subdivision 
regulations 

A. Submittal of application.  The applicant shall submit a completed application to the Community Development 
Department along with the application fee as may be established by the City Commission.  

B. Determination of completeness. Within 10 days of submittal, the Director of Community Development shall 
determine if the application is complete. If the application is deemed incomplete, it shall be returned to the 
applicant and the applicant has 6 months to resubmit the application or forfeit the application fee. The director 
shall take no further steps to process the application until the deficiencies are remedied. 

C. Notice. Consistent with Article 4 of this chapter, the director shall provide for public notice, property owner 
notification, and agency notification. 

D. Staff report. The director shall prepare a written staff report as described in this article and mail it to each 
member of the Board of Adjustment, the applicant, and the applicant’s agent, if any, no later than 3 days prior 
to the public hearing. He/she shall also provide a copy to interested people upon request. 

E. DNRC notification of application. If the variance is related to the floodplain regulations, the floodplain 
administrator shall send a copy of the application to the Montana Department of Natural Resources and 
Conservation, Floodplain Management Section. 

F. Public hearing. Allowing for proper notice, the Board of Adjustment shall hold a public hearing to review the 
application. 

G. Decision. Within 30 days of the determination of completeness, the Board of Adjustment shall approve the 
application, approve it with conditions, or deny it. Such decision shall be in writing and shall include the 
findings in support of its decision and if approved any conditions as may be imposed. 

H. DNRC notification of decision. If the variance is related to the floodplain regulations, the floodplain 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 40 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 

        
   

  

  
    

     
 

 
  

     
    

  
   

 
   

  
     

   
    

   
 

     
 

   
   

  
   

   

 
 

   
 
   

  
   

   
  
    

 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

administrator shall send a copy of the decision to the Montana Department of Natural Resources and 
Conservation, Floodplain Management Section. 

I. Applicant notification. Within 5 days following the decision, the director shall mail the applicant the original 
(signed) copy of the decision and retain a copy for the public record. 

J. Additional procedural steps. If the board grants the variance, the applicant shall then follow other review 
procedures as may be required. 

17.16.32.030 Application and review procedure for variances that relate to the subdivision regulations 
A. Submittal of application.  The applicant shall submit a completed application to the Planning Department 

along with the application fee as may be established by the City Commission. for subdivision as provided in 
Article 26 of this chapter.  

B. Determination of completeness. Within 10 days of submittal, the Director of the Planning Department shall 
determine if the application is complete. If the application is deemed incomplete, it shall be returned to the 
applicant and the applicant has 6 months to resubmit the application or forfeit the application fee. The director 
shall take no further steps to process the application until the deficiencies are modified. Procedure. The 
application for variance shall be processed simultaneously and as a part of the application for subdivision as 
provided in Article 26 of this chapter including staff report, Planning Board recommendation and City 
Commission decision. 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

C. Notice. Consistent with Article 4 of this chapter, the director shall provide for public notice, property owner 
notification, agency notification, and posting of a sign on the premises. 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

D. Staff report. The director shall prepare a written staff report as described in this article and mail it to each 
member of the City Commission, the applicant, and the applicant’s agent, if any, no later than 3 days prior to 
the public hearing. He/she shall also provide a copy to interested people upon request. 

E. Public hearing. Allowing for proper notice, the City Commission shall hold a public hearing to review the 
application. 

F. Decision. Within 30 days of the determination of completeness, the City Commission shall approve the 
application, approve it with conditions, or deny it. Such decision shall be in writing and shall include the 
findings in support of its decision and if approved any conditions as may be imposed. 

G. Applicant notification. Within 5 days following the decision, the director shall mail the applicant the original 
(signed) copy of the decision and retain a copy for the public record. 

H. Additional procedural steps. If the City Commission grants the variance, the applicant shall then follow other 
review procedures as may be required. 

17.16.32.040  Basis of decision for a dimensional variance 
A dimensional variance shall only be granted when the evidence shows and a finding can be made that each of the 
following conditions exists: 

1. The variance is not contrary to the public interest. 
2. A literal enforcement would result in unnecessary hardship, owing to conditions unique to the property. 
3. The spirit of this Title would be observed and substantial justice done by granting the variance. 

17.16.32.050  Additional findings necessary for a floodplain variance 
In addition to the general findings required above, the following findings shall apply to variances from floodplain 
requirements: 

1. The proposed use will be adequately floodproofed. 
2. A reasonable alternate location outside the floodplain is not available. 
3. The granting of the variance will not cause increased flood hazards, present additional threats to public 

safety, create an extraordinary public expense, create a nuisance, or otherwise conflict with federal, State, or 
other local laws. 

17.16.32.060  Vote needed for Board of Adjustment action 
The concurring vote of 4 members shall be necessary to approve a variance. (See: 76-2-324, MCA) 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 41 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 

 
  
  
 

 
  

  

 
     

  
  

 
   

 

 
  

   
   
  
  

  
    

  

 
   

        
   

 
 

 
 

 

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.16.32.070 Limitations on issuing a variance 
The following actions shall not be allowed by a variance: 

1. expansion of a nonconforming use 
2. modification to lot or other requirements so as to increase the permitted density or intensity of use 
3. any project within a floodway that increases flood velocities or elevations 
4. allow an amortized sign to continue 

17.16.32.080  Imposition of conditions 
In approving a variance, the Board of Adjustment or City Commission may impose such conditions and restriction as 
may be necessary to grant approval. 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

17.16.32.090 Airport height variances 
If a variance to the height restrictions for the Great Falls International Airport is granted, the City may require the 
applicant to permit the City, at its expense to install, operate, and maintain the lights and markers necessary to warn 
pilots of the presence of the an airport hazard. (See: 67-4-314, MCA) 

 17.16.32.100  Notifications regarding specified variances  
If a variance is granted to allow construction of a structure below the 100-year floodplain elevation, the floodplain 
administrator shall notify the applicant that flood insurance premium rates may be higher than normal and such 
construction increases risks to life and property. 

17.16.32.110 Staff report content 
At a minimum, the staff report shall contain the following information: 

1. a summary of the comments received from the interdepartmental/agency review; 
2. findings for each of the decision criteria listed in this article; 
3. a preliminary list of conditions if approval is recommended; and 
4. a recommendation to approve the application, approve it with conditions, or deny the application. 

17.16.32.120 Effect of approval 
An approved variance merely sets aside the rule or regulation from which relief is sought. All other rules and 
regulations not part of the variance decision must be followed. 

17.16.32.130 Expiration of approval 
The variance shall expire one year after the date of issuance unless substantial work has commenced under the permit 
and continues in good faith to completion. 

17.16.32.140 Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal 
with a court of competent jurisdiction within 30 days of the final decision. (See: 76-2-327 (1), MCA) 

Article 34 
ADMINISTRATIVE APPEAL 

Sections: 
17.16.34.010 Generally  
17.16.34.020 Application and review procedure  
17.16.34.030 Vote needed f or board action 

17.16.34.040 Effect of appeal  
17.16.34.050 Appeal 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 42 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 
    

 

   
     

   
   

  
   

   
 

 
 

     
 

    

  
   

 

 
  

 
    

  
  

 
     

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.16.34.010 Generally 
Any person aggrieved by a decision of an administrative official may file an appeal with the Board of Adjustment 
consistent with this part. 

17.16.34.020 Application and review procedure 
A. Submittal of appeal. The applicant shall submit a written appeal to the Director of Community Development 

within 2 months of the date of the decision being appealed. 
B. Notification of appeal. The director shall provide a copy of the appeal to the Board of Adjustment and the 

officer who made the decision being appealed or who allegedly failed to act as required. 
C. Compilation and submittal of record. The officer who made the decision being appealed or who allegedly 

failed to act as required shall compile a complete and accurate record relating to the same and submit it to the 
Board of Adjustment. 

D. Public hearing. Allowing for proper public notice and notice to the parties in interest, the board shall conduct 
a public hearing to hear the appeal and consider the written record and testimony as may be provided. 

E. Decision. Within 45 days of the public hearing, the board shall decide to affirm the administrative decision, set 
aside the decision, or modify the decision. 

F. Notification of decision.  The board shall notify in writing both the applicant and the officer of its final 
decision. 

17.16.34.030  Vote needed for board action 
The concurring vote of 4 board members shall be necessary to reverse any administrative decision. (See: 76-2-324, 
MCA) 

17.16.34.040  Effect of appeal 
An appeal shall stay all legal proceedings in furtherance of the action from which appeal is made, unless the officer 
from whom the appeal is taken certifies to the board that by reason of facts stated in the certificate a stay would, in his 
or her opinion, cause imminent peril to life or property. In such case, proceedings shall not be stayed otherwise than 
by a restraining order which may be granted by the board or by a court of record on application, with notice to the 
officer from whom appeal is made, and on due cause shown. (See: 76-2-326 (3), MCA) 

17.16.34.050  Appeal 
Within 30 days of the final decision made pursuant to this article, the applicant and/or an aggrieved person may file an 
appeal with a court of competent jurisdiction.  (See: 76-2-327 (1), MCA) 

Article 36 
CONDITIONAL USE 

Sections: 
17.16.36.010 Generally  
17.16.36.020 Application and review procedure  
17.16.36.030 Extension of review period 
17.16.36.040 Basis of decision 
17.16.36.050 Imposition  of  conditions 

17.16.36.060 Application form and content  

17.16.36.070 Staff report content 
17.16.36.080 Content of decision 
17.16.36.090 Effect of  approval 
17.16.36.100 Expiration of approval 
17.16.36.110 Subsequent modifications and  

additions 
17.16.36.120 Appeal  

17.16.36.010 Generally 
Although each zoning district is primarily intended for a predominant type of use, there are a number of uses which 
may be appropriate under certain conditions. These are referred to as conditional uses and are listed in Chapter 20 of 
this Title for each of the districts. This article describes the requirements and procedures for reviewing conditional 
uses. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 43 



  
 
 

 
  

 

  
 

  
 
 

 
 

  
    

 
  

    
   

    
  

 
 

    

  
  

    
  

 
    

   
  

  
  
  

      
 

  
 

 

  
  
  

  
  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.16.36.020 Application and review procedure 
A. Pre-submittal meeting. Before submitting an application, the applicant or the applicant's agent shall meet with 

the Director of the Planning Department to: 
1. review applicable regulations and procedures; 
2. review applicable goals and objectives of the City’s growth policy and the applicable neighborhood plan(s), 

if any; and 
3. review the proposal. 
The pre-submittal meeting may, at the discretion of the director and concurrence of the applicant or the 
applicant's agent, be  held via telephone conference. Prior to the conference, any preliminary  drawings and m aps 
shall be submitted to the director. A representative  from the Community  Development Department, Public 
Works Department, Fire Department, and other City  departments as appropriate should participate in  this 
preliminary discussion. 

B. Neighborhood council contact recommended. Prior to submitting an application, the applicant should meet 
with representatives of the neighborhood council in which the project is located to present the project and solicit 
feedback. 

C. Submittal of application. The applicant shall submit an application to the Planning Department along with the 
application fee as may be established by the City Commission. 

D. Determination of completeness. Within 10 days, but not sooner than 4 days, of submittal, the director shall 
determine whether the proposed application is complete or incomplete and notify the applicant of any 
deficiencies. If the application is incomplete, the applicant has 6 months to resubmit the application or forfeit 
the application fee. The director shall take no further steps to process the application until the deficiencies are 
remedied. 

E. Schedule date of review. Following a determination of completeness, the director shall schedule a public 
hearing with the Zoning Commission allowing for proper public notice. 

F. Notice. Consistent with Article 4 of this chapter, the director shall provide for public notice, neighborhood 
council notification, property owner notification, agency notification, and posting of a sign on the premises. 

G. Staff report. The director shall prepare a written staff report as described in this article and mail it to each 
member of the Zoning Commission, the applicant, and the applicant’s agent, if any, no later than 3 days prior to 
the public hearing. He/she shall also provide a copy to interested people upon request. 

H. Public hearing. The Zoning Commission shall conduct a public hearing to review the application.  
I. Zoning commission recommendation. Within 10 days of the public hearing (unless the applicant consents in 

writing to an extension of the review period), the Zoning Commission after considering the comments and 
recommendations of the staff report shall make a recommendation to the City Commission, based on the 
decision criteria contained in this article, to either: 

1. approve the conditional use permit, 
2. approve the conditional use permit with conditions, or 
3. deny the conditional use permit. 

J. City commission public hearing. Allowing for proper public notice, the City Commission shall conduct a 
public hearing to consider the application. 

K. City commission decision. Within 10 days of the public hearing (unless the applicant consents in writing to an 
extension of the review period), the City Commission after considering the comments and recommendation of 
the Zoning Commission and after reviewing the staff report shall make a decision, based on the decision criteria 
contained in this article, to either: 

1. approve the conditional use permit, 
2. approve the conditional use permit with conditions, or 
3. deny the conditional use permit. 
The decision shall be prepared consistent with the  requirements contained in this article.  

17.16.36.030 Extension of review period 
A. Generally. Prior to the final decision of the City Commission, an applicant may request an extension to the 

review period if the applicant wishes to amend the application with new or different information. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 44 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 
  

   
  

 

   

   
       

  
  

   

   
  

  
   

 
    

    

 
    

 
    

   

    
     
     

 
  

   
    
  
   

 
 

   
  
  
    

    
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

B. Procedure. If the City Commission approves the extension, the Zoning Commission will rehear the amended 
application with appropriate notice. 

C. Extension requirements. Unless otherwise stated in writing, an extension request automatically extends the 
review period to 30 days beyond the date when the Zoning Commission hears the amended application. 

17.16.36.040 Basis of decision 
The Zoning Commission’s recommendation and the City Commission’s decision to approve, conditionally approve, 
or deny an application shall be based on whether the application, staff report, public hearing, Zoning Commission 
recommendation, or additional information demonstrates that each of the following criteria have been satisfied: 

1. The conditional use is consistent with the City’s growth policy and applicable neighborhood plans, if any. 
2. The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the conditional use will not be detrimental to, or endanger 

the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 
3. The conditional use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within the 
neighborhood. 

4. The conditional use will not impede the normal and orderly development and improvement of the 
surrounding property for uses permitted in the district. 

5. Adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being provided. 
6. Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so as to minimize traffic 

congestion in the public streets. 
7. The conditional use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which 

it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the City Commission. 

17.16.36.050  Imposition of conditions 
The Zoning Commission may recommend and the City Commission may impose such conditions and restrictions as 
may be necessary to grant approval. Such conditions and restrictions may relate to the establishment, location, 
construction, maintenance, operation of the use, off-site impacts, and any other aspect of the use that impacts the 
public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare. 

17.16.36.060 Application form and content 
The application submittal shall include the following: 

1. an application form as may be used; 
2. a site plan prepared at a scale of 1” = 20’ and containing the information listed in Appendix A; and 
3. a list of variances and design waivers, requested or granted, that are relevant to the application. 

17.16.36.070 Staff report content 
At a minimum, the staff report shall contain the following information: 

1. a summary of the comments received from the interdepartmental/agency review; 
2. findings for each of the decision criteria listed in this article; 
3. a preliminary list of conditions if approval is recommended; and 
4. a recommendation to approve the application, approve it with conditions, or deny the application. 

17.16.36.080 Content of decision 
If the application is denied, the decision shall include the following: 

1. A statement that the application is denied. 
2. A description of the project, including acreage and proposed use characteristics. 
3. Findings for each of the decision criteria. 
4. A statement indicating that the denial does not limit the applicant's ability to resubmit a revised application 

for consideration. 
5. A statement that the decision may be appealed to a court of competent jurisdiction. 
6. Date of the decision. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 45 



  
 
 

 
  

 

  
  

 
  

 
    

      
  

       
  
  

 
        

   
  
 

 
 

 

  
  

  
 

 
   
    
  

 
 

 
  

  

  
    

  
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.16.36.090 Effect of approval 
If the City Commission approves a conditional use, the permit shall be considered a covenant that runs with the land 
and shall be binding on all subsequent property owners. 

17.16.36. 100 Expiration of approval 
A. Non-establishment. The conditional use permit shall expire one year after the date of issuance unless 

substantial work has commenced under the permit and continues in good faith to completion. 
B. Nonuse. If a conditional use is established, but ceases to operate for more than 6 months, the conditional use 

permit shall expire. 

17.16.36.110 Subsequent modifications and additions 
If after establishment of a conditional use, the owner proposes to expand or modify the use, buildings, and/or 
structures, the Director of the Planning Department shall determine in writing if such proposed change would alter the 
finding for one or more review criteria. If such proposed change would alter a finding, the proposal shall be submitted 
for review as a new conditional use application. If such proposed change would not alter a finding, the owner shall 
obtain all other permits as may be required. 

17.16.36.120  Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal 
with a court of competent jurisdiction within 30 days of the final decision. 

Article 38 
CODE INTERPRETATION 

Sections: 
17.16.38.010 Responsibility  for interpretation 
17.16.38.020 Limitations on interpretations  
17.16.38.030 Application and review procedure  

17.16.38.040 Basis of decision  
17.16.38.050 Effect of interpretation 
17.16.38.060 Appeal  

17.16.38.010 Responsibility for interpretation  
In the event a question arises concerning any provision or the application of any provision of this Title, the following 
individuals shall be responsible for rendering a written interpretation for the specified provisions. Due to overlaying 
responsibilities, joint interpretation may be required for all other provisions of this Title. 

1. Floodplain administrator – floodplain regulations 
2. Historic preservation officer – regulations concerning historic structures and buildings 
3. Director of Public Works – regulations concerning erosion control and stormwater management 
4. Director of Planning – regulations concerning land use, subdivision and platting, airport district and 

neighborhood district 
5. Director of Community Development – regulations concerning design review, parking, hillside 

development, signs, outdoor lighting, landscaping 

17.16.38.020 Limitations on interpretations 
The responsibility for interpretation shall not be construed as overriding the responsibilities specifically given to any 
commission, board, or official named in other parts of this Title. 

17.16.38.030 Application and review procedure 
A. Submittal of question. The individual requesting the interpretation shall submit the question in writing to the 

Director of the Planning Department. 
B. Decision. The director shall determine the appropriate individual responsible for such interpretation and 

forward a copy of the question to that individual. The individual responsible for rendering the interpretation 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 46 



  
 
 

 
  

 

    
  

 
   

 

 
 

    
   

  
 

 
  

   
   

 
 

    
  

 
 

  

  
       

   
 

   
   

  
 

  
  

  
   

 
  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

shall make a  written decision within 15 days  of receiving the request.  However, if  an  administrative fee  has 
been established, payment may be required before an interpretation is rendered.  

C. Notification of decision. The individual responsible for rendering the interpretation shall send a copy of the 
interpretation to the individual requesting the interpretation and to any board, commission, employee, and 
official involved in the administration of this Title, as appropriate. 

D. Permanent record. The individual rendering the interpretation shall send a copy of the interpretation to the 
director who shall keep a written record of all interpretations and make them available for public inspection. 

17.16.38.040 Basis of decision 
In consultation with the City Attorney and others as appropriate, the individual responsible for rendering the 
interpretation shall evaluate the provision(s) in question; consider the overall intent of the code; review the findings 
and purpose statements as appropriate; and review other applicable interpretations that have been made, and make a 
decision giving the code its most reasonable application. If the code is unclear to the extent a reasonable interpretation 
cannot be made, the individual responsible for rendering the decision shall make such a determination and notify the 
City Commission. 

17.16.38.050 Effect of interpretation 
An interpretation once rendered shall have full effect as if set forth in this Title. Where appropriate, interpretations 
should be addressed through the amendment process. 

17.16.38.060 Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may, without time constraint, appeal an interpretation made pursuant to this 
article by filing an appeal with the Board of Adjustment. 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

Formatted: Font color: Red 

Article 40 
AMENDMENT TO CHAPTER 20 LAND USE AND THE ZONING MAP TITLE 17, RELATIVE TO 

SUBDIVISIONS AND/OR ZONING 

Sections: 
17.16.40.010 Generally  
17.16.40.020 Application and review procedure for  

map amendments 
17.16.40.030 Basis of decision 
17.16.40.040 Vote if protested 

17.16.40.050 Application content 
17.16.40.060 Staff report content 

17.16.40.070 Appeal 

17.16.40.010  Generally 
From time to time it may be necessary to amend the text of Chapter 20 of this Title  relative to subdivisions and/or 
zoning, and the associated zoning map, provided the amendment is consistent with the City’s growth policy, 
neighborhood plans, and other officially adopted plans. 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

17.16.40.020  Application and review procedure for map amendments 
A. Submittal of application. The applicant shall submit a complete application to the Planning Department along 

with the application fee as may be established by the City Commission. 
B. Determination of completeness. Within 10 days of submittal, the Director of the Planning Department shall 

determine whether the submittal is complete or incomplete and notify the applicant, in writing, of any 
deficiencies. The director shall take no further steps to process the application until the deficiencies are 
remedied. 

C. Determination of review authority. The director shall determine the appropriate review authority. If the 
amendment is intended to amend the text of this Title as it relates to the subdivision of land, the Planning Board 
shall hear the amendment and render a recommendation to the City Commission. The Zoning Commission shall 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 47 



  
 
 

 
  

 

    
 

      
 

  
 

   
  

   
   

   
    

   
    

   
 

 
  

 
     

  
  

  
       

 
   

 
    

   
 

 
 

 
  
  
   

 
  
    

  
     

 
 

  
  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

hear all other amendments relating to zoning.  
D. Transmittal of application to Zoning Commission / Planning Board. The director shall forward one copy of 

the application to each member of the Zoning Commission or the Planning Board as appropriate. 
E. Notice for single-parcel map amendment. Consistent with Article 4 of this chapter, the director shall provide 

for public notice, neighborhood council notification, property owner notification, agency notification, and 
posting of a sign on the premises. 

F. Notice for multiple-parcel map amendment. Consistent with Article 4 of this chapter, the director shall 
provide for public notice, neighborhood council notification, and agency notification. 

G. Notice for text amendment. Consistent with Article 4 of this chapter, the director shall provide for public 
notice and agency notification. 

H. Neighborhood council contact recommended. If the amendment involves a change in zoning designation for 
a single parcel, the applicant should meet with representatives of the neighborhood council in which the project 
is located to present the project and solicit feedback. 

I. Interdepartmental/agency review. The director shall forward one copy of the application to appropriate City 
personnel and other local units of government that would be directly effected by the proposed amendment. 

J. Staff report. The director shall prepare a written staff report as described in this article and mail it to each 
member of the Zoning Commission / Planning Board, the applicant, and the applicant’s agent, if any, at least 3 
days prior to the first public hearing. He/she shall also provide a copy to interested people upon request. 

K. First public hearing. Allowing for proper public notice, the Zoning Commission / Planning Board shall 
conduct a public hearing to review the application, written comments received from the 
interdepartmental/agency review, and the staff report and to accept public comment on the application. 

L. Recommendation. The Zoning Commission / Planning Board shall make a written recommendation to the City 
Commission to either: deny the proposed amendment; or approve the proposed amendment without revision; or 
approve the proposed amendment with revision(s) it deems appropriate. Such revisions to the proposed 
amendment shall be limited in scope to those matters considered in the public meeting. 

M. Second public hearing. The City Commission shall hold a public hearing, allowing for proper public notice, to 
consider the proposed amendment. 

N. City commission decision. After reviewing the application, written comments received from the public, the 
interdepartmental/agency review, the staff report, and the Zoning Commission's / Planning Board’s 
recommendation, the City Commission shall make a decision to either: deny the proposed amendment; or 
approve the proposed amendment without revision; or approve the amendment with revision(s) that it deems 
appropriate.  Such revisions to the proposed amendment shall be limited in scope to those matters considered in 
the public hearing. 

17.16.40.030  Basis of decision 
The Zoning Commission’s / Planning Board’s recommendation and the City Commission’s decision shall at a 
minimum consider the following criteria: 

1. The amendment is consistent with and furthers the intent of the City’s growth policy; 
2. The amendment is consistent with and furthers adopted neighborhood plans, if any; 
3. The amendment is consistent with other planning documents adopted by the City Commission, including 

the river corridor plan, transportation plan, and sub-area plans. 
4. The code with the amendment is internally consistent; 
5. The amendment is the least restrictive approach to address issues of public health, safety, and welfare; 
6. The City has or will have the financial and staffing capability to administer and enforce the amendment. 

17.16.40.040 Vote if protested 
An amendment relating to the zoning provisions of this Title may not become effective except upon a favorable vote 
of 2/3 of the present and voting members of the City Commission if a protest against the amendment is signed by the 
owners of 25 percent or more of: 

1. the area of the lots included in any proposed change; or 
2. those lots 150 feet from a lot included in a proposed change. (See 76-2-305 (2), MCA) 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 48 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 
   

   
  
    
  
 
  
 

  
 
  
 

  
   
    
  
   

 

        
   

 
 

 
 

  

  
    
 

 
   

  
   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.16.40.050  Application content 
A. Landowner-initiated rezoning. An application for a land-owner initiated rezoning shall include the following: 

1. a completed application form; 
2. a scaled drawing of the subject property; 
3. a legal description for each of the parcels in the subject property; 
4. a map of the existing land uses occurring on and around the subject property; 
5. a written description of the proposed change; 
6. a written statement outlining the reason(s) for the amendment; 
7. other supporting information the applicant deems appropriate. 

B. Other amendments. For all other types of amendments, the application shall include the following: 
1. a written description of the proposed change; 
2. a written statement outlining the reason(s) for the amendment; 
3. other supporting information the applicant deems appropriate. 

17.16.40.060  Staff report content 
At a minimum, the staff report shall contain the following information: 

1. a summary of the comments received from the interdepartmental/agency review; 
2. findings for each of the decision criteria listed in this article; 
3. a preliminary list of conditions if approval is recommended; 
4. a recommendation to approve the amendment, approve the amendment with revision, or deny the 

amendment. 

17.16.40.070 Appeal 
The applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal 
with a court of competent jurisdiction within 30 days of the final decision. 

Article 46 
ENFORCEMENT 

Sections: 
17.16.46.010 Legislative findings 
17.16.46.020 Authority for enforcement 

17.16.46.030 Actions constituting violation  

17.16.46.040 Enforcement  procedure for provisions 
relating to subdivision process 

17.16.46.050 Enforcement  procedure for provisions 
not relating to subdivision process 

17.16.46.060 Notice  of violation 
17.16.46.070 Stop work order  

17.16.46.080 Other  remedies  
17.16.46.090 Penalties for violation of  a 

subdivision provision 
17.16.46.100 Penalties for violation of a floodplain 

provision 
17.16.46.110 Penalties for violation of other 

provisions 
17.16.46.120 Failure to maintain stormwater  

facilities 
17.16.46.130 Conflicting regulations 

17.16.46.010 Legislative findings 
The City Commission makes the following findings: 

1. State law gives the City certain authority to ensure compliance with this Title. 
2. The City reserves all rights and remedies provided by State and federal law to ensure compliance. 

17.16.46.020 Authority for enforcement 
A. Subdivision provisions. According to 76-3-105, MCA, the City has the authority to enforce all subdivision 

requirements, including the authority to prevent the illegal sale, lease, or transfer of land. 
B. Land use provisions. According to 76-2-308, MCA, the City has the authority to enforce all land use 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 49 



  
 
 

 
  

 

 
   
   
 
 

 
   

  
  

  

 
  

  
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

      
   

   
   

  

    

     
 

   
   

  
  

  
 

  
  

  
 
  
    

 

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

requirements including the authority to: 
1. prevent unlawful erection, construction, reconstruction, alteration, repair, conversion, maintenance, or use; 
2. restrain, correct, or abate a violation; 
3. prevent the occupancy of such building, structure, or land; and 
4. prevent any illegal act, conduct, business, or use in or about such premises. 

17.16.46.030 Actions constituting a violation 
A. Subdivision provisions. Each separate parcel that is sold, leased, or otherwise transferred in violation of this 

Title shall constitute a separate and distinct violation. (See: 76-3-105, MCA) 
B. Land use provisions. Each separate action that is not in full compliance with this Title or with the conditions 

of an issued permit or similar approval statement shall constitute a separate and distinct violation. 

17.16.46.040 Enforcement procedure for provisions relating to subdivision process 
A. Investigation.  After observing or receiving a complaint of an alleged violation, the City shall investigate to 

determine if in fact a violation does exist. 
B. Notification of compliance.  If the City determines that a violation does not exist, it shall notify the 

complainant, if any, explaining the finding. 
C. Initiation of court action. If the City determines that a violation does exist, the appropriate department head, 

in consultation with the City Attorney, will initiate court action as provided by this part. 

17.16.46.050 Enforcement procedure for provisions not relating to subdivision process 
A. Investigation.  After observing or receiving a complaint of an alleged violation, the City shall investigate to 

determine if in fact a violation does exist. 
B. Notification of compliance. If the City determines that a violation does not exist, he/she shall notify the 

complainant explaining the finding. 
C. Notification of violation. If the City determines that a violation does exist, the appropriate department head, in 

consultation with the City Attorney, will initiate court action as provided in this part. send a notice of violation 
to the property owner as provided for in this Article. 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

Formatted: Font: Bold 

Formatted: Font: Bold 

Deleted: will 
D. Special provision for a violation of floodplain regulations. When a floodplain regulation is violated, the 

floodplain administrator shall notify the Montana Department of Natural Resources and Conservation, 
Floodplain Management Section of such violation. 

E. Issuance of stop work order. If a violation continues after the date established in the notice, the appropriate 
department director shall: 

1. send a stop work order, as described in this part, by certified mail to the property owner or deliver it in 
person to the property owner, contractor, builder, or any other person engaged in work covered by the 
order; and 

2. post a stop work order in a prominent location on the site. 
F. Lifting of stop work order. Upon substantial evidence that the violation has been removed or otherwise 

corrected, the director shall lift the stop work order. 
G. Initiation of court action. The director shall work with the City Attorney to initiate court action as provided by 

this part if work does not immediately cease on the premises, except to ensure compliance, or if the violation is 
not remedied within 30 days of the stop work order. 

17.16.46.060 Notice of violation 
A. Content. The notice of violation shall include: 

1. A description of the violation. 
2. The section(s) of the code being violated. 
3. A statement describing the measures that would remedy the violation. 
4. The date by which the violation must be remedied and when a stop work order shall be issued if the 

violation is not remedied. 
5. Information concerning penalties for continued non-compliance. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 50 



  
 
 

 
  

 

   
   

  
    

  

 
 

  
 
  
   

 
 

    
       

   
 

    
   

 

 
   

  
  

  
   

    
   

  
   

   
 

   
  

    
  

   

  
   

    
    

   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

B. Effect of violation notice. Once a violation notice has been issued pursuant to this part: 
1. All work on the premises that is directly related to the violation, except that which is done to ensure 

compliance, shall cease. All other work that is in compliance may continue. 
2. The City may not issue any other permits or approvals for any development on the premises that is directly 

related to the violation. 

17.16.46.070 Stop work order 
A. Content. The stop work order shall include: 

1. A description of the violation. 
2. The section(s) of the code being violated. 
3. A statement describing the measures that would remedy the violation. 
4. A statement that all work on the premises must cease immediately, until the individual issuing the stop 

work order rescinds the stop work order. 
5. Information concerning penalties for continued non-compliance. 

B. Effect of stop work order. Once a stop work order has been issued pursuant to this part: 
1.  All work on the premises shall cease until such time as it is the stop work order has been lifted.  
2. The City may not issue any other permits or approvals for any development on the premises until such time 

as the stop work order has been lifted. 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

Formatted: Font: Bold 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

Formatted: Font: Bold 
17.16.46.080 Other remedies 
The City or any aggrieved person may apply to a court of competent jurisdiction for temporary and/or permanent 
injunctive relief to enjoin and restrain any person violating a provision of this Title, and exercise all other rights and 
remedies provided by law or in equity. 

17.16.46.090 Penalties for violation of a subdivision provision 
Any person who sells, leases, or otherwise transfers land not in conformance with this Title or State law shall be guilty 
of a misdemeanor, and shall be subject to a fine of not less than $100 or more than $500, imprisonment in the county 
jail for not more than 6 3 months, or both. Each sale, lease, or transfer of each separate parcel shall constitute a 
separate offense.  (See: 76-3-105, MCA)  

Formatted: Strikethrough 

17.16.46.100 Penalties for violation of a floodplain provision 
A. General penalties. Any person who violates a floodplain provision shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and shall 

be subject to a fine of not more than $100, imprisonment in the county jail for not more than 10 days, or both.  
Each day a violation continues shall be deemed a separate and distinct offense. 

B. Public nuisance. Any person who establishes a development in the 100-year floodplain without obtaining a 
floodplain permit has created a public nuisance. (See: 76-5-404 (1), MCA) 

C. Section 1316 Declaration. The City shall file a Section 1316 Declaration with the National Flood Insurance 
Program to prevent the current and all future property owners from obtaining flood insurance.  

17.16.46.110 Penalties for violation of other provisions 
Any person who violates any provision of this Title, with the exception of subdivision and floodplain regulations, 
shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and shall be subject to a fine of not more than $500 or imprisonment in the county 
jail for not more than 6 months, or both  the  penalties as provided for in  OCCGF 1.4.070; and each day a violation 
continues to exist shall constitute a separate offense. 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

17.16.46.120 Failure to maintain stormwater facilities 
In addition to the other remedies provided for in this article, if a responsible party fails to meet the requirements of a 
maintenance covenant for a stormwater facility, the Director of Public Works, after reasonable notice to the 
responsible party, may perform such necessary work to place the facility in proper working condition. The responsible 
party shall pay for the cost of such work and shall be a lien on the property until paid. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 51 



  
 
 

 
  

 

   
 
 

 
 

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.16.46.130 Conflicting regulations 
Where there exists a conflict between any of the regulations or limitations prescribed in this Title and any other 
regulations applicable to the same area, the more stringent limitation or requirement shall govern or prevail. 

Article 48 
REQUEST FOR EXTENSION OF APPROVAL PERIOD 

Sections: 
17.16.48.010 Generally 

17.16.48.010 Generally 
For each type of approval granted pursuant to this chapter, there is a time period for which the approval is valid. If 
construction has not started or a final plat/plan filed prior to the expiration of the approval period, the holder of the 
approval may submit a request to extend the approval period consistent with this Title and Montana law. 

Chapter 16 – Administrative and Enforcement Procedures 52 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
   
  
  
   
 

 
  

   
  
    

    
 
 
 
  

 
 

 
 

  
  
 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Chapter 20 
LAND USE 

Articles: 
1. General  provisions 
2. Zoning  districts and zoning map 
3. Allowable uses
4. Lot area and dimensional standards 

5. General  standards 
6. Special standards for principal uses 

  7. Special standards for accessory uses 
8. Special standards for temporary uses  

Article 1 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Sections: 
17.20.1.010 Legislative findings 
17.20.1.020 Purpose 

17.20.1.010 Legislative findings 
The City Commission makes the following findings: 

1. The use of land in the City has a direct bearing on the public health, safety, and welfare. 
2. Standards are needed to ensure that new development is done in a coordinated manner. 
3. The provisions contained in this chapter are adopted consistent with the provisions of State statutes. 
4. Each parcel in the City is intended to have a zoning designation. 
5. The provisions in this chapter are adopted in accordance with the City’s adopted growth policy. 

17.20.1.020 Purpose 
This chapter is established to promote the public health, safety, and welfare and is intended to accomplish the following 
purposes: 

1. promote a sound development pattern by separating the City into various districts where each has uniformly 
applicable development standards 

2. separate incompatible land uses to the greatest extent possible 
3. encourage the most appropriate use of land throughout the City 
4. regulate and restrict the erection, construction, reconstruction, alteration, repair, and use of buildings, 

structures, and land  
5. provide for a wide range of housing options 
6. allow different, but compatible land uses (i.e., mixed uses) to occur in specified areas of the City 
7. avoid, or as a less preferred alternate, minimize congestion 
8. avoid, or as a less preferred alternate, minimize environmental degradation 
9. implement the City’s adopted growth policy 

Article 2 
ZONING DISTRICTS AND ZONING MAP 

Sections: 
17.20.2.010 Types of zoning districts 
17.20.2.020 Necessity of district designation 
17.20.2.030 Official zoning map 
17.20.2.040 Establishment and purpose of districts 
17.20.2.050 Airport related zoning map 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 1 



 

 

 

 

  
  

 
  

  
    

    
  

  
    

 
 
   

  
    

  
  

   

     
 

  
  

    
 

 
 

  
 

 
   

  
 

 
  

 
    

  
  

  
 

  
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.20.2.010 Types of zoning districts 
The City is divided into a number of base zoning districts so that each parcel is located in at least one district and 
potentially more. For each of these districts, appropriate types of uses are identified along with development standards. 
In addition to these base districts, there are a number of overlay districts. These overlay districts are intended to 
accomplish specific purposes that are not generally applicable to the entire base district. Where the requirements of a 
base district and overlay district conflict, the most restrictive applies. The zoning map depicts the location of the base 
districts and overlay districts used in this chapter. 

17.20.2.020 Necessity of district designation 
It is the intent of this chapter that no land shall be without a zoning district designation, unless specifically noted on the 
official zoning map. In the event a parcel is for any reason deemed to be without a designation, no land development 
may occur until such time as the City Commission has assigned the parcel an appropriate zoning classification. 

17.20.2.030 Official zoning map 
A. Availability. An official copy of the zoning map shall be on file in the City Clerk’s office and available for public 

inspection upon request. 
B. Title. The official zoning map shall bear the title "Official Zoning Map - City of Great Falls, Montana". 
C. Certification. The official zoning map shall be identified by the signature of the mayor attested by the City Clerk. 
D. Preparation of a new official zoning map. In the event the official zoning map is damaged, lost, or destroyed, 

and after each amendment to the official zoning map, the Director of the Planning Department shall prepare a new 
official zoning map and submit it to the City Clerk for certification. 

E. History of amendment. After the effective date of this Title, the official zoning map shall be accompanied by a 
descriptive history of each amendment that has been made, indicating the ordinance number and date of action. 

F. Archive of superseded zoning maps. Upon passage of this Title, the Director of the Planning Department shall 
keep a copy of each superseded zoning map in a permanent archive for historical reference. 

G. Amendment. The amendment procedures in Chapter 16 of this Title shall be used to amend the zoning map. 

17.20.2.040 Establishment and purpose of districts 
A. Base districts. Different areas of the City serve uniquely different functions. The narrative below describes each 

of the districts. Some of the districts may share similar characteristics, but they possess one or more uniquely 
different qualities that allow a distinction to be drawn between them. Although an area may not now possess each 
of the attributes in these descriptions, it is intended that as uses change over time they more closely reflect the 
intended uses. Uses are allowed in the various districts consistent with the development standards in this Title and 
development limitations that may be present, including steep slopes, floodplains, wetlands, riparian areas, and 
other environmentally sensitive areas. The City is divided into the following base districts as shown on the official 
zoning map: 
1. R-1 Single-family suburban. This district is intended to accommodate comparatively low-density, single-

family residential development on larger lots. Home occupations can occur in this district to the extent they 
are compatible with residential uses found in this district. 

2. R-2 Single-family medium density.  This district is intended to accommodate medium-density, single-
family residential development on moderate-sized lots. Home occupations can occur in this district to the 
extent they are compatible with residential uses found in this district. Schools and other public facilities are 
often found in close proximity. 

3. R-3 Single-family high density. This district is intended to accommodate single-family residences at the 
highest urban density. Home occupations can occur in this district to the extent they are compatible with 
residential uses found in this district. Schools and other public facilities are often found in close proximity. 

4. R-5 Multi-family residential medium density. This district is intended to accommodate multi-family 
units not exceeding two-stories. Given the higher densities, these districts are typically close to work and 
leisure.  

5. R-6 Multi-family residential high density. This district is intended to accommodate multi-family units of 
the highest density allowed in the City. These districts are typically found close to work and leisure, and are 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 2 



 

 

 

 

    
 

  
    

  

  
 

 
 

  
    

   
   

  
 

  
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

   
  

   

   
   

    
 

     

 
  

   

   
    

     
 

  

   
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

close to the downtown. 
6. R-9 Mixed residential. This district contains a mix of housing types including single-family, two-family, 

and multi-family dwellings. New projects developing under this classification must be at least 5 acres in size 
and include a mix of housing types consistent with a set of prescribed standards. 

7. R-10 Mobile home park. This district is for the exclusive use and development of mobile home parks.  
8. C-1 Neighborhood commercial. This district is found near established and developing residential areas 

and is intended to accommodate low intensity commercial activities that serve the nearby residential area. 
Development standards ensure the compatibility of this district to those residential districts that may adjoin. 

9. C-2 General commercial. This district is primarily intended to accommodate high-traffic businesses that 
focus on vehicle traffic. Where this district abuts a residential district, appropriate screening and landscaping 
will be provided to lessen associated impacts.  Current residential uses are not considered nonconforming. As 
such, current residential uses existing at the time this Title was adopted are allowed to expand or to be re-
established, if damaged.  

10. C-3 Highway commercial. This district is intended to accommodate those commercial activities that 
primarily cater to those traveling on the interstate. As such, this district is only found at interchanges. 

11. C-4 Central business core. This district is intended to accommodate and create a high level of business 
and social activity from morning through the nighttime hours. This district hosts a wide range of employment 
and businesses. Retail operations and specialty stores are common on the street level along with professional 
offices. Residential uses can occur in this district primarily on the upper levels of buildings.  Entertainment 
occurs in this district and helps to create a destination. Sidewalk cafes and food vendors are common during 
the warmer months of the year. Off-street parking is available, but occurs primarily in multi-level parking 
garages and on-street parking. Civic buildings help to build a critical mass of activity. 

12. C-5 Central business periphery. This district is generally found around the core of the downtown. It is 
intended to serve as a buffer between the downtown area and the surrounding residential districts. Although 
commercial uses are allowed in this district, they are typically businesses with lower levels of traffic 
compared to those found in the downtown area. Buildings are smaller in this district to create a physical 
transition in building bulk from predominant residential uses and the intensely developed downtown area.  
Buildings have setbacks and landscaping requirements. Exterior storage or display is not allowed. 

13. M-1 Mixed-use. The mixed-use district is intended to allow a balanced and harmonious mixture of 
commercial, residential, institutional uses, and public spaces. Employment opportunities are near a variety of 
living options. A mix of uses could occur within the same building or in separate buildings in close proximity 
to one another. The transportation system and buildings are designed with pedestrians in mind. 

14. M-2 Mixed-use transitional. This district is intended to promote a transition over time to a predominately 
mixed-use land use pattern. Because of changing economic conditions and other factors, some current uses do 
not represent the highest and best use, given other more suitable areas. Current industrial uses and 
warehouses are not considered nonconforming. As such, current industrial uses and warehouses existing at 
the time this Title was adopted are allowed to expand or to be re-established, if damaged, provided 
development and appearance standards under the purview of the Design Review Board are met. (See Chapter 
28, Section 17.28.050.) Uses characteristic of this district are the same as those found in the previously 
described M-1 District. 

15. PLI Public lands and institutional. This district is intended to include areas of significant public lands 
including public schools and significant public and quasi-public institutional uses or facilities. 

16. POS Parks and open space. This district is intended to include lands that are undeveloped and 
unimproved, or are public parks or recreational areas. 

17. PUD Planned unit development. A planned unit development district is a special type of zoning district 
that is proposed by the developer to account for a desired mix of uses.  Each district is unique and therefore 
has its own set of development standards which are documented in the approval. After January 1, 2005, new 
PUD districts are to be numbered sequentially. 

18. GFIA Great Falls International Airport. This district is intended to include all lands associated with the 
Great Falls International Airport including support uses and activities. 

19. I-1 Light industrial. This district is intended to accommodate those types of activities typically 
associated with manufacturing of finished products, storage, and wholesale operations. 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 3 



 

 

 

 

  
 

  
  

  
  

  

 
 

 
     

 
   

 
  

  
    

    

  
   

 
 
 

 

  
 

  

   

  
   

  
 

 
 

 

 
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

20. I-2 Heavy industrial. This district is intended to accommodate those activities associated with processing 
raw materials or other activities with potentially significant off-site impacts. Typically, the uses found in this 
district are not compatible with most types of non-industrial uses. 

B. Overlay districts. In addition to the base districts enumerated above, the City is also divided into the following 
overlay districts as shown on the official zoning map to account for unique conditions or requirements as further 
described in subsequent chapters: 
1. Neighborhood conservation overlay districts. This overlay district is intended to protect characteristics 

typically found in older neighborhoods.  Design standards help to perpetuate the best features of the 
neighborhood as buildings are renovated, maintained, and potentially redeveloped. The provisions relating to 
this overlay district are contained in Chapter 58 of this Title. 

2. Great Falls International Airport overlay districts. Overlay districts are established around the Great Falls 
International Airport to limit the height of buildings and other obstructions near the airport. Noise zones are 
also established around Great Falls International Airport to ensure that land uses are compatible with the 
continued functioning of the airport with special consideration on noise compatibility. The provisions relating 
to these overlay districts are contained in Chapter 54 of this Title. 

3. Floodplain overlay districts. The floodplain overlay districts are based on flood studies conducted in the 
City and on approved floodplain maps. Each of the districts has unique development standards based on 
flooding characteristics.  The provisions relating to these overlay districts are contained in Chapter 56 of this 
Title. 

C. Unincorporated land. Within the perimeter of the City limits there are a number of parcels that are not under the 
jurisdiction of the City. These are noted on the zoning map as “U”. 

D. Malmstrom Air Force Base. If property is sold or leased to a non-federal entity, the property may not be used for 
another use until such time the City Commission has assigned the property an appropriate zoning classification. 

17.20.2.050 Airport related zoning map 
The map of all airport related zoning shall be filed with the County Clerk and Recorder and the City Clerk. (See: 67-4-
201(2), MCA) 

Article 3 
ALLOWABLE USES 

Sections: 
17.20.3.010 Allowable uses within zoning districts 
17.20.3.020 Similarity of uses 
17.20.3.030 Uses not listed 
17.20.3.040 Project classified in more than one land use category 
17.20.3.050 Relationship of a principal use to an accessory use 
17.20.3.060 Certain land uses shown as permitted may be a conditional use 

17.20.3.010 Allowable uses within zoning districts 
For the purposes of this Title, land uses are categorized as principal, accessory, and temporary. The land uses that are 
allowable in one or more districts are defined in Chapter 8 of this Title. Exhibit 20-1 through 20-3 lists the uses as 
allowed in one or more base zoning districts.  The coding system, as described below, is used to identify the 
appropriateness of the land uses in each of the various base districts and the type of review if allowed. 

"P" indicates that the use is permitted in the district by right, provided that all other provisions of this Title 
are met.  These uses do not undergo public review, but are reviewed at the administrative level to ensure 
compliance. 
"-" indicates that the use is not permitted in the district. 
"C" indicates that the use is permitted in the district as a conditional use. 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 4 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
   

 

  
 

     

    
   

 
 

 
 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.20.3.020 Similarity of uses 
Because the list of uses cannot include every conceivable type of activity, those uses that are listed shall be interpreted 
to include other uses that are of a similar nature and have similar impacts to the listed use. 

17.20.3.030 Uses not listed 
Those uses not listed, and which cannot be interpreted to be similar to any listed use, as provided for above, shall be 
prohibited. 

17.20.3.040 Project classified in more than one land use category 
In the event that the proposed project includes more than one land use category, the following rules shall apply: 

1. Prohibited and allowable uses in project. If a proposed project includes both an allowable use(s) and a 
prohibited use(s), the prohibited portion of the project may not occur in the district. 

2. More than one review type or development standard in project. If a proposed project includes more than 
one use, with different levels of approval, the strictest of the approval procedures shall apply to the whole 
project. 

17.20.3.050 Relationship of a principal use to an accessory use 
Before an accessory use may be established, the premises shall host a principal use. 

17.20.3.060 Certain land uses shown as permitted may be a conditional use 
A permitted land use (as shown in Exhibit 20-1, 20-2, 20-3) that emits air contaminants or potentially offensive odors 
outside of the building, or that handles radioactive materials, hazardous substances, hazardous waste, or regulated 
substances shall be considered a conditional use in every circumstance. 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 5 



 

 

 

 

  

                    

  

  

                      

                    

 
  

 
 

                     
                      
 
  
  

  
 
 

 
                      

                    

                     
                     

 

  
                     
                        

 

 
 

  

  

 
 

                       
                     

  
  

  

    
  

 
 
                     

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Exhibit 20-1. Principal uses by district 

Special 

 Agricultural Uses R-1 R-2 R-3 R-5 R-6 R-9 R-10 C-1 C-2 C-3 C-4 C-5 M-1 M-2 PLI POS GFIA I-1 I-2 Standards 

 Agriculture, horticulture, nursery CP - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - P -P -P 17.20.6.005

 Residential Uses 

 Mobile home/park - - - - - - P - - - - - - - - - - - - 17.20.6.010
 Residence, single-family detached P P P P P P - P - - - P P P - - - - -

Residence, zero lot line - - CP CP CP CP - -P - - - P CP CP - - - - - 17.20.6.020
 Residence, two-family - C C P P C - CP - - - P P P - - - - - 17.20.6.030
 Residence, multi-family - - - P P C - CP - - CP P P P - - - - - 17.20.6.040
 Residence, condominiums - - - P P C - CP - - CP P P P - - - - - 17.20.6.040
 Residence, townhouse - C C P P C - - - - - P P P - - - - - 17.20.6.050 

Residence, manufactured/factory-built P P P P P P - P - - - P P P - - - - - 17.20.6.060
 Retirement home - C PC P P C - -P - - CP P P P - - - - -

Special Care Facilities 

Community residential facility, type I P P P P P P - - - - - P P P - - - - -
Community residential facility, type II C C C C C C - - - - - - C C - - - - -
Day care center C C C C C C - P P - P CP P P CP - - - -

 Emergency shelter - - - - - - - C C C C C C C C - - - -
Family day care home P P P P P P - -P - - C CP P P C- - - - -
Group day care home P P P P P P - CP C- - C CP P P C- - - - -

 Nursing home - - C C C C - CP C - CP CP P P CP - - - -

 Overnight Accommodations 

Campground - - - - - - - - C CP - - - - - - P - - 17.20.6.070
 Hotel/motel - - - - - - - P P P P C P P - - P - -

Food and Beverage Sales 

 Micro-brewery - - - - - - - - P - P C C C - - P CP -
 Restaurant - - - - - - - P P P P P CP CP - - P CP -

Tavern - - - - - - - P P P P C C C - - P P - 17.20.6.080 

General Sales

 Agriculture sales - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - P P P 
 Auction sales - - - - - - - - C - - - - - - - P P P 
 Construction materials sales - - - - - - - - P P - - - - - - P P P 
 Convenience sales C - - - - - - P P P P C - - - - P P -P 

 General sales - - - - - - - P P CP P P CP CP - - P -P -P 

 Manufactured housing sales - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - P P P 
 Off-site liquor sales - - - - - - - P P P P C C C - - P P P 
 Secondhand sales - - - - - - - P P - - - - - - - P P P 

Shopping center - - - - - - - C P - - - - - - - P P P 
 Specialty sales - - - - - - - P P -P P P CP CP - - P - -

General Services 

 Administrative services - - - - - - - P P P P P P P C - P - -
 Commercial kennel - - - - - - - - P P - - - - - - P P - 17.20.6.090
 Financial services - - - - - - - P P - P P P P - - P - -
 Funeral home - - - - - - - P P - P C P P - - - - -

General services - - - - - - - P P -P P CP P P - - P -P -P 

 Professional services - - - - C C - P P - P P P P - - P - -
 Sexually-oriented business - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - P P 17.20.6.100 

Veterinary clinic,  large animal - - - - - - - - C - - - - - - - P P P 
Veterinary clinic, small animal - - - - - - - C P - - - P P - - P P P 17.20.6.110 

continued 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 6 



 

 

 

 

  

                    

   

 
 

 
                     
                     
 

 
  

 
                     

                    
  
  

  
  

                     
                     

 
  

  
                     
 

                     

  
 

 
 

  
                     
                       
 

 
 

 
  

  
   

  
                     

                    
   
  
  

                    
  
 
  

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Exhibit 20-1. Principal uses by district - continued 

Special 

Rental and General Repair R-1 R-2 R-3 R-5 R-6 R-9 R-10 C-1 C-2 C-3 C-4 C-5 M-1 M-2 PLI POS GFIA I-1 I-2 Standards 

Large equipment rental 
Small equipment rental 

 General repair 

Vehicle Trade and Service 

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
P 

C 
P 
P 

C 
-
-

-
P 
P 

-
-
P 

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

P 
P 
P 

P 
P 
P 

P 
P 
P 

Vehicle fuel sales 
 Vehicle repair 

Vehicle sales and rental 
 Vehicle services 

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

C 
-
-
C 

P 
P 
P 
P 

P 
P 
P 
P 

P 
C 
P 
P 

P 
P 
P 
P 

-
-
-
C 

-
-
-

CP 

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

P P 
P 
P 
P 

-
-
-
-

17.20.6.120 P 
P 
P 

 General Storage 

Agricultural commodity storage facility 
Fuel tank farm 

 Mini-storage facility 
Truck Freight terminal 

 Warehouse 

Indoor Recreation / Sports / 
Entertainment 

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
C 
C 
C 

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
C 
-
C 

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

P 
P 
P 
P 
P 

P 
-
P 
P 
P 

P 
P 
P 
P 
P 

17.20.6.130 

 Casino, type I 
Casino, type II  
Indoor entertainment 
Indoor sports and recreation 

Outdoor Recreation / Sports / 
Entertainment 

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

P 
-
P 
P 

-
-
-
-

P 
P 
P 
P 

-
-
C 
C 

-
-
C 
C 

-
-
C 
C 

-
-
C 
C 

-
-
-
C 

*P 

*-
P 
P 

P 
P 
-
P 

P 
P 
-
-

17.20.6.140 
17.20.6.150

Golf course / driving range 
 Miniature golf 

Outdoor entertainment 
Park 

 Recreational trail 

Community Services / Uses 

C 
-
-
P 

P 

C 
-
-

C 
-
-

C 
-
-

C 
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
CP 

-

-
C 
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-C 

-

-
-
C 

P 
-
C 

P 
P 
P 

-
C 
C 

-
-
-

P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P 

P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P 

Administrative governmental center 
 Animal shelter 
 Cemetery 
 Civic use facility 
 Community center 

Community cultural facility 
 Community garden 
 Public safety facility 
 Worship facility 

 Health Care 

-
-
C 
C 
C 
C 
P 
C 
C 

-
-
C 
C 
C 
C 
C 
C 
C 

-
-
C 
C 
C 
C 
C 
C 
C 

-
-
C 
C 
C 
C 
C 
C 
C 

-
-
C 
C 
C 
C 
C 
C 
C 

-
-
C 
C 
C 
C 
C 
C 
C 

P-

-
-C 

PC 

PC 

PC 

-C 

C 
-C 

P 
-
-

P-

PC 

P 
-
C 
P 

P 
C 
-

CP 

CP 

P 
-

CP 

-

P 
C 
-
-
-
-
-
C 
-

P 
-
-
P 
P 
P 
-
P 
C 

P 
-
-
P 
P 
P 
-
P 

CP 

P 
C 
-
P 
P 
P 
P 
P 
P 

P 
C 
-
P 
P 
P 
P 
P 
P 

P 
C 
P 
P 
P 
P 
P 
P 
-

C 
-
P 
C 
C 
C 
P 
-
-

P 
P 
P 
-
-
-
P 
P 
P 

-
P 
-
-
-
-
C 
P 
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
C 
-
-

17.20.6.160
17.20.6.170

17.20.6.180

Health care center clinic 

Health care facility 
Health care sales and services 

 Education 

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
C-

-

-
P-

-

-P 

P-

P 

P 
P 
P 

-
-
-

P 
P 
P 

P 
P 
P 

P 
C 
P 

P 
C 
P 

P 
P 
P 

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

17.20.6.190 

Commercial education facility 
Educational facility (K-12) 
Educational facility (higher education) 

 Instructional facility 

-
C 
-
-

-
C 
-
-

-
C 
-
-

-
C 
-
-

-
C 
-
-

-
C 
-
-

-
C 
-

P-

P 
C 
C 
P 

P 
-
C 

CP 

-
-
-
-

CP 

-
-

CP 

CP 

-C 

-C 

-P 

CP 

C 
C 

CP 

CP 

C 
C 

CP 

-
P 
P 
-

-
-
-
-

P 
-
P 
P 

P 
-
-
P 

-
-
-
-

17.20.6.200 

continued 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 7 



 

 

 

 

  

                     

  

   
  

   
                     

                    
  

                    
   

   
  

                     
                     

   

                      
                     

                    

  
                      

   
  

 
                     
                     
 
 
                     

                    
 

 
 

  
 
  
                     

 
  
    

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Exhibit 20-1. Principal uses by district - continued 

Solid Waste, Recycling Special 

 And Composting R-1 R-2 R-3 R-5 R-6 R-9 R-10 C-1 C-2 C-3 C-4 C-5 M-1 M-2 PLI POS GFIA I-1 I-2 Standards 

 Composting facility 
 Recycling center 

Solid waste transfer station 

 Telecommunications 

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-

C-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

P 
P 
P 

C 
C 
C 

P 
P 
P 

17.20.6.210
17.20.6.220 
17.20.6.230

 Amateur radio station 
 Telecommunication facility
 Concealed facility 
 Unconcealed facility 
 Co-located facility 

Utilities 

P 

-C 

-
C-

P 

-C 

-
C-

P 

-C 

-
C-

P 

-C 

-
C-

P 

-C 

-
C-

P 

-C 

-
C-

P 

-C 

-
C-

-

P 
C 
P 

-

P 
C 
P 

-

P 
C 
P 

-

P 
C 
P 

-

C 
C 
C 

-

CP 

C 
C 

-

CP 

C 
C 

-

P 
C 
C 

-

C 
C 
C 

-

P 
P 
P 

-

P 
P 
P 

-

P 
P 
P 

17.20.6.240
 17.20.6.250

 Utility installation, major 
Utility installation, minor 

C 
C 

C 
C 

C 
C 

C 
C 

C 
C 

C 
C 

C 
C 

C 
P 

C 
P 

C 
P 

-C 

C 
C 
C 

C 
C 

C 
C 

C 
C 

C 
C 

P 
P 

C 
P 

P 
P 

Transportation 

Airport 
 Bus transit terminal 

Freight terminal 

Heli-pad 
 Parking lot, principal use 

 Parking structure 
 Railroad yard 

Taxi cab dispatch terminal 

Contractor Yards 

-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
C-

-

-
P 
-
-

C-

-
CP 

-

C 
P 
P 
-
P 

-
P 
C 

C 
P 
-
-
P 

-
CP 

-

C 
P 
P 
-
P 

-
-
-

C 
P 
P 
-
-

-
C 
-

-C 

P 
P 
-

CP 

-
C 
-

C 
P 
P 
-

CP 

-
C 
-

C 
P 
P 
-
-

-
-
-

C 
P 
-
-
-

P 
P 
P 

P 
P 
P 
P 
P 

-
P 
P 

P 
P 
P 
-P 

P 

-
-
P

P 17.20.6.260
P 
P 

P 
-

Contractor yard, type I 
Contractor yard, type II 

 Industrial / Manufacturing 

C 
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

C 
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

P 
C 

P 
C 

-
-

-
-

P 
P 

P 
P 

-
P 

17.20.6.270 
17.20.6.280

 Artisan shop 
 Industrial, heavy 
 Industrial, light 
 Industrial park 
 Junkyard 

Light manufacturing and assembly 
Motor vehicle graveyard 
Motor vehicle wrecking facility 

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

P 
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

P 
-
-
-
-
P 
-
-

P 
-
-
-
-
P 
-
-

P 
-
-
-
-
P 
-
-

P 
-
-
-
-
P 
-
-

P 
-
-
-
-
P 
-
-

P 
-
-
-
-
P 
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

P 
P 
P 
P 
P 
P 
-
-

P 
-
P 
P 
C 
P 
-
-

-
P 
P 
P 
P 
P 
P 
P 

17.20.6.290 
17.20.6.300 
17.20.6.310 
17.20.6.320 

- The use is not permitted in the district 
C The use is allowed through the conditional use process 
P The use is permitted in the district by right, consistent with the development standards contained in Article 6 of this chapter, as 

appropriate 
* Final action on this use in this district is pending 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 8 



 

 

 

 

 
  

                    

  

  

                      
 

 

 
                     

 
 

 
 

         
                    

 

                      
 

  
 

  

 
 
 
   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Exhibit 20-2. Accessory uses by district  

Specific 

Use R-1 R-2 R-3 R-5 R-6 R-9 R-10 C-1 C-2 C-3 C-4 C-5 M-1 M-2 PLI POS GFIA I-1 I-2 Standards 

Agriculture, livestock P - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - P - - 17.20.7.010
 ATM, exterior - - - - - - - P P P P P P P P - P -P -P 17.20.7.020 

ATM, interior - - - - - - - P P P P P P P - - P C -
Bed and breakfast C C C C C C - C - - - P C P C P - - - - - 17.20.7.030 
Fences P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P -P P P P 17.20.7.040 
Gaming, accessory - - - - - - - - P P P - - P - - P P P 17.20.7.050 

 Garage, private P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P - P P P 17.20.7.060 
 Home occupation P P P P P P P -P -P -P -P P P P -P - - -P -P 17.20.7.070 
 Private stable/barn P - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

P 

-
P 

-
P 

-
P 

-
P 

-
P 

17.20.7.080 
17.20.7.085

17.20.7.090 
17.20.7.100 

  Residence, accessory - - - - - - - P P P P P P P - -

 Roadside farmer’s market P - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 Storage containers - - - - - - - - P P - - - - - -

- The use is  not permitted in the district 
C The use is  allowed in the district through the conditional use process 
P The use is  permitted in the district by right, consistent with the development standards contained in Article 7 of  this  chapter, as  

appropriate 

Exhibit 20-3. Temporary uses by district (see 17.20.8.010 for Special Standards) 

Specific 

Use R-1 R-2 R-3 R-5 R-6 R-9 R-10 C-1 C-2 C-3 C-4 C-5 M-1 M-2 PLI POS GFIA I-1 I-2 Standards 

Garage sales P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P - - P P 17.20.8.015

 Itinerant outdoor sales - - - - - - - - P P - - - -P - - C C - 17.20.8.020 
On-site construction office P P P P P P -P P P P P P P P P P P P P 17.20.8.030 
On-site real estate sales office P P P P P P - - - - - - P P - - - - - 17.20.8.040 
Outdoor entertainment, temporary - - - - - - - - P P - - - - P P P P P 

 Sidewalk café - - - - - - - P P - P P P P C C - - - 17.20.8.050 
Sidewalk food vendor - - - - - - - - P - P P P P P P - - - 17.20.8.060 

- The use is not permitted in the district 
C The use is allowed in the district through the conditional use process 
P The use is permitted in the district by right, consistent with the development standards contained in Article 8 of this chapter, as appropriate 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 9 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
      

      

    
   

   

   
   

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Article 4 
LOT AREA AND DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS 

Sections: 
17.20.4.010 Generally 
17.20.4.020 Exceptions 

17.20.4.010 Generally 
Lots and buildings shall conform to the dimensional standards specified in Exhibit 20-4.  

17.20.4.020 Exceptions 
The following are exemptions to the standards: 

1. The requirements for the rear yard on through lots do not apply when the area of such required rear yard is 
provided elsewhere on the lot. 

2. Every part of a required yard shall be open from its lowest points to the sky unobstructed, except for the 
projections of sills, belt courses, cornices, and ornamental features not to exceed 4 inches. 

3. Open or lattice enclosed fire escapes, fireproof outside stairways, and solid floored balconies opening upon 
fire towers, projecting into a yard not more than 5 feet or into a court not more than 3½ feet and the ordinary 
projections of chimneys and flues shall be permitted where the same are so placed as not to obstruct the light 
and ventilation. 

4. An unenclosed front porch on a single family residence may extend into the front yard setback up to 9 feet, 
provided the porch does not occupy more than 60 percent of the width of the main part of the house. 

5. Steps and eaves are allowed to encroach into the front and side yard setbacks. 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 10 



 
 

       

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

   

 
 

 
 

 

   

 

     

 

 
 

 

 

  

Exhibit 20-4.   Development standards for 
residential zoning districts 
(see footnotes [4], & [5] & [7] for general 
standards) 

Standard R-1 R-2 R-3 R-5 R-6 R-9 R-10 

Residential density - - -
1,875 sq. feet of lot 
area per dwelling 
unit 

500 sq. feet of lot 
area per dwelling 
unit 

1,200 sq. feet of lot 
area per dwelling 
unit 

10 dwelling units 
per acre 

Minimum lot size for newly created lots 15,000 sq. feet 11,000 sq. feet 7,500 sq. feet 7,500 sq. feet 7,500 sq. feet 7,500 sq. feet n/a 
Minimum lot width for newly created lots 90 feet 80 feet 60 feet 50 feet 50 feet 50 feet n/a 
Lot proportion for newly created lots 
(maximum depth to width) 3:1 3:1 2.5:1 2.5:1 2.5:1 2.5:1 n/a 

Maximum building height of principal 
building [1] 35 feet 35 feet 35 feet 45 feet 65 feet 35 feet, single-family 

50 feet, multi-family 
12 feet to 
exterior wall 

Maximum building height of detached 
garage [1] 

24 feet, but may not 
be higher than the 
uppermost elevation 
of the principal 
building 

24 feet, but may not 
be higher than the 
uppermost elevation 
of the principal 
building 

24 feet, but may not 
be higher than the 
uppermost elevation 
of the principal 
building 

24 feet, but may not 
be higher than the 

uppermost 
elevation of the 

principal building 

24 feet, but may not 
be higher than the 

uppermost 
elevation of the 

principal building 

24 feet, but may not 
be higher than the 
uppermost elevation 
of the principal 
building 

16 feet 

Maximum building height of other accessory 
buildings [1] 12 feet 12 feet 12 feet 12 feet 12 feet 12 feet 12 feet 

Minimum front yard setback [2] 30 feet 20 feet 20 feet 10 feet 15 feet 10 feet n/a 

Minimum side yard setback [3] 

Principal building: 15 
feet each side; 
accessory building: 
2 feet each side 
provided the front of 
the building is at 
least 50 feet from 
the front lot line 

Principal building: 8 
feet each side; 
accessory building: 
2 feet each side 
provided the front of 
the building is at 
least 40 feet from 
the front lot line 

Principal building: 6 
feet each side; 
accessory building: 
2 feet provided the 
front of the building 
is at least 40 feet 
from the front lot line 

4 feet; 8 feet if 
adjoining a R-1, R-2, 
R-3 district 

5 feet; 10 feet if 
adjoining a R-1, R-2, 
R-3 district 

Principal building: 6 
feet each side; 
accessory building: 
2 feet each side 
provided the front of 
the building is at 
least 40 feet from 
the front lot line 

n/a 

Minimum rear yard setback [7] 

20 feet for lots less 
than 150 feet in 
depth; 25 feet for 
lots 150 feet in depth 
and over 

15 feet for lots less 
than 150 feet in 
depth; 20 feet for 
lots 150 feet in depth 
and over 

10 feet for lots less 
than 150 feet in 
depth; 15 feet for 
lots 150 feet in depth 
and over 

10 feet for lots less 
than 150 feet in 
depth; 15 feet for 
lots 150 feet in depth 
and over 

15 feet 

10 feet for lots less 
than 150 feet in 
depth; 15 feet for 
lots 150 feet in depth 
and over 

n/a 

Maximum lot coverage of principal and 
accessory buildings 

Corner lot: 40% 
Other types: 30% 

Corner lot: 45% 
Other types: 35% 

Corner lot: 7055% 
Other types: 6050% 

Corner lot: 60% 
Other types: 50% 

Corner lot: 70% 
Other types: 60% 

Corner lot: 70% 
Other types: 60% none 

[1] See the hillside overlay district for more restrictive height requirements which may apply. 
[2] An unenclosed front porch on a single family residence may extend into the front yard setback up to 9 feet, provided the porch does not occupy more than 60 percent of the length of the main part of the 

house. 
[3] See side yard requirements for zero lot-line projects. 
[4] Smaller lots and reduced setbacks and frontages may be accomplished through a Planned Unit Development (PUD). 
[5] An existing structure that does not meet the setback requirements stated above can be rebuilt on its original foundation or the original foundation location.  
[6] For townhouses, see Section 17.20.6.050 for additional and superseding requirements. 
[7] Permitted accessory structures and buildings shall have a minimum rear setback of 2 feet in all residential zoning districts. 



 

 
 

 
           

  

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

    

     

  

 

Exhibit 20-4 (continued). 
Development standards for other 
zoning districts 

M-1 M-2 C-1 C-2 C-3 C-4 C-5 PLI GFIA I-1 I-2 

Residential density 500 sq. feet of lot 
area per dwelling unit 

500 sq. feet of lot 
area per dwelling unit n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Minimum lot size for newly created lots 7,500 sq. feet 7,500 sq. feet 7,500 sq. feet 7,500 sq. feet 7,500 sq. feet 7,500 sq. feet 7,500 sq. feet 7,500 sq. feet 7,500 sq. feet 7,500 sq. feet 7,500 sq. feet 
Minimum lot width for newly created 
lots 50 feet 50 feet 50 feet 50 feet 50 feet 50 feet 50 feet 50 feet 50 feet 50 feet 50 feet 

Lot proportion for newly created lots 
(maximum depth to width) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 3:1 3:1 

Maximum building height of principal 
building 

65 feet except as 
follows: 35 feet within 
200 feet of an R-1, R-
2, R-3 district; 45 feet 
when within 200 feet 
to 350 feet of an R-1, 
R-2, R-3 district; and 
65 feet when more 

than 350 feet from an 
R-1, R-2, R-3 district 

65 feet except as 
follows: 35 feet within 
200 feet of an R-1, R-
2, R-3 district; 45 feet 
when within 200 feet 
to 350 feet of an R-1, 
R-2, R-3 district; and 
65 feet when more 

than 350 feet from an 
R-1, R-2, R-3 district  

35 feet 3565feet 50 feet 

100 feet by right; 
101 feet to 160 

feet as 
conditional use 

55 feet 

100 feet by right; 
101 feet to 160 feet 
as conditional use, 
except as follows;  

in the proposed 
medical district 

master plan area, 
160 feet by right 

65 feet 45 feet none 

Maximum building height of accessory 
building 

24 feet, but may not 
be higher than the 

uppermost elevation 
of the principal 

building 

24 feet, but may not 
be higher than the 

uppermost elevation 
of the principal 

building 

12 24 feet, but 
may not be 
higher than 

the uppermost 
elevation of 
the principal 

building 

12 24 feet, but 
may not be 

higher than the 
uppermost 

elevation of the 
principal 
building 

24 feet, but may 
not be higher 

than the 
uppermost 

elevation of the 
principal building 

n/a 

24 feet, but may not 
be higher than the 

uppermost elevation 
of the principal 

building 

24 feet, but may 
not be higher than 

the uppermost 
elevation of the 

principal building 

24 feet, but may 
not be higher than 

the uppermost 
elevation of the 

principal building 

35 feet none 

Minimum front yard setback of 
principal and accessory buildings none Existing Industrial: 20 

feet 15 feet none 25 feet none 15 feet 25 feet 25 feet 20 feet 10 feet 

Minimum side yard setback of principal 
and accessory buildings 

Commercial: none 
Residential: 5 feet 

each side 

Commercial: none 
Residential: 5 feet 

each side 
Existing Industrial: 15 

feet each side 

10 feet each 
side 10 feet each side 15 feet each side none 10 feet each side 10 feet each side none 10 feet each side 

10 feet each side, 
15 feet when side 
yard abuts a non-
industrial zoning 

district 

Minimum rear yard setback of principal 
and accessory buildings 10 feet 10 feet 15 feet 

1/10 of lot depth 
but not less than 
1/10 of building 

height 

1/10 of lot depth 
but not less than 
1/10 of building 

height 

none 
1/10 of lot depth but 
not less than 1/10 of 

building height 

1/10 of lot depth 
but not less than 
1/10 of building 

height 

none 5 feet 5 feet 

Maximum lot coverage of principal and 
accessory buildings 

Corner lot: 70% 
Other lots: 65% 

Corner lot: 70% 
Other lots: 65% 

Corner lot: 50% 
Other lots: 40% 

Corner lot: 70% 
Other lots: 60% 

Corner lot: 70% 
Other lots: 60% 100% Corner lot: 70% 

Other lots: 60% 
Corner lot: 70% 
Other lots: 60% none Corner lot: 85% 

Other lots: 70% 
Corner lot: 85% 
Other lots: 70% 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
   

 
      

 

 
 

 
  

  
 

    
  

    
  
    
   

  
  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Article 5 
GENERAL STANDARDS 

Sections: 
17.20.5.010 Business licenses and safety inspection certificates 
17.20.5.020 Cart returns 
17.20.5.030 Outdoor speakers 
17.20.5.040 Large format retail stores 

17.20.5.010 Business licenses and safety inspection certificates 
In addition to meeting the requirements contained in this chapter, specified land uses and activities shall also meet the 
regulations for business licenses and safety inspection certificates found primarily in Title 5. Examples of such 
businesses and activities include, but are not limited to, the following: 

1. emergency medical services 
2. alarm agencies 
3. commercial kennels 
4. home occupations 
5. sexually-oriented businesses 
6. pawnshops  
7. sidewalk cafes 
8. second hand stores 
9. mobile home parks 
10. telecommunication facilities 
11. bed and breakfasts 

17.20.5.020 Cart returns 
A. Applicability. Each retail project that provides on-site parking in excess of 100 vehicle parking spaces shall 

provide shopping cart returns as provided in this section. 
B. Number. A least one cart return shall be provided for each 100 parking spaces. 
C. Specifications. The cart return shall be at least 170 square feet in area and be constructed of durable materials that 

are compatible with the building and outdoor lighting standards. 
D. Placement. No cart return shall be located within 25 feet of the building entrance, unless there is no other 

practicable location. 

17.20.5.030 Outdoor speakers 
Sound emanating from an outdoor speaker associated with any non-residential establishment shall not be audible from a 
lot in a residential zoning district. 

17.20.5.040 Large format retail stores 
A. Legislative findings. The City Commission makes the following findings: 

1. Abandoned buildings are a blighting influence on the community and large vacant stores are especially 
detrimental. 

2. Large retail buildings may be inconsistent with the existing community character and the immediate area. 
3. A diverse retail economy is desirable in that it provides consumer choice and fosters competition. 

B. Purpose. The provisions of this section are intended to accomplish the following purposes: 
1. ensure that large retail projects are consistent with the community character and the surrounding area 
2. ensure that large retail stores contribute to a diverse and sound economic base 
3. prevent urban blight due to vacant retail stores 

CA. Applicability. This section applies to (1) a single building in excess of 60,000 square feet that houses one tenant 
and (2) a single building in excess of 60,000 square feet that houses multiple tenants and where the primary retail 
occupant occupies 70 percent or more of the floor area. When an existing store expands its floor area and exceeds 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 13 



 

 

 

 

 
  

   
 

  
 
 

  
  

 
  

    
 

 
 

 

 
 

  
 

  

   

  

 
 

  

 
  

  
 

 
  

 
       

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

that threshold, the provisions of this section apply.  
DB. Conditional use. Large format retail stores shall be subject to the conditional use process. 
EC. Development agreement. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the property owner shall enter into a developer’s 

agreement with the City, to  run with the land, that includes the following:  
1. a provision that prevents the property owner from prohibiting or otherwise limiting, through contract or other 

legal device, the reuse of the building for retail or other legitimate purposes 
2. a provision requiring long-term maintenance of the development if the building is vacated 
3. a provision requiring the preparation of an adaptive reuse plan or a demolition plan acceptable to the City  
4. other provisions deemed necessary by the City to address the particular circumstances related to the project 

FD. Vacation of existing buildings. When a large format store is proposed as a replacement for a business already 
located in the City, the property owner shall not prohibit or otherwise limit, through contract or other legal device, 
the reuse of its former building. 

GE. Special landscaping.  Large format retail stores must comply with all applicable landscaping requirements in 
Chapter 44 Landscaping. However, the minimum square footage of interior landscaping, inclusive of landscaping 
in vehicular use areas and foundation planting areas, shall be 20% of the gross property area to be developed. 

Article 6 
SPECIAL STANDARDS FOR PRINCIPAL USES 

Sections: 
17.20.6.005 Agricultural, horticulture, nursery  
17.20.6.010  Mobile home park  
17.20.6.020 Residence, zero lot line 
17.20.6.030 Residence,  two-family
17.20.6.040 Residence, multi-family 
17.20.6.050 Townhouse 
17.20.6.060 Residence, manufactured/factory-built 
17.20.6.070 Campground  or recreational vehicle park 
17.20.6.080 Tavern  
17.20.6.090 Commercial  kennel  
17.20.6.100 Sexually-oriented business 
17.20.6.110 Veterinary clinic, small animal  
17.20.6.120 Vehicle repair  
17.20.6.130 Mini-storage  facility 
17.20.6.140 Casino, type I 
17.20.6.150  Casino,  type II 
17.20.6.160 Animal  shelter 

17.20.6.170 Cemetery 
17.20.6.180 Worship facility 
17.20.6.190 Health care facility 

 17.20.6.200  Educational facility (K-12)   
17.20.6.210 Composting facility 
17.20.6.220 Recycling center 
17.20.6.230 Solid waste transfer station 
17.20.6.240 Amateur radio station 
17.20.6.250 Telecommunications facility 
17.20.6.260 Heli-pad 
17.20.6.270 Contractor yard, type I 
17.20.6.280 Contractor yard, type II 
17.20.6.290 Junk yard 
17.20.6.300 Light manufacturing and assembly 
17.20.6.310 Motor vehicle graveyard 
17.20.6.320 Motor vehicle wrecking facility 

17.20.6.005 Agricultural, horticulture, nursery  
The production or growing of agricultural, horticultural or nursery products is permitted in the R-1, I-1, and I-2 
zoning districts.  The sale of such products is only permitted in zoning districts allowing such sales.   

17.20.6.010 Mobile home park 
A. Generally. In addition to the other applicable design and improvement requirements contained in this Title, 

mobile home parks shall comply with the provisions of this part and applicable State law. 
B. Applicability.  The design standards of this section shall apply during the establishment of new mobile 

home parks. 
BC. Licensing requirements. The mobile home park shall be licensed by the Montana Department of Public Health 

and Human Services consistent with State law. 
CD. Maintenance responsibility. The owner of the mobile home park shall maintain the park in a clean and sanitary 

manner and may adopt and enforce community rules. 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 14 



 

 

 

 

 

     
 

  
 

 
  

      

   

  

 

  

 

 
 

 
   

 

 

 

 

 
   
    
    
     

 

    

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

DE.  Adoption of State regulations. The City adopts by reference the Montana State Department of Public Health and 
Human Services regulations titled, “Trailer Courts and Tourist Campgrounds”, Administrative Rules of Montana, 
Title 37, Chapter 111, Sub-Chapter 2. A copy of the above regulation will be filed with the City Clerk as the 
official code for travel trailer parks, campgrounds and mobile home parks. 

EF. Permitted uses.  Accessory buildings and uses customarily incidental thereto are permitted.  No part of any park 
shall be used for nonresidential purposes, except such uses that are a direct service and for the well-being of the 
park residents, and for management and maintenance of the park.  

FG. License required. Prior to the establishment of a mobile home park and before January 2 of each calendar year 
thereafter, the operator of the mobile home park shall obtain a license from the City.  

GH. Size. No mobile home park shall be less than one acre in area, be less than 150 feet wide, or fewer than 10 mobile 
home sites. 

HI. Density.  The maximum density of mobile home parks shall be not more than 10 units per acre. 
IJ. Access. All mobile home parks shall have access to a public thoroughfare. 
JK. Permanent marking of each mobile home space. The limits of each mobile home space shall be clearly marked 

on the ground with permanent markers. The location of mobile home spaces shall be approximately the same as 
shown on the approved site plan. 

KL.  Width of mobile home space. A mobile home space shall be at least 14 feet wide.  
LM.  Shape of mobile home space. Considering the orientation of principal windows in mobile homes, mobile home 

spaces should be arranged diagonally to the street (30 degrees from perpendicular). 
MN. Access. Mobile home spaces shall be arranged to permit the safe and practical placement and removal of mobile 

homes from a private street internal to the development. 
NO. Mobile home pad. There shall be a mobile home pad for each mobile home that meets the following 

requirements: 
1. The size of the pad shall be at least 14 feet wide and at least 70 feet long. 
2. The pad shall provide adequate support for the placement of a mobile home but in no case shall the pad consist of 

less than 6 inches of crushed gravel over a stabilized base. 
OP. Setbacks. The placement of mobile homes, including attached structures (e.g., awnings and carports) and 

accessory structures shall meet the dimensions listed in Exhibit 20-5.  

Exhibit 20-5.  Setbacks for Mobile Homes and Accessory 

Structures 

Mobile 

Home 

(feet) 

Accessory  

Structure 

(feet) 

From the property line of an arterial street or higher 
From the property line of a collector street or local street 
From a property  boundary line when not a ROW 
Between mobile homes 

50 
25 
25 
20 

25 
25 
10 
n/a 

PQ. Skirting. Skirting, footings, and piers shall comply with Title 15, Chapter 15.05, OCCGF. Each mobile home 
shall be skirted within 30 days of placement on the pad. 

QR. Streets.   Street widths should be of adequate widths to accommodate expected traffic load, but in all cases shall 
meet the following minimum requirements: 
1. Collector street with guest parking shall be 34 feet wide. 
2. Collector street with no parking shall be 22 feet wide. 
3. Minor street with no parking shall be 20 feet wide. 
4. All dead-end streets shall be limited to a maximum length of 300 feet and shall be provided with a cul-de-sac 

of at least 80 feet in diameter. 
5. Minimum width to each mobile home site shall be 14 feet. 

RS. Internal access. There shall be a system of paved roadways (concrete or asphalt) to provide access from each and 
every trailer and automobile parking space within such mobile home park to the public street or highway.  

ST. Recreation area.  A minimum of 10 percent of the gross mobile home park area shall be reserved for park and 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 15 



 

 

 

 

 
  

 
  

  
 

    

    

   

 
 

    

   

     

 
 

   
 

   
   

 

 
 

  
  

  

 
 

   
 

 
  

 
 

   
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

recreational development.  Such area shall be located in a central area of the mobile home park.  
TU.  Common storage area. The City Commission may require the provision of a common storage area for boats, 

trailers, recreational vehicles, and similar equipment.  Such area shall be screened from view and shall not be 
considered part of the required common area. 

UV. Mail delivery. An off-street area for central mail delivery shall be provided. 
VW. Solid waste collection. An off-street area for the collection of solid waste shall be provided. 
WX. Utilities.  Utilities shall be provided in the following manner or by an alternative manner approved by the City: 

1. All sanitary sewage utilities and water facilities, including connections provided to individual sites, shall meet 
the requirements of the City plumbing and mechanical codes. 

2. The plumbing connections to each mobile home lot shall be constructed so that all lines are protected from 
freezing, from accidental bumping, or from creating any type of nuisance or health hazard. 

3. Water shall be piped to each mobile home and the piping shall not be less than ¾ inch for each mobile home 
unit. 

4. Storm drainage facilities, where necessary, shall be so constructed as to protect those that will reside in the 
mobile home park as well as the property owners adjacent to the park.  A storm drainage plan must be 
submitted for approval to the Director of Public Works. 

5. All electric, telephone and other lines from supply poles to each mobile home lot shall be underground.  
When meters are installed, they shall be uniformly located. 

6. All fuel lines leading to mobile home lots shall be underground and so designed as to conform with the 
requirements of the City plumbing code. 

7. Facilities for the storage and disposal of trash and garbage in a sanitary and lawful manner shall be provided 
in each mobile home park. 

8. Street and yard lights, attached to standards, shall be provided in sufficient number and intensity to permit the 
safe movement of vehicles and pedestrians at night, and shall be effectively related to buildings, trees, walks, 
steps and ramps. 

9. The erection, construction, reconstruction, repair, relocation and/or alteration of all permanent buildings and 
structures located within a mobile home park shall conform to the most recently adopted codes of the City. 

10. All mobile home parks developed under this chapter shall comply with Montana Department of Public Health 
and Human Services regulations found in Title 24, Chapter 301, and Sub-Chapters 3 and 4, ARM or any 
amendment thereto concerning plumbing and electrical requirements.  

17.20.6.020 Residence, zero-lot line 
A. Generally. Houses placed within a zero-lot line development shall comply with all applicable standards, except 

that side yard setbacks are modified. Zero-lot line projects are considered a conditional use in several residential 
districts and are reviewed on a case-by-case basis. 

B. Intent. The intent of a zero-lot line development is to develop housing on narrow lots and/or to maximize useable 
yard area.  Creation of zero-lot line developments will expand the range of housing options in the City and allow 
the creation of affordable housing. 

C. Standard. The side yard setback requirement shall be met when the one side yard equals or exceeds the total side 
yard setbacks for the district. For example, if the district requires a side yard setback of 15 feet on both sides, the 
zero-lot line house shall be placed so that the side yard setback is 30 feet or greater. 

D. Setbacks adjacent to surrounding lots. When a zero-lot line parcel abuts another parcel with conventional 
setbacks, the zero-lot line shall observe the minimum setback for the district on that side. 

E. Construction and maintenance easement required. Each zero-lot line lot with a detached dwelling shall have a 
construction and maintenance easement from the adjoining lot to allow construction and maintenance of the side 
of the house on the lot line.  Each zero-lot line lot with an attached dwelling shall be subject to a maintenance 
agreement that specifies the rights and obligations of both property owners. 

17.20.6.030 Residence, two-family 
Two-family residences shall meet the standards for single-family residences. 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 16 



 

 

 

 

 
    

 
     

  
     

   
  

  
  

   
      

     

  
    

     
      

   
 

   

 

 

 

 
 

  
 

 
    

  
  
  

 

 
  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.20.6.040 Residence, multi-family and residence, condominium 
Multi-family and condominium residential buildings should have separate entrances to each dwelling unit if located in a 
mixed use zoning district. 

17.20.6.050 Townhouse 
A. Number of dwelling units. Each building shall contain from 3 to 8 dwelling units. No more than 5 dwelling units 

may be located in one building, if the average lot frontage is less than 20 feet. 
B. Lot dimension and area. Each lot shall be a minimum of 1,300 square feet in area.  Any portion of the lot 

less than 16 feet in width shall not be included in the calculation of the minimum required 1,300 square feet 
lot area.  The minimum average lot width for the end dwelling unit of a townhouse structure shall be 32 feet 
and the minimum lot area of the end dwelling unit shall be 2,600 square feet. The minimum lot width to 
depth ratio shall be no greater than 1 to 7 and shall be based upon the portion of the lot eligible for 
inclusion in the above mentioned area calculation. 

C. Building setback line. 
1.   Front yard.  The minimum depth of a front yard shall be the depth required by the zoning district in 

which the townhouse is located.  (See Exhibit 20-4).  In those instances where the entrance to off-street 
parking spaces for an individual lot is from a public roadway, the minimum building setback line 
from the public road right-of-way shall be 20 feet. 

2.   Side yard.  Every dwelling which is the end unit of a townhouse structure shall have a minimum side 
yard depth required by the zoning district in which the townhouse is located.  (See Exhibit 20-4). 

3. Rear yard.  The minimum depth of a rear yard shall be the depth required by the zoning district in 
which the townhouse is located (See Exhibit 20-4), although the depth of a rear yard for a garage shall 
be 20 feet where the vehicular entrance crosses the rear property line. 

BD. Lot Occupied area. No more than 50 percent of the lot area shall be occupied by a building. 
CE. Utility service. Each  dwelling  unit shall have independent  service connections to all utilities, including  water, 

sewer, and electricity. 
DF. Subsequent divisions. Individual townhouses may not be further subdivided. 
EG. Driveways. When the garage  is located in the front of the townhouse, common driveways shall be used  whenever  

possible. The  width of a single driveway shall be 11 feet and for a common driveway the width shall be 18 feet.  
FH. Vertical off-sets. When 5 or more dwelling units are constructed, there shall be a vertical offset between each 

adjoining dwelling unit. 
GI. Accessory buildings. Accessory buildings, excluding garages and carports, shall not exceed 100 cumulative 

square feet. 
HJ. Front entrances. Front entrances shall be clearly visible from the street and accentuated by a porch or other 

architectural feature. 

17.20.6.060 Residence, manufactured/factory-built 
A. Design and construction. All manufactured/factory-built dwellings shall meet the following minimum standards: 

1. The roof shall have a minimum pitch of 2 to 12. 
2. Suitable roof coverings include clay or ceramic tiles, wood shingles or shakes, fiberglass or asphalt shingles, 

or a standing seam metal. 
3. The siding must be wood, vinyl, or metal horizontal lap siding, wood shingles, masonry veneer or an Exterior 

Insulation and Finish System (EIFS). 
4. An overhang shall extend at least 12 10 inches beyond the exterior wall.  
5. The building shall be set on and anchored to a continuous permanent foundation that extends around its 

perimeter, conforming to the criteria of the most recent edition of the International Residential Code adopted 
by the City of Great Falls. 

17.20.6.070 Campground or recreational vehicle park 
A. Generally. In addition to the other applicable design and improvement requirements contained in this chapter, 

campgrounds shall comply with the provisions of this part and applicable State law. 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 17 



 

 

 

 

 
 

 
   

 
   

 
   
  

 

 
  
    

 

 
  

  
   

   
  

 
  

    
  

 
 

  
   

   

 
 

 
  

    
   

  
  
 
 
 

  

  
   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

B. Maintenance responsibility. The owner of the campground shall maintain the campground in a clean and sanitary 
manner. 

C. Accessory facilities. Accessory facilities (e.g., laundry, food sales) may be allowed as a service to the occupants, 
but shall be designed, operated, and located to inhibit use by non-occupants. 

D. Density. The density shall not exceed 25 spaces per acre (gross).  
E. Access. Recreational vehicle spaces shall be arranged to permit the safe and practical placement and removal of 

vehicles from a private street internal to the development. 
F. Separation. A campground space shall be no closer than 65 feet to the perimeter property line of the site. 
G. Solid waste collection. An off-street area for the collection of solid waste shall be provided.  
H. Licensing requirements. The campground shall be licensed by the Montana Department of Public Health and 

Human Services consistent with State law. 

17.20.6.080 Tavern 
A. Taverns shall comply with the locational standards as may be adopted by the State. 
B. Taverns located in C-1 Districts may not have indoor or outdoor entertainment. 

17.20.6.090 Commercial kennel 
The standards applicable to animal shelters apply to commercial kennels. 

17.20.6.100 Sexually-oriented business 
A. Purpose. This section is intended to regulate sexually-oriented businesses to promote the health, safety, morals, 

and the general welfare of City residents and to establish reasonable and uniform regulations to prevent the 
continued deleterious location and concentration of adult businesses within the City. These provisions have neither 
the intent, purpose, or effect of imposing a limitation or restriction on the content of any communicative materials, 
including sexually-oriented materials. Similarly, it is not the intent, purpose, or effect of these provisions to restrict 
or deny access by adults to distributors and exhibitors of sexually-oriented entertainment to their intended market. 
Neither is it the intent, purpose, or effect to condone or legitimize the distribution of obscene material. 

B. Legislative findings. Based upon analyses of sexually-oriented business by Indianapolis, Indiana; Rochester, New 
York; and Denver, Colorado, which analyses are found applicable and relevant to the City, the City Commission 
makes the following findings: 
1. The establishment of sexually-oriented businesses in business districts which are immediately adjacent to and 

which serve residential neighborhoods has a deleterious effect on both the business and residential segments 
of the neighborhood, causing or contributing to blight and a downgrading of property values. 

2. The establishment of more than 2 sexually-oriented businesses within 600 feet of each other has a deleterious 
effect on surrounding residential and business areas and the fostering of such businesses within a close 
proximity tends to create a “skid row” atmosphere. 

3. The concentration of several sexually-oriented businesses in the same neighborhood tends to attract 
undesirable quantity and quality of transients, a circumstance which adversely affects property values, causes 
an increase in crime and encourages residents and businesses to move elsewhere. 

4. Concern for, and pride in, the orderly planning and development of a neighborhood should be encouraged and 
fostered in those persons comprising residential and business segments of that neighborhood. 

C. Classification. A sexually-oriented business includes the following as defined in Chapter 8 of this Title: 
1. adult arcades 
2. adult book stores/adult video stores 
3. adult cabarets 
4. adult motels 
5. adult motion picture theaters 

D. Applicability. Upon the following events, a sexually-oriented business shall comply with the provisions of this 
section. 
1. the opening or commencement of a sexually-oriented business 
2. the conversion of an existing business, whether or not a sexually-oriented business, to a sexually-oriented 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 18 



 

 

 

 

     
 
   
   

  
  

  
   

   
      

  
  

 
 
   
  
    
 
 

 
   

  
 

 
    

  
  

  

 
   

  
  
   
 

   
 

 
     

  
 

    

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

business 
3. the addition of a sexually-oriented business to an existing sexually-oriented business 
4. the relocation of a sexually-oriented business  
5. the sale, lease, or sublease of a sexually-oriented business 
6. the transfer of securities which constitute a controlling interest in the sexually-oriented business, whether by 

sale, exchange, or similar means 
7. the establishment of a trust, gift, or other similar legal device which transfers the ownership or control of the 

sexually-oriented business, except for transfer by bequest or other operation of law upon the death of the 
person possessing the ownership or control 

E. Proximity to specified zoning districts. A sexually-oriented business shall not be located within 350 feet of a 
zoning district that allows residential development. 

F. Proximity to another establishment of the same kind. A sexually-oriented business shall not be located within 
600 feet of another sexually-oriented business. 

G. Proximity to other specified uses. A sexually-oriented business shall not be located within 600 feet of the 
following: 
1. public library 
2. public playground or park 
3. educational facility (K-12) including its grounds 
4. a State licensed family day care home, group day care home, or day care center 
5. worship facility 
6. any youth-oriented establishment 
If one of these specified uses locates within this area of separation after the sexually-oriented business has been 
granted a building permit or occupancy permit, the sexually-oriented business shall not be required to relocate. 

H. Measurement of distances. For the purpose of this section, specified distances shall be measured in a straight 
line, without regard to intervening structures or streets, from the property line of the parcel with the sexually-
oriented business to the property boundary line with the specified uses or to the specified zoning districts. 

I. Sale of alcohol. A sexually-oriented business shall not sell, distribute, or allow consumption of alcohol on the 
premises.   

J. Building standards. All building openings, entries and windows shall be located, covered, or screened in such 
manner as to prevent the interior of such premises from being viewed from outside the establishment. 

17.20.6.110 Veterinary clinic, small animal 
The standards applicable to animal shelters apply to small animal veterinary clinics. 

17.20.6.120 Vehicle repair 
No vehicle shall be serviced or repaired outside of the principal structure intended for such use. 

17.20.6.130 Mini-storage facility 
A. Minimum lot size. The lot on which a mini-storage facility is located shall be at least one acre in size. 
B. Access. The access to a cubicle shall not open directly onto a public street or alley. 
C. Access. A mini-storage facility shall front on and have direct access to a roadway classified as a collector or a 

higher classification. 
D. Paving required. All driveways, interior aisles, and walkways shall be concrete or asphalt. 
E. Storage of prohibited substances.  No cubicle shall be used to store explosives, toxic substances, hazardous 

materials, or radioactive materials.  
F. Uses. Only uses which are specific to storage shall occur. No portion of the site may be used for fabrication or any 

similar use. 
G. Special standards and guidelines for mini-storage facilities in a commercial zoning district. When a mini-

storage facility is allowed in a commercial zoning district it shall meet the following architectural design standards 
and guidelines (See Exhibit 20-6): 
1. Roof. The roof shall have a minimum pitch of 4 and 12 and be covered with sculptured asphalt, wood, or tile 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 19 



 

 

 

 

   

 
  

  

     
 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

shingles. 
2. Door adjacent to a residential district. No door providing access to a rental cubicle shall be located on the 

outer perimeter of the building when abutting a residential district. 
3. Placement of doors on a single-loaded building. When a mini-storage facility is single-loaded (i.e., cubicle 

doors only on one side), the cubicle doors shall not face the outer perimeter of the site. 
4. Exterior material. At least 40 percent of the wall surface facing toward the outer perimeter of the site shall 

be brick, decorative concrete block (e.g., ground face or split face), stucco, or a combination thereof. 
5. Fencing. Fences shall be placed on the interior of buffer areas, if required. Fences should be decorative, but 

at a minimum shall be vinyl coated chain link fence material with support posts 3” or greater in diameter. 
Vinyl banding shall not be inserted into a chain link fence. 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 20 



 

 

 

 

  

 

  
      

   

   
 

 
      

    

  
    

 
 

   

  
 

   
 

  
    
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Exhibit 20-6.  Key design features of a mini-storage facility project 

17.20.6.140 Casino, type I 
A. Purpose. This section is intended to allow the location of new casinos or the relocation of existing casinos in 

certain zoning districts provided they meet more stringent development and appearance standards than type II 
casinos. 

B. Classification. A casino shall be identified by definition in Chapter 8 of this Title.   
C. Proximity to residentially zoned properties. There is no minimum distance requirement from residential uses or 

between casinos. 
D. Proximity to other specified uses. 

1. Casinos shall not locate within 600 feet of an education facility (K through post-secondary), worship facility, 
park or playground.  The distance shall be measured by direct line, without regard to intervening structures or 
streets, between closest property boundaries; and, 

2. Casinos shall not locate on premises operating a sexually oriented business. 
E. Design Review Board approval.  The Design Review Board shall review and approve the exterior building 

design and finishes; and landscaping, signage, lighting and parking plan for any new or relocated casino, or an 
expansion or exterior renovation of an existing casino. 

F. Special landscaping.  Casinos must comply with all applicable landscaping requirements in Chapter 44 
Landscaping. Additional or special landscaping requirements for type I casinos include the following: 
1. Minimum square footage of interior landscaping, inclusive of landscaping in vehicular use areas and 

foundation planting areas, shall be 20% of the gross property area to be developed. 
2. 50% of said landscaping shall be located between the front lot line and the building. 

G. Special signage.  The following signage requirements shall apply: 
1. No freestanding signs shall be allowed. 
2. Wall signs shall not exceed 7.5% of the building wall area per frontage. 
3. No exterior or interior signage indicating any form of gaming shall be allowed to face an adjacent residential 

use. 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 21 



 

 

 

 

  
     

 
 

   
     

 

  
      

    

      
  

  
  

 
  

 
     

  
   

    
  

 

      

     
 

 
 
   

  

 

  
   

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.20.6.150 Casino, type II 
A. Purpose. This section is intended to prohibit casino gambling in certain zoning districts in the City of Great Falls 

to promote public health, safety and welfare by preserving aesthetic appearances within the City and by reducing 
the public exposure to casino gambling, thereby promoting moral, social and cultural values within the City. 

B. Classification. A casino shall be identified by definition in Chapter 8 of this Title.   
C.  Proximity to residentially zoned properties. Casinos shall not be located within 350 feet of any residentially 

zoned property. The distance shall be measured by direct line, without regard to intervening structures or streets, 
between closest property boundaries. 

D. Proximity to other specified uses. 
1. Casinos shall not locate within 600 feet of an education facility (K through post-secondary), worship facility, 

park or playground.  The distance shall be measured by direct line, without regard to intervening structures or 
streets, between closest property boundaries; and, 

2. Casinos shall not locate within 350 feet of any other casino.  The distance shall be measured by direct line, 
without regard to intervening structures or streets, between closest property boundaries; and, 

3. Casinos shall not locate on premises operating a sexually oriented business. 
E. Design Review Board Approval.  The Design Review Board shall review and approve the exterior building 

design and finishes; and landscaping, signage, lighting and parking plan for any new or relocated casino, or an 
expansion or exterior renovation of an existing casino. 

17.20.6.160 Animal shelter 
A. Confinement of animals. All animals shall be confined to an enclosed building. In an industrial zoning district, 

tThe facility may include a fenced or otherwise confined exercise area provided: 
1. it is at least 200 feet from the property boundary line of a residentially zoned parcel, and 
2. no animal is allowed to remain in the exercise area from dusk to dawn. 

B. Noise control. The building shall be designed and operated so that noise from the animals at the facility cannot be 
heard beyond the property boundary line of the parcel on which it is located. 

17.20.6.170 Cemetery 
Cemeteries shall comply with the following standards:  

1. A cemetery shall have at least 75 double burial plots measuring at least 10 feet by 10 feet to accommodate 2 
adult burials. 

2. Burial plots shall not be located in the floodplain or in wetland areas, nor shall internment occur below the 
groundwater table. 

3. Burial plots shall not be located within 50 feet of a public street right-of-way. 
4. A permanent marker stating the name of the deceased and the birth and death dates, if known, shall identify 

the location of each occupied burial plot. 
5. The deceased shall be contained in a casket. 
6. Private drives shall be concrete or asphalt. 
7. Each burial plot shall have access to a private drive at no greater distance than 20 burial plots apart or be 

located in a building.  
8. The cemetery shall have a formal name, which shall be placed on a permanent sign located by the main 

entrance to the cemetery. 

17.20.6.180 Worship facility 
At least one property boundary line shall abut on a collector street or a higher street classification. 

17.20.6.190 Health care facility 
A heliport or heli-pad may only be allowed as a conditional use when used for transporting patients to and from a 
hospital. 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 22 



 

 

 

 

    
  

  

  
    

   

  
    

  
 

  

   
  

  

 
   

 
   

  
 

 

  
  

  
 

 
  

 
   

 
  

 
 

 
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.20.6.200 Educational facility (K-12) 
A. Modular buildings. Modular buildings may only occur (as a conditional use) in connection with an educational 

facility to accommodate overflow activity while efforts are made to secure a permanent structure. Under no 
circumstance shall modular buildings be located on the premises for more than 2 years. 

B. Access. At least one property boundary line shall abut on a collector street or higher classification. 

17.20.6.210 Composting facility 
A composting facility shall not be located within 600 feet of a residential zoning district, educational facility, worship 
facility, or any other place where the public congregates. 

17.20.6.220 Recycling center 
All material shall be fully contained within an enclosed building. 

17.20.6.230 Solid waste transfer station 
A solid waste transfer station shall not be located within 600 feet of a residential zoning district, educational facility, 
worship facility, or any other place where the public congregates. 

17.20.6.240 Amateur radio station 
Amateur radio stations may be installed, erected, maintained and/or operated in any residential zoning district except 
historic districts, without benefit of a building permit or other entitlement process, so long as all the following 
conditions are met: 

1. The antenna is operated by a federally licensed amateur radio operator as part of the Amateur Radio Service 
and is less than 80 feet in height. 

2. The antenna use involved is accessory to the primary use of the property which is not a telecommunications 
facility. 

3. The premises contains no more than 3 antenna support structures. 
4. Sufficient anti-climbing measures have been incorporated into the facility, as needed, to reduce potential for 

trespass and injury. 

17.20.6.250 Telecommunications facility 
A. Purpose. The provisions of this section are established to promote the public health, safety, and welfare, while at 

the same time not unduly restricting the development of needed telecommunications facilities, and are intended to 
accomplish the following purposes, to the full extent permitted by law: 
1. protect the visual character of the City from the potential adverse effects of telecommunication facility 

development and minor antenna installation 
2. insure against the creation of visual blight within or along the City's scenic corridors and ridgelines 
3. retain local responsibility for and control over the use of public rights-of-way to protect citizens and enhance 

the quality of their lives 
4. protect City residents from the possible adverse health effects associated with exposure to high levels of non-

ionizing electromagnetic radiation (NIER) 
5. protect environmental resources 
6. insure that a competitive and broad range of telecommunications services and high quality 

telecommunications infrastructure are provided 
7. create and preserve telecommunication facilities that will serve as an important and effective part of the 

City’s emergency response network 
B. Applicability. The provisions of this section apply to all telecommunication facilities, except City government 

owned or public service use/facility owned and operated receive and/or transmit telemetry station antennas for 
supervisory control and data acquisition (SCADA) systems for water, flood alert, traffic control devices and 
signals, stormwater, pump stations and/or irrigation systems, public education and transportation with heights 
not exceeding 35 feet.  Additionally, the provisions of this section do not apply to single satellite dishes 
smaller than 10 inches in diameter. 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 23 



 

 

 

 

   
  

   
  

  
 

   
 

   
  

 

   

    
 

  
  

     
 

 

    
  

 
 

     
  

    
 

  
  

   
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

     

   

   
  

   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

C. City licensing. Telecommunications carriers and providers engaged in the business of transmitting, supplying, or 
furnishing of telecommunications originating or terminating in the City shall register with the City pursuant to 
Title 5, OCCGF. 

D. Other permitting and licensing. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall obtain other applicable 
permits/approvals from other governmental agencies which may have jurisdiction over the project. 

E. FCC compliance. Commercial telecommunication facilities and antennas shall comply at all times with FCC 
rules, regulations, and standards.  In event of conflict between federal law and this chapter, federal law shall 
prevail.   

F. Yard setbacks. Facilities and antennas shall not be located in the required yard setback of the zoning district in 
which it is located. 

G. Placement of satellite dish and parabolic antennas. Satellite dish and parabolic antennas shall be situated as 
close to the ground as possible to reduce visual impact without compromising their function. 

H. Historic districts. Commercial telecommunication facilities and antennas shall not be located in a historic district, 
unless fully concealed and not otherwise visible.  

I. Structural requirements. No telecommunication facility shall be designed and/or sited such that it poses a 
potential hazard to nearby residences or surrounding properties or improvements. To this end, any 
telecommunication tower, located at a distance of less than 110 percent of its height from an inhabited area or 
other tower shall be designed and maintained to withstand without failure the maximum forces expected from 
wind and earthquakes when the tower is fully loaded with antennas, transmitters and other equipment, and 
camouflaging, if any. 
1. Initial compliance. Initial demonstration of compliance with this chapter shall be provided via submission of 

a report to the City Building Official prepared by a structural engineer licensed by the State that describes the 
tower structure, specifying the number and type of antennas it is designed to accommodate, providing the 
basis for the calculations done, and documenting the actual calculations performed. 

2. Continued compliance. Proof of ongoing compliance shall be provided via submission to the City Building 
Official at least every 5 (self-supporting and guyed towers)/10 (monopoles) years of an inspection report 
prepared by a structural engineer licensed by the State indicating the number and types of antennas and 
related equipment actually present and indicating the structural integrity of the tower.  Based on this report, 
the building official may require repair or, if a serious safety problem exists, removal of the tower. 

J. Basic tower and building design. All telecommunication facilities shall be designed to blend into the 
surrounding environment. To this end, all the following measures shall be implemented: 
1. Telecommunication towers shall be constructed out of metal or other non-flammable material, unless 

specifically conditioned by the City to be otherwise. 
2. Telecommunication towers taller than 35 feet shall be monopoles or guyed/lattice towers except where 

satisfactory evidence is submitted to the Director of Community Development that a self-supporting tower is 
required to provide the height and/or capacity necessary for the proposed telecommunication use to minimize 
the need for screening from adjacent properties, or to reduce the potential for bird strikes. 

3. Satellite dishes other than microwave dishes shall be of mesh construction, except where technical evidence 
shows that this is not feasible. 

4. Telecommunication support facilities (e.g., vaults, equipment rooms, utilities, and equipment enclosures) 
shall be constructed out of non-reflective materials (visible exterior surfaces only) and shall be placed in 
underground vaults to the greatest extent possible. 

5. Telecommunication support facilities shall be no taller than 15 feet and shall be designed and constructed to 
look like a building or facility typically found in the area. 

6. Telecommunication support facilities in areas of high visibility shall, where possible, be sited below the 
ridgeline or designed (i.e., placed underground, depressed, or located behind earth berms) to minimize their 
profile. 

7. All buildings, poles, towers, antenna supports, antennas, and other components of each telecommunications 
site shall be initially painted and thereafter repainted as necessary with a "flat" paint. The color selected shall 
be one that will minimize their visibility to the greatest extent feasible. Improvements which will be primarily 
viewed against soils, trees, or grasslands shall be painted colors matching these landscapes while elements 
which rise above the horizon shall be painted a blue gray that matches the typical sky color at that location. 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 24 



 

 

 

 

 
  

   
  

   
 

     
 

 
  

 
  

 
   

 
 

  

 

 
 

  
 
 

    

 
      

  

    
 

  
 

    
 

   

  

     

  

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

8. The project description and permit shall include a specific maximum allowable gross cross-sectional area, or 
silhouette of the facility. The silhouette shall be measured from the "worst case" elevation perspective. 

9. The City shall have the authority to require special design of the telecommunication facilities where findings 
of particular sensitivity are made (e.g., proximity to historic or aesthetically significant structures, views 
and/or community features). 

10. Antennas and supporting electrical/mechanical equipment installed on the rooftop or above a structure shall 
be screened, constructed, and/or colored to match the structure to which they are attached. 

11. Telecommunication facilities shall insure that sufficient anti-climbing measures have been incorporated into 
the facility, as needed, to reduce potential for trespass and injury. 

12. No sign shall be placed on a tower. 
13. When a telecommunication facility is located in a residential zoning district, no employee shall be based at 

the site. Routine maintenance and monitoring is permissible. 
K. Required setback. Telecommunication towers shall be set back at least 25 percent of the tower height from all 

property lines. Guy wire anchors shall be set back at least 20 feet from any property line. 
L. Maximum height. Towers shall not exceed the heights listed in Exhibit 20-7. Not withstanding the preceding, no 

tower shall exceed the height limitations described in Chapter 54 of this Title. 

Exhibit 20-7.   Maximum tower/antenna height 

Maximum Height 

Residential zoning districts 35 feet 
Commercial zoning districts 45 feet 
Mixed use zoning districts 45 feet 
Industrial zoning districts 100 feet, 50 additional feet may be added to accommodate co-location if the applicant submits 

information certifying the capacity of the tower for 2 additional providers and a letter of intent from 
the applicant indicating their intent to share space.  A lightening rod, not to exceed 10 feet, shall 
not be included within the height limitations. 

M. Visibility. All telecommunication facilities shall be located so as to minimize their visibility and the number of 
distinct facilities present.  To this end all of the following measures shall be implemented for all 
telecommunications facilities: 
1. No telecommunication facility shall be installed within the influence zone of the Great Falls International 

Airport or any helipad unless the airport owner/operator indicates that it will not adversely affect the 
operation of the airport or helipad; 

2. No telecommunication facility shall be installed at a location where special painting or lighting will be 
required by the FAA regulations unless technical evidence acceptable to the Director of Community 
Development is submitted showing that this is the only technically feasible location for this facility; 

3. No telecommunication facility shall be installed on an exposed ridgeline, in or at a location readily visible 
from Interstate 15, a public trail, public park or other outdoor recreation area, or in property designated as a 
floodway unless it blends with the surrounding existing natural and man-made environment in such a manner 
as to be effectively unnoticeable and a finding is made that no other location is technically feasible; 

4. No telecommunication facility that is readily visible from off-site shall be installed closer than one-half mile 
from another readily visible, un-camouflaged or unscreened, telecommunication facility unless it is a 
co-located facility, situated on a multiple-user site, or blends with the surrounding existing natural and 
man-made environment in such a manner as to be effectively unnoticeable; or technical evidence acceptable 
to the Director of Community Development is submitted showing a clear need for this facility and the 
unfeasibility of co-locating it on one of these former sites; 

5. No telecommunication facility that is readily visible from off-site shall be installed on a site that is not 
already developed with telecommunication facilities or other public or quasi-public uses unless it blends with 
the surrounding existing natural and man-made environment in such a manner so as to be effectively 
unnoticeable or technical evidence acceptable to the Director of Community Development is submitted 
showing a clear need for this facility and the unfeasibility of co-locating it on one of these former sites; and 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 25 



 

 

 

 

  
     

  
   

   
     

 

 
    

     
  

  
 

 
 

  
 

  
 
 

  
 

    
  

  
 

   

  
  

   

    
 

   
      

   
  

 
 

  
  

   
 

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

N. Lighting. Lighting shall comply with the standards contained in Chapter 40 of this Title. 
O. Vegetation protection and facility screening. All telecommunications facilities shall be installed in such a 

manner so as to maintain and enhance existing native vegetation and to install suitable landscaping to screen the 
facility, where necessary. To this end, all of the following measures shall be implemented for all 
telecommunication facilities: 
1. A landscape plan shall be submitted with project application submittal indicating all existing vegetation, 

identifying landscaping that is to be retained on the site and any additional vegetation that is needed to 
satisfactorily screen the facility from adjacent land uses and public view areas.  The landscape plan shall be 
subject to approval during the site plan review process. 

2. Existing trees and other screening vegetation in the vicinity of the facility and along the access roads and 
power/telecommunication line routes involved shall be protected from damage, both during the construction 
period and thereafter. 

3. All areas disturbed during project construction other than the access road and parking areas required under 
Chapter 36 of this Title shall be replanted with vegetation compatible with the vegetation in the surrounding 
area (e.g., ornamental shrubs or natural brush, depending upon the circumstances) to the satisfaction of the 
Director of Community Development. 

4. Any existing trees or significant vegetation, on the site or along the affected access area that die shall be 
replaced with native trees and vegetation of a size and species acceptable to the Director of Community 
Development. 

P. Fire prevention.  All telecommunication facilities shall be designed and operated in such a manner so as to 
minimize the risk of igniting a fire or intensifying one that otherwise occurs.  To this end, all of the following 
measures shall be implemented, when determined necessary by the Building Official: 
1. At least one-hour fire resistant interior surfaces shall be used in the construction of all buildings. 
2. Monitored automatic fire extinguishing systems shall be installed in all equipment buildings and enclosures. 
3. Rapid entry systems shall be installed. 

Q. Environmental resource protection. All telecommunication facilities shall be sited so as to minimize the effect 
on environmental resources. To that end the following measures shall be implemented for all telecommunication 
facilities: 
1. No telecommunications facility or related improvements shall be sited such that their construction will 

damage an archaeological site or have an adverse effect on the historic character of a historic feature or site; 
2. No telecommunications facility shall be sited such that its presence threatens the health or safety of migratory 

birds; 
3. Potential adverse visual impacts which might result from project related grading or road construction shall be 

minimized; 
4. Potential adverse impacts upon nearby public use areas such as parks or trails shall be minimized. 

R. Noise. Telecommunication facilities shall be constructed and operated in such a manner as to minimize the amount 
of disruption caused to the residents of nearby homes and the users of nearby recreational areas such as public 
parks and trails. 

S. Use of backup generators. Backup generators shall only be operated during power outages and for testing and 
maintenance purposes. Testing and maintenance shall only take place on weekdays between the hours of 8:30 a.m. 
and 4:30 p.m. If the facility is located within 100 feet of a residential dwelling, noise levels at the property 
boundary shall not exceed an Ldn (Day-Night Average Level) of 50 dB (decibels). 

T. Visual compatibility. Facility structures and equipment shall be located, designed, and screened to blend with the 
existing natural or built surroundings so as to reduce visual impacts to the extent feasible considering the 
technological requirements of the proposed telecommunication service and the need to be compatible with 
neighboring residences and the character of the community. 

U. Visual analysis. A visual analysis, which may include photo montage, field mock-up, or other techniques, shall 
be prepared by or on behalf of the applicant that identifies the potential visual impacts, at design capacity, of the 
proposed facility. Consideration shall be given to views from public areas as well as from private residences.  The 
analysis shall assess the cumulative impacts of the proposed facility and other existing and foreseeable 
telecommunication facilities in the area, and shall identify and include all feasible mitigation measures consistent 
with the technological requirements of the proposed telecommunication service.  All costs for the visual analysis, 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 26 



 

 

 

 

  
 

    
  

 
 

 

   

  
 

    
 

   
  

   
   

 

    
  

 

 
  

 
 

   
   

  
  

   

    
 

 
   

  
  

 

     
 

 
     

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

and applicable administrative costs, shall be borne by the applicant. The City may require the applicant to provide 
funding to the City to cover the cost of a second analysis if the analysis submitted by the applicant does not 
accurately or completely analyze the visual effects of the proposed project. 

V. NIER (non-ionizing electromagnetic radiation) exposure. No telecommunication facility shall be sited or 
operated in such a manner that it poses, either by itself or in combination with other such facilities, a potential 
threat to public health.  To that end, no telecommunication facility or combination of facilities shall produce at any 
time power densities in any inhabited area that exceed the ANSI C95.1-1992 standard for human exposure or any 
more restrictive standard subsequently adopted or promulgated by the City, county, State, or the federal 
government. 
1. Initial compliance. Initial compliance with this requirement shall be demonstrated for any facility within 

400 feet of residential uses or sensitive receptors such as schools, churches, hospitals, etc. and all broadcast 
radio and television facilities, regardless of adjacent land uses, through submission, at the time of application 
for the necessary permit or entitlement, of NIER calculations specifying NIER levels in the inhabited area 
where the levels produced are projected to be highest.  If these calculated NIER levels exceed 80 percent of 
the NIER standard established by this Section, the applicant shall hire a qualified electrical engineer licensed 
by the State to measure NIER levels at said location after the facility is in operation.  A report of these 
measurements and his/her findings with respect to compliance with the established NIER standard shall be 
submitted to the Director of Community Development.  Said facility shall not commence normal operations 
until it complies with, or has been modified, to comply with this standard.  Proof of said compliance shall be 
a certification provided by the engineer who prepared the original report.  In order to assure the objectivity of 
the analysis, the City may require, at the applicant's expense, independent verification of the results of the 
analysis. 

2. Ongoing compliance. Every telecommunication facility within 400 feet of an inhabited area and all 
broadcast radio and television facilities shall demonstrate continued compliance with the NIER standard 
established by this section.  Every 5 years a report listing each transmitter and antenna present at the facility 
and the effective radiated power radiated shall be submitted to the Director of Community Development.  If 
either the equipment or effective radiated power has changed, calculations specifying NIER levels in the 
inhabited areas where said levels are projected to be highest shall be prepared.  NIER calculations shall also 
be prepared every time the adopted NIER standard changes. If calculated levels in either of these cases 
exceed 80 percent of the standard established by this section, the operator of the facility shall hire a qualified 
electrical engineer licensed by the State to measure the actual NIER levels produced.  A report of these 
calculations, required measurements, if any, and the author's/engineer's findings with respect to compliance 
with the current NIER standard shall be submitted to the Director of Community Development within 5 years 
of facility approval and every 5 years thereafter.  In the case of a change in the standard, the required report 
shall be submitted within 90 days of the date said change becomes effective. 

3. Failure to submit required reports. Failure to supply the required reports or to remain in continued 
compliance with the NIER standard established by this section shall be grounds for revocation of the use 
permit or other entitlement. 

W. Co-located and multiple-user facilities. An analysis shall be prepared by or on behalf of the applicant, which 
identifies all reasonable, technically feasible, alternative locations and/or facilities which would provide the 
proposed telecommunication service.  The intention of the alternatives analysis is to present alternative strategies 
which would minimize the number, size, and adverse environmental impacts of facilities necessary to provide the 
needed services to the City and surrounding rural and urban areas.  The analysis shall address the potential for 
co-location at an existing or a new site and the potential to locate facilities as close as possible to the intended 
service area.  It shall also explain the rationale for selection of the proposed site in view of the relative merits of 
any of the feasible alternatives.  Approval of the project is subject to a finding that the proposed site results in 
fewer or less severe environmental impacts than any feasible alternative site.  The City may require independent 
verification of this analysis at the applicant's expense. Facilities which are not proposed to be co-located with 
another telecommunication facility shall provide a written explanation why the subject facility is not a candidate 
for co-location. 
1. All co-located and multiple-user telecommunication facilities shall be designed to promote facility and site 

sharing.  To this end telecommunication towers and necessary appurtenances, including but not limited to, 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 27 



 

 

 

 

 

   

   
   

 
  

   
 

 
   

  
  

    
   

 
      
   
  

  
      
 
 

 
 

  

  
  
   
 

 

 
    

 
 

     
   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

parking areas, access roads, utilities and equipment buildings shall be shared by site users when, in the 
determination of the Director of Community Development, this will minimize overall visual impact to the 
community. 

2. The facility shall make available unused space for co-location of other telecommunication facilities, including 
space for these entities providing similar, competing services.  A good faith effort in achieving co-location 
shall be required of the host entity.  Requests for utilization of facility space and responses to such requests 
shall be made in a timely manner and in writing and copies shall be provided to the City.  Unresolved 
disputes may be mediated by the Board of Adjustment.  Co-location is not required in cases where the 
addition of the new service or facilities would cause quality of service impairment to the existing facility or if 
it became necessary for the host to go off-line for a significant period of time. 

3. Approval for the establishment of facilities improved with an existing microwave band or other public service 
use or facility, which creates interference or interference is anticipated as a result of said establishment of 
additional facilities, shall include provisions for the relocation of said existing public use facilities.  All costs 
associated with said relocation shall be borne by the applicant for the additional facilities.   

X. Waiver. The City Commission may grant a waiver to the requirements specified in this section when the waiver 
would not increase the visibility of the facility or decrease public safety.  Tower setback requirements may be 
waived when: 
1. the facility is proposed to be co-located onto an existing, legally-established telecommunication tower; or 
2. the reduced setback enables further mitigation of adverse visual and other environmental impacts than would 

otherwise be possible. 

17.20.6.260 Heli-pad 
A. Surface. The surface of the heli-pad shall be of concrete or asphalt. 
B. Location. A heli-pad may be located on the ground or on top of a building with a roof engineered for such use. 
C. FAA requirements. Heli-pads shall obtain all approvals and licenses as may be required. 
D. Landscaping. Landscaping shall be provided as determined by the City on a case-by-case basis. 

17.20.6.270 Contractor yard, type I 
A. Generally. These standards do not apply to contractor yards in Industrial zoning districts 
B. Lot size requirements. The minimum lot size shall be one acre. 
C. Limitations on equipment. No more than 2 pieces of heavy equipment exceeding 3 tons may be stored on the 

premises. 
D. Storage of material. Exterior storage of construction materials, wastes, or any other material related to the 

operation of the contractor yard is prohibited. 
E. Buildings. A building(s) not exceeding a cumulative total of 1,500 3,000 square feet shall be constructed on the 

premises to accommodate the contractor’s operations. 

17.20.6.280 Contractor yard, type II 
A. Lot size requirements. There are no minimum lot size requirements. 
B. Limitations on equipment. There are no limitations on the number of trucks, trailers, or other heavy equipment. 
C. Storage of material. Exterior storage of construction materials, wastes, or any other material related to the 

operation of the contractor yard is permitted. 
D. Buildings. The size of the building(s) shall conform to the dimensional requirements as appropriate for the district. 

17.20.6.290 Junk yard 
A. Generally. All salvage material not fully enclosed within a building with walls, shall be screened from public 

view. Acceptable screening includes fencing or other manmade barriers and natural barriers as herein described.   
B. Standards for fences. If a fence is used, the boards may be spaced and/or slanted to reduce wind load.  The space 

which can be seen from a broadside view will not be more than 1½ inches wide when viewed at any angle from 45 
degrees to 90 degrees to the fence. The interval between spaces will not be less than 7½ inches.  Chain-link metal 
fences with standard fiberglass or other inserts are acceptable, provided the gap between adjacent slats does not 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 28 



 

 

 

 

 
   

  

    

     
  

  
   

   
  

      
  

    

 

   
   
 
        

      
 

     
    

 
 

   
 

 
  

  

  

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

exceed 1½ inches.  The breaks in the fence may be vertical or at any angle; they cannot be horizontal.  Fences are 
to be constructed of sound building materials.  Rough dimensional lumber or better is acceptable.  Slabs are not 
considered rough dimensional lumber.  Plastics or other materials that are placed over the salvage or scrap are not 
acceptable. Trees and shrubs can best be used in conjunction with other screening materials to improve the 
appearance of the salvage or scrap facility.  Chain-link type metal fence with slats inserted is acceptable.  Other 
screening than the two types of fencing specifically approved above (metal and wood) but of equivalent 
permanence, attractiveness, and screening qualities are also acceptable if approved by the Board of Adjustment. 

C. Standards for other types of screening. Screening with shrubs and trees, while not subject to precise 
measurements, is to provide a similar degree of screening at all times of the year as would a fence.  A berm may be 
constructed of any solid material, including stumps, demolition debris, etc.  The slopes of the berm are to be 
covered and graded smooth, with not less than 3 inches of topsoil and seeded with an adequate seeding formula. 

D. Height of screening. Screening must be of sufficient height so that none of the salvage material on the premises 
is visible from public view.  This is not intended to require that permanent buildings, other structures, utility poles, 
cranes or derricks or similar structures be screened. 

E. Consistent use of materials. No more than one of the approved screening materials is to be used on one side of 
the facility.  Trees and shrubs may be placed on the outside of the screening material.  Other sides may use 
different approved materials. 

F. Maintenance. The screening is to be maintained by the facility operator in a neat and workmanlike manner.  It is 
to be replaced where necessary by the operator.  Damage by vandals or other causes is the risk of the operator and 
is not to be a reason for not maintaining the screening.  

17.20.6.300 Light manufacturing and assembly 
A. Outside storage prohibited. Outdoor storage of materials shall be prohibited except in I-1 districts. 
B. Separate loading/unloading area required.  A separate loading/unloading area and entrance shall be provided. 
C. Impact of air contaminants and odors. No air contaminants or potentially offensive odors shall be emitted 

outside of the building or area of manufacture/assembly. 
D. Prohibition on certain materials. No radioactive materials, hazardous substances, hazardous wastes or regulated 

substances shall be handled or produced. 
E. Noise impact on neighboring uses.  Such uses shall not produce loud or offensive noises outside of the building 

or area of manufacturing/assembly.  If necessary, buildings and/or areas housing such uses shall be soundproofed. 

17.20.6.310 Motor vehicle graveyard 
This use must meet all requirements as required by State law. 

17.20.6.320 Motor vehicle wrecking facility 
This use must meet all requirements as required by State law. 

Article 7 
SPECIAL STANDARDS FOR ACCESSORY USES 

Sections: 
17.20.7.010 Agriculture, livestock 
17.20.7.020 Automated teller machine, exterior 
17.20.7.030 Bed and breakfast  
17.20.7.040 Fences 
17.20.7.050 Gaming, accessory
17.20.7.060 Garage,  private 

17.20.7.070 Home occupation 
17.20.7.080 Private stable 
17.20.7.085 Residence, accessory 
17.20.7.090 Roadside farmer’s market 

 17.20.7.100  Storage container   

17.20.7.010 Agriculture, livestock 
A. Enclosure required. Horses and cattle shall be kept within fences or other enclosures. 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 29 



 

 

 

 

  

  

   
 
 

 
    

  

   
    
    
   

   

  
  
  

 

  

   
 

  
 

  
     

 

   
  

    

     
 

 

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

B. Building setbacks. All buildings intended to house horses or cattle shall be located at least 50 feet from all 
property boundary lines. 

17.20.7.020 Automated teller machine, exterior   
A. Weather protection. When an ATM is located on the exterior of a building, weather protection must be provided. 

Examples include awnings or a shallow portico. 
B. Security. ATMs shall be located in such a location to be readily visible. 
C. Lighting. Proper lighting levels shall be maintained for security purposes. 
D. Litter. At least one trash receptacle shall be provided. 

17.20.7.030 Bed and breakfast 
A. Intent. This provision is intended to allow entrepreneurs to open up their homes to itinerant overnight guests.  

This will allow residents to provide a valuable service and make more efficient use of large existing homes in the 
City. 

B. Standards. Bed and breakfasts shall comply with each of the following standards: 
1. Type of dwelling. A bed and breakfast shall only occur within a single-family dwelling. 
2. Number of allowable guest rooms. No more than 6 guest rooms shall be offered. 
3. Residency requirement. The operator of the bed and breakfast shall reside within the single family dwelling 

on a permanent basis. 
4. Exterior character of the dwelling unit. The exterior appearance of the building shall not be altered from its 

single-family appearance. 
5. Food preparation. No food preparation or cooking shall be allowed in guest rooms. 
6. Meals. Meals shall only be offered to overnight guests. 
7. Signs. Signs shall be consistent with the provisions of Chapter 60 of this Title. 

17.20.7.040 Fences 
A. Orientation. All non-decorative posts, horizontal supports, cross-members, and the like shall be oriented inward 

to the lot on which the fence is located. 
B. Materials and maximum coverage. Fences shall be constructed of typical building materials commonly used for 

fence construction.  
Single strand wire 
or barbed  wire  
may not be used in  
residential zoning  
districts, except in 
the R-1 district for 
agricultural purposes. In residential zoning districts, fences located between the front  lot line and the front of the 
principal  building shall have a maximum opacity of 50 percent.  

Exhibit 20-8. Standards for fences 

Maximum height (feet) 

Residential 

Zoning 

Districts 

Commercial 

Zoning 

Districts 

Industrial 

Zoning 

Districts 

Between front lot line and front of principal building  4 6 8  12 

From the front of principal building to the rear lot line 6 6 8 12 

C. Maximum height. Fences shall not exceed the heights listed in Exhibit 20-8. Fences shall comply with 
landscape screening requirements and standards of this Title. 

17.20.7.050 Gaming, Accessory 
A. Applicability. Gaming is allowed as an accessory use to the primary, permitted use of the building.  Primary, 

permitted uses are limited to taverns, restaurants, hotels and motels. 
B. Standards. Accessory gaming shall comply with each of the following standards: 

1. Separation from primary use area. Accessory gaming shall be separated from the area occupied by the 
primary use, with only doorway access and with no open windows to the primary use area.  The size and 
location of doorway access shall be in accordance with official building code requirements. 

2. Maximum area. The maximum square footage of the accessory gaming area shall not exceed 500 square 
feet and shall not exceed 15 percent of the total square footage of the area occupied by the primary use. 

3. Exterior signage.  Exterior signage indicating any form of gaming is allowed only on one frontage of 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 30 



 

 

 

 

   
  

 
  

  
  

  

 
 

   
   

   

 
  

   
  

    
   

 
   

 
  

     

     
       

  
  

  

  

 
   

  
    

    
  
    

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

building wall and shall not exceed 15 percent of the total wall sign allocation for that one building frontage.  
The 15 percent is inclusive of the total wall sign allocation for that building frontage. 

4. Accessory gaming entrance.  The primary entrance to the establishment shall not be through the gaming 
area.  Additionally, general public access to restroom facilities shall not be through the gaming area. 

Exhibit 20-9.   Garage area limitations 

Parcel Size 

(Square Feet) 

Total Maximum  Garage  Area 

(Square Feet) 

7,500  1,200
7,501 to 10,000  1,400 

10,001 and higherto 
43,599 1,600 

43,600 (1 acre) and 
higher 

1,800 

17.20.7.060 Garage, private 
Private garages shall occupy no more than the space shown in 
Exhibit 20-9, provided other development standards can be met. 

17.20.7.070 Home occupation 
A. Validity of use. The individual primarily responsible for the 

home occupation must reside in a dwelling unit on the 
parcel. 

B. Location and space limitation. The home occupation shall occur entirely within the dwelling unit and space 
specifically designated for use of the home occupation shall occupy no more than 30 percent of the total floor area. 

C. Employees. No more than 1 nonresident employee may work on the property at a time. (Note: There is no 
restriction on the number of people that may be employed and that work off-site.) 

D. Exterior character of the dwelling unit. The exterior character of the dwelling unit shall not be substantially 
altered to accommodate the home occupation. 

E. Storage of materials.  Exterior storage of materials or equipment is prohibited. 
F. Signs. No exterior display shall be permitted except that one non-illuminated nameplate or home occupation sign 

shall be allowed. The sign shall be limited to 144 square inches (one square foot) in area. Such sign or nameplate 
shall be placed flat against the dwelling unit. Signage for home occupations must conform to the requirements 
in section 17.60.2.020(K) of chapter 60 of this Title. 

G. Retail sales. The indoor display or retail sales of those products manufactured or otherwise made on the premises 
are permitted. All other on-site sales are prohibited. 

H. Limitations on business vehicles. No vehicle used for the home occupation shall exceed a one-ton rate capacity. 
No more than one such vehicle shall be parked on the site. 

I. Prohibited uses. The following uses do not qualify as a home occupation: veterinary services, medical offices, 
animal boarding or grooming, barber, hair care, restaurant, vehicle repair, or any other similar high traffic 
generation activity. 

17.20.7.080 Private stable/barn 
A. Minimum lot size. No livestock shall be kept on a lot less than one acre. 
B. Density. No more than 2 head of livestock over the age of 6 months shall be maintained per acre. 
C. Building setbacks. New barns, pole barns, stables, and other similar buildings used to house livestock shall 

observe the building setback standards established for the district plus an additional 10 feet. 
D. Enclosure required. Livestock shall be confined within a fence or other suitable enclosure. 

17.20.7.085 Residence, accessory 
In the C-4 zoning district, only upper level residences are permitted.  

17.20.7.090 Roadside farmer’s market 
A. Time limits. Sales may occur within a temporary structure not exceeding 100 square feet. The structure shall be 

removed from November 15 through May 1. 
B. Parking. Adequate parking shall be provided in sufficient quantity to satisfy demand. 

17.20.7.100 Storage container 
A. Location. Storage containers on commercially zoned parcels shall conform to the following locational standards: 

1. Storage containers shall not be located in a parking area required by this Title.   
2. Storage containers shall only be located between the back of the building and rear lot line. 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 31 



 

 

 

 

  
   

 
    

  
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
  

  

 
     

 
 

 
 

  
  

  
 

    
  

   
  

 
  
 

  
 

  
    
       

   

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

3. Storage containers shall observe the setback requirements for the district in which located. 
4. Storage containers shall not be located in a buffer as may be required by this Title. 

B. Number. No more than one storage container shall be located on a commercially zoned parcel. 
C. Removal of nonconforming containers. Within 1 month following the effective date of this Title, all existing 

containers will be made to conform to this section. 

Article 8 
SPECIAL STANDARDS FOR TEMPORARY USES 

Sections: 
17.20.8.010 General  provisions 
17.20.8.015 Garage  Sales 
17.20.8.020 Itinerant outdoor sales 
17.20.8.030 On-site  construction office 

17.20.8.040 On-site real estate sales office 
17.20.8.050 Sidewalk café 
17.20.8.060 Sidewalk food vendor 

17.20.8.010 General provisions 
A. Generally. Prior to establishment, all temporary uses except for garage sales shall obtain a temporary use permit 

from the City. The requirements listed in this section are intended to address land-use related issues. As such, the 
City Commission may adopt additional requirements relating to the permitting process, hours of operation, 
specific use requirements, hold harmless provisions, insurance, and others appropriate to the temporary use. At its 
discretion, the City may develop a single application for all temporary uses or develop an application for each use. 
No temporary use included in this chapter may be allowed until the City has developed an appropriate application 
and supplemental requirements. 

B. Imposition of conditions. Through the licensing/permitting process, the City may impose additional conditions to 
ensure that a temporary use does not negatively affect surrounding properties or the public health, safety, or 
welfare. 

C. Transfer. Permits issued by the City are not transferable to another person without the prior written consent of the 
entity issuing the authorization. 

D. Temporary uses. Temporary uses are allowed during a specified time period. When the permit expires, all rights 
conferred to the permit holder expire as well.  The City is under no obligation to reissue a permit. 

17.20.8.015 Garage sales 
A. Generally. A temporary use permit from the City is not required for this temporary use. 
B. Frequency and duration. Sales are intended to be conducted no more than twice during a calendar year, 

for a period of not more than three consecutive days per occurrence. 

17.20.8.020 Itinerant outdoor sales 
A. Time limits. Itinerant outdoor sales shall observe the following time limitations: 

1. Christmas trees November 15 through December 25 
2. Fireworks June 30 through July 4 
3. Other No more than 5 days in a month on a given parcel of land or more than 20 in a year 

B. Removal and clean up. All features associated with the sale shall be removed within 48 hours following the 
termination of the sale. 

C. Access. The premises hosting the itinerant outdoor sale shall have direct access to a collector street or a higher 
street classification. 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 32 



 

 

 

 

 
  

 
   

 
 

 
    

   
 

  
    

  
 

 
 

  
   

 
   

    
    

 
 

   
   

 
 

 
   

 
   

 
 

 
 

  
  
   

  
  

 
     

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.20.8.030 On-site construction office 
A. Time limits. A construction office shall be removed within 2 weeks after the issuance of the last occupancy permit 

for the building under construction. 
B. Limitation on use. The use of the office shall be limited to construction management activities associated with the 

construction activities occurring on the parcel on which it is located. 
C. Location. On-site construction offices shall be placed in a reasonable location to limit the impact to adjoining 

property owners. 

17.20.8.040 On-site real estate sales office 
A. When allowed. An on-site real estate office may be established when the project is developed by a single 

developer and the project has more than 75 dwelling units available for sale in the first two phases. 
B. Appearance. The building that houses the sales office shall be of the same type and character as the dwelling units 

being offered for sale within the development. 
C. Time limits. The office shall be closed when 80 percent of the dwelling units of the entire development have been 

sold. 
D. Limitation on use. The sales office is intended to facilitate the sale of residential housing occurring within the 

development in which it occurs and off-site sales activity shall be clearly incidental.  The sales staff shall be 
limited to 2 licensed realtors and 1 support staff. 

17.20.8.050 Sidewalk café 
A. Generally. The provisions of this section provide the opportunity for restaurants in identified areas of the City to 

use adjoining public sidewalks and other public rights-of-way (not to include those controlled by the State of 
Montana) for the purpose of providing outdoor seating. 

B. Purpose. The provisions of this section are intended to accomplish the following purposes: 
1. enhance the pedestrian ambiance of the City by promoting additional activity on City sidewalks and visual 

interest 
2. enhance the appropriate use of existing public spaces 
3. increase economic activity in the area 

C. Location. A sidewalk café shall be located directly in front of the restaurant with which it is associated and it shall 
be operated solely in conjunction with such restaurant. 

D. Obstructions. A sidewalk café may not interfere with any public service facilities located within the street right-
of-way, including public telephones, mailboxes, public signs, public benches, public art, public fountains, and bus 
stops. In addition, a sidewalk café may not interfere with fire escapes, drop ladders, building access points, and 
other points of normal or emergency access. 

E. Pedestrian movement. No portion of the sidewalk café may impede pedestrian movement. Generally, a 4-foot 
wide unobstructed walkway allows adequate pedestrian movement. 

F. Planters. Planters may be used as a visual amenity and to frame off the space allocated for the sidewalk café. The 
size of plant materials shall be compatible in scale with the immediate area. Hanging planters are not permitted. 

G. Lighting. Lighting shall be limited to table top lamps of low intensity. The  Director of Community Development 
may allow additional lighting to provide appropriate levels for safety. 

H. Furnishings. All furnishings shall fit the character of a public streetscape. Umbrellas over each table may be 
permitted if it does not create an obstruction. 

I. Floor covering. A floor covering may not be used in the sidewalk café. 
J. Tables. Round tables may not exceed 36 inches in diameter and square tables may not exceed 36 inches in width. 
K. Food preparation. All food shall be prepared within the restaurant. 

17.20.8.060 Sidewalk food vendor 
A. Vendor cart requirements. Vendor carts shall be wheeled and mobile so that one individual can move and 

maneuver the cart along the sidewalk, but not motorized. Vendor carts, including all appurtenances, shall not be 
larger than 36 inches wide, 72 inches long, and 84 inches high. 

B. Generally. Vendor carts shall be located upon the sidewalk while in operation. When not in operation, vendor 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 33 



 

 

 

 

  
  

  

    
  

 
  

 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

carts shall be stored on private property consistent with the remainder of this Title. 
C. Limitations on location. No vendor shall be located: 

1. within 250 feet of any premises selling the same commodity, unless the vendor is associated with said 
premises, 

2. within 100 feet of another vendor, or 
3. within 15 feet of a street intersection. 

D. Trash and litter. Vendors shall be responsible for maintaining the area around the cart in a neat, clean 
appearance. Vendors shall provide a trash receptacle and dispose of the refuse at an off-site location (not in public 
waste receptacles). 

E. Posting of permits. All permits necessary to operate the vendor cart shall be posted on the cart in plain view. 

Chapter 20 – Land Use 34 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
  

 
 

 
  

   

   

    
  

   

 
 

 
  
 
 

    
 
     

    
 

  

 
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Chapter 24 
SUBDIVISION AND PLATTING 

Sections: 
17.24.010 Legislative findings 
17.24.020 Purpose 
17.24.030 Applicability
17.24.040  Exemptions  
17.24.050 Effect  of recorded plat  
17.24.060 Construction timing 
17.24.070 Title transfers 
17.24.080 Overall development plan 
17.24.090  Disposition of water rights 
17.24.100 Subdivision  design  principles  

17.24.110 Lots 
17.24.120 Blocks 

 17.24.130  Improvements 
17.24.140 Utility easements and right-of-way 
17.24.150 Ditch easements 
17.24.160 Street maintenance agreement 
17.24.170 Property owner’s association 
17.24.180 Special provisions for mobile home parks 
17.24.190 Special provisions for recreational vehicle parks 

17.24.010 Legislative findings  
The City Commission makes the following findings: 

1. The Montana Subdivision and Platting Act (MSPA) – Title 76, Chapter 3, MCA, requires each county, city, 
and town to adopt subdivision regulations consistent with the act. 

2. The subdivision of land directly affects the form and function of the City and the quality of life of City 
residents. 

3. Subdivision regulations are needed to recognize and balance the sometimes diverse interests in the 
subdivision process. 

4. The Montana Subdivision and Platting Act prohibits a local unit of government from adopting subdivision 
regulations that are more stringent than State requirements, unless the local unit of government makes a 
written finding, after a public hearing and public comment and based on evidence in the public record, that 
the local standard or requirement (a) protects public health or the environment; and (b) can mitigate harm to 
the public or environment and is achievable under current technology. 

5. Nothing contained in this chapter is intended to be more stringent than State requirements. 
6. The provisions of this chapter are adopted in accordance with the City’s adopted growth policy. 

17.24.020 Purpose 
This chapter is established to promote the public health, safety, and welfare and is intended to accomplish the following 
purposes: 

1. prevent the overcrowding of land 
2. lessen congestion in the streets and highways 
3. provide for adequate light, air, water supply, sewage disposal, parks and recreation areas, ingress and egress, 

and other public improvements 
4. require development to be in harmony with the natural environment 
5. protect the rights of property owners 
6. require uniform monumentation of land subdivisions and transferring interests in real property by reference to 

a plat or certificate of survey 
7. comply with the requirements of the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act (MSPA) – Title 76, Chapter 3, 

MCA 
8. implement the City’s adopted growth policy  

17.24.030 Applicability 
This chapter applies to all subdivisions submitted for review after the effective date of this Title. The design and 
development standards do not apply to existing subdivisions and/or lots, unless they are further subdivided. 

Chapter 24 – Subdivision and Platting 1 



 

 

 

 

 
 

     

  
  

    
   

  
  

  
   

 

 

  

 
    
    
  
   

    
 

    
  

   

     
 

   
    

  
    

    
  

  
 

   
   

 
  

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.24.040 Exemptions 
A. Exemption for certain divisions of land (See: 76-3-201, MCA). Unless the method of disposition is adopted for 

the purpose of evading this chapter, the requirements of this chapter do not apply to any of the following:  
1. A division of land created by order of any court of record in this State or by operation of law or that, in the 

absence of agreement between the parties to the sale, could be created by an order of any court in this State 
pursuant to the law of eminent domain, Title 70, Chapter 30, MCA. Before a court of record orders a division 
of land, the court shall notify the City Commission of the pending division and allow the City Commission to 
present written comment on the division. 

2. A division of land created to provide security for mortgages, liens, or trust indentures for the purpose of 
construction, improvements to the land being divided, or refinancing purposes. This exemption applies to the 
following: 
a. A division of land of any size. 
b. If the land that is divided is not conveyed to any entity other than the financial or lending institution to 

which the mortgage, lien, or trust indenture was given or to a purchaser upon foreclosure of the mortgage, 
lien, or trust indenture. A transfer of the divided land, by the owner of the property at the time that the 
land was divided, to any party other than those identified in this subsection subjects the division of land 
to the requirements of this chapter. 

c. To a parcel that is created to provide security. The remainder of the tract of land is subject to the 
provisions of this chapter if applicable.  

3. A division of land that creates an interest in oil, gas, minerals, or water that is severed from the surface 
ownership of real property. 

4. A division of land that creates cemetery lots. 
5. A division of land created by the reservation of a life estate. 
6. A division of land created by lease or rental for farming and agricultural purposes. 
7. A division of land in a location over which the State does not have jurisdiction. 
8. A division of land created for rights-of-way or utility sites. A subsequent change in the use of the land to a 

residential, commercial, or industrial use is subject to the requirements of this chapter.  
B. Structures on complying subdivided lands (See: 76-3-202, MCA). When the land upon which an improvement 

is situated has been subdivided in compliance with the requirements of this chapter, the sale, rent, lease, or other 
conveyance of one or more parts of a building, structure, or other improvement situated on one or more parcels of 
land is not a division of land and is therefore not subject to the requirements of this chapter.  

C. Certain condominiums (See: 76-3-203, MCA). Condominiums constructed on land divided in compliance with 
this chapter are exempt from the provisions of this chapter if:  
1. the approval of the original division of land expressly contemplated the construction of the condominiums 

and any applicable park dedication requirements in 76-3-621, MCA are complied with; or  
2. the condominium proposal is in conformance with the zoning regulations contained in this Title. 

D. Conveyances of one or more parts of a structure or improvement (See: 76-3-204, MCA). The sale, rent, lease, 
or other conveyance of one or more parts of a building, structure, or other improvement, whether existing or 
proposed, is not a division of land, as that term is defined in this chapter, and is not subject to the requirements of 
this chapter.  

E. Airport land and State-owned lands (See: 76-3-205, MCA). A division of land created by lease or rental of 
contiguous airport-related land owned by a city, a county, the State, or a municipal or regional airport authority is 
not subject to the requirements of this chapter if the lease or rental is for onsite weather or air navigation facilities, 
the manufacture, maintenance, and storage of aircraft, or air carrier-related activities.  A division of State-owned 
land is not subject to the requirements of this chapter unless the division creates a second or subsequent parcel 
from a single tract for sale, rent, or lease for residential purposes after July 1, 1974. 

F. Conveyances executed prior to July 1, 1974 (See: 76-3-206, MCA). The requirements of this chapter do not 
apply to deeds, contracts, leases, or other conveyances executed prior to July 1, 1974. 

G. Subdivisions exempted from review but subject to survey requirements and zoning regulations (See: 76-3-
207, MCA). Unless the method of disposition is adopted for the purpose of evading this chapter, the following are 
not  subdivisions under this chapter  but are subject to the surveying requirements of 76-3-401, MCA  and zoning 
regulations provided by  Chapter 20 of this Title:  

Chapter 24 – Subdivision and Platting 2 



 

 

 

 

    
 

    

     
   

   
   

 
  
   

 
  

  
       

  

  
     

 

 

  
  

  
 

 
  

  
  

 

   
     

  

  
   

 
 

 
    

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

1. A division of land made outside of platted subdivisions for the purpose of relocating common boundary lines 
between adjoining properties;  

2. A division of land made outside of platted subdivisions for the purpose of a single gift or sale in the county to 
each member of the landowner's immediate family;  

3. A division of land made outside of platted subdivisions by gift, sale, or agreement to buy and sell in which 
the parties to the transaction enter a covenant running with the land and revocable only by mutual consent of 
the governing body and the property owner that the divided land will be used exclusively for agricultural 
purposes. A change in use of the land exempted for anything other than agricultural purposes subjects the 
division to the provisions of this chapter. 

4. Relocation of common boundaries affecting 5 or fewer lots within a platted subdivision. 
5. Aggregation of lots within a platted subdivision.  
6. Relocation of a common boundary line between a single lot within a platted subdivision and adjoining land 

outside a platted subdivision. A restriction or requirement on the original platted lot or original unplatted 
parcel continues to apply to those areas. 

A division of land may not be made under this section unless the County Treasurer has certified that all real 
property taxes and special assessments assessed and levied on the land to be divided have been paid. If a division 
of land includes centrally assessed property and the property taxes applicable to the division of land are not 
specifically identified in the tax assessment, the department of revenue shall prorate the taxes applicable to the 
land being divided on a reasonable basis. The owner of the centrally assessed property shall ensure that the 
prorated real property taxes and special assessments are paid on the land being sold before the division of land is 
made.  The County Treasurer may accept the amount of the tax prorated pursuant to this subsection as a partial 
payment of the total tax that is due.  

H. Subdivisions exempted from surveying and filing requirements but subject to review provisions (See: 76-3-
208, MCA).  Subdivisions created by  rent or lease are exempt fro m the surveying and  filing requirements of this 
chapter but must be submitted for review and approved by the City Commission before portions thereof  may be 
rented  or leased.  

I. Exemption from surveying and platting requirements for lands acquired for State highways (See: 76-3-209, 
MCA). Instruments of transfer of land which are acquired for State highways may refer by parcel and project 
number to State highway plans which have been recorded in compliance with 60-2-209, MCA, and are exempted 
from the surveying and platting requirements of this chapter. If such parcels are not shown on highway plans of 
record, instruments of transfer of such parcels shall be accompanied by and refer to appropriate certificates of 
survey and plats when presented for recording.  

17.24.050 Effect of recorded plat 
A final subdivision plat once recorded with the County Clerk and Recorder creates each of the parcels so noted on the 
plat. A recorded plat may be vacated in whole, or in part, consistent with 76-3-305, MCA.  Writing (e.g., notations or 
statements) on the face of the plat, which relate to the lots being created, shall run with the land, as may be applicable to 
each parcel, and be binding on each and every property owner of said parcel. 

17.24.060 Construction timing 
The subdivider shall not proceed with any construction work, including grading and excavation relating to public 
improvements, until the governing body has approved the preliminary plat and other permits as may be required by this 
Title or State law, have been obtained. 

17.24.070 Title transfers 
A final subdivision plat shall be filed with the County Clerk and Recorder before title to the subdivided land may be 
sold or transferred in any manner. After the preliminary plat of a subdivision has been approved, or conditionally 
approved, the subdivider may enter into contracts to sell lots in the proposed subdivision if all of the following 
circumstances are met (See: 76-3-303, MCA): 

1. Under the terms of the contracts the purchasers of lots in the proposed subdivision make any payments to an 
escrow agent, which must be a bank or savings and loan association chartered to do business in Montana. 

Chapter 24 – Subdivision and Platting 3 



 

 

 

 

   
   

  
  

      

 
   

 

    
    

  
   

   

 
  

  
     

 
  

  
 

 
 

 

   

   
 

    
 
  
  
  
 
 
   

   
       
   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

2. Under the terms of the contracts and the escrow agreement, the payments made by purchasers of lots in the 
proposed subdivision may not be distributed by the escrow agent to the subdivider until the final plat of the 
subdivision is filed with the County Clerk and Recorder. 

3. The contracts and the escrow agreement provide that if the final plat of the proposed subdivision is not filed 
with the County Clerk and Recorder within 2 years of the preliminary plat approval, the escrow agent shall 
immediately refund to each purchaser any payments he has made under the contract. 

4. The County Treasurer has certified that no real property taxes assessed and levied on the land to be divided 
are delinquent. 

5. The contracts conspicuously contain the following language: “The real property which is the subject hereof 
has not been finally platted, and until a final plat identifying the property has been filed with the County 
Clerk and Recorder, title to the property cannot be transferred in any manner.” 

17.24.080 Overall development plan 
When a proposed subdivision does not cover the entire parcel and the remainder has development potential, the 
subdivider shall prepare and submit an overall development plan for the entire property as part of the subdivision 
application. While the submittal of an overall development plan does not bind future development of the remainder, it 
ensures that the development of the entire property will be coordinated and well conceived. 

17.24.090 Disposition of water rights 
If a subdivision will create lots averaging less than 5 acres in size, the subdivider shall submit evidence with the final 
plat that the subdivider has: 

1. reserved all or a portion of the appropriation water rights owned by the owner of the land to be subdivided 
and transferred these water rights to a single entity for use by landowners within the subdivision who have a 
legal right to the water and reserved and severed any remaining surface water rights from the land; 

2. if the land to be subdivided is subject to a contract or interest in a public or private entity formed to provide 
for the use of a water right on the subdivision lots, established a landowner’s water use agreement 
administered through a single entity. This agreement must specify how the water rights will be administered 
and describe the rights and responsibilities of landowners within the subdivision who have a legal right and 
access to the water; or 

3. reserved and severed all surface water rights from the land proposed for subdivision. 

17.24.100 Subdivision design principles 
A. Generally. Subdivisions shall be designed to avoid adverse impacts. If avoidance of an adverse impact is not 

possible, then that impact shall be minimized to an acceptable level, if possible, and mitigated as appropriate. It is 
recognized that unmitigated impacts may be unacceptable and may preclude approval (76-3-608(5), MCA). 

B. Building sites. The design and development of a subdivision shall provide satisfactory building sites, which are 
properly related to topography, and shall, to the extent possible, preserve the natural terrain, natural drainage, 
trees, and other existing vegetation. 

C. Specific standards. Subdivisions shall be designed to: 
1. minimize the amount of impervious surface within the subdivision 
2. preserve the character of the surrounding area 
3. preserve natural features, including wetlands, riparian habitat, and drainage ways 
4. promote a walkable and bicycle-friendly community 
5. create street continuity and an interconnected street network 
6. accommodate the housing needs of City residents 
7. promote other purposes in the City’s growth policy plan 

17.24.110 Lots 
A. Lot design. Lots shall conform to the following standards: 

1. No lot shall be divided by another parcel, by a public street right-of-way, or by a private road easement. 
2. No lot shall be divided by a municipal boundary. 

Chapter 24 – Subdivision and Platting 4 



 

 

 

 

  
 

   
   

  
 

   
  

 
  
  

  
  

  
 

   
  

   
 
  
 
 
 

   
    

      
     

 
  

    

   
   

  
 

  

  
    

  
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

3. Each lot shall abut a public or private street that meets the standards of this Title and provides legal and 
physical access. 

4. Side lot lines shall be at substantially right angles to straight road lines and radial to curved road lines. 
5. No lot shall be wholly located within the 100-year floodplain unless a permanent deed restriction is recorded 

with the County Clerk and Recorder indicating that the parcel may only be used for agriculture, recreation, or 
similar use and that no building shall be constructed.  

6. Double frontage lots may only be used to provide separation of residential development from traffic arterials 
or to overcome specific disadvantages of topography or orientation. Physical and legal access shall only be 
provided off of the street with the lowest street classification. 

B. Flag lots. Flag lots shall be avoided. In no circumstances shall the stem of the parcel exceed 150 feet.  
C. Lot size. Lot sizes shall conform to each of the following: 

1. Each lot shall have an area sufficient to meet all design and development standards in this Title.  
2. Each lot shall meet the lot size requirements included in Chapter 20 of this Title. 

D. Buildable area. Each lot intended to accommodate a building shall contain a suitable site for the intended use. For 
a single-family lot, the minimum building area is 2,000 square feet configured to accommodate a building 
footprint of 1,300 square feet.  Lots not intended for building purposes shall be so noted on the face of the plat 
along with the intended use. 

17.24.120 Blocks 
A. Generally. Blocks shall be designed to: 

1. create street continuity and an interconnected street network, 
2. foster bicycle and pedestrian travel, 
3. assure traffic safety, 
4. accommodate the special needs of the use contemplated, and 
5. take advantage of the opportunities or constraints posed by topography or natural features. 

B. Single- and double-tier blocks. Blocks with one tier of lots may be located on the perimeter of the subdivision or 
within the interior of the subdivision when the lots front on a green space or similar feature. Elsewhere, blocks 
shall consist of two tiers of lots. 

C. Block dimensions. A double-tier block shall not be longer than 1,300 feet or less than 300 feet, except where 
necessary due to topography or other natural feature. The length of a single-tier block on the perimeter of the 
subdivision shall conform to the standards of a double-tier block, except when the street network from a 
previously developed area cannot be carried over into the proposed subdivision or when a street from the proposed 
subdivision can not be carried over into the abutting vacant land due to topography and other similar factors. When 
a single-tier block fronts on a linear green space that is narrower than 3 times the average width of the lots in the 
block, the block length shall not exceed 1,600 linear feet. There is no limitation on the length of a single-tier block 
fronting on a non-linear green space (e.g., park, open space). 

D. Mid-block pedestrian crossing. If the length of a double-tier block exceeds 900 feet (as allowed by this part), a 
mid-block pedestrian sidewalk within an easement or public right-of-way may be provided. Other mid-block 
pedestrian sidewalks may be required to provide pedestrian access to public amenities, commercial or employment 
centers, or other pedestrian-oriented areas. Mid-block pedestrian sidewalks shall be well-lit to provide visibility. 

17.24.130 Improvements 
A. Generally. The subdivider shall provide all infrastructure (on-site and off-site) necessary to serve the subdivision 

prior to filing of the final plat or enter into an improvement agreement consistent with the provisions of Chapter 68 
of this Title. Examples of infrastructure include streets, bridges, alleys, sidewalks, street lights, traffic control signs 
and other devices, stormwater facilities, water and sewer facilities, telephone lines, natural gas lines, and off-street 
mail delivery facilities.  All off-site improvements shall be directly attributable to the project (76-3-510, MCA).  

B. Design. Infrastructure shall meet the requirements of this Title, State and federal requirements, and specifications 
of service providers as appropriate. 

Chapter 24 – Subdivision and Platting 5 



 

 

 

 

 
 

 
  

 
     

 
    

 
  

 
 

   
   

   
  

   

  
 

     
 

       
  

   
 

 
 

   

  
 

  
 

  

 
    

    
 

 

 
   

   
   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.24.140 Utility easements and right-of-way 
A. Provision of easements. The subdivider shall provide easements of sufficient width for the construction and 

maintenance of utilities that are not located within a right-of-way dedicated to the City. 
B. Prior authorization within a public right-of-way. If utility lines are to be placed within an existing public right-

of-way, the provider shall obtain prior authorization from the City, county, or State, as appropriate. 
C. Required easement statement. In addition to showing the location of utility easements on the subdivision plat, 

the following statement must appear on the final plat:  

The undersigned grants those duly licensed persons providing or offering to provide telephone, electric power, 
natural gas, cable television, water and sewer service, or other similar service, the right to the joint use of the 
utility easements shown on this plat for the construction, maintenance, repair, or removal of their lines and 
other facilities upon advance notice to the affected landowners and consistent with requirements as may be 
imposed by the City of Great Falls now or in the future. 

17.24.150 Ditch easements 
A. The subdivider shall establish ditch easements in the subdivision, in locations of appropriate topographic 

characteristics and sufficient width, to allow the physical placement and unobstructed maintenance of open ditches 
or belowground pipelines for the delivery of water for irrigation to persons and lands legally entitled to water 
under an appropriated water right or permit of an irrigation district or other private or public entity formed to 
provide for the use of water on the subdivision lots. Establishment of easements is not required if: 
1. The average lot size is less than 1 acre or less and the subdivider provides for disclosure, in a manner 

acceptable to the City Commission, that adequately notifies potential buyers of lots that are classified as 
irrigated land and may continue to be assessed for irrigation water delivery even though the water may not be 
deliverable(See: 76-3-504(i)(i), MCA); or 

2. The water rights are removed or the process has been initiated to remove the water rights from the subdivided 
land through an appropriate legal or administrative process and if the removal or intended removal is denoted 
on the preliminary plat. If removal of water rights is not complete upon filing of the final plat, the subdivider 
shall provide written notification to prospective buyers of the intent to remove the water right and shall 
document that intent, when applicable, in agreements and legal documents for related sales transactions. (See: 
76-3-504(i)(ii), MCA) 

B. The subdivider shall, unless otherwise provided for under separate written agreement or filed easement, file and 
record ditch easements for unobstructed use and maintenance of existing water delivery ditches, pipelines, and 
facilities in the subdivision that are necessary to convey water through the subdivision to lands adjacent to or 
beyond the subdivision boundaries in quantities and in a manner that are consistent with historic and legal rights. 
(See: 76-3-504(k), MCA) 

17.24.160 Street maintenance agreement 
When a street within a subdivision is to remain under private ownership, a street maintenance agreement shall be 
prepared and recorded consistent with Chapter 32 of this Title. 

17.24.170 Property owner’s association 
A. When required. When land (open space, park area, etc.) and/or facilities for the benefit of the subdivision or other 

development project are held in common by multiple owners, a property owner’s association shall be formed 
consistent with State law and this part. 

B. Minimum requirements.  The property owner’s association shall, at a minimum, provide an agreement that 
contains the following: 
1. The parcels which are party to the agreement. 
2. A description of the common property (e.g., land and/or facilities) that the property owners will own in 

common. 
3. The reservation of the common property shall be perpetual, unless otherwise terminated by the City 

Commission in writing and supported by written findings of fact. 

Chapter 24 – Subdivision and Platting 6 



 

 

 

 

  
  
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

4. The agreement is binding on any person having an interest in a parcel that is subject to the agreement. 
5. A specific mechanism for decision making. 
6. The association is responsible for liability insurance, local taxes, and the maintenance of the common 

property facilities. 
7. The association shall assess property owners for all costs associated with the common property.  
8. In the event that an assessment becomes delinquent, the assessment, together with interest thereon and the 

cost of collection shall become a continuing lien on the lot until satisfied. 
C. Recordation of agreement. The agreement governing the ownership of the property shall be legally recorded. 

17.24.180 Special provisions for mobile home parks 
Mobile home parks shall meet the special standards contained in Chapter 20 of this Title. 

17.24.190 Special provisions for recreational vehicle parks 
Recreational vehicle parks and campgrounds shall meet the special standards contained in Chapter 20 of this Title. 

Chapter 24 – Subdivision and Platting 7 



 Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 
   

 
  
    

  

   

 
    
 
 
  
  

 
   

   
  

 

 

    
  

Chapter 28 
DESIGN REVIEW 

Sections: 
17.28.010 Generally  
17.28.020 Legislative findings 
17.28.030 Purpose 
17.28.040 Purpose of diagrams  and sketches 
17.28.050  Standards and guidelines for specified  projects  and buildings 

17.28.010 Generally 
This chapter contains both standards and guidelines. Standards are minimum requirements, which must be met and are 
preceded by “shall”. In contrast, guidelines are preceded by “should”. 

17.28.020 Legislative findings 
The City Commission makes the following findings: 

1. The size, location, orientation, and outward appearance of buildings and many other types of structures affect 
the public realm. 

2. Buildings should fit into the context in which they occur. 
3. The guidelines in this chapter are intended to provide meaningful guidance to applicants, design 

professionals, and public officials charged with administering this chapter without dictating a certain 
architectural style. 

4. This chapter is not intended to limit or infringe upon reasonable accommodations to afford a handicapped 
person equal opportunity to use and enjoy a building. 

17.28.030 Purpose 
This chapter is established to promote the public health, safety, and welfare and is intended to accomplish the following 
purposes: 

1. promote development that is compatible with nearby properties, neighborhood character, and natural features 
2. promote street activity 
3. reinforce public spaces 
4. promote public safety 
5. visually enhance development 

This chapter is not intended to dictate a certain architectural style, or to  restrict  creativity, variety, or innovation, but  is 
intended to insure quality of the built environment. 

17.28.040 Purpose of diagrams and sketches 
Diagrams and sketches are used in this chapter to illustrate various provisions and are not intended to limit creativity or 
alternative design approaches. 

17.28.050 Standards and guidelines for specified projects and buildings 
The following shall comply with the standards and guidelines as listed in Exhibit 28-1, as applicable:  

1. commercial buildings in a commercial, mixed-use (M-1 and M-2),  Public Lands and Institutional (PLI), 
and all residential zoning districts, including new construction, additions that exceed 500 square feet, and 
exterior renovations; 

2. institutional buildings, including new construction, additions that exceed 500 square feet, and exterior 
renovations; 

3. casinos, including new or relocated casinos, or an expansion or exterior renovation of an existing casino; 
4. industrial uses and warehouses in an M-2 Mixed-Use Transitional zoning district; 

Chapter 28 – Design Review 1 



 Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

 

 

 

 
  
    
   

     
    

    

  
 

 
 

 

5. telecommunication towers;  
6. new planned unit development (PUD) projects (non-subdivisions); 
7. buildings in existing planned unit development (PUD) projects; 
8. multi-family residential buildings containing 8 or more dwelling units, including new construction and 

exterior renovations; 
9. multi-family residential buildings when additional dwelling units are added resulting in 8 or more units; and 
10. any single development project with 2 or more buildings containing a total of 8 or more dwelling units, 

including exterior renovations to such buildings.  (Note: this is not intended to apply to single family 
development on single lots). 

11. Any development project forwarded by the City Commission as a condition of approval for zoning, 
subdivision, or annexation. 

Exhibit 28-2.  Solar exposure 

Exhibit 28-3.  Views 

Exhibit 28-4.  Joint and cross access 

Chapter 28 – Design Review 2 



Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Exhibit 28-1. Standards and guidelines for specified projects 

and buildings 

Applicability 

New 

Construction Expansion 

Exterior 

Renovation Guideline Standard 

x x 1. Relationship to site conditions. The placement and massing of the building should positively address the natural terrain of the site and how the building will be viewed from outside the site, its relationship and proximity to adjoining
buildings, and how the building will be viewed from outside the site from all directions.

x x 2. Building placement. Buildings should be located to: (1) take advantage of the site’s natural topography and drainage, existing vegetation, and other natural features; (2) maximize natural surveillance and visibility, (3) enhance the
character of the surrounding area; and (4) facilitate pedestrian access and circulation.

x x 3. Solar exposure. Buildings should be located to take advantage of passive solar efficiencies whenever possible. (See Exhibit 28-2)
x x 4. Building shadows. Buildings should be sited and designed to minimize the impacts of shadows on residences, common areas, public spaces, and pedestrian facilities.
x x x 5. Views. Whenever possible, buildings should be sited to take advantage of viewsheds. In addition, the obstruction of view-corridors from public rights-of-ways should be avoided. (See Exhibit 28-3)

x x x 6. Northerly exposure. In new construction, entrances, drainage facilities, drive-through facilities, etc., should be located on east, west, or south side of a building. Whenever it is absolutely necessary to locate such facilities on a building’s
north side, corrective measures should be taken to mitigate hazardous accumulations of snow and ice.

x x 7. Relation of façade to front lot line. At least 50 percent of the front façade of any building facing the street should be located as close to the front lot line as allowed by the underlying zoning district. (Need to verify applicability to the
zoning districts)

x x x x 8. Compatibility of exterior materials and finishes with surrounding buildings. Exterior materials should be compatible with those of surrounding buildings.
x x x x 9. Consistent use of exterior materials and finishes. Exterior materials and the appearance of rear and side facades should be similar to and compatible with the front façade.

x x x x 10. Use of certain exterior materials prohibited. Plain face concrete block may be used as an exterior treatment provided it is not readily visible from a public street or from a residential district. No more than 20 percent of the wall area may
be plain face concrete block.

x x x 11. Orientation of primary entry. The building’s primary entrance should face the public street rather than the interior or rear of the site.
x x x 12. Design of primary entry. Primary entrances to buildings should be emphasized with a larger door or “framing” devices (e.g., deep overhangs, recesses, porches, arches, arcades, etc.) or other architectural treatment.
x x x 13. Building service areas. Building service areas should be conveniently located and accessible for normal service and maintenance needs. Approaches to such facilities should be adequately engineered for convenient access.
x x x 14. Joint and cross-access. Similar, complimentary, and adjacent land uses should provide cross-access between properties and joint access to arterials adjacent to the property. (See Exhibit 28-4)
x x x x 15. Consistent architectural standards. Architectural standards within a project should be applied consistently on sides of buildings visible from public rights-of-way and/or adjacent residential zones.
x x x x 16. Visual interest and appeal. Architectural design should create visual interest.
x x x x 17. Window tinting. Windows on the first floor should be clear or lightly tinted to allow views into the building
x x x x 18. Façade design. Use of different textures, complementary colors, shadow lines and contrasting shapes to produce attractive facades should be used. Use of a single color, minimal detailing, and blank walls is discouraged.

x x x 19. Building mass. The mass of the proposed building should be compatible with those of surrounding buildings. Potential approaches to reduce the apparent mass include dividing the building mass into smaller sections with the use of
vertical and horizontal offsets.

x x x x 20. Choice of exterior materials. All exterior materials should be sufficiently durable to insure stability, maintainability, and long life. Natural materials, conveying permanence, such as stone, masonry, beveled wood siding are preferred.
x x x x 21. Glare. Reflective surfaces that produce hazardous glares should not be used.

x x x x 22. Colors. Development projects involving a large number of buildings should vary the architecture to create visual interest, as well as deter the monotony of identical treatments. One common and effective way to do this is to vary the use of
exterior colors. This does not mean that groups of buildings need to drastically vary in color. Rather, to vary wall and trim colors in the same “family” of colors, versus use of identical colors for a substantial number of buildings.

x x x 23. Mechanical equipment. Mechanical equipment shall be screened with material compatible with that used architecturally in the structure. The most desirable treatment is where such screening is used as an element of the building design
and is consequently made a part of the architecture of the building.

x x x 24. Signage. Signs should consist of materials and colors that are similar to and compliment the primary structure. Lettering should be consistent throughout the entire project
x x x 25. Minimum proportion of doors and windows. At least 30 percent of the first floor façade facing a public street should consist of windows and doors. Windows should be distributed in a more or less even manner.

x x x 
26. Large building elevations. When the front elevation of a building is more than 750 square feet in area, the elevation should be divided into distinct planes of 500 square feet or less. This division can occur using various means. The

following design features can be used to meet this provision: (1) fascias; (2) canopies and awnings; (3) arcades; (4) functional porches at least 6 feet wide with a roof; (5) bay windows at least 3 feet wide and protruding at least 18 inches
from the wall that extends from the top of building foundation to the eave; (6) vertical offsets at least 2 feet wide; and (7) other multidimensional design features.

x x x x 27. Outdoor lighting. Outdoor lighting shall be consistent with chapter 40 of this Title and as recommended by the Design Review Board.
x x x x 28. Landscaping. Landscaping shall be provided consistent with chapter 44 of this Title and as recommended by the Design Review Board.

x x x 29. Exterior storage of materials. Exterior storage of materials in an M-2 zoning district must shall be attractively screened.

Chapter 28 – Design Review 3 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

   

  
 

  

   

 

 
  

  
 

 
   

 
  
 
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Chapter 32 
TRANSPORTATION FACILITIES 

Sections: 
17.32.010 Legislative findings 
17.32.020 Purpose 
17.32.030  Street classification  
17.32.040 Improvements constructed at  

developer's expense 
17.32.050  Timing of improvements  
17.32.060 Traffic impact analysis 
17.32.070 Facility design requirements 
17.32.080   Street layout considerations 
17.32.090  Street design standards 
17.32.100 Alleys 
17.32.110 Street  intersections 
17.32.120 Acceleration, deceleration, and bypass  

lanes 

17.32.130 Traffic calming  
17.32.140 Common driveways 
17.32.150 Driveway access 
17.32.160 Intersection visibility 
17.32.170 Dedication of  streets 
17.32.180 Right-of-way 
17.32.190 Bridges 
17.32.200 Culverts 
17.32.210 Sidewalks 
17.32.220 Public transit facilities  
17.32.230 Signs and traffic control devices 
17.32.240 Street name signs 
17.32.250 Off-site improvements 

17.32.010 Legislative findings 
The City Commission makes the following findings: 

1. A well-developed and well-maintained street system is needed to provide proper access to property and 
efficient traffic circulation. 

2. Streets serve two competing functions: property access and movement of goods and people. When the 
number of accesses onto a high-traffic street increases, traffic efficiency declines and safety is jeopardized. 

3. The function of a street, number of lots served, traffic level, requirements of emergency services, and driver 
expectations should dictate the street standards in terms of surface width, right-of-way width, maximum 
grade, and so on.  For example, a high-traffic street should be built to a higher standard than a street that 
serves a few residential lots. 

4. An interconnected street system is preferable to a street system where cul-de-sacs are used extensively. 
5. Streets are an important factor in community and subdivision design.  Improperly designed streets and 

intersections can negatively affect the safety and efficiency of public streets, create unnecessary maintenance 
costs, limit a parcel's development potential, and limit a project's desirability. 

6. Excessive street standards that do not further the public health, safety, and welfare are unnecessary and add to 
development costs. 

7. Traffic control devices at high-traffic locations are needed to ensure efficient and safe vehicular and 
pedestrian movement. 

8. The advantages of a single access point to a major residential project (greater sense of security and 
elimination of through-traffic) are outweighed by the advantages of multiple access points, which include 
reduced internal congestion and diffusion of the development's full traffic impact to the external public street 
system. 

9. Street intersections are points of conflict and potential hazard.  Street intersections should be designed to 
afford drivers complete and unobstructed view of approaching traffic to enable them to safely enter or cross 
the traffic flow. 

10. Traffic calming techniques, when properly designed, can be used to enhance safety. 

17.32.020 Purpose 
This chapter is established to promote the public health, safety, and welfare and is intended to accomplish the following 
purposes: 

1. establish a hierarchy of street types with corresponding development standards 
2. optimize efficient traffic movement 
3. optimize traffic safety 

Chapter 32 – Transportation Facilities 1 



 

 

 

 

  
  
 
  
  
   

 
 

    
  
  
 
 

  

   
   

    
   

 

  
 

  
      

  
 

  
 

   
   

     

 
  
 
 

   

  

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

4. ensure legal access to all parcels of land 
5. minimize adverse environmental impacts from street development 
6. create functional and attractive developments that will be an asset to the community 
7. reduce the number of conflict points between pedestrians and vehicles 
8. ensure that all streets accommodate the requirements of emergency vehicles for ingress and egress 
9. establish standards to ensure adequate sight distances at street intersections so that motorists at an intersection 

are able to see approaching traffic and allow them to safely enter or cross the traffic flow 
10. minimize the surface area of streets, thereby reducing stormwater runoff and increasing groundwater 

infiltration 

17.32.030 Street classification 
A. Street types. All existing and proposed streets in the City shall be classified as one of the following: 

1. principal arterial 
2. minor arterial 
3. collector 
4. local 

B. Classification of existing streets.  Existing streets are classified as documented in the “Great Falls Area 
Transportation Plan – 2003”, as may be amended from time to time.   

C. Classification of proposed streets.  Proposed streets shall be classified based on function, anticipated traffic 
speed, and average daily traffic (ADT).  The estimates for ADT shall be based on trip generation rates from the 
most current edition of "Trip Generation" (published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers). Trip generation 
rates from other sources may be used if it can be shown that the alternative source better reflects local conditions. 

17.32.040 Improvements constructed at developer's expense 
The developer shall provide streets and associated improvements consistent with this chapter. 

17.32.050 Timing of improvements 
Improvements required by this chapter shall be completed according to the schedule in Chapter 68 of this Title. 

17.32.060 Traffic impact analysis 
A. When required. A traffic impact analysis shall be prepared when the peak hour traffic of the proposed 

development at build-out exceeds 300 trip ends. When the peak hour traffic is between 200 and 299 trip ends, the 
City may require a traffic impact analysis when circumstances warrant such review. 

B. Preparation. When a traffic impact analysis is required, the applicant shall hire an engineer as approved by the 
City. The approved engineer shall have expertise in transportation planning. 

C. Trip generation rates. Trip generation rates for various land uses shall be based on the manual entitled "Trip 
Generation" (latest edition) published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers. Trip generation rates from 
other sources may be used if it can be shown that the alternative source better reflects local conditions. 

D. Form and content. The traffic impact analysis shall be in written form along with supporting maps and other 
information as appropriate. At a minimum, the report shall include the following elements: 
1. existing traffic circulation conditions and patterns 
2. anticipated traffic circulation conditions and patterns 
3. effects of the project on the street network 
4. recommendations/alternatives to alleviate negative effects 

17.32.070 Facility design requirements 
A. Qualifications. All transportation facilities that may be required in this chapter shall be designed by and 

constructed under the supervision of a registered professional engineer.  
B. Approval required prior to construction. Prior to construction, the registered professional engineer shall submit 

a complete set of plans and specifications for the project to the City Engineer for review and approval. 
C. As-built drawings. A registered professional engineer shall submit a set of as-built drawings to the City Engineer 

Chapter 32 – Transportation Facilities 2 



 

 

 

 

 

  

  

    
 

  
  

 
  

 

   
 

  
   

    
  

 

  
   

  
 

 
   
  
 
     
    

  

  

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

within 4 months following completion of the work. 

17.32.080 Street layout considerations 
A. Consistency with growth policy and others. All new streets shall be consistent with the City’s adopted growth 

policy, the document entitled the “Great Falls Area Transportation Plan – 2003”, and neighborhood plans that may 
be adopted, all of which may be amended from time to time. 

B. Avoidance of environmentally sensitive areas. Streets shall be laid out to avoid environmentally sensitive areas, 
such as wetlands. 

C. Through traffic. Streets shall be laid out to encourage inter-neighborhood travel but discourage unrelated through 
travel and speeding. 

D. Coordination with adjoining parcels. Streets in a new development shall be connected to right-of-way in 
adjacent areas to allow for inter-neighborhood traffic flow.  If adjacent lands are unplatted, stub outs in the new 
development shall be provided for future connection to the adjacent unplatted land. When topographic or other 
conditions make such continuation undesirable, and/or impractical, the Director of the Planning Department, in 
consultation with the City Engineer, may waive or modify this requirement. 

E. River crossings. Where a street crosses a river or stream, the street shall intersect the waterbody at right angles, 
except where impracticable due to environmental damage, excessive construction costs, and other factors.  

F. Divided streets. The City Engineer may permit and may require divided streets to protect environmental features. 
For divided streets, the design standards shall be applied to the aggregate dimensions of the two segments. 

17.32.090 Street design standards 
A. Guardrails. In areas of excessive fill or steep back slopes, roadside guardrail shall be installed consistent with the 

standards in “Roadside Design Guide” (January 1996) as published by the American Association of State Highway 
and Transportation Officials (AASHTO).  

B. Pavement design. A pavement design report shall be prepared for all street projects by a registered professional 
engineer, or other qualified professional approved by the City 
Engineer, and submitted to the City Engineer for review and 
approval.  The design shall be based  on site characteristics 
(e.g., soils) and based  on at least a 20-year performance 
period traffic volume; however, the minimum design lane  
equivalent  18,000  pound single axle load (ESAL)  used in the 
pavement design must not  be less than  50,000 ESAL.  
Pavement thickness shall be  consistent with the standards 
contained in the current AASHTO “Guide for Design of  
Pavement Structures” or the current Asphalt Institute Manual 
Series No. 1 (MS-1).  

C. Cut and fill slopes. Cut and fill slopes shall meet the 
standards in Exhibit 32-1. When these standards can not be 
met because of steep terrain, limited right-of-way, or other 
site constraint, a geotechnical report shall be prepared by a 
professional engineer and submitted to the City Engineer for 
review and approval.  The geotechnical report shall contain, at 
a minimum, the following: 

Exhibit 32-1.  Standards for back slope and 

fill slope under normal conditions 

Allowable 

Back Slope Cut Depth 

0 – 5 feet 5:1 
5 – 10 feet 4:1 

10 – 15 feet 3:1 
15 – 20 feet 2:1 

> 20 feet 1.5:1 
Allowable 

Fill Slope Fill Height 

0 – 10 feet 6:1 
10 – 20 feet 4:1 
20 – 30 feet 3:1 

> 30 feet 2:1 

1. An explanation of why the standards can not be met. 
2. A description of the soil types encountered at the site and their properties. 
3. An assessment of soil slope stability. 
4. A copy of any boring logs, if any were taken. 
5. A description of the recommended design, supported by design calculations. 
If other slope stabilization measures are necessary (e.g., soil pinning, retaining walls), the geotechnical  report shall  
also include the following information:  
1. Settlement characteristics of the soil, including amount of settlement expected, time rate of settlement, 

surcharge or camber if required. 

Chapter 32 – Transportation Facilities 3 



 

 

 

 

 
  
  

     

  
  

 
 

 

  
   

  
  

    

 
     

  
    

      
 

 

  

  
 

 
      

     

     

   

    

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

2. Bearing capacity of the soil. 
3. Expected skin friction of the soil if piles or drilled shafts are proposed. 
4. Soil pressure, stability, and alternates (if a soil retaining wall is being considered). 

D. Cul-de-sacs. Cul-de-sacs must meet a 42½–foot radius from center of cul-de-sac to back of curb, a 55-foot radius 
on the right-of-way, and cannot be longer than 500 feet. 

E. Temporary dead-end streets. When a street terminates in the first phase of a multi-phase project or where it is 
intended that the street will continue into an adjoining vacant parcel when it develops, a temporary cul-de-sac shall 
be provided. Upon completion of the connection, the temporary cul-de-sac shall be removed and the street cross-
section completed. 

F. Street grades. Street grades shall conform to the standards of Exhibit 32-2.  

Exhibit 32-2. Street and alley standards 

Principal 

Arterial 

Minor 

Arterial Collector 

Local 

Street Alley 

Right-of-way width (feet)   110 100 80 60 20
Maximum grade (percent)  5 7 10 10 10
Minimum grade (percent)  

 
 

0.5 

 
 

0.5 

 
 

0.5 

 
 

0.5 

 
 

0.5 

G. Curved streets.  Curved collector streets shall have a centerline radius of not less than two hundred fifty 
feet. Curved local (minor) streets shall have a centerline radius of not less than one hundred feet. 

17.32.100 Alleys 
A. Generally. Alleys may be used to provide access to the rear yard. When an alley is available, vehicular access to 

the lot is encouraged from the alley and not from the street.  If located on a corner lot, access may be from the side 
of the lot. 

B. Standards. The travel surface of an alley shall be between 10 and 12 feet wide within a right-of-way width as 
specified in Exhibit 32-2. 

17.32.110 Street intersections 
Street intersections shall meet the following standards: 

1. Offsets. New intersections along one side on an existing street shall, where possible, coincide with existing 
intersections. When an offset is necessary, the distance between centerlines of the intersecting streets shall be 
no less than 125 feet for local streets. When the street is a collector or arterial, the minimum separation shall 
be 300 feet. 

2. Angle of intersection. Streets shall intersect at right angles, except when topography or other natural 
features precludes such alignment. In no case shall the angle of intersection be less than 60 degrees. 

3. Number of streets. No more than 2 streets may intersect at a given location. 

17.32.120 Acceleration, deceleration, and bypass lanes 
Acceleration, deceleration, and bypass lanes shall be provided on principal and minor arterials as may be required to 
maintain traffic safety and/or efficiency. 

17.32.130 Traffic calming 
A developer may propose and the City may require traffic calming techniques when necessary to provide for traffic 
safety and to promote pedestrian travel. Examples are included in Appendix C to this Title. The specific measure being 
proposed, or required, shall be determined on a case-by-case basis. 

17.32.140 Common driveways 
A. Generally. A common driveway with one curb cut shall be used on minor arterials or principal arterials whenever 

possible to serve two or more properties. 
B. Easement required. The common driveway shall be located within an easement which shall be recorded with the 

Chapter 32 – Transportation Facilities 4 



 

 

 

 

   
 

 
 

  

 

   
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

  
 

  

  

 
 

 
   

   
 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 

  
 

  

 

 
 

  

 

 
 

 

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

County Clerk and Recorder. The easement shall run with the land and can only be terminated by written agreement 
of all of the affected property owners. 

17.32.150 Driveway access 
A. Generally. Prior to the installation of a driveway curb cut or other access point onto a public street or right of way, 

the developer or owner shall obtain approval from the Montana Department of Transportation, Cascade County, or 
from the City. 

B. Width. Curb cuts shall not be  
wider than the widths listed in 
Exhibit 32-3.  For single family 
and duplex uses, the width of  curb  
cuts shall conform to the standards 
listed in Exhibit 32-3  or the 
following, whichever is more 
restrictive: 
1. for lots less than 61 feet in 

width of frontage, the 
cumulative width of curb cuts 
shall not be more than 30% of 
the lot frontage width. 

2. for lots 61 feet or greater 
width of frontage, the 
cumulative width of curb cuts 
shall not be more than 35% of 
the lot frontage width. 

Exhibit 32-3. Maximum curbcut widths 

Type of Use Maximum Width 

Single-family  residential & Duplex 
*(see 17.32.150(B) for further 
restrictions)  

•  One stall, 10 feet* 
•  Two stalls, 20 feet* 
•  Three or more stalls, 30 feet* 
•  30 feet is the maximum allowed width* 

Multi-family   
•  24 feet, two-way 
•  12 feet, one-way  

Commercial zoning district 
•  36 feet, two-way 
•  45 feet with City  Engineer approval 

Industrial zoning district 
• 45 feet 
•  55 feet with City  Engineer approval 

C. Number. The number of curb cuts 
shall conform to the standards 
listed in Exhibit 32-4.  

D. Location. Curb cuts shall be 
located at the discretion and by the 
approval of the City Engineer to 
ensure traffic safety and the 
character of the neighborhood is maintained. 

Exhibit 32-4. Number of curb cuts 

Residential Lot Frontage Number Allowed 

less than 101 feet  1 
101 feet or more 2 

Commercial/Industrial/PLI Lot Frontage Number Allowed 

Less than 51 feet 1 
51 feet to 600 feet 2 
More than 600 feet 3 

E. Off street parking. Approval of curb cuts to serve off street parking that is not connected to a garage or covered 
carport in residential areas is discouraged and shall be at 

F. Drainage structures. All driveways shall be constructed 
so as to not impair drainage within the right-of-way nor 
alter the stability of the roadway subgrade and at the 
same time not impair or materially alter drainage of the 
adjacent areas.  All drainage structures required within 
the public right of way and under the driveways as a 
result of the property being developed shall be installed in 
accordance with the standards of the City. 

G. Driveway paving. Driveways connecting to a public 
street must be surfaced and maintained with a cement 
or asphaltic concrete.  Paving of driveways connecting 
to a public street in an R-1 Zoning District shall be 
required at the discretion of the City Engineer.  

the discretion of the City Engineer. Exhibit 32-5.  Clear visibility triangle 

17.32.160 Intersection visibility 
A. Generally.  To provide motorists with a clear view of 

Chapter 32 – Transportation Facilities 5 



 

 

 

 

 
 

   
  

 
 

 

 
     

  
  

  
   
   

 

  

 
   

      

   
 

   
 

 

    

 
  

   
 

   
 

     

 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

intersecting streets, alleys and driveways, nothing within the clear visibility triangle shall be erected, placed, 
parked, planted, or allowed to grow at a level between 2.5 feet and 8 feet above the adjoining street center line 
surface elevation. A tree whose branches are 8 feet or higher may be located in this area. 

B. Size. The configuration of a clear visibility triangle is shown in Exhibit 32-5 and the length of each leg measured 
along the curbline or edge of roadway, (indicated on Exhibit 32-5 as “x”) shall be 45 feet for street 
intersections, and 10 feet for alleys and 15 feet for driveways. 

C. Exemption. Properties in the C-4 Central Business zoning district are required to comply with the 
provisions in this section unless compliance is not possible due to the setback of the building. 

17.32.170 Dedication of streets 
A. Streets shall be dedicated to the City upon completion, inspection, and acceptance by the City. 
B. Private streets may be allowed within developments that will remain under common ownership, provided they are 

designed and constructed pursuant to the standards as provided for in this chapter, a homeowner’s association is 
formed to own the parcel containing the street and a street maintenance agreement is filed as provided for in this 
chapter. 

17.32.180 Right-of-way 
A. Width.  Right-of-way widths shall be provided for new streets and alleys consistent with Exhibit 32-2. 
B. Allowable uses within right-of-way.  The following may be placed within the right-of-way subject to applicable 

specifications: streets, sidewalks, pedestrian ways, bikeways, and public or private utilities, including, sanitary 
sewer, potable water, telephone wires, cable television wires, gas lines, or electricity transmission. 

17.32.190 Bridges 
A. Load capacity. Bridges shall have a load capacity of H-20 (as described by the American Association of State 

Highway Officials). 
B. Width. The bridge shall be at least as wide as the street surface. 
C. Vertical clearance over another street. Where a bridge passes over another street, there shall be a vertical 

clearance of at least 14.5 feet. 
D. Bridges. When a bridge crosses a watercourse or channel, it shall be designed to handle storm events as listed in 

Exhibit 32-6. 

17.32.200 Culverts 
Culverts shall be installed where appropriate and designed to handle storm events as listed in Exhibit 32-6. Under no 
circumstance shall the cross-section of the culvert be smaller than 15 inches in diameter. 

17.32.210 Sidewalks Exhibit 32-6.  Sizing for bridges and culverts 

Storm Event 

Principal arterial 50-year 
Minor arterial 50-year 
Collector 25-year 
Local 25-year 
Driveway 10-year 

A. When required. Sidewalks shall be provided on both sides of 
public and private streets, but not alleys. In addition, sidewalks 
shall be constructed within a development when necessary to 
provide safe pedestrian access within the project. 

B. Location. Sidewalks in residential areas shall be separated from 
the street by a boulevard area that is at least 6 feet in width. In 
areas where the topography or other physical feature prevents 
this type of placement, the City Engineer shall approve a 
suitable alternative. 

C. Cross-walks within development projects. When a sidewalk crosses a street internal to the project, a pedestrian 
crossing shall be constructed to provide for safe passage. Appropriate design features may include pavement 
treatments, signals, lighting, traffic-calming features, median-refuge areas, signs, and striping. 

D. Access for physically handicapped persons. Sidewalks shall be handicapped accessible consistent with federal, 
State, and local requirements. 

Chapter 32 – Transportation Facilities 6 



 

 

 

 

  
  

   

  
 

  

  
 

   

 
  

 
 

 
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.32.220 Public transit facilities 
If the proposed development project fronts on, or contains, a public street designated as a transit route by the Great Falls 
Transit District and the potential ridership generated by the proposed project at build-out warrants the establishment of a 
transit stop, the City Commission may require the developer to provide those facilities necessary to accommodate a 
transit stop. Such facilities include, a pull-out lane, signage, pedestrian access, lighting, and bike racks. 

17.32.230 Signs and traffic control devices 
Traffic control devices shall be installed at intersections and other locations deemed necessary by the City Engineer to 
provide safety for motorists and pedestrians. Such devices shall meet the specifications contained in the Manual of 
Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) and any amendments made thereto. 

17.32.240 Street name signs 
A. Number and where required. At least one street name sign shall be installed at a street intersection. 
B. Sign appearance. When the street is a public street, street name signs shall be consistent with City standards. 

When the street is private, the developer may install alternate signs, provided the street maintenance agreement 
includes a mechanism for maintenance of the signs and the design is consistent throughout the project. 

C. Names. Street names shall be approved by the Planning Department. 

17.32.250 Off-site improvements 
The developer shall provide off-site transportation improvements to the extent deemed necessary by the City to 
accommodate the development project.  The requirement for such improvements would be based upon a direct 
correlation between the development project and any corresponding offsite improvements identified through a traffic 
impact analysis, if required. 

Chapter 32 – Transportation Facilities 7 



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
    

  
 

   
   

  
     

 
   

 
 

 
 

  

   
  
 

 
   

   
 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Chapter 36 
PARKING 

Articles: 
1. General provisions 
2. Vehicle parking 
3. Bicycle parking 
4. Loading areas 

Article 1 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Sections: 
17.36.1.010 Legislative findings 
17.36.1.020 Purpose 
17.36.1.030 Applicability 
17.36.1.040 Calculations 

17.36.1.010 Legislative findings 
The City Commission makes the following findings: 

1. The design of parking areas is critically important to the economic viability of commercial areas, pedestrian 
and driver safety, the efficient and safe operation of adjoining streets, and community image and livability. 

2. Standards are needed to establish the minimum and maximum number of parking spaces that are needed to 
serve various land uses. 

3. Excessive parking lots reduce density, increase the cost of development, create an unhealthy built 
environment, contribute to the heat island effect associated with urban areas, and decrease the infiltration of 
stormwater into the ground. 

4. Special standards are needed to accommodate the needs of the disabled. 
5. A growing number of people use or would like to use bicycles for recreation, commuting, and general 

transportation. 
6. Inadequate bicycle parking facilities and fear of theft are major deterrents to bicycle transportation. 
7. Shared parking can reduce parking facility costs (including aesthetic and environmental impacts), allows 

greater flexibility in facility location and site design, and encourages more efficient land use. 
8. Parking lots and their access represent a vital connection between the local transportation network and land 

development. 
9. Incorrectly designed parking lots and site access have negative impacts on the site itself, the adjacent and 

nearby public roadways and the image of the business district, river corridor, and the City. 

17.36.1.020 Purpose 
This chapter is established to promote the public health, safety, and general welfare and is intended to accomplish the 
following purposes: 

1. increase the safety and capacity of public streets by requiring off-street parking or off-street loading facilities 
2. minimize adverse effects of off-street parking and off-street loading facilities on adjacent properties and 

surrounding neighborhoods through the requirement of design and maintenance standards 
3. lessen congestion and prevent the overtaxing of public streets by regulating the location and capacity of 

accessory off-street parking or off-street loading facilities 
4. maintain and enhance a safe and efficient transportation system 
5. provide adequate and safe facilities for the storage of bicycles 

Chapter 36 – Parking 1 



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
    

 
     

    

    
  

 

   
 
 

 

 

  
  

  
   

   
   

     
 

  
     

  
 

  

     
  

 
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.36.1.030 Applicability 
A. New construction/uses. For all buildings and structures erected and all uses of land established after the effective 

date of this chapter, facilities required in this chapter shall be provided as specified.  
B. Same use with an increase in intensity of use. When a building, structure, or premises is increased through the 

addition of dwelling units, gross floor area, seating capacity, or other unit of measurement specified herein, 
facilities required in this chapter shall be provided for the amount being added. 

C. Change in use. When an existing use is changed to a new use, facilities required in this chapter shall be provided 
as required for such new use. However, if the building or structure housing the new use was erected prior to the 
effective date of this chapter, facilities required in this chapter shall be provided in the amount to account for the 
difference between the new and old use. 

D. Restriping. When a parking area is restriped, accessible parking spaces, as required by the federal Americans with 
Disabilities Act, shall be marked and designated consistent with this chapter. 

17.36.1.040 Calculations 
When a calculation results in a fraction, the minimum shall be rounded up to the next whole number. 

Article 2 
VEHICLE PARKING 

Sections: 
17.36.2.010 General requirements  
17.36.2.020 Minimum off-street parking requirements 
17.36.2.030 Construction and maintenance 

requirements 
17.36.2.040 Design  requirements  
17.36.2.050 Payment in lieu of parking 

17.36.2.060 Shared parking 
17.36.2.070 Accessible parking and passenger loading 
17.36.2.080 Passenger loading zone 

17.36.2.010 General requirements 
A. Location of parking. All parking spaces provided pursuant to this article shall be on the same lot or an adjoining 

lot with the building, except that the Director of Community Development may permit the parking spaces to be on 
a lot within 400 feet of the lot served by the parking lot if he/she determines that it is impractical to provide 
parking on the same or adjoining lot. 

B. Off-site parking agreements. If required parking is to be provided off-site, the use of such a site for parking shall 
be secured with a long-term agreement acceptable to the City and recorded with the County Clerk and Recorder. 
The City shall be named in that agreement as one of the parties with rights of enforcement. 

C. Front and side yard prohibition. Off street parking for residential uses shall not be located within the setback of 
a lot frontage. This may be either a front or side yard setback, depending upon the lot location and configuration. 
It is not intended to apply to the rear yard setback of a lot bordering an alley. 

DC. Change in use. Any area once designated as required parking shall not be changed to any other use unless and 
until equal facilities are provided elsewhere, in accordance with this article. 

ED. Accessibility. All parking spaces shall be accessible at all times, from a street, alley, or driveway intended to serve 
such parking. 

FE. Use of parking spaces. The required off-street parking shall be for occupants, employees, visitors, and patrons.  
The storage of merchandise, supplies, motor vehicles for sale, or the repair of vehicles on such parking area is 
prohibited. In addition, the use of a parking lot for overnight camping, including recreational vehicle camping, is 
prohibited. 

Chapter 36 – Parking 2 



 

 
 

 
 

 
Chapter 36 – Parking 

 

 
     

    
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.36.2.020 Minimum off-street parking requirements 
A. Minimum number of spaces. The number of off-street parking spaces required shall be no less than as set forth in 

Exhibit 36-1, except as otherwise provided for in this chapter. 
B. Maximum number of spaces. The number of parking spaces provided in a ground surface parking lot may not 

exceed the minimum number by more than 20 percent. However, there shall be no limitation on the number of 
parking spaces provided when the spaces exceeding the minimum are located in a parking garage or similar 
structure. Any additional ground parking spaces above 20 percent shall be allowed only as a conditional use and 
shall be granted upon a finding that additional spaces are needed for that particular use and/or location. 

C. Unspecified uses. For uses not specifically listed in this table, parking requirements shall be based on the most 
comparable use. 

D. Mixed use requirements. For mixed uses, the total requirements for off-street parking spaces shall be the sum of 
the requirements for the various uses.  Off-street parking facilities for one use shall not be considered as providing 
parking facilities for any other use except when considered shared parking as herein provided. 

E. Compact cars. Up to 10 percent of the required number of parking spaces may be sized for compact cars. 

Exhibit 36-1.  Non-accessible parking requirements 

Residential Minimum number of required spaces 

Single-family dwelling 2 per dwelling 

Two-family dwelling 2 per dwelling 

Multi-family dwelling 1.5 per dwelling 

Retirement home, housing projects for 
senior citizens 1 per 3 dwelling units, plus 1 per employee per shift 

Motel, hotel 1 per guest unit, plus 1 per employee per shift 

Fraternities, sororities, cooperatives, 
and dormitories 1 for each 3 occupants for which sleeping facilities are provided 

Boarding houses, lodging homes, and 
similar 1 per guest unit 

Institutional 

Convalescent homes, nursing home, 
rest home 1 per 5 beds, plus 1 per employee per shift 

Church, temple, club, lodge, funeral 
home, auditorium, and similar 1 per 5 seats or 1 per 50 square feet of assemblage area, whichever is greater 

Hospitals 1 per bed plus 1 per employee per shift 

Libraries, museums, art galleries, 
cultural institutions 1 per 50 square feet 

Day care centers, preschools, nursery 
schools 

1 per employee per shift plus 1 for each five children the facility is licensed by the State to 
accommodate 

Schools, elementary and junior high 2 per classroom or 1 per 5 seats in the auditorium or gymnasium or 1 per 50 square feet of 
assemblage area, whichever is greater 

Schools, senior high, colleges or
universities 

2 per classroom plus 1 for each 4 students the school is designed to accommodate or 1 per 5 
seats in the auditorium or gymnasium or 1 per 50 square feet of assemblage area whichever 
is greater 

Commercial 

Amusement centers, arcades, dance 
studios, skating rinks 1 per 200 square feet of gross floor area 

Banks, savings and finance companies 1 per 300 square feet of gross floor area 

Bars, lounges, night clubs, taverns,
casinos 1 per 2.5 seats plus 1 per employee per shift 

Beauty and barber shops 2 per barber or beauty shop chair 

Bowling alleys 5 per alley 

3 



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 

 

  
 

 

   

   
 

 
     
    
   

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Drive-in restaurants, fast-food 
restaurants 1 per 2.5 seats plus 1 per employee per shift 

Exercise facilities, health spas 1 per 200 square feet of gross floor area 

Furniture, home furnishing, appliances 1 per 800 square feet of gross floor area 

Golf Courses 3 spaces per hole of main course 

Household appliance, small engine,
TV, radio and furniture repair 1 per 300 square feet of gross floor area 

Medical and dental laboratories and 
clinics 1 per 250 square feet of gross floor area 

Miniature golf courses 1 per hole 

Motor vehicle maintenance and 
service shops 2 per service area including or work bays plus 1 per employee per shift 

Movie theaters 1 per 4 seats 

Newspaper and printing houses, 
advertising agencies 1 per 300 square feet of gross floor area 

Office, business and professional and 
photography studio 1 per 250 square feet of gross floor area or 1.1 per employee whichever is greater 

Restaurants, cafes 1 per 2.5 seats plus 1 per employee per shift 

Retail home improvement center 1 per 300 square feet of gross floor area 

Retail sales if less than 5,000 square 
feet of floor space 1 per 240 square feet of gross floor area 

Retail sales if over 5,000 square feet 
of floor space 20 plus 1 per 300 square feet in excess of 5,000 square feet 

Stadiums, sports arenas and similar
open assemblies 1 per 5 seats plus 1 per 100 square feet of assemblage area without seats 

Shoe, clothing and hat repair, laundry,
dry cleaning, tailor shop, locksmith 1 per 300 square feet of gross floor areas 

Veterinary clinics 1 per examination room plus 1 per employee per shift 

Industrial 

Warehouses, storage, fright terminals 1 per employee per shift 

Wholesale business 1 per employee per shift plus 1 per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area 

Manufacturing, production, 
assembling, research testing and
processing 

1 per employee per shift 

Lumber yards and building supplies 1 per employee per shift plus 1 per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area 

Heavy equipment, tractor and farm
equipment sales and service 1 per employee per shift plus 1 per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area 

17.36.2.030 Construction and maintenance requirements 
A. Surfacing.  All off-street parking areas shall be surfaced and maintained with cement or asphaltic concrete in 

accordance with standards prescribed by the City Engineer. 
B. Border barricades. Every parking area located adjacent to a property line shall be provided with a suitable curb 

(asphalt or concrete) so as to protect the adjacent property.  Such curb shall be placed at least 2 feet from the 
property line to prevent extension of vehicles beyond the property line. 

C. Outdoor lighting. Outdoor lighting shall be provided consistent with chapter 40 of this Title. 
D. Landscaping. Landscaping shall be provided consistent with chapter 44 of this Title. 
E. Curb cuts and driveway access.  Curb cuts and driveway accesses to parking areas shall be provided consistent 

with chapter 32 of this Title. 

Chapter 36 – Parking 4 



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
  

 
 

  

  

   
  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
           
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
     

  

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.36.2.040 Design requirements 
A. Parking space dimensions. Standard and compact parking spaces shall conform to the dimensions in Exhibit 36-

2. 
B. Service drive, when required. Groups of 3 or more parking spaces, except those in conjunction with single-

family or two-family dwellings on a single lot, shall be served by a service drive so that no backward movement or 
other maneuvering of a vehicle within a public right of way, other than an alley, will be required. 

C. Service drive, standards. Service drives shall be designated and constructed to facilitate the flow of traffic, 
provide maximum safety in traffic ingress and egress and maximum safety of pedestrian and vehicular traffic on 
the site, and meet the dimensional standards in Exhibit 36-2. 

D. Drive-through stacking requirements. Drive-through facilities shall have stacking room for at least six 
vehicles, including one vehicle at the window (or call box, etc.). Stacked vehicles shall not extend into any 
public street, road, alley or right-of-way, or required service drive. 

Exhibit 36-2.   Dimensional standards for standard and compact parking spaces 

Angle 

(a) 

Parking 

Type 

Stall 

Width 

(b) 

Curb 

Length 

(c) 

1-Way aisle 

Width 

(d) 

2-Way aisle 

Width 

(d) 

Stall 

Depth 

(e) 

0° Standard 9 ft. 22 ft. 6 in. 12 ft. 24 ft. 8 ft. 9 ft. 

Compact 8 ft. 19 ft. 6 in. 12 ft. 24 ft. 7 ft. 6 in. 8 ft. 

30° Standard 10 ft. 18 ft. 12 ft. 24 ft. 17 ft. 
Compact 8 ft. 15 ft. 12 ft. 24 ft. 14 ft. 

45° Standard 10 ft. 12 ft. 6 in. 12 ft. 24 ft. 19 ft. 
Compact 8 ft. 10 ft. 6 in. 12 ft. 24 ft. 16 ft. 

60° Standard 10 ft. 10 ft. 6 in. 18 ft. 24 ft. 20 ft. 
Compact 8 ft. 8 ft. 6 in. 15 ft. 24 ft. 16 ft. 6 in. 

90° Standard 10 ft. 6 in. 9 ft. 6 in. 24 ft. 25 ft. 19 ft. 
Compact 8 ft. 7 ft. 6 in. 22 ft. 24 ft. 15 ft. 

17.36.2.050 Payment in lieu of parking 
A. Generally. In the central business core district the Director of Community Development may reduce the number 

of required parking spaces depending on the circumstances of the property and surrounding land uses. 
B. Payment required. If the number of required parking spaces is reduced, the applicant shall pay the City $1,000 

for each space reduced. These payments shall be used to provide, maintain, and improve parking areas that serve 
the central business core district as authorized by the City Commission. 

Chapter 36 – Parking 5 



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
   

  
 

  
      

    
 

   
  

  
 
  

 
 

  

   
  

 
  

  
  
  

  
  

 
  

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   

 

 
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.36.2.060 Shared parking 
There may be instances where 2 or more land uses could share the same parking facilities as shown in Exhibit 36-3. The 
Director of Community Development may, upon application, authorize the joint use of parking facilities required by 
said uses, provided that: 

1. The applicant shows that there is no substantial conflict or overlap in the principal operating hours of the 
building or use for which the joint use of parking facilities is proposed; and, 

2. The parking facility for which joint use is proposed shall be located within 400 feet of the building or use 
required to provide parking; and, 

3. The parties concerned in the joint use of off-street parking facilities shall evidence their agreement for such 
joint use by a legal instrument approved by the City Attorney as to form and content.  Such instrument, when 
approved as conforming to the provisions of this chapter, shall be recorded in the office of the County Clerk 
and Recorder and a copy filed with the Community Development Department; and, 

4. directional signage is provided where appropriate; and, 
5. pedestrian links are direct, clear, and safe; and, 
6. Parking lots are located within the same zoning district as the use they serve. 

Exhibit 36-3.   Examples of uses that could potentially share a parking area 

Land uses with typical 

Weekday peaks 

Land uses with typical 

evening peaks 

Land uses with typical 

weekend peaks 

Banks 
Schools 
Distribution facilities 
Factories 
Medical clinics 
Offices 
Professional services 

Auditoriums 

Bars and dance halls 
Meeting halls 
Restaurants (some types, but not all) 

Movie theaters 

Religious institutions 
Parks 

Malls (some types, but not all) 

17.36.2.070 Accessible parking and passenger loading 
A. Generally. Accessible parking spaces shall be provided subject to this part, the Americans with Disabilities Act 

(ADA), “ADA Standards for Accessible Design” 28 
CFR 36, revised as of July 1, 1994, and amendments 
thereto. 

B. Number required. If parking spaces are required, then 
accessible spaces shall be provided,  in addition to 
inclusive of the required number of regular spaces, in 
the quantity as shown in Exhibit 36-4. One of 8 
accessible parking spaces, but always at least one, must 
be van-accessible. 

Exhibit 36-4. Minimum number of required accessible 
parking spaces  

Total number of  Minimum number of 

required parking additional 

spaces accessible spaces 

1 to 25 1 
26 to 50 2 
51 to 75 3 

76 to 100 4 
101 to 150 5 
151 to 200 6 
201 to 300 7 
301 to 400 8 
401 to 500 9 

501 to 1000 2 percent of total 
1,001 and over  20, plus 1 for each 100 over 1,000  

C. Location. Accessible spaces serving a particular 
building shall be located on the shortest accessible 
route of travel between the parking and the accessible 
entrance. When there are multiple entrances to a 
building of similar prominence (e.g., shopping mall) 
with near-by parking, accessible spaces shall be 
dispersed and provided at each location. In parking 
facilities that do not serve a particular building, 
accessible parking shall be located on the shortest accessible route of travel to an accessible pedestrian entrance of 
the parking facility. 

D. Dimensions. Accessible parking spaces shall be at least 96 inches wide. 
E. Vertical clearance. For van-accessible parking spaces, a 98-inch high clearance shall be maintained above the 

space, access aisle, and on the route to and from the van-accessible space. 

Chapter 36 – Parking 6 



 

 
 

 
 Chapter 36 – Parking 

 
 

  
 

    

     
 

   

   

 
   

  
    

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

F. Maximum slope. Accessible spaces and adjoining access aisles shall have a maximum slope of 1:50 in all 
directions. When accessible spaces are provided in an existing parking lot, the spaces shall be located on the most 
level surface close to the accessible building entrance.  

G. Signage. Each accessible space shall be so designated with a sign identified by the international symbol of 
accessibility mounted on a vertical pole. In addition, van-accessible spaces shall be so designated with a sign 
indicating “Van Accessible”. Such signs shall be located so they cannot be obscured by a vehicle parked in the 
space (a minimum of 6 feet in height). 

H. Pavement striping and markings. The boundary of the access aisle must be marked and the end of which may be 
squared or a semicircle. Additional  pavement markings denoting the 
space are optional. 

I. Accessible route. An accessible route must be provided from the 
accessible parking space to the accessible entrance of the building. It 
must be at least 36 inches wide, without steps or curbs. It shall be 
paved and not contain any feature that would restrict, inhibit, or 
unreasonably impeded the movement of a physically disabled 
individual. (See Exhibit 36-5) 

Exhibit 36-5. Layout of standard and van 

accessible parking spaces 

J. Access aisle. An access aisle for an accessible space shall be the 
same length as the adjacent parking space it serves and be at least 60 
inches wide for car access and 96 inches wide for van-accessibility. 
Two adjoining accessible parking spaces may share a common access 
isle. (See Exhibit 36-5) An access isle for a passenger loading zone 
shall be 60 inches wide and 20 feet long and adjacent and parallel to 
the space. 

17.36.2.080 Passenger loading zone 
If passenger loading zones are provided in the project, then at least one shall be accessible pursuant to this chapter. 

Article 3 
BICYCLE PARKING 

17.36.3.010 Bicycle parking 
A. Generally. Bicycle parking may be provided consistent  with the recommended standards contained in Exhibit 36-

6. When bicycle parking is provided, each such space may substitute for a vehicular parking space up to a 
maximum  of 5 percent of the required number of vehicle parking spaces or 10 spaces, whichever is less. For 
example, if the standards as applied to a  project call for 100 vehicle parking spaces, no more than  5 bicycle 
parking spaces may be provided if substituted for vehicle parking spaces (95 vehicle parking spaces and 5 bicycle 
parking spaces). 

Exhibit 36-6.   Recommended number of bicycle parking spaces 

Land use Number of recommended spaces 

Multi-family 1 space per 2 apartments 
Primary or secondary school 10% of the number of students, plus 3% of the number of employees 
College or university 6% of the number of students, plus 3% of the number of employees 
Dorms, fraternities, sororities 1 space per 3 students 
Shopping mall 5% of the number of vehicle parking spaces 
Office 5% of the number of vehicle parking spaces 
Governmental 10% of the number of vehicle parking spaces 
Movie theater 5% of the number of vehicle parking spaces 
Restaurant 5% of the number of vehicle parking spaces 
Manufacturing / industrial 3% of the number of vehicle parking spaces 

7 



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
  

  
   

 

  

    
  

  
 

 
 

 
 
 
   
  
  

 
 

 

  
 

  
  

 

 
    

   
  

 
   

   

 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Other 5% to 10% of the number of vehicle parking spaces 

B. Location. Bicycle parking shall be located in visible and prominent locations near the building entrance and shall 
be as close or closer to the entrance than the nearest parking space. Under no circumstance should bicycle parking 
be more than 100 feet from the entrance. Where there is more than one building on a site, or where a building has 
more than one main entrance, the parking must be distributed to serve all buildings or main entrances. If possible, 
racks should be protected from the elements by an awning, overhang, or similar covering. Racks should not be 
placed so they block the entrance or inhibit pedestrian flow in or out of the building. 

C. Design. Bicycle parking areas should be 
incorporated  into  the overall building design, 
parking lot layout, and pedestrian circulation  
and coordinated with  street furniture (e.g., 
benches, street  lights, planters) when it is  part  
of the overall project. 

D. Accessibility. Each parking space shall be 
accessible without moving another bicycle - 
generally, allow for 2 feet by 6 feet for each 
bicycle parking space. Provide an aisle at 
least 5 feet wide behind all bicycle parking to 
allow room for maneuvering. (Exhibit 36-7) 

E. Lighting. Bicycle parking spaces shall have 
adequate lighting to promote security and 
avoid vandalism and theft. 

F. Rack design. Bicycle parking may be 
provided in floor, wall, or ceiling mounted 
racks. Racks shall meet the following requirements: 
1. Holds the bicycle frame, not just a wheel. 
2. Can be used with a U-shaped shackle lock. 
3. Accommodates a wide range of bicycle sizes, wheel sizes, and types. 
4. Is covered with material that will not chip the paint of a bicycle that leans against it. 
5. Does not have hazards, such as sharp edges. 
6. Is securely fastened to the ground. 

Exhibit 36-7.   Layout of bicycle parking spaces 

Article 4 
LOADING AREAS 

17.36.4.010 Loading areas 
Exhibit 36-8.   Required number of loading berths 

Aggregate floor area 

Number of 

berths

required 

Less than 24,999 square feet 0 
25,000 square feet to 50,000 square feet 1 
50,001 square feet to 100,000 square feet 2 
For each additional 75,000 square feet 1 additional 

A. Number required. The following and similar types 
of land uses shall provide loading berths as listed in 
Exhibit 36-8: museums, banks and other financial 
institutions, schools (e.g., colleges, universities, high 
schools, elementary schools, trade schools) 
hotels/motels, hospitals, health care clinics, 
department stores, professional offices, warehouses, 
wholesale facilities, industrial facilities, 
manufacturing facilities, and trucking terminals. 

B. Use. A loading berth, when required, shall be available at all times. 
C. Location. Loading facilities shall be located on the same site they are intended to serve. A loading berth may not 

be located within 75 feet of a residential zoning district. 
D. Direct access. Each loading berth shall have direct access to a street or alley without traversing a residential 

Chapter 36 – Parking 8 



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

zoning district. 
E. Size. Exclusive of aisle and maneuvering space, a loading berth shall be at least 12 feet wide, at least 45 feet long, 

and have at least 14 feet of vertical clearance.  
F. Surfacing. All loading areas shall be surfaced and maintained with cement or asphaltic concrete in accordance 

with standards prescribed by the City Engineer. 

Chapter 36 – Parking 9 



 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
  
 

 
 
 

 

  
 

 
   
 
 
 

  

  
  

 
  
 
   

 
 
   

 
   
     

  
   

 

   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Chapter 44 
LANDSCAPING 

Articles: 
1. General provisions 
2. Boulevard areas and street medians 
3. Design standards for commercial, industrial, institutional and civic-use buildings 
4. Design standards for industrial buildings 
45. Design standards for single family, duplex and multi-family dwellings 

Article 1 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Sections: 
17.44.1.010 Legislative findings 
17.44.1.020 Purpose 

17.44.1.030 Installation and maintenance  

17.44.1.040 Specifications for landscaping materials 
17.44.1.050 Use of low-water-adaptive vegetation 

Retaining wall standards 
17.44.1.060 Calculations  

17.44.1.010 Legislative findings 
The City Commission makes the following findings: 

1. A healthy environment is an indication of a healthy community. 
2. Landscaping is a means of making City living more pleasant. 
3. Landscaping helps to maintain and increase property values. 
4. Trees and landscaping provide lasting social, economic, environmental, and aesthetic benefits to the 

community. 
5. Flexible standards allow alternative design options that may better fit the needs of the landowner and that 

may be needed to address unique site characteristics. 
6. Landscaped buffers are needed between parcels of incompatible land uses, and as the degree of 

incompatibility increases, the amount of buffering (width and landscaping) should increase, and vice versa. 

17.44.1.020 Purpose 
This chapter is established to promote the public health, safety, and welfare and is intended to accomplish the following 
purposes: 

1. Make the City more attractive and aesthetically pleasing. 
2. Provide flexible standards where possible, rather than rigid requirements. 
3. Promote and improve public health and safety through the abatement of noise, glare of lights, dust, and air 

pollution. 
4. Improve the aesthetic appearance of the built environment. 
5. Ensure that land uses of different intensity have sufficient buffering between them to minimize negative 

effects. 
6. Create beautiful tree-lined streetscapes. 
7. Promote economic development by providing a high quality of life. 
8. Enhance ambient environmental conditions by providing shade, air purification, oxygen regeneration, 

groundwater recharge, storm water runoff retardation, and noise, glare and heat abatement. 
9. Encourage the preservation, expansion, protection, and proper maintenance of the community forest. 

17.44.1.030 Installation and maintenance 
A. Landscaping and certificate of occupancy. Prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy, all landscaping 

required in this chapter shall be installed or an improvement guarantee shall be filed and accepted by the City 
consistent with Chapter 68 of this Title. Interior landscaping for single-family dwellings shall be installed within 1 

Chapter 44 – Landscaping 1 



 

 
 

 

 
 

     
     
    

   
 

 
 

 

  
  

      
 

   
 

 

 
     

 
    
    

  
   

    

  
  

 

 
  

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

year from the date of the certificate of occupancy. 
B. Landscape and screening maintenance and replacement.  The property owner shall: 

1.   Maintain the landscaping plan as originally approved 
2. Replace plant materials that have died or have otherwise been damaged or removed 
3.  Maintain all non-live landscaping materials. 

BC. Standards. All landscaping shall be installed in accordance with “Arboricultural Standards and Specifications” and 
shall be live vegetation.  

CD. Mature  tree credit. Mature coverage  of existing canopy trees will be  computed and applied directly to the required  
landscaping. 

DE. General maintenance and appearance. Landscaping shall be maintained in good condition so as to  present a 
healthy, neat and orderly appearance, free from refuse, weeds and debris. 

EF. Joint maintenance responsibility. The owner, tenant or agent, if any, shall be jointly responsible for the 
maintenance of all landscaping. 

G.  Tree protection and replacement.  Existing significant trees that are alive and in healthy condition shall be 
preserved to the extent reasonably feasible during development or redevelopment, and may help satisfy the 
landscaping requirements of this chapter.  Such trees shall be considered “protected” trees within the 
meaning of this chapter subject to the exceptions contained in item 3 below.  Streets, buildings and lot 
layouts shall be designed to minimize the disturbance to existing significant trees.  All required landscape 
plans shall accurately identify the locations, species, size and condition of all existing significant trees, each 
labeled showing the applicant’s intent to either remove, transplant or protect. Where it is not feasible to 
protect and retain existing significant tree(s), owners are encouraged to transplant them to another on-site 
location. 
1.  All existing street trees that are located on City rights-of-way abutting the development or 

redevelopment shall be accurately identified by species, size, location and condition on required 
landscape plans, and shall be preserved and protected in accordance with the City of Great Falls, 
“Arboricultural Standards and Specifications.” Unauthorized removal or destruction of such trees 
shall require the following: 

a.  Payment to the City of Great Falls of the value of the trees removed or damaged.  The party 
responsible for the removal or destruction shall select either the City Forester or a qualified 
landscape appraiser to determine such loss based upon an appraisal of the tree to be removed 
by using the most recent published methods established by the Council of Tree and Landscape 
Appraisers; or, 

b.  Replacement of lost or damaged trees, as directed by the City, with a sum of total trunk 
diameters equal to 100% of the trunk diameters of the trees removed.  Replacement shall 
conform to the requirements in Article 2 to this chapter. 

2.  Replacement trees shall meet the following minimum size requirements: 
a.  Canopy Shade Trees 2.0” caliper balled and burlap or equivalent 
b. Ornamental Trees 2.0” caliper balled and burlap or equivalent 
c.   Evergreen Trees 6’ height balled and burlap or equivalent 

3. Trees that meet one or more of the following removal criteria shall be exempt from the requirements of 
this subsection. 

a. dead, dying or naturally fallen trees, or trees found to be a threat to public health, safety or 
welfare; 

b.   trees that are determined by the City to substantially obstruct clear visibility at driveways and 
intersections; 

c.  tree species that constitute a nuisance to the public such as cotton-bearing cottonwood, Siberian 
Elm and Russian Olive. However, native cotton-bearing cottonwood trees, when located in a 
natural area buffer zone or riparian area, are not nuisance tree species. 

17.44.1.040 Specifications for landscaping materials 
A. Generally. All plant material shall be healthy, vigorous, and free of disease and insects. Plant material shall 

conform to the specifications of the American Association of Nurserymen (AAN) for No. 1 grade. 

Chapter 44 – Landscaping 2 



 

 
 

 

 
 

 
   
    

      
  
       

 
    

 

  

  
  

   
 

  

 

  

  
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

  
 

   
   

    

   

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

B. Trees. Trees shall meet the following standards: 
1. Shade trees shall be at least 1½ inches trunk caliper, measured 1 foot above the ground. 
2. Ornamental trees shall be at least 1¼ inches trunk caliper measured 1 foot above the ground. 
3. Evergreen trees shall have a minimum planting height of 5 feet.  

C. Shrubs. Shrubs shall be at least 2-gallon container-grown material or of equivalent size if bare-root. 
D. Groundcover. Groundcover shall be at least 1-gallon container-grown material or of equivalent size if bare-root. 
E. Turf. Turf areas may be sodded or seeded. In areas subject to erosion, sod shall be used. Sod shall be 

commercially grown and clean and free of weeds, noxious pests, and diseases. 
F. Mulch. Where mulch is used as a ground treatment, it shall be applied to a depth of 4 inches. A suitable landscape 

fabric shall be placed between the soil and mulch to impede weed growth. 
G. Lawn edging. It is recommended that lawn edging be installed around all shrub beds. 

17.44.1.050 Use of low-water-adaptive vegetation Retaining wall standards 
The use of low-water-adaptive vegetation should be  Exhibit 44-1. Dimensional standards for retaining walls 

incorporated into landscape designs to the extent possible. 
When the total amount of landscaping in a project, excluding 
boulevard areas, exceeds 5,000 square feet, at least 30% of 
the required vegetation shall be low-water-adaptive 
vegetation and planted in one or more groupings. Retaining 
walls shall not be taller than 6 feet. A series of more or 
less parallel retaining walls may be used provided there 
is at least a 5-foot horizontal separation between the 2 
walls and the area is landscaped with shrubs at a rate of 
at least 10 shrubs per 100 feet (Exhibit 44-1). 

MINIMUM 17.44.1.060 Calculations SEPARATION 

When a calculation is used to determine the number of 
required trees, or the like, and results in a fraction, the 
requirement shall be considered the whole number (rounded 
up). 

Article 2 
BOULEVARD AREAS AND STREET MEDIANS 

Sections: 
17.44.2.010 General provisions 
17.44.2.020 Responsibility for installation of street trees 
17.44.2.030 Landscaping for street medians  
17.44.2.040 Landscaping for boulevard areas 

17.44.2.010 General provisions 
A. Permit required. A permit is required to: 

1. plant trees in the boulevard area 
2. remove or prune existing trees in the boulevard area 

B. Vertical clearance. Trees shall be pruned to provide vertical clearance of 8 feet over sidewalks and 14 feet over 
streets. 

C. Supplemental uses. Street medians and boulevard areas may contain sidewalks, utility installations, signs, 
benches, and other structures installed by a public agency. 

D. Tree selection. Trees required in this article shall be selected from the list contained in Appendix B. 
E. Required removal. Any landscaping in the boulevard area or street median that impedes pedestrian travel or is 

deemed detrimental to public safety shall be removed immediately by the property owner or agent upon written 

Chapter 44 – Landscaping 3 



 

 
 

 

   

  

   
   

 

   
    

 
   
  

  
 

  
  

 

  
    

   
   

  
  

 
  

 
   

   

     
      

    

    
  
  
 
 
 

   

   
  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

notification by the City. 
F. Mulch. Mulch must be contained so as to not spill into the street and/or onto the sidewalk. Property owners are 

required to remove any spillage. 

17.44.2.020 Responsibility for installation of street trees 
The property owner wishing to construct a principal building on a vacant lot shall be responsible for installing the street 
trees consistent with this article.  

17.44.2.030 Landscaping for street medians 
A. Applicability. When a median is incorporated into a subdivision, the provisions of this section apply. 
B. Installation and maintenance responsibility. The developer shall be responsible for installing the landscaping as 

part of the project and a homeowners association shall be responsible for perpetual maintenance or the City, at its 
discretion, may accept responsibility. 

C. Number of trees required. At least 2 ornamental trees or one for each 25 feet of length of the median, whichever 
is more, shall be planted and maintained within the median. By way of example, a median 440 feet long will 
require 18 ornamental trees and a 40-foot median requires 2 trees.  

D. Placement of trees. Ornamental trees shall be planted at least 3 feet from any curb or other pavement. 
E. Spacing of trees. Trees shall be spaced more or less evenly along the length of the median taking into account the 

location of light poles, fire hydrants, and the like and the mature canopy width of existing trees and those being 
planted. 

F. Shrubs, flowers and turf grass. Shrubs, ground cover, and flower beds may be planted in the median to 
supplement the trees. Turf grass shall be installed within the median except in those areas occupied planting beds 
for shrubs, ground cover, and/or flowers. 

17.44.2.040 Landscaping for boulevard areas 
A. Responsibility. The property owner shall maintain landscaping within the boulevard area not occupied by 

roadways, curb and gutter, driveways, sidewalks, or crosswalks according to the standards in this article. 
B. Boulevards in residential areas. Boulevards in residential areas shall conform to the following standards: 

1. Boulevards shall contain grass and trees (with organic mulched reservoirs) and may include shrubs, flowers 
and/or ornamental plants (with organic mulched reservoirs). 

2. At least one canopy type tree shall be planted and maintained in a boulevard section for each 35 lineal feet of 
street and avenue frontage or portion thereof, not covered by driveway, sidewalks, or other approved hard 
surface. 

3. Trees shall be spaced more or less evenly along the length of the boulevard area, taking into account the 
location of light poles, fire hydrants, and the like and the mature canopy width of existing trees and those 
being planted. 

4. No shrub shall be planted within 5 feet of a fire hydrant or within a clear visibility triangle (as defined in 
Chapter 32, Section 17.32.160 of this Title) if its mature height will exceed 2½ feet.  The height shall be 
measured from the adjoining street centerline surface elevation. 

5. Landscaping shall be maintained, and those plantings which fail to survive shall be replaced with approved 
plantings within 3 months. 

6. Materials and vegetation prohibited in a residential boulevard include, but are not limited to, the following: 
a. artificial vegetation including, but not limited to, trees, shrubs, vines, bushes, flowers, and grass. 
b. all non-living material except as specifically allowed by this chapter. 
c. fences/walls (unless approved via a Boulevard Encroachment Permit by the City Engineer). 
d. gravel/decomposed granite/cobble. 
e. sand. 

C. Boulevards in non-residential areas. Boulevards in non-residential areas shall conform to the following 
standards: 
1. Boulevards shall contain grass and trees, and may contain shrubs, flowers, and/or ornamental plants. 
2. Limited amounts of non-living materials (mulches) are permitted when used in conjunction with shrub and 

Chapter 44 – Landscaping 4 



 

 
 

 

  
 

  
   
 

  
   

   

     
   

 
   

    

      

  

  

 
 

 
 

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

  
  
     

  
 
    

 
   
     

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

tree plantings.  Acceptable mulches include organic materials (wood chips and shredded bark), and inert 
inorganic materials (decomposed granite, cobble and gravel).  Where mulch is used, a suitable landscape 
fabric shall be placed between the soil and mulch material to impede weed growth.  However, the use of these 
substitute materials must be specifically approved by the City as part of a landscape plan. 

3. In no case shall the boulevard area include more than 25% non-living material, excluding driveways. 
4. At least one canopy type tree shall be planted and maintained in the boulevard section for each 35 lineal feet 

of street and avenue frontage or portion thereof. 
5. Trees shall be spaced more or less evenly along the length of the boulevard area, taking into account the 

location of light poles, fire hydrants, and the like and the mature canopy width of existing trees and those 
being planted. 

6. No shrub shall be planted within 5 feet of a fire hydrant or within a clear visibility triangle (as defined in 
chapter 32, section 17.32.160 of this Title) if its mature height will exceed 2½ feet.  The height shall be 
measured from the adjoining street centerline surface elevation. 

7. Any landscaping in the boulevard area that impedes pedestrian travel or is deemed detrimental to public 
safety shall be removed immediately by the property owner, tenant, or agency upon written notification of the 
City. 

8. Landscaping shall be maintained and those plantings which fail to survive shall be replaced with approved 
plantings within 3 months. 

9. An automatic irrigation system shall be required of all commercial projects and multi-family projects with 4 
or more dwelling units. 

10. All non-living material must be contained and shall not spill into the street and/or onto the sidewalk.  Owners 
are required to remove any spillage. 

11. Materials and vegetation prohibited in a non-residential boulevard include, but are not limited to, the 
following:  

a. artificial vegetation including, but not limited to, trees, shrubs, vines, bushes, flowers, and grass. 
b. fences/walls (unless approved via a Boulevard Encroachment Permit by the City Engineer). 
c.  sand. 

Article 3 
DESIGN STANDARDS FOR COMMERCIAL, INDUSTRIAL, INSTITUTIONAL AND CIVIC-USE 

BUILDINGS 

Sections: 
17.44.3.010 Applicability 
17.44.3.020 Submittals 
17.44.3.030 Landscaping requirements 

17.44.3.010 Applicability 
A. General applicability. The landscaping requirements set forth in this article apply to: 

1. New buildings constructed after the effective date of this chapter. 
2. All buildings being increased in size by at least 20%. 
3.  All buildings greater than 20,000 sq. ft. changing occupancy or undergoing interior or exterior 

remodeling. 
3.4. New vehicular use areas constructed after the effective date of this chapter. 
4.5.  An expansion of a vehicular use area by 20%, if it equates to 5 or more parking spaces. 
5.6.  All buildings and vehicular use areas which have been cumulatively increased in size by 25% over a 10-year 

period. 
B. Exemption. The following are exempt: 

1. Vehicle use areas located within a parking garage or within a building. 
2. Single-family dwellings or duplex units. 

Chapter 44 – Landscaping 5 



 

 
 

 

    

 
 

   
  

       

 
  

    
   

 
  

      
    
  

 
    

 
 

  
   

   
  

 
  

 
    

  
   

 
  

   
 

  
  

   
    

   
  

 
 

  

 
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.44.3.020 Submittals 
Three copies of all landscape specifications, plans, etc. shall be submitted to the City for review and approval. Plans 
shall be at a scale of 1” = 20’ (for sites one acre or less in size) or 1” = 50’ (for sites larger than one acre), and shall 
include at a minimum: 

1.  A plant list containing botanical names, common name, plant size, number and variety of each plant used 
and mature area of coverage of canopy trees. 

2. A site plan showing dimensioned location of all plant materials, site amenities (signage, benches, etc.), 
north arrow, property lines, easements, utilities and otherwise, and adjacent land uses. 

3. A plan showing location and construction details for all irrigation systems to be installed. 

17.44.3.030 Landscaping requirements 
A. Minimum requirements for interior landscaping.   Minimum square footage of interior landscaping, inclusive of 

landscaping in vehicular use areas and foundation planting areas, shall be 15% of the gross property area to be 
developed or redeveloped for property located in a commercial zone, and 17% of the gross area to be developed 
for non-residential uses in residential zones. 

B. Vehicular use areas requirements. A portion of the required landscaping, equal to at least 10% of the vehicular 
use areas, must be located within the vehicular use areas. The following specific standards shall apply: 

1. Each row of parking spaces in interior parking areas shall be terminated by a landscaped island. 
2. There shall be no more than 20 parking spaces in a row without a landscaped island. 
3. Landscaped islands shall have a minimum island dimension (inside curb face to inside curb face) of 6 

8 feet and shall extend the length of the parking space.  
4. Landscaped areas within a vehicle use area shall be bounded by a continuous concrete curb or other 

similar barrier approved by the City Engineer.  
5. At least 75% of the area within landscaped islands shall be in turf grass. Landscaped islands shall 

contain canopy shade trees, shrubs and/or turf grass. 
6. Where a vehicular use area abuts a public-use roadway, a minimum 6 feet of landscaping shall be 

provided between the vehicular use area and the sidewalk with at least 75% of the area in turf grass. 
C. Mounding requirement adjacent to vehicular use areas. Landscaping shall be mounded a minimum of 6 inches 

above the height of adjacent vehicular use areas, but not exceeding 3:1 slope, and shall be protected from vehicular 
traffic with curbing or other similar barrier approved by the City Engineer. 

D. Natural amenities. When a site abuts a natural amenity such as a flood plain, canal, park or other open space, the 
landscape plan shall integrate with and respect the natural integrity of the amenity. 

E. Detention and retention areas. By design, detention and retention areas shall be physically, functionally, and 
visually integrated into adjacent landscape areas.  Standing water is discouraged and shall be properly drained 
unless incorporated into re-circulating water features or irrigation systems. 

F. Rate of plantings. There shall be a minimum of 1 tree and 7 shrubs planted and maintained per 400 square feet, or 
fraction thereof, of required interior landscaping. 

G. Buffer and screening between uses. Where a commercial or non-residential use abuts a residential use, a 
minimum 15-foot landscape buffer shall be provided along the shared property line.  Where vehicular use areas 
abut adjacent residential property, the lot shall be screened with a decorative masonry or concrete wall at least 4 
feet in height, or with evergreen and deciduous trees and shrubs in combination with low soil berms that will 
provide ample screening within three growing seasons to protect the residential property. 

H. Boulevard landscaping credit. 25% of the boulevard landscaping, excluding sidewalks and driveways, may be 
credited to the interior landscaping requirement specified in item A above. 

I. Foundation planting requirements.  For commercial, institutional and civic-use buildings in all commercial and 
industrial zoning districts, except the C-4 Central Business Core district, at least 50% of the frontage of the building 
face shall be occupied by a foundation planting bed(s) and at least 20% of the frontage of the side of the building 
shall be occupied by a foundation planting bed(s). The planting beds shall be at least 4 feet wide, mulched, and 
contain a mix of vegetation types (annual flowers, perennial flowers, ground cover and shrubs). For example, if a 
building measures 120 feet on its face (length) by 50 feet (depth), there would be 60 feet of foundation plantings on 
the face and 10 feet on each of the sides. 

Chapter 44 – Landscaping 6 



 

 
 

 

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

   
     
  

 

    

  
 

 

 
  

  
 

 
  

 

 

 

 
   

  
  

    
  

   
 

  
 

 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Article 4 
DESIGN STANDARDS FOR INDUSTRIAL BUILDINGS 

Sections: 
17.44.4.010 Applicability 
17.44.4.020 Submittals 
17.44.4.030 Landscaping requirements 

17.44.4.010 Applicability 
A. General applicability. The landscaping requirements set forth in this article apply to: 

1. New buildings constructed after the effective date of this chapter. 
2. New vehicular use areas constructed after the effective date of this chapter. 
3. All buildings and vehicular use areas which have been cumulatively increased in size by 25% over a 

10-year period. 
B. Exemption. The following are exempt: 

1. Vehicle use areas located within a parking garage or within a building. 

17.44.4.020 Submittals 
Three copies of all landscape specifications, plans, etc. shall be submitted to the City for review and approval. 
Plans shall be at a scale of 1” = 20’ (for sites one acre or less in size) or 1” = 50’ (for sites larger than one acre), 
and shall include at a minimum: 

1. A plant list containing botanical names, common name, plant size, number and variety of each plant 
used and mature area of coverage of canopy trees. 

2. A site plan showing dimensioned location of all plant materials, site amenities (signage, benches, 
etc.), north arrow, property lines, easements, utilities and otherwise, and adjacent land uses. 

3. A plan showing location and construction details for all irrigation systems to be installed. 

17.44.4.030 Landscaping requirements 
A. A minimum of 10% of off-street vehicular use areas must be landscaped.  The following specific standards 

shall apply: 
1.    Each row of parking spaces in interior parking areas shall be terminated by a landscaped island. 
2.    There shall be no more than 20 parking spaces in a row without a landscaped island. 
3.    Landscaped islands shall have a minimum island dimension (inside curb face to inside curb face) of 

6 feet and shall extend the length of the parking space. 
4.    Landscaped areas within a vehicle use area shall be bounded by a continuous concrete curb or other 

similar barrier approved by the City Engineer. 
5.    Landscaped islands shall contain canopy shade trees, shrubs, and/or turf grass. 
6.  Where a vehicular use area abuts a public-use roadway, a minimum of 8 feet (in depth) of 

landscaping shall be provided between the vehicular use area and the sidewalk with at least 75% of 
the area in turf grass. 

B. Boulevard Landscaping.  Landscaping for boulevards in the Industrial Use areas will conform to the 
standards listed in 17.44.2.040(C). 

C. Foundation planting requirements. For buildings in all industrial zoning districts, at least 50% of the 
frontage of the building face shall be occupied by a foundation planting bed(s).  The planting beds shall be at 
least 4 feet wide, mulched, and contain a mix of vegetation types (annual flowers, perennial flowers, ground 
cover and shrubs).  For example, if a building measures 120 feet on its face, there would be 60 feet of 
foundation plantings. 

D. Buffer and screening between uses.  Where an industrial use abuts a non-industrial use, a minimum 15-foot 
landscape buffer shall be provided along the shared property line.  Where vehicular use areas abut adjacent 
residential property, the lot shall be screened with a decorative masonry or concrete wall at least 4 feet in 
height, or with evergreen and deciduous trees and shrubs in combination with low soil berms that will 
provide ample screening within three growing seasons to protect the residential property. 

Chapter 44 – Landscaping 7 



 

 
 

 

        

  
   

 
 

  

 

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
     

  
 

    

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

E. Natural amenities. When a site abuts a natural amenity such as a flood plain, canal, park or other open 
space, the landscape plan shall integrate with and respect the natural integrity of the amenity. 

F. Detention and retention areas.  By design, detention and retention areas shall be physically, functionally, and 
visually integrated into adjacent landscape areas.  Standing water is discouraged and shall be properly 
drained unless incorporated into re-circulating water features or irrigation systems. 

Article 4 5 
DESIGN STANDARDS FOR SINGLE FAMILY, DUPLEX AND MULTI-FAMILY DWELLINGS 

Sections: 
17.44.45.010 Applicability 
17.44.45.020 Submittals 
17.44.25.030 Landscaping requirements  

17.44.45.010 Applicability 
The landscaping requirements set forth in this article apply to: 

1. New residential dwellings constructed after the effective date of this chapter. 
2. All residential dwellings being increased in size by at least 50%. 

17.44.45.020 Submittals 
All landscape specifications, plans, etc. shall be submitted for review and approval to the City before a building permit 
will be issued. 

17.44.45.030 Landscaping requirements 
1. A canopy tree or evergreen tree shall be planted and maintained for each 1,500 square feet of net lot area. Up 

to 2 shade trees located in the boulevard area may be applied to this requirement, provided that at least one 
canopy tree or evergreen tree shall be planted within the interior. 

2. Turf grass or ground cover plants shall cover at least 50% of the net lot area. 

Chapter 44 – Landscaping 8 



 

 

 
  

 

 
 

 

   
  

   
    

 

  

 
  

 

 
  

 
  

  

    
 
 
  
 
    

    
  

      
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Chapter 56 
FLOODPLAIN OVERLAY DISTRICTS 

Articles: 
1. General provisions 
2. Specific standards 
3. Floodproofing requirements 

Article 1 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Sections: 
17.56.1.010  Authority 
17.56.1.020 Applicability
17.56.1.030 Purpose 
17.56.1.040 Floodplain administrator 
17.56.1.050 Compliance

17.56.1.060 Warning and disclaimer of liability 
 17.56.1.070  Disclosure 

17.56.1.080 Variances 
17.56.1.090 Emergency preparedness planning 

 

17.56.1.010 Authority 
The Montana Floodplain and Floodway Management Act (Title 76, Chapter 5, MCA) authorizes the adoption of this 
chapter. 

17.56.1.020 Applicability  
These regulations apply to all land within the 100-year floodplain boundaries special flood hazard areas shown on the 
flood insurance rate maps as adopted by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) on February 15, 2002, 
and as may be amended. These maps are on file in the office of the floodplain administrator and are available for public 
inspection. Copies of these maps may be purchased directly from FEMA. 

17.56.1.030 Purpose 
This chapter is established to comply with the Montana Floodplain and Floodway Management Act (Title 76, Chapter 
5, MCA), ensure compliance with the requirements for the City’s continued participation in the National Flood 
Insurance Program, and promote the public health, safety, and general welfare. To that end, this chapter is intended to 
accomplish the following purposes: 

1. protect human life and health to the greatest extent possible 
2. control land uses and development within the 100-year floodplain 
3. minimize flood losses in areas subject to flood hazards 
4. promote the wise use of the floodplain 
5. recognize the right and need of watercourses to periodically carry more than the normal flow of water 
6. ensure the regulations and minimum standards adopted, insofar as possible, balance the greatest public good 

with the least private injury 
7. restrict or prohibit uses which are dangerous to health, safety, and property in times of flood, or that cause 

increased flood heights and velocities 
8. require that uses vulnerable to floods, including public facilities, be provided with flood protection at the time 

of initial construction or reconstruction 
9. identify lands unsuitable for certain development purposes because of flood hazards 
10. minimize the need for rescue and relief efforts associated with flooding undertaken at the expense of the 

general public 
11. ensure that potential buyers are notified that property is within a 100-year floodplain and subject to the 

provisions of these regulations 
12. ensure that those who occupy 100-year floodplains assume responsibility for their actions 

Chapter 56 – Floodplain Overlay Districts 1 



 

 

 
  

 

    
 

 
  

  

    

  
    

  
  

 

   

 
  

    
 

   

 
 

   
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

   

 
  

  
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

13. limit filling, grading, dredging, and other similar development which may increase erosion, sedimentation, or 
flood damage 

17.56.1.040 Floodplain administrator 
A. Appointment. The zoning technician with the Community Development Department is the designated floodplain 

administrator. 
B. Administrative procedures. The floodplain administrator shall adopt such administrative procedures as may be 

necessary to efficiently administer the provisions of these regulations. 
C. Records. The floodplain administrator shall maintain such files and records as may be necessary to document 

nonconforming uses, base flood elevation, floodproofing and elevation certification, fee receipts, the issuance of 
permits, agendas, minutes, records of public meetings, and any other matters related to floodplain management in 
the City of Great Falls.  Such files and records shall be open for public inspection.   

17.56.1.050 Compliance 
No structure or land use shall be located, extended, converted or structurally altered without full compliance with the 
provisions of these regulations and other applicable regulations.  These regulations meet the minimum floodplain 
development requirements as set forth by the Montana Board of Natural Resources and Conservation and in the 
National Flood Insurance Program regulations. 

17.56.1.060 Warning and disclaimer of liability 
These regulations do not imply that areas outside the delineated floodplain boundaries or permitted land uses will 
always be totally free from flooding or flood damage.  These regulations shall not create a liability or cause of action 
against the City of Great Falls, or any officer or employee thereof, for flood damages that may result from reliance upon 
these regulations. 

17.56.1.070 Disclosure 
All owners of property in an identified 100-year floodplain as indicated on the official floodplain maps must notify 
potential buyers or their agents that such property is subject to the provisions of these and other applicable regulations. 

17.56.1.080 Variances 
The Board of Adjustment may issue a variance from these standards only in conformance with Chapter 16 of this Title. 

17.56.1.090 Emergency preparedness planning 
In formulating community development goals, the City shall consider the development of a plan for evacuating 
residents of all manufactured home parks or subdivisions located within flood prone areas. This plan should be 
developed, filed with, and approved by appropriate community emergency management authorities.  

Article 2 
 SPECIFIC STANDARDS 

Sections: 
17.56.2.010 Generally 
17.56.2.020 Floodway 
17.56.2.030 Floodway fringe 
17.56.2.040 Floodplain areas with flood elevations and no delineated floodway 

17.56.2.010 Generally 
The minimum floodplain development standards listed in this chapter apply to the floodway and floodway fringe 
portions of the 100-year floodplain as delineated on the flood boundary-floodway maps, and also correspond to the 
numbered A or AE Zones depicted on the flood insurance rate maps. 

Chapter 56 – Floodplain Overlay Districts 2 



 

 

 
  

 

 
    

     
  

 
   

 
   

   
   

  
 
  

  
    

 
   

 
   

   

   
     

 
  

    
  

    

 
 

  

  
 

 

   
    

 

  
  

 
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.56.2.020 Floodway 
A. Uses allowed without a permit. The following open space uses shall be allowed without a permit within the 

floodway, provided that such uses conform to the provisions of Article 3 of this chapter, are not prohibited by any 
other ordinance, resolution or statute and do not require fill, excavation, permanent storage of materials, or 
equipment or structures other than portable structures; 
1. agricultural uses; 
2. accessory uses such as loading and parking areas, or emergency land strips associated with industrial and 

commercial facilities; 
3. private and public recreational uses such as golf courses, driving ranges, archery ranges, picnic grounds, boat 

launching ramps, parks, wildlife management and natural areas, game farms, fish hatcheries, shooting 
preserves, target ranges, trap and skeet ranges, hunting and fishing areas, and hiking or horseback riding 
trails; 

4. forestry, including processing of forest products with portable equipment; 
5. residential uses such as lawns, gardens, parking areas, and play areas; 
6. irrigation and livestock supply wells, provided that they are located at least five hundred feet from domestic 

water supply wells; 
7. fences, except permanent fences crossing channels; and 
8. recreational vehicles provided that they be on the site for fewer than one hundred eighty consecutive days or 

be fully licensed and ready for highway use. A recreational vehicle is ready for highway use if it is on its 
wheels or jacking system with wheels intact, is attached to the site only by quick disconnect type utilities and 
security devices, and has no permanently attached additions. 

B. Uses requiring a permit.  The following may be permitted in the floodway subject to the issuance of a permit by 
the floodplain administrator, and subject to all other applicable laws and regulations of other local and State 
agencies: 
1. excavation of material from pits and pools, provided that: (a) a buffer strip of undisturbed land is left between 

the edge of the channel and the edge of the excavation of sufficient width to prevent flood flows from 
channeling into the excavation; (b) the excavation meets all applicable laws and regulations of other local and 
State agencies; and (c) excavated material is stockpiled outside the floodway; 

2. railroad, highways, and street stream crossings, provided the crossings are designed to offer minimal 
obstruction to flood flow.  Stream crossings shall not increase elevation of the 100-year flood more than one-
half foot nor cause a significant increase in flood velocities; 

3. limited filling for highway, street, and railroad embankments not associated with stream crossings, provided 
that: (a) reasonable alternate transportation routes outside the designated floodway are not available; and (b) 
such floodway encroachment is located as far from the stream channel as possible and shall not result in a 
cumulative increase in base flood elevations, after allowable encroachments into the floodway fringe, 
exceeding one-half foot; 

4. buried or suspended utility transmission lines, provided that: (a) suspended utility transmission lines are 
designed so the lowest point of the suspended line is at least 6 feet higher than the elevation of the 100-year 
flood; (b) towers and other appurtenance structures are designed and placed to withstand and minimally 
obstruct flood flows; and (c) utility transmission lines carrying toxic or flammable materials are buried to a 
depth of at least twice the calculated maximum depth of scour for a 100-year flood.  The maximum depth of 
scour shall be determined by hydraulic engineering methods, acceptable to the floodplain administrator. 

5. storage of materials and equipment, provided that: (a) the material or equipment is not subject to major 
damage by flooding and is properly anchored to prevent flotation or downstream movement; or (b) the 
material or equipment is readily moveable within the limited time available after flood warning.  Storage of 
flammable, toxic, or explosive materials shall not be permitted. 

6. domestic water supply wells, provided that: (a) they are driven or drilled wells located on ground higher than 
the surrounding ground to assure positive drainage from the well; (b) well casings are watertight to a distance 
of at least twenty-five feet below the ground surface; (c) water supply and electrical lines have a watertight 
seal where the lines enter the casing; (d) all pumps, electrical lines and equipment are either submersible or 
adequately floodproofed; and (e) check valves are installed on main water lines at wells and at all building 
entry locations; 

Chapter 56 – Floodplain Overlay Districts 3 



 

 

 
  

 

   
 

 

     

  
  

  
  

   
 

   
   

  
   

  
  

   
 

   
 

 
      

    
  

  
 

    
    

  
   

   
 

 

 

    

      

   
 

 

 

   

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

7. buried and sealed vaults for sewage disposal in recreational areas, provided they meet applicable laws and 
standards administered by the Montana Department of Health and Environmental Sciences; 

8. public and private campgrounds, provided that: (a) access roads require only limited fill and do not obstruct 
or divert floodwaters; and (b) recreational vehicles and travel trailers are licensed and ready for highway use 
(i.e., They are ready for highway use if on wheels or jacking system with wheels intact, are attached to the 
site with only quick disconnect type utilities and securing devices, and have no permanently attached 
additions). 

9. structures accessory to the uses permitted in this section such as boat docks, marinas, sheds, picnic shelters, 
tables and toilets, provided that: (a) the structures are not intended for human habitation; (b) the structures 
will have a low flood damage potential; (c) the structures will, insofar as possible, be located on ground 
higher than the surrounding ground and as far from the channel as possible; (d) the floodproofing standards of 
this chapter  are met; and (e) the structures will be constructed and placed so as to offer minimal obstruction 
to flood flows and are anchored to prevent flotation; 

10. substantial improvements to any structure, provided that the provisions of subsections (B)(3) and (B)(4) of 
Section 17.56.2.030 of this chapter are met.  In the floodway the structure must be floodproofed or elevated 
on a permanent foundation rather than on fill.  

11. all other artificial obstructions, substantial improvements, or nonconforming uses not specifically listed or 
prohibited by these regulations. 

C. Permits for flood control works. Flood control works shall be allowed within floodways subject to the issuance 
of a permit by the floodplain administrator, and subject to all other applicable laws and regulations of other local 
and State agencies, with the following conditions: 
1. levees and floodwalls provided: (a) the proposed levee or floodwall is designed and constructed to safely 

convey a 100-year flood, and (b) the cumulative effect of the levee or floodwall combined with allowable 
floodway fringe encroachments does not increase the unobstructed elevation of the 100-year flood more than 
one-half foot.  The floodplain administrator may establish either a lower or higher permissible increase in the 
elevation of the 100-year flood for individual levee projects. Any change must be in concurrence with the 
Montana Department of Natural Resources and Conservation and the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency based upon consideration of the following criteria: (i) the estimated cumulative effect of any 
anticipated future reasonable permissible uses, and (ii) the type and amount of existing flood-prone 
development in the affected area, (c) the proposed levee or floodwall, except those to protect agricultural 
land, are constructed at least 3 feet higher than the elevation of a 100-year flood; 

2. riprap, except that which is hand-laced, if: (a) the riprap is designed to withstand a 100-year flood; (b) the 
riprap does not increase the elevation of the 100-year flood; and (c) the riprap will not increase erosion 
upstream, downstream or adjacent to the riprap site; 

3. channelization projects if they do not significantly increase the magnitude, velocity, or elevation of the 100-
year flood in the proximity of the project; 

4. dams, provided that: (a) they are designed and constructed in accordance with the Montana Dam Safety Act 
and applicable safety standards; and (b) they will not increase flood hazards down-stream, either through 
operational procedures or improper hydrologic design. 

D. Permits for water diversions. Permits for the establishment of a water diversion or change in place of diversion 
shall not be issued if, in the judgment of the floodplain administrator:  
1. the proposed diversion will significantly increase the upstream elevation of the 100-year flood to the 

detriment of neighboring property; 
2. the proposed diversion is not designed and constructed to minimize potential erosion from a 100-year flood; 

and 
3. any permanent diversion structure crossing the full width of the stream channel is not designed and 

constructed to safely withstand up to a 100-year flood. 
E. Prohibited uses. The following artificial obstructions and nonconforming uses are prohibited within the 

floodway: 
1. New construction, substantial improvements and alterations of any residential, commercial or industrial 

structure; 
2. Encroachments, including fill, new construction, alterations, substantial improvements, and other 

Chapter 56 – Floodplain Overlay Districts 4 



 

 

 
  

 

   
  

    
   

  
 
    
        

  

 
   

 
  

 
    

  
   

  

     
   
  

    
 

 

  
 

   
   

  
 

  
  

  
    

  
    

 
   

 
 

  

  
 

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

development within the adopted regulatory floodway that would result in erosion of the embankment, 
obstruction of the natural flow of waters, or increase in flood levels within the community during the 
occurrence of the 100-year flood; 

3. The construction or permanent storage of an object subject to flotation or movement during flooding; 
4. Solid waste disposal, sewage treatment, and sewage disposal systems, except as allowed or approved under 

the laws and standards administered by the Montana Department of Health and Environmental Sciences; 
5. Storage of toxic, flammable, hazardous, or explosive materials;  
6. Alterations of structures unless it can be shown the alteration will not raise flood heights; and 
7. Manufactured homes or replacement of manufactured homes in or out of a manufactured home subdivision or 

park. 

17.56.2.030 Floodway fringe 
A. Uses allowed without a permit. All uses allowed without a permit in the floodway shall also be allowed without 

a permit in the floodway fringe.  In addition, individual or multiple family subsurface sewage disposal systems are 
allowed only when they are reviewed and approved under laws and regulations administered by the Department of 
Health and Environmental Sciences or the local health board. 

B. Uses requiring a permit.  All uses allowed in the floodway subject to the issuance of a permit shall also be 
allowed by permit within the floodway fringe.  In addition, new construction, substantial improvements, and 
alterations to structures are allowed by permit.  This includes but is not limited to residential, commercial and 
industrial construction, and suitable fill to be allowed by permit from the floodplain administrator and subject to 
the following conditions: 
1. Such structures or fill must not be prohibited by any other statute, regulation, ordinance, or resolution; 
2. Such structures or fill must be compatible with local comprehensive plans and zoning regulations; 
3. The new construction, alterations, and substantial improvements of residential structures including 

manufactured homes must be constructed on suitable fill such that the lowest floor elevation (including 
basement) is 2 feet or more above the elevation of the 100-year flood elevation.  The suitable fill shall be at 
an elevation no lower than the elevation of the 100-year flood elevation.  The suitable fill shall be at an 
elevation no lower than the elevation of the 100-year flood and shall extend for at least fifteen feet, at that 
elevation, beyond the structure(s) in all directions; 

4. The new construction, alteration, and substantial improvement of commercial and industrial structures can be 
constructed on suitable fill as specified in subparagraph (B)(3) of this section.  If not constructed on fill, 
commercial and industrial structures must be adequately floodproofed to an elevation no lower than 2 feet 
above the elevation of the 100-year flood. Flood-proofing must be certified by a registered professional 
engineer or architect that the floodproofing methods are adequate to withstand the flood depths, 
hydrodynamic and hydrostatic pressures, velocities, impact, buoyancy, and uplift forces associated with the 
100-year flood. If the structure is designed to allow internal flooding of the lowest floor, use of the lowest 
floor shall be limited to parking, loading areas, building access and storage of equipment or materials not 
appreciably affected by floodwaters.  The floors and walls shall be designed and constructed of materials 
resistant to flooding to an elevation no lower than 2 feet above the 100-year flood elevation.  Walls shall be 
designed to automatically equalize hydrostatic forces by allowing for entry and exit of floodwaters.  Openings 
may be equipped with screens, louvers, valves, other coverings, or devices which permit the automatic entry 
and exit of floodwaters.   Structures whose lowest floors are used for a purpose other than parking, loading, or 
storage of materials resistant to flooding shall be waterproofed to an elevation lower than two feet above the 
100-year flood elevation.  Floodproofing shall include impermeable membranes or materials for floors and 
walls and watertight enclosures for all windows, doors, and other openings.  These structures shall be 
designed to withstand the hydrostatic, hydrodynamic and buoyancy effects of a 100-year flood. 
Floodproofing shall also be accomplished in accordance with Article 3 of this chapter; 

5. All manufactured homes placed in the floodway fringe must have the chassis securely anchored to a 
foundation system that will resist flotation, collapse, or lateral movement.  Methods of anchoring may 
include, but are not limited to, over-the-top or frame ties to ground anchors.  The following conditions also 
apply: (a) When a manufactured home is altered, replaced because of substantial damage as a result of a 
flood, or replaced on an individual site, the lowest floor must be elevated 2 feet above the base flood 

Chapter 56 – Floodplain Overlay Districts 5 



 

 

 
  

 

    
   

 
   

   
   

 
 

   
 

      
      
 

   
  

    
  

  

   
 

  
  

 

  
 

     
   

  

    
 

 
 

   
  

     
 

 
 

 
 

  

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

elevation.  The home can be elevated on fill or raised on a permanent foundation of reinforced concrete, 
reinforced mortared block, reinforced piers, or other foundation elements of at least equivalent strength. (b) 
Replacement or substantial improvement of manufactured homes in an existing manufactured home park or 
subdivision must be raised on a permanent foundation.  The lowest floor must be 2 feet above the base flood 
elevation.  The foundation must consist of reinforced concrete, reinforced mortared block, reinforced piers, or 
other foundation elements of at least equivalent strength.  (c) Manufactured homes proposed for use as 
commercial or industrial structures must be elevated and anchored, rather than floodproofed; 

6. Fill material placed in the floodway fringe must be stable, compacted, well-graded, pervious, generally 
unaffected by water and frost, devoid of trash or similar foreign matter, devoid of tree stumps or other organic 
material, and appropriate for the purpose of supporting the intending use and/or permanent structure; 

7. Roads, streets, highways and rail lines shall be designed to minimize increase in flood heights. Where failure 
or interruption of transportation facilities would result in danger to the public health or safety, the facility 
shall be located 2 feet above the elevation of the 100-year flood; 

8. Agricultural structures that have a low damage potential, such as sheds, barns, shelters and hay and grain 
storage structures, must be adequately anchored to prevent flotation or collapse and all electrical facilities 
shall be placed above the base flood elevation; and 

9. Recreational vehicles, if they are on the site for more than 180 consecutive days or are not ready for highway 
use, must meet the elevating requirements of subparagraph (B)(3) of this section. 

C. Prohibited uses. The following artificial obstructions and nonconforming uses are prohibited within the floodway 
fringe: 
1. Solid waste disposal, sewage treatment, and sewage disposal systems, except as allowed or approved under 

the laws and standards administered by the Montana Department of Health and Environmental Sciences; and 
2. Storage of highly toxic, flammable, or explosive materials.  Storage or petroleum products may be allowed by 

permit if buried in tightly sealed impermeable containers or if stored on compacted fill at least 2 feet above 
the elevation of the 100-year flood and anchored to prevent downstream movement.   

17.56.2.040 Floodplain areas with flood elevations and no delineated floodway 
A. A development proposed for location within a 100-year floodplain, where water surface elevations are available 

but no floodway is delineated, may not significantly increase flood velocities or depths or generally alter patterns 
of flood flow. The provisions of Section 17.56.2.030 shall apply to these areas. The floodplain administrator may 
require a permit applicant to furnish additional hydraulic data before acting on a permit application for such a 
floodplain.  The data may include, but is not limited to, any of the following: 
1. A hydraulic study documenting probable effects on upstream or downstream property owners caused by the 

proposed development; or 
2. The calculated increase in the 100-year flood frequency water surface profile caused by the proposed 

development. 
B. Permits for such proposed development may be modified or denied if the additional information shows that the 

proposed use would cause an additional flood hazard to adjacent property or significantly increase flood heights.  
A significant increase in flood heights is one-half foot unless existing or anticipated development in the area 
dictates a lesser amount of allowable increase.  

Article 3 
FLOODPROOFING REQUIREMENTS 

Sections: 
17.56.3.010 Certification 
17.56.3.020 Conformance 
17.56.3.030 Standards 

Chapter 56 – Floodplain Overlay Districts 6 



 

 

 
  

 

  
 

   
 

   
  

    

  
   

   

   
  

  
   

  
    
 

     
  

 
 

  
 

  

 

    
   

  
 

 

 
 

   
  

 
 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

17.56.3.010 Certification 
If the following floodproofing requirements are to be applied to a proposed structure, as stipulated by the floodplain 
administrator in accordance with these regulations, the methods used must be certified as adequate by a registered 
professional engineer or architect.   

17.56.3.020 Conformance 
Permitted floodproof systems shall conform to the conditions listed below and the floodproofing standards listed in 
subsection (B)(4) of Section 17.56.2.030 of these regulations for commercial and industrial structures. 

17.56.3.030 Standards 
Commercial and industrial buildings that are not elevated 2 feet or more above the 100-year flood elevation shall be 
floodproofed to an elevation no lower than 2 feet above the elevation of the 100-year flood consistent with the following 
standards: 

1. If the structure is designed to allow internal flooding of the lowest floor, use of the lowest floor shall be 
limited to parking, loading areas, building access and storage of equipment or materials not appreciably 
affected by floodwaters. The floors and walls shall be designed and constructed of materials resistant to 
flooding to an elevation no lower than 2 feet above the 100-year flood elevation. Walls shall be designed to 
automatically equalize hydrostatic forces by allowing for entry and exit of floodwaters. Openings may be 
equipped with screens, louvers, valves, other coverings, or devices which permit the automatic entry and exit 
of floodwaters. 

2. Structures whose lowest floors are used for a purpose other than parking, loading, or storage of materials 
resistant to flooding shall be waterproofed to an elevation lower than 2 feet above the 100-year flood 
elevation.  Floodproofing shall include impermeable membranes or materials for floors and walls and 
watertight enclosures for all windows, doors, and other openings.  These structures shall be designed to 
withstand the hydrostatic, hydrodynamic and buoyancy effects of a 100-year flood. 

3. Electrical systems shall meet the following criteria: (a) All incoming power service equipment, including all 
metering equipment, control centers, transformers, distribution and lighting panels, and all other stationary 
equipment must be located at least 2 feet above the elevation of the 100-year flood; (b) Portable or moveable 
electrical equipment may be placed below the elevation of the 100-year flood, if the equipment can be 
disconnected by a single submersible plug-and-socket assembly; (c) The main power service line shall have 
automatic or manually operated electrical disconnect equipment located at an accessible location outside the 
100-year floodplain and above the elevation of the 100-year flood; and (d) All electrical wiring systems 
installed at or below the elevations of the 100-year flood shall be suitable for continuous submergence and 
may not contain fibrous components. 

4. Heating systems shall meet the following criteria: (a) Float operated automatic control valves must be 
installed in gas furnace supply lines so that the fuel supply is automatically shut off when floodwaters reach 
the floor level where the furnace is located. (b) Manually operated gate valves must be installed in gas supply 
lines.  The gate valves must be operable from a location above the elevation of the 100-year flood. (c) 
Electric heating systems must be installed in accordance with the standards for electrical systems. 

5. Plumbing systems shall meet the following criteria: (a) Sewer lines, except those to be buried and sealed in 
vaults, must have check valves installed to prevent sewage backup into permitted structures. (b) All toilet 
stools, sinks, urinals and drains must be located so the lowest point of possible water is at least 2 feet above 
the elevation of the 100-year flood.   

Chapter 56 – Floodplain Overlay Districts 7 



 Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

 

 
 

 
Chapter 64 – Nonconformities 

 
 

 

  
  

  
 

     
     

  
    

 
     

 

  

  

 
   

  
  

 
  

 
   

 
  

     
 

 
  

   
 

 

    
 

 

Chapter 64 
NONCONFORMITIES 

Sections: 
17.64.010 Legislative findings 17.64.040 Nonconforming signs 
17.64.020 Nonconforming uses 17.64.050 Nonconforming billboards 
17.64.030 Nonconforming structures  

17.64.010 Legislative findings 
The City Commission makes the following findings: 

1. Within the districts established by this title, or within districts established or changed by future amendment, 
there may exist uses and signs which were lawful before the adoption of this title, or amendment, but which 
are nonconforming under the provisions of this title or amendment thereto. 

2. It is reasonable to generally allow, but not encourage, nonconformities to continue until such time as they are 
moved, removed or discontinued. 

3. Nonconformities that are moved, removed, discontinued, changed, extended, or enlarged shall be made to 
conform with the regulations that apply to all other parcels of land within the district. However, changes in 
use may be allowed under certain circumstances. 

4. It is reasonable to allow a nonconforming use to resume in certain circumstances if the structure in which it 
takes place is only partially damaged or destroyed.  

17.64.020  Nonconforming uses 
A.  Generally. A nonconforming use may be continued so long as it remains otherwise lawful, subject to the 

following provisions: 
1. Change or expansion of nonresidential uses. 

a. A nonconforming, nonresidential use shall not be changed except in conformance with the zoning 
district in which it is located. 

b.a. A nonconforming nonresidential use may be changed to another nonconforming nonresidential 
use, or may be increased or expanded, if the Planning Director determines the application for the 
proposed, expanded or increased use meets the following criteria, without requiring or 
requesting any dimensional, lighting, parking, landscaping or other similar variance: 
1. The off-street parking and loading requirements for and traffic generated by the proposed, 

expanded or increased use do not exceed that of the existing or most recent use. 
2. The proposed use is permitted in the same zoning district in which the existing or most 

recent use is first permitted in Table 20-4 of Chapter 20 to this Title. For the purposes of this 
Chapter, “first permitted” shall mean the first zoning district in Table 20-4 in which a “P” 
occurs, when reading the table from left to right. 

3. The intensity of onsite and offsite impacts from noise, dust, smoke and other environmental 
impacts associated with the proposed, expanded or increased use is equal to or less than that 
associated with the existing or most recent use. 

Such application may require a fee, as may be established by the City Commission. 
c.b. Alternatively, a nonconforming, nonresidential use may also be changed to another nonconforming 
use, or may be increased or expanded, through a conditional use permit procedure as set forth in Chapter 16. 

2. Expansion of residential uses. The expansion of nonconforming residential dwellings is allowed, in 
compliance with applicable building codes, up to 20% of the existing total residential area, as long as the 
number of dwelling units on the lot is not increased. 

3. Change of location. A nonconforming use shall not be moved in whole or in part to any other portion of the 
lot or to another structure than what was occupied at the effective date of this title or any amendment thereto 
which creates said nonconforming use. 

4. Discontinuance of use. If a nonconforming use ceases for any reason for more than 24 months, any 
subsequent use shall conform with this Title. 

1 



 

 
Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

 
 

 
Chapter 64 – Nonconformities 

 
   

  

   
 

 
  

    
    

   
 

 
 

 
  

  
    

  
       

  
       

  
 

  
     

 
      

     
    

  
   

     
 

  
 

  
    

   
 

    
 

    
     

 

17.64.030 Nonconforming structures 
A. Generally. A nonconforming structure may continue so long as it remains otherwise lawful, subject to the 

following provisions: 
1. Change in extent. A nonconforming structure shall not be enlarged or altered in a way to increase its 

nonconformity. 
2. Conformance required if moved. If a nonconforming structure is moved for any reason for any distance, it 

shall thereafter conform with this Title. 
3. A nonconforming structure that is removed, razed or damaged by fire or other cause may be rebuilt on the 

structure’s original foundation or on a new foundation in the same location.  Construction must be completed 
within 24 months of the date of such damage, removal or razing.  If repair or rehabilitation does not occur 
within 24 months, the structure shall be reconstructed only in conformance with this Title without resort to 
variance. 

B. Unsafe conditions, ordinary maintenance, and remodeling. Nothing in this chapter shall be deemed to prevent 
the strengthening or restoring to a safe condition of any structure or part thereof, ordinary repair and maintenance, 
or remodeling. 

17.64.040 Nonconforming signs 
A. Compliance. 

1. Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, all signs and supporting structures which do not conform to the 
provisions of this Code, but were constructed in compliance with previous regulations, shall be regarded as 
nonconforming.  Nonconforming signs may remain until December 31, 2015, if such signs are properly 
repaired and maintained as required by Section 17.60.7.090. 

2. The copy face of a sign may be changed or altered in any manner which does not require structural alteration, 
subject to the permit requirements of this Code, until December 31, 2012.  After December 31, 2012, any 
sign change, including copy change, shall require compliance with the provisions of the Sign Code. 

3. Any sign user may file for an exemption as set forth in subsection B below (“grandfather” exemption), and 
the provisions of that subsection B shall govern.  However, neither this subsection nor subsection B provides 
any right of continuance after the adoption of the Sign Code of those types of signs specifically prohibited in 
Section 17.60.2.010, with the exception of roof signs.  Grandfather exemptions will not be granted to 
freestanding signs that overhang or encroach into the public right-of-way or overhang or encroach upon 
adjoining property. 

B. Grandfather exemption. 
1. Signs that exceed the code for size and/or height for which an exemption has been filed as set out below may 

remain in perpetuity, provided the sign is properly maintained and is not changed in any manner, either 
structurally or copy changes.  Any sign which is so changed shall be brought into immediate compliance with 
all provisions of this Code.  This code would allow a change in the name of a tenant on a multi-tenant 
identification sign without loss of the grandfather exemption. 

2. A grandfather exemption may be obtained by the sign owner or user by filing for such an exemption with the 
Community Development Department on or before July 1, 2006, or as provided in subsections C below. 
Each application for exemption must be accompanied with a color photograph, dimensions and location of 
each sign for which the exemption is sought, and in such form as may be prescribed by the department.  A 
fifty (50) dollar fee per premise plus ten (10) dollars per sign to be exempted, shall be levied for each 
application to help cover processing costs. 

C. Change of nonconforming sign.  Any nonconforming sign which is structurally altered, relocated (on the same or 
another lot) or replaced shall immediately comply with all provisions of this Code.  Any signs, which is 
accidentally damaged or destroyed may be repaired or replaced within sixty (60) days to the sign’s original 
condition subject to the permit requirement of this Code.  

D. Administrative authority.  The Director of Community Development is granted authority to perform an 
administrative review and make appropriate decisions to allow some flexibility in individual nonconforming 
situations where the strict interpretation and application of the code will be unworkable for the property owner 
and/or tenants. All decisions must be consistent with the overall goal of bringing nonconforming signage closer to 
compliance and should be consistently applied to similar circumstances. 

2 



 Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

 

 
 Chapter 64 – Nonconformities 

 

    
   

 
   

 
 

 
   

 
    

  
 

 
        

   
   

  
 

 
  

 
 

 

E. Removal. The Director of Community Development may order the removal of any sign, or sign structure, that is 
not in compliance with the provisions of this chapter. 
1. Removal is the responsibility of the owner of the sign or the property owner. 
2. Failure of the property owner or sign owner to comply with the removal notice will result in the removal of 

the sign by the City.  Removal costs and administrative fees will be assessed against the property. 

17.64.050 Nonconforming billboards 
Billboard signs that do not conform to the provisions of this code, but were legally constructed and permitted at the time 
of their installation shall be considered legally nonconforming and allowed to remain subject to the following: 
A. Downsizing required.  Nonconforming billboards exceeding height and area limitations specified in this code must 

be downsized to meet requirements of area and height specified in this code by December 31, 2015, or be removed 
by the sign owner or the property owner. This is not intended to eliminate legally sanctioned side-by-side 
billboards. 

B. Any nonconforming billboard sign destroyed or damaged beyond fifty (50) percent of its replacement value for 
any cause whatsoever shall be reconstructed only in compliance with all provisions of this chapter or be removed 
by the sign owner or property owner. 

C. In no case may a billboard be repaired or maintained resulting in substantial upgrading or replacement of the 
structural support of the billboard that would extend the life of the structure. Substantial upgrading may include, 
but is not limited to, conversion from wood to steel support structure or a conversion from a multi-pole to a single-
pole structure. 

D. A non-illuminated billboard may be illuminated provided it is not non-conforming because of its proximity to a 
residential area or its location within an entry or scenic corridor pursuant to 17.60.5.210. 

E. Any signs on property annexed to the City of Great Falls after the effective date of this chapter are subject to all 
the provisions of this code. 

3 



Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Chapter 68 – Timing of Improvements, Improvement Agreements, and Dedications 1 

 

 

Chapter 68 
TIMING OF IMPROVEMENTS, IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENTS, AND DEDICATIONS 

 
Sections: 
17.68.010 Legislative findings 
17.68.020 Purpose 
17.68.030 Timing of improvements 
17.68.040 Improvement agreements 
17.68.050 Dedication of improvements 
17.68.060 Dedication of land 

 
17.68.10 Legislative findings 
The City Commission makes the following findings: 

1. Required improvements installed in a timely manner protect the public health, safety, and welfare. 
2. There may be instances where the installation of all required improvements is not possible, or desirable, prior 

to commencing construction of buildings. 
3. To minimize the risk that the City would have to use public funds to install the required improvements 

subject to an improvement agreement, the amount of the financial security should be greater than the 
estimated installation cost to account for the administration of the agreement, pricing uncertainties, product 
availability, inflation, and other similar factors that may exist during the life of the agreement. 

 
17.68.20 Purpose 
This chapter is established to promote the public health, safety, and welfare and is intended to accomplish the following 
purposes: 

1. ensure that the improvements needed to accommodate development projects are provided in a timely manner 
2. ensure that land dedicated to the City is suitable and acceptable for the intended purpose 

 
17.68.030 Timing of improvements 
A. Generally. Improvements shall be installed consistent with the schedule shown in Exhibit 68-1. For some of the 

improvements, it is possible to enter into an improvement agreement with the City consistent with this chapter. 
 

Exhibit 68-1. Timing of Improvements 

 Subdivisions Non-Subdivision Projects 

 
 
 

Improvement 

 
 
 

Completion prior to . . . 

Improvement 

Agreement 

Allowable 

 
 
 

Completion prior to . . . 

Improvement 

Agreement 

Allowable 

Site grading - rough Issuance of building permit No Issuance of building permit No 

Site grading - final Issuance of building permit No Issuance of building permit Yes 

Potable water infrastructure Issuance of building permit Yes No Issuance of occupancy permit No 

Sewer infrastructure Issuance of building permit Yes No Issuance of occupancy permit No 

Landscaping Filing of final plat Issuance of 

occupancy permit 

Yes Issuance of occupancy permit No 

Screening Filing of final subdivision plat 
Issuance of occupancy permit 

Yes Issuance of occupancy permit Yes 

Street / alleys - base course Issuance of building permit Yes No Issuance of building permit Yes 

Street / alleys - pavement Filing of final subdivision plat 
Issuance of occupancy permit 

Yes Issuance of occupancy permit No 

Sidewalks Issuance of occupancy permit Yes Issuance of occupancy permit Yes 

Parking Filing of final subdivision plat 
Issuance of occupancy permit 

No Issuance of occupancy permit Yes 

Lighting Filing of final subdivision plat 
Issuance of occupancy permit 

No Yes Issuance of occupancy permit No 



Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Chapter 68 – Timing of Improvements, Improvement Agreements, and Dedications 2 

 

 

Stormwater facilities Issuance of building permit Yes No Issuance of building permit No 
 

B. Uses not listed. For improvements not listed, improvement agreements may be used at the City’s discretion. 
C. Exceptions. The City shall not enter into an improvement agreement when a delay in the completion of the 

improvement could present a tangible danger or hazard. In addition, the City may limit the number, type, and 
scope of improvements subject to the agreement and subsequent agreements. 

 
17.68.040 Improvement agreements 
A. City Attorney approval. The improvement agreement and form of financial security shall be satisfactory to the 

City Attorney. 
B. Amount of security. The amount of the financial security shall be the total cost of the improvements subject to the 

agreement, as estimated by a registered professional engineer, or other qualified professional as appropriate, plus 
35 percent. The City Engineer may require the developer to submit a second cost estimate from another source to 
verify the cost of the improvements. 

C. Content. An improvement agreement shall contain the following: 
1. A list of all on-site and off-site improvements subject to the agreement. 
2. Detailed construction plans and cost estimates for the improvements subject to the agreement. A registered 

professional engineer shall prepare the plan and estimates for all work elements requiring engineering. Other 
professionals, as appropriate, shall prepare plans and estimates for those work elements not requiring 
engineering. 

3. A timetable for completing each of the improvements subject to the agreement. 
4. A description of the type of financial security used to secure the completion of the improvements subject to 

the agreement. 
5. A provision allowing the City to claim the financial security when the developer has not satisfactorily 

completed the improvements by the date specified in the agreement or has not otherwise complied with the 
terms of the agreement. 

6. The financial security shall be released in full only upon submission of as-built plans when required and 
written certification by a registered professional engineer, or other qualified professional, that the 
improvements have been installed in accordance with the development approval and other applicable 
provisions of this Title. 

7. A provision stating that the City may release a portion of the financial security in an amount equal to 135 
percent of the estimated cost of the improvement that has been satisfactorily completed. 

8. A provision that the developer indemnifies, defends, and holds the City, its employees, agents and assigns 
harmless from and against any and all liabilities, loss, claims, causes of action, judgements and damages 
resulting from or arising out of the execution of the improvement agreement. 

9. A provision stating that if the developer has not satisfactorily completed the improvements by the date 
specified in the agreement, the City can use a portion of the security as reimbursement for time and expense 
in administering the installation and inspection of the improvements subject to the agreement, 

10. A provision stating that the City Engineer must inspect the improvements to verify compliance with the 
development approval and this Title before releasing the financial security, in whole or part. 

11. The term of the agreement. 
12. A provision allowing amendment with the written consent of all parties, provided the minimum requirements 

of this Title are satisfied. 
13. Any other provision deemed appropriate by the City to accomplish the purposes of this Title and to protect its 

interests. 
D. Types of financial security. The following types of financial security may be acceptable: 

1. cash paid directly to the City Treasurer and held in a separate account 
2. an irrevocable letter of credit from an approved financial institution 
3. cash escrow held by the City or an approved escrow agent and subject to an executed escrow agreement 
4. bank assignment of funds 
5. performance bonds, at the discretion of the City Attorney 



Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Chapter 68 – Timing of Improvements, Improvement Agreements, and Dedications 3 

 

 

17.68.050 Dedication of improvements 
A. Minimum standards. All improvements to be dedicated to the City shall meet the standards and requirements of 

this title, State law, and other standards and specifications the City may adopt. 
B. As-built. Record drawings, meeting City specifications, shall be submitted for review and approval prior to 

acceptance. 
C. Certification required. All improvements to be dedicated to the City shall be certified by a registered 

professional engineer prior to acceptance. 
D. Lien release required. Lien releases from contractors, suppliers, and others as appropriate shall be submitted 

prior to acceptance. 
E. Administration. The Director of the Planning Department shall be responsible for signing agreements and 

administering them on behalf of the City. 
 

17.68.060 Dedication of land 
For all land dedicated to the City, the City Commission shall affirm the dedication before it becomes effective. Prior to 
acceptance, the City shall ensure that all property taxes that have been levied and assessed have been paid proportionate 
to the amount of land being dedicated. 



Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

Appendix F 
LAND USE DEFINITIONS 

 
 
For the purpose of this Title, certain land uses are defined below for ease of use, and shall have the 
following meanings ascribed to them.   
 
For ease of reference and use, these definitions have been separated by type of land use (i.e., Residential, 
General Sales, Temporary Uses, etc.) under this Appendix.  These same definitions can also be found in 
strict alphabetical format in Chapter 8 of this Title. 
 
 
AGRICULTURAL USES 
“Agriculture, horticulture, nursery” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is 
intended for growing fruit, vegetables, flowers, and other plants typically grown on farming operations in 
the region.  
 
 
RESIDENTIAL USES 
“Mobile home park” means a place providing 2 or more mobile home lots for lease or rent to the general 
public.  (Source: 50-52-101 MCA) 
 
“Residence, single-family detached” means a single building that is situated on one lot, contains one 
dwelling unit, and is not attached to any other dwelling unit by any means. The term includes factory-built 
homes, manufactured homes, and stick-built homes, but excludes mobile homes. 
 
“Residence, zero lot line” means a single building that is situated on one lot, contains one dwelling unit, 
and is not attached to any other dwelling unit by any means. The side wall of the building is placed directly 
on or very close to one of the adjoining side yard property boundary lines. The term includes factory-built 
homes, manufactured homes, and stick-built homes, but excludes mobile homes. 
 
“Residence, two-family” means a single building that is situated on one lot and that contains 2 dwelling 
units. 
  
“Residence, multi-family” means a single building situated on one lot and that contains 3 or more separate 
dwelling units. Entrances to the dwelling units may be separate or combined. The units may be rented or 
owned as in a condominium.  
 
“Residence, condominiums” means separately owned single-family dwelling units with common 
elements located on property submitted to the provisions of the Montana unit ownership act, title 70, 
chapter 23, MCA. 
 
“Residence, townhouse” means a building containing multiple dwelling units where they are adjacent to 
one another on separate lots each having separate entrances. 
 
“Residence, manufactured/factory-built” means a single-family dwelling unit built in a factory in 
accordance with the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development code or approved by 
the Montana Department of Labor and Industry Building Codes Bureau. 
 

 
Appendix F – Land Use Definitions 1 



Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Retirement home” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended to provide 
independent living quarters, either owned or rented, to individuals generally 62 years of age or older.  
Limited commercial and medical facilities constructed and used for the exclusive use of residents shall be 
an accessory use of the retirement home.  
 
 
SPECIAL CARE FACILITIES 
“Community residential facility” means any one of the following as defined: 

a. “Community group home” means a family-oriented residence that is designed to provide 
residential services for 2 to 8 individuals with severe disabilities and does not provide skilled or 
intermediate nursing care.  The term does not preclude the provision of skilled or intermediate 
nursing care by third-person providers.  (Source: 52-4-202, MCA) 

b. “Youth foster home” means a youth care facility licensed by the State in which one to 6 children 
or youth other than the foster parents' own children, stepchildren, or wards are given food shelter, 
security and safety, guidance, direction, and if necessary, treatment.  (Source: 52-2-602, MCA)  

c. “Youth group home” means a youth care facility licensed by the State in which 7 to 12 children or 
youth are given food shelter, security and safety, guidance, direction, and if necessary, treatment.  
(Source:  52-2-602, MCA)  

d. “Halfway house” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended to 
provide treatment, rehabilitation, and prevention of chemical dependency. (Source: 53-24-103, 
MCA) 

e. “Adult foster family care home” means a private residence owned by one or more individuals 18 
years of age or older which offer light personal care or custodial care to disabled adults who are 
not related to the owner by blood or marriage or which offer light personal care or custodial care 
to aged individuals. (Source: 52-3-302 MCA) 

 
“Community residential facility, type I” means a community residential facility with 8 or fewer 
individuals. 
 
“Community residential facility, type II” means a community residential facility with 9 or more 
individuals. 

 
“Day care center” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended to provide 
day care to 13 or more children on a regular basis. (Source: 52-2-703, MCA)   
 
“Emergency shelter” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended to provide 
temporary housing and ancillary services to primarily indigent, needy, homeless, or transient individuals. 
 
“Family day care home” means a private residence in which day care (meaning care is less than 24 hours 
per day) is provided to 3 to 6 children from separate families on a regular basis.  (Source: 52-2-703, MCA) 
 
“Group day care home” means a private residence in which day care (meaning care is less than 24 hours 
per day) is provided to 7 to 12 children on a regular basis. (Source: 52-2-703, MCA) 
 
“Nursing home” means a place that provides 24-hour services including room and board to unrelated 
residents who because of their mental or physical condition require nursing care. 
 
 
OVERNIGHT ACCOMMODATIONS 

 
Appendix F – Land Use Definitions 2 



Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Campground” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for public 
camping, where people can camp, secure tents or cabins, or park trailers, camping trailers, pickup campers, 
automobiles, and recreational vehicles for camping and sleeping purposes. The term includes accessory 
buildings such as a laundromat and retail sales for the convenience of campground guests.   (Source: 50-52-
101, MCA) 
 
“Hotel/motel” means a building that is used, intended, kept, maintained as, advertised as, or held out to the 
public to be a hotel, motel, inn, motor court, tourist court, public lodging house, or place where sleeping 
accommodations are furnished for a fee to transient guests (as defined in State law) with or without meals.  
(Source: 50-51-102, MCA) 
 
 
FOOD AND BEVERAGE SALES 
“Micro-brewery” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for (1) the 
manufacture of malt beverages and (2) the sale and on-site consumption of those beverages, along with 
other beverages and food. 
 
“Restaurant” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for the 
preparation and sale of food and beverages for immediate consumption on or off site the premises, and 
where consumption of beer, wine, or other liquors, if any, is clearly secondary and subordinate to the sale 
of food and beverages.  The term does not include a grocery or convenience store with a food service 
section. Such establishments may include a drive-through window, and may or may not include on-
site seating. 
 
“Tavern” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for retail sales of 
alcoholic beverages for on-site consumption and where food consumption, if any, is clearly secondary to 
the sale of alcoholic beverages.  The term includes bars and lounges. 
 
 
GENERAL SALES 
“Agriculture sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended to be used 
for retail sale of a product(s) unique to and directly related to farm and ranch operations.  The term includes 
feed/seed sales, irrigation equipment sales, farm machinery sales and repair, and the like.  The term does 
not include wholesale sales. 
 
“Auction sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended to be used for 
auctioning goods to the general public. The term does not include estate sales and the like. Vehicle auctions 
are considered as vehicle sales and rentals. 
 
“Construction materials sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, used or is intended for 
wholesale or retail sales of bulk construction materials such as roofing, lumber, bricks, component parts 
(trusses), and the like.  The term does not include hardware stores, concrete plants, asphalt mixing plants,
or any facility that manufactures building materials and offers them for retail sale on the premises. 

 

 
“Convenience sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
personal services or retail sale of a limited product line of frequently needed personal items.  The term 
includes convenience stores, small grocery stores, barber shops, beauty parlors, and the like. 
 

 
Appendix F – Land Use Definitions 3 



Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“General sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for retail sale 
of a diverse product line. The term includes grocery stores, warehouse retail outlets, comparison shopping 
stores, full-line department stores, and the like. 
 
“Manufactured housing sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended 
for on-site display and sales of mobile homes, modular homes, or other forms of manufactured housing. 
 
“Off-site liquor sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for retail 
sales of alcoholic beverages for off-site consumption.  The term includes package liquor stores.  
 
“Secondhand sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for retail 
sale of goods and merchandise which are not being sold for the first time.  The term includes secondhand 
stores, thrift stores, consignment shops, and the like. 
 
“Shopping center” means more than one sales or service use built on a single site which is planned, devel-
oped, owned, and managed as an operating unit. 
 
“Specialty sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for retail sale 
of a limited product line. The term includes antique shops, furniture stores, auto part stores, bookstores, 
drug stores, clothing boutiques, pet stores, and the like. 
 
 
GENERAL SERVICES 
“Administrative services” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
providing administrative functions where customers are infrequent. The term includes data processing 
centers, customer service centers via telecommunications, architectural firms, engineering firms, and the 
like. 
 
“Commercial kennel” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
housing  3 or more dogs, cats or other domesticated animals over 6 months of age or for the purpose of 
boarding, breeding, training, or sale.  The term includes boarding kennels, dog motels, and dog training 
centers.  The term does not include animal hospitals, animal grooming parlors, or pet shops. 
 
“Financial services” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
providing financial and banking services.  The term includes banks, savings and loan institutions, other 
lending institutions, and check cashing facilities.  The term does not include automated teller machines, 
which are considered an accessory use to commercial enterprises. 
 
“Funeral home” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, used or intended for the care and 
preparation of human dead for burial.  The term includes funeral homes and mortuaries.  
 
“General services” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
providing services not otherwise included in any other service type category.  The term includes 
photography studios, weight loss centers, commercial postal services, beauty shops, pet grooming shops, 
photocopying and printing services, linen services, dry cleaning services, diaper services, and the like. 
 
“Professional services” means a building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended to house services 
involving predominantly professional, clerical, or similar operations where customers come on a regular 
basis.  The term includes law offices, real estate offices, insurance offices, travel agencies, and the like. 

 
Appendix F – Land Use Definitions 4 



Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

 
“Sexually-oriented business” includes the following types of uses: adult arcades, adult book stores/adult 
video stores, adult cabarets, adult motels, and adult motion picture theaters. 
 
“Veterinary clinic” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for the 
medical care of animals.  A veterinary clinic may include office space, medical labs, appurtenant facilities, 
and kennels and/or enclosures for animals under the immediate medical care of a veterinarian.  The term 
includes pet clinics, dog and cat hospitals, animal hospitals, and the like. 
 

“Veterinary clinic, large animal” means a veterinary clinic that specializes in the care and treatment 
of large animals and livestock. 
 
“Veterinary clinic, small animal” means a veterinary clinic that specializes in the care and treatment 
of small animals including dogs, cats, birds, and other small domesticated and semi-domesticated 
animals.   

 
 
RENTAL AND GENERAL REPAIR 
“Large equipment rental” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
renting large equipment that is normally stored out of doors. Typical items would include trucks, vertical 
lifts, fork lifts, back hoes, other types of heavy equipment, and modular buildings. 
 
“Small equipment rental” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
renting small equipment and supplies that typically are stored indoors. Typical rentals include hand tools, 
party equipment, lawn care and yard equipment. 
 
“General repair” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for the repair 
of consumer goods such as shoes, bicycles, appliances, business equipment, and the like. The term does not 
include repair of vehicles or industrial equipment. 
 
 
VEHICLE TRADE AND SERVICE 
“Vehicle fuel sales” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for the 
retail sale of gasoline, kerosene, diesel, or other petroleum-based motor fuels.  The term includes the sale of 
convenience foods and goods, provided it is ancillary to the sale of fuels, and light maintenance activities, 
such as engine tune-ups, lubrication, minor repairs, and the like. 
 
“Vehicle repair” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
maintenance, service, and repair of vehicles.  Typical services include transmission repair, body work and 
painting, brake repair, vehicle upholstery, tire shop, engine repair and overhauls, and similar activities. 
 
“Vehicle sales and rental” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
buying, selling, exchanging, taking for consignment, renting, or leasing new or used vehicles, including 
cars, light trucks, snowmobiles, motorcycles, all-terrain vehicles (ATVs), recreational vehicles, personal 
water craft. 
 
“Vehicle services” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
servicing vehicles where they typically are not left overnight. Examples include quick lube/oil change, car 
washes, tire stores, vehicle cleaning including cleaning, washing, polishing, waxing, or similar activities. 

 
Appendix F – Land Use Definitions 5 



Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

 
 
GENERAL STORAGE 
“Agricultural commodity storage facility” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or 
is intended to store bulk food stuffs prior to shipment and/or processing. The term includes grain elevators 
and such facilities. 
 
“Fuel tank farm” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
commercial bulk storage of petroleum products or any other fuel. 
 
“Mini-storage facility” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is divided into individual 
spaces and that is used or is intended as individual storage units that are rented, leased, or owned.  The term 
includes a tract of land used to store vehicles that are not for sale or trade. 
 
“Truck Freight terminal” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
unloading, loading or storage of freight for routing or reshipment. 
 
“Warehouse” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for the storage of 
goods and materials, for wholesale sales, temporary storage, and distribution.  The term includes moving 
and storage facilities.  The term does not include fuel tank farms. 
 
 
INDOOR RECREATION / SPORTS / ENTERTAINMENT 
“Casino” means any and all establishments that offer legalized gambling authorized under Title 23, Chapter 
5, Part 1, et. seq., MCA and where any one of the following characteristics applies: 

a. the establishment is referenced as a “casino” or “gambling establishment”, or makes any reference 
to legalized gambling by signage, advertisement or by name; and/or 

b. five or more gambling machines are on the premises; and/or 
c. a card table is on the premises. 

 
“Casino, type I” means a casino allowed in certain zoning districts only if specific development and 
appearance standards are met. 
 
“Casino, type II” means a casino allowed in certain zoning districts without specific development or 
appearance standards. 

 
“Indoor entertainment” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
indoor entertainment of all types.  The term includes theaters, movie theaters, dance halls, theaters for 
performing arts, and the like. 
 
“Indoor sports and recreation” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended 
for indoor recreation of all types.  The term includes bowling alleys, skating rinks, billiard and pool halls, 
arcades, athletic clubs, indoor racquetball courts, athletic training centers, gyms, and the like. 
 
 
OUTDOOR RECREATION / SPORTS / ENTERTAINMENT 
“Golf course/driving range” means a place, whether organized for profit or not, that is used or is intended 
for playing golf. 
 

 
Appendix F – Land Use Definitions 6 



Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Miniature golf” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for playing 
miniature golf. 
 
“Open space” means a vacant, undeveloped or unimproved parcel or area of land that is intended to remain 
free of development.  Such lands typically include undeveloped park lands or other public lands, private 
lands in high hazard areas or with conservation easements, open water bodies, etc. 
 
“Outdoor entertainment” means a place and/or structure, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
outdoor, spectator-type uses or events.  The term includes race tracks, motocross courses, sports arenas, 
concerts, religious assemblages, and the like. 
 
“Park” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for recreational 
activities for use by the general public or by a homeowners' association. The term includes developed and 
undeveloped areas and neighborhood recreation centers. 
 
“Recreation trail” means a linear path which may be dedicated to a single use or multiple uses. Examples 
include hiking trails, bike trails, x-country ski trails, and horse trails. 
 
 
COMMUNITY SERVICES/USES 
“Administrative government center” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is 
intended as a governmental office or administrative facility.  The term includes post offices, courthouses, 
correctional facilities, and the like. 
 
“Animal shelter” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended to 
temporarily house stray pets. 
 
“Cemetery” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for burial 
purposes.  Accessory uses include columbariums, crematories, mausoleums, and mortuaries when operated 
in conjunction with and within the boundaries of such area. 
 
“Civic use facility” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for large 
gatherings of people.  The term includes zoos, arenas, stadiums, fairgrounds, and the like. 
 
“Community center” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for short-
term and intermittent meetings or gatherings of nonresident individuals that are generally open to the public 
for purposes of recreation, sharing information, entertainment, social service, or similar activities.  The 
term includes fraternal, social, or civic clubs, lodges, union halls, and the like. 
 
“Community cultural facility” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended 
for studying, reading, personal education, or for viewing the visual arts.  The term includes libraries, 
museums, art galleries, observatories, and the like.  The term does not include performing arts. 
 
“Community garden” means an outdoor area that is used to grow vegetables, fruits, flowers, and the like by 
a group of unrelated individuals who primarily use what is grown for their personal use. The community 
garden can be divided into individual plots of land for the exclusive use of the person assigned each plot, or 
the entire garden may be a cooperative effort of any number of people, or a combination thereof. 
 

 
Appendix F – Land Use Definitions 7 



Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Public safety facility” means any place and/or building, or portion thereof, whether public or non-public, 
that is used or is intended for housing public safety services.  The term includes ambulance services, fire 
stations, police stations, and the like. 
 
“Worship facility” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that has tax-exempt status and that is 
used or is intended as a place where people can regularly assemble for religious worship and associated 
activities. The term includes sanctuaries, chapels, cathedrals, churches, synagogues, and temples and other 
onsite accessory buildings such as parsonages, friaries, convents, fellowship halls, Sunday schools, and 
rectories, and day care centers within the same structure.  The term does not include day care centers, 
community recreation facilities, dormitories, private educational facilities, emergency shelters, health care 
facilities, and the like. 
 
 
HEALTH CARE 
“Health care center clinic” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
providing medical services including prevention, diagnosis, treatment, or rehabilitation.  The term includes 
dental clinics, doctor’s offices, and sports medicine facilities.  The term does not include those uses as 
classified as a health care facility. 
 
“Health care facility” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, whether public or private, 
excluding federal facilities, whether organized for profit or not, that is used or is intended to provide health 
services, medical treatment, or nursing, rehabilitative, or preventative care to any person or individuals.  
The term does not include offices of private physicians or dentists.  The term includes ambulatory surgical 
facilities, hospitals, kidney treatment centers, long-term care facilities, medical assistance facilities, mental 
health centers, outpatient facilities, public health centers, rehabilitation facilities, residential treatment 
facilities, and adult day-care centers as defined in State law.  (Source: 50-5-101, MCA) 
 
“Health care sales and services” means a place and/or building or portion thereof, that is used or 
intended to provide for the sale of health care products and services.  The term includes pharmacies, 
vision care facilities, hearing aid facilities, prosthetic facilities, etc.  
 
 
EDUCATION 
“Commercial educational facility” means an educational facility operated by private institutions or 
individuals that is used or is intended for preparing students for jobs in trades or professions.  The term 
includes music schools, hair styling schools, real estate schools, and the like. 
 
“Educational facility (K-12)” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended 
for use as a preschool, elementary, junior high, or high school. 
 
“Educational facility (higher education)” means any place and/or building, or portion thereof, that offers or 
is intended to provide secondary education. The term includes colleges, universities, community colleges, 
and vocational schools. 
 
“Instructional facility” means any place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended to 
offer instruction, training, or tutelage in such areas as gymnastics, dance, art, music, martial arts, and the 
like. 
 
 

 
Appendix F – Land Use Definitions 8 



Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

SOLID WASTE, RECYCLING, AND COMPOSTING 
“Composting facility” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
collecting and processing vegetation (but not food wastes) for composting. The term includes the storage 
and manipulation of materials prior to, during, and following composting.  
 
“Recycling center” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
collecting and/or processing recoverable materials prior to shipment to others who use those materials to 
manufacture new products.  Typical types of recoverable materials include glass, newspaper, metal, and 
plastic.  The term shall not include a junk yard. 
 
“Solid waste transfer station” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended 
for temporary collection of solid waste prior to transport to a processing plant or to final disposal. (Refer to: 
16.14.403, ARM) 
 
 
 
 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
“Amateur radio station” means a radio station operated by a federally licensed amateur radio operator as 
part of the Amateur Radio Service. 
 
“Telecommunication facility” means a facility that transmits and/or receives electromagnetic signals. It 
includes antennas, microwave dishes, horns, and other types of equipment for the transmission or receipt of 
such signals, telecommunication towers or similar structures supporting said equipment, equipment 
buildings, parking area, and other accessory development. 
 

“Telecommunication facility, co-located” means a telecommunication facility comprised of a single 
telecommunication tower or building supporting one or more antennas, dishes, or similar devices 
owned or used by more than one public or private entity. 
 
“Telecommunication facility, concealed” means (1) an antenna that a casual observer would consider it 
a part of the structure to which it is attached or made a part of, or (2) an antennae and tower structure 
that is camouflaged to blend into the surroundings (e.g., camouflaged trees). 

 
“Telecommunication facility, unconcealed” means an antenna mounted on a tower or mounted on the 
ground. 

 
 
UTILITIES 

“Utility installation” means a place, building and/or structure, or portion thereof, whether public or 
private, that is used or is intended for providing basic infrastructure or utility services.“Utility 
installation, major” means a utility installation generally having moderate to high impact on 
neighboring property.  The term includes pipeline pumping stations, sewage treatment plants, electrical 
substations, water towers, wind turbines and the like.  It does not include “Utility installation, minor” 
means a utility installation generally having low impact on neighboring property.  The term includes 
public water system wells, sewer lift stations, irrigation ditches, or linear electric, communications 
or natural gas utilities, and the like. 

 
 

 
Appendix F – Land Use Definitions 9 



Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

TRANSPORTATION 
“Airport” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for the landing and 
takeoff of airplanes, helicopters, similar craft, including all necessary facilities for the housing and 
maintenance of the same. 
 

“Airport, private” means an airport that is used by the owner and other persons authorized by the 
owner and not open for general public use. 
 
“Airport, public” means an airport that is open for general public use. 

 
“Bus transit terminal” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
loading and unloading of bus passengers along with facilities for ticket sales and food service areas 
primarily intended for bus passengers. 
 
“Freight terminal” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for the 
temporary storage of items that will be reloaded onto trucks for final shipment. 
 
“Heli-pad” means a place that is used or intended to land helicopters. 
 
“Parking lot, principal use” means an off-street parking facility intended to temporarily store 
vehicles, not accessory to any principal use.  
 
“Parking structure” means a multilevel structure that is used or is intended for parking motor vehicles for a 
short duration. The term does not include underground parking. 
 
“Railroad yard” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for switching 
train cars, loading and unloading cars, and where train cars and engines are serviced and stored while not in 
use. 
 
“Taxi cab dispatch terminal” a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
dispatching taxi cabs and where taxi cabs are kept while not in use. 
 
 
CONTRACTOR YARDS 
“Contractor yard” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended to be used 
by a contractor/builder with one or more of the following: construction material storage, machinery storage
or repair, including trucks and heavy equipment, shops, and office space. 

 

 
“Contractor yard, type I” means a contractor yard that would be compatible in size and scope in a 
residential setting as defined by performance standards herein described or as may be adopted. 
 
“Contractor yard, type II” means a contractor yard that would be compatible in size and scope with 
industrial and commercial activities as defined by performance standards herein described or as may be 
adopted. 

 
 
INDUSTRIAL 

 
Appendix F – Land Use Definitions 10 



Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Artisan shop” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for creating 
works of art and/or production of handmade craft items on a small-scale. Examples of such items include 
paintings, sculptures, pottery, jewelry, hand blown glass, small wooden items, candles, soaps, and lotions. 
 
“Industrial, heavy” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for the 
following or similar uses: processing or manufacture of materials or products predominantly from extracted 
or raw materials; storage of or manufacturing processes using flammable or explosive materials; or storage 
or manufacturing processes that potentially involve hazardous or commonly recognized offensive 
conditions.  The term includes motor vehicle assembly, oil refineries, textile production, sawmills, post and 
pole plants, log yards, asphalt and concrete operations, primary metal processing, and the like. 
 
“Industrial, light” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for the 
manufacture, predominantly from previously prepared materials, of finished products or parts, including 
processing, fabrication, assembly, treatment, packaging, incidental storage, sales and distribution of such 
products, but excluding basic industrial processing.  The term includes furniture production, metal 
fabrication, apparel manufacturing, printing, publishing, and the like. 
 
“Industrial park” means a planned and coordinated development designed to accommodate a variety of and 
more than 2 industrial uses. 
 
“Junk yard” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for selling, 
exchanging, storing, cleaning, packing, processing, or otherwise handling salvage materials.  
 
“Light manufacturing and assembly” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is 
intended for manufacturing and/or assembly of goods where no air contaminants or potentially offensive 
odors are emitted outside of the building or area of manufacture/assembly; no radioactive materials or 
hazardous substances or hazardous wastes or regulated substances are handled or produced.  Such uses do 
not produce offensive noises outside of the building or area of manufacturing/assembly. Such uses typically 
have relatively small volumes of products shipped in and out, so as to not adversely impact neighboring 
uses (such as residential, office or commercial in mixed use zones). Typical uses include assembly of 
computers; testing, producing and/or packaging software; packaging of pre-made goods; etc.  This term 
does not include any uses specifically listed under the definition of “industrial, light”. 
 
“Motor vehicle graveyard” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is maintained and 
operated by a county and that is used or is intended as a collection point for junk motor vehicles prior to 
their disposal.  (Source: 75-10-501, MCA) 
 
“Motor vehicle wrecking facility” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is 
intended for buying, selling, or dealing in 4 or more vehicles per year, of a type required to be licensed, for 
the purpose of wrecking, dismantling, disassembling, or substantially changing the form of the motor 
vehicle; or a facility that buys or sells component parts, in whole or in part, and deals in secondhand motor 
vehicle parts.  A facility that buys or sells component parts of a motor vehicle, in whole or in part, is a 
motor vehicle wrecking facility whether or not the buying or selling price is based upon weight or any other 
type of classification.  The term does not include a garage where wrecked or disabled motor vehicles are 
temporarily stored for a reasonable period of time for inspection, repairs, or subsequent removal to a 
junkyard. (Source: 75-10-501, MCA) 
 
 
ACCESSORY USES 

 
Appendix F – Land Use Definitions 11 



Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Agriculture, livestock” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
raising horses and/or cattle, exclusively. 
 
“Automated teller machine (ATM)” means an automated device for conducting financial transactions. 
 

“Automated teller machine (ATM), exterior” means an automated teller machine that is accessed 
from outside of an enclosed building. 
 
“Automated teller machine (ATM), interior” means an automated teller machine that is accessed 
from inside of an enclosed building. 
 

“Bed and breakfast” means a single family residence that offers overnight accommodations and a meal for 
a daily charge and which also serves as a primary residence of the operator or owner.  (Refer to: 50-51-102, 
MCA) 
 
“Fences” means a structure around the perimeter of a space that provides privacy, aesthetics, or security. 
 
“Gaming, accessory” means a portion of a hotel, motel, restaurant or tavern with legalized gambling 
authorized under Title 23, Chapter 5, part 1, et. seq., MCA, permitted with specific development and use 
standards. 
 
“Garage, private” means a building that is intended to house vehicles and household items belonging to the 
owner or occupant of the principal residence. 
 
“Home occupation” means any occupation, profession, enterprise, or similar activity that is conducted on 
the premises of a single-family residence as an accessory use and that would be compatible in size and 
scope in an urban residential setting.  The term does not include hobbies or similar non-commercial 
activities or any activity that would meet the definition of heavy industry. 
 
“Private stable/barn” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
noncommercial activities relating to rearing, training, and riding horses or other permitted livestock.  This 
term includes pole barns. 
 
“Residence, accessory” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used, or is intended 
to provide housing, as a single family residence for a caretaker, employee or owner of the principal 
use and the like.  This residence is accessory to a principal use.   
 
“Roadside farmer’s market” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or is intended for 
the retail sale of produce grown exclusively on the premises. 
 
“Storage container” means an enclosed metal container exceeding 90 cubic feet that is typically used to 
temporarily store merchandise. 
 
TEMPORARY USES  
“Garage sales” means the occasional non-business public sale of secondhand household goods and 
other goods incidental to household uses.  The term also includes yard sales, patio sales, and the like.
The term does not include any sales defined as itinerant outdoor sales.  

  

 

 
Appendix F – Land Use Definitions 12 



Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana  Title 17 – Land Development Code 

“Itinerant outdoor sales” means a place that is used or is intended for retail sales over a limited duration.  
The term includes seasonal sales such as fireworks and Christmas trees, flea markets, and the like.  The 
term does not include private yard or garage sales or the sale of agricultural products produced on the 
premises. 
 
“On-site construction office” means a building placed on a construction site that is used by the contractor as 
a field office and removed when construction is complete. 
 
“On-site real estate sales office” means a residential dwelling in a residential development that is 
temporarily used as a sales office for other on-site residential dwellings.  
 
“Outdoor entertainment, temporary” means a short-term outdoor event such as concerts, 
performances, religious assemblages and the like. The term does not include sporting events such as 
motocross, auto racing and the like. 
 
“Sidewalk café” means an outdoor dining area located upon public property, including a sidewalk, and 
operated as an integral part of an adjacent restaurant where food and beverages are sold or served primarily 
for consumption on the premises. 
 
“Sidewalk food vendor” means the sale of food and beverage from a mobile cart located on public property 
or within the public right-of-way. 
 

 
Appendix F – Land Use Definitions 13 



 

                
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Land Development Code (Title 17) 
Summary  of  Proposed  Amendments  

Title, Chapter, 
Article, Section Proposed Amendment Reason for Amendment Additionally Requested Information 

17.8.090.07 
Measurements 

Building height. The height of a building shall be measured from grade plane to 
the average height of the highest roof surface in accordance with the current 
adopted edition of the International Building Code. as the average between the 
highest point and lowest point of finished ground level adjoining the 
building at the exterior wall to the highest peak of the highest roof. 

Simplified/clarified definition 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Agriculture, horticulture, nursery” means a place and/or building, or portion 
thereof that is used or is intended for growing fruit, vegetables, flowers, and 
other plants typically grown on farming operations in the region. 

Expanded/clarified definition 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Automated teller machine (ATM), interior” means an automated teller machine 
that is accessed from inside of an enclosed building. 

Removed definition, as this use is not 
regulated 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Department Director” means a City of Great Falls official designated as 
the head of a specific City Department, or his/her designee, authorized to 
act on his/her behalf. 

Added definition for clarification 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Freight terminal” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof that is 
used or is intended for unloading, loading or storage of freight for routing 
or reshipment the temporary storage of items that will be reloaded onto trucks 
for final shipment. 

Combined definition of Freight Terminal 
and Truck Terminal, which were nearly 
synonymous 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Garage, private” means a building that is intended to house vehicles and 
household items belonging to the owner or occupant of the principal 
residence. 

Clarified definition 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Garage sales” means the occasional non-business public sale of 
secondhand household goods and other goods incidental to household uses. 
The term also includes yard sales, patio sales, and the like.  The term does 
not include any sales defined as itinerant outdoor sales.   

New definition for new temporary land use 
category 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Health care sales and services” means a place and/or building or portion 
thereof, that is used or intended to provide for the sale of health care 
products and services. The term includes pharmacies, vision care 
facilities, hearing aid facilities, prosthetic facilities, etc.  

New definition for new principle land use 
category 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Inhabited area” means any residence, or other structure regularly 
occupied by people, or any outdoor area used by people on a regular basis. Definition was missed, added from Title 5 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“NEIR” means a non-ionizing electromagnetic radiation, which is 
electromagnetic radiation primarily in the visible, infrared, and radio 
frequency portions of the electromagnetic spectrum. 

Definition was missed, added from Title 5 

1 



 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  
 

  

 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Outdoor entertainment, temporary” means a short-term outdoor event 
such as concerts, performances, religious assemblages and the like.  The 
term does not include sporting events such as motocross, auto racing and 
the like. 

Added missing definition 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Parking lot, principal use” means an off-street parking facility intended 
to temporarily store vehicles, not accessory to any principal use. Definition was missed 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Residence, accessory” means place and/or building, or portion thereof, 
that is used, or is intended to provide housing, as a single family residence 
for a caretaker, employee or owner of the principle use and the like.  This 
residence is accessory to a principle use.   

New definition for new accessory land use 
category 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Restaurant” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof that is used or is 
intended for the preparation and sale of food and beverages for immediate 
consumption on or off site the premises, and where consumption of beer, wine, 
or other liquors, if any, is clearly secondary and subordinate to the sale of food 
and beverages. The term does not include a grocery or convenience store with 
a food service section.  Such establishments may include a drive-through 
window, and may or may not include on-site seating.   

Clarified/expanded definition 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Silhouette” means a representation of the outline of a structure, 
especially a tower and antenna associated with a telecommunication 
facility, as seen from an elevation perspective. 

Definition was missed, added from Title 5 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Telecommunication equipment building, shelter or cabinet" means a 
cabinet or building used to house equipment used by telecommunication 
providers to house equipment at a facility. 

Definition was missed, added from Title 5 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Tree, protected” means a significant tree on public or private property 
that may be threatened with removal or damage during a construction 
project. 

New definition, used in Landscaping 
Chapter (Chapter 44) 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Tree, significant” means a tree that is 6 inches or larger in trunk 
diameter when measured at one foot above the ground. 

New definition, used in Landscaping 
Chapter (Chapter 44) 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Truck terminal” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used 
or is intended for storage of freight for routing or reshipment. See “Freight Terminal”, above 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Utility installation” means a place, building and/or structure, or portion 
thereof, whether public or private, that is used or is intended for providing 
basic infrastructure or utility services generally having moderate to high 
impact on neighboring property. The term includes pipeline pumping 
stations, sewage treatment plants, electrical substations, water towers, 
wind turbines and the like.  It does not include public water system wells, 
sewer lift stations, irrigation ditches, or linear electric, communications or 

Eliminated definition of “minor utility 
installation”, as this is not regulated. 
Combined definition of “major utility 
installation” and “utility installation” into 
one definition 

2 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

     

 

 

 
 

 

natural gas utilities, and the like. This term shall not include linear electric, 
communications or natural gas facilities which are not regulated under this 
Title. 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Utility installation, major” means a utility installation generally having 
moderate to high impact on neighboring property.  The term includes pipeline 
pumping stations, sewage treatment plants, electrical substations, water towers, 
and the like. 

See above 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Utility installation, minor” means a utility installation generally having low 
impact on neighboring property.  The term includes public water system wells, 
sewer lift stations, irrigation ditches, and the like. 

See above 

17.8.120 
General Definitions 

“Worship facility” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that has 
tax-exempt status and that is used or is intended as a place where people can 
regularly assemble for religious worship and associated activities. The term 
includes sanctuaries, chapels, cathedrals, churches, synagogues, and temples 
and other onsite accessory buildings such as parsonages, friaries, convents, 
fellowship halls, Sunday schools, and rectories, and day care centers within 
the same structure. The term does not include day care centers, community 
recreation facilities, dormitories, private educational facilities, emergency 
shelters, health care facilities, and the like. 

Added Day Care Centers as allowable use 

17.16-Exhibit 16-2 
Public Notice (non-subdivision) was added to the ‘type of action’ under Article 32 Clarified applicability 

17.16-Exhibit 16-2 
Public Notice Public Notices are required for Article 34, “Administrative appeal” Clarified process 

17.16.7.030 
Application and 
Review Procedure 

M. Filing Recording of resolution. The City Clerk shall promptly make and 
certify a copy of record the annexation resolution and file it with the County 
Clerk and Recorder. (See: 7-2-4607 (1), MCA) 

Clarified wording 

17.16.23.030 
Application and 
Review Procedure 

G. Staff report. The historic preservation officer shall prepare a staff report 
as described in this article and mail it to each member of the Historic 
Preservation Advisory Commission, the applicant, and the applicant’s agent, if 
any, no later than 3 days prior to the public hearing. He/she shall also provide a 
copy to interested people upon request. 

Clarified process – no HPAC involvement 
intended. This was missed during original 
drafting 

17.16.23.070 
Appeal 

A.    Historic buildings. Within 30 days of a final decision, the applicant 
and/or an aggrieved party may appeal the decision of the commission to the 
City Commission, which shall hold a public hearing to consider the appeal. If 
the decision of the commission is appealed to the City Commission, the 
applicant and/or an aggrieved person may appeal the City Commission’s final 
decision by filing an appeal with a court of competent jurisdiction within 30 
days of the City Commission’s final decision. 

See above 

3 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

B. Non-historic buildings. The applicant and/or an aggrieved party may 
appeal a final decision made pursuant to this article by filing an appeal with the 
Board of Adjustment within 30 days of the final decision. 

17.16.29.100 
Changes in Planned 
Unit Development 

Changes in Planned Unit Development 
A Planned Unit Development shall be developed only according to the 
approved final plan and all supporting data. The final plan and
supporting data together with all recorded amendments shall be binding 
on the applicants, their successors, grantees, and assigns, and shall limit 
and control the use of premises (including the internal use of buildings and 
structures) and location of structures in the Planned Unit Development as 
set forth therein. 
A.  Major Changes. Major changes in the plan of development or 

supporting data similarly approved shall be considered the same as a 
Adnew petition, and reapplication shall be made in accordance with the 

procedures for a new application.  Major changes include increase in lan
density, heights of buildings, change in location and types of 
nonresidential land uses, changes in road standards or alignment,
changes in the location and/or amount of land devoted to open space, 
parks or other commo  n facilities. 

B. Minor Changes. Minor changes may be approved by the zoning 
administrator or Planning Director following approval of such 
change by the appropriate property owners’ association if applicable. 
Minor changes are defined as any change not defined as a major 

 change. 

ded to make the process more efficient - 
guage taken from old Code 

17.16.32.030 
Application and 
review procedures 
for variances that 
relate to the 
subdivision 
regulations 

A. Submittal of application. The applicant shall submit a completed 
application to the Planning Department along with the application fee as 
may be established by the City Commission. for subdivision as provided 
in Article 26 of this chapter.   

B. Determination of completeness. Within 10 days of submittal, the 
Director of the Planning Department shall determine if the application is 
complete. If the application is deemed incomplete, it shall be returned to 
the applicant and the applicant has 6 months to resubmit the application 
or forfeit the application fee. The director shall take no further steps to 
process the application until the deficiencies are modified. Procedure. 
The application for variance shall be processed simultaneously and 
as a part of the application for subdivision as provided in Article 26 
of this chapter including staff report, Planning Board 
recommendation and City Commission decision. 

C. Notice. Consistent with Article 4 of this chapter, the director shall 

Clarified and simplified process   

4 



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

   
 

 

provide for public notice, property owner notification, agency 
notification, and posting of a sign on the premises. 

D. Staff report. The director shall prepare a written staff report as 
described in this article and mail it to each member of the City 
Commission, the applicant, and the applicant’s agent, if any, no later 
than 3 days prior to the public hearing. He/she shall also provide a copy 
to interested people upon request. 

E. Public hearing. Allowing for proper notice, the City Commission shall 
hold a public hearing to review the application. 

F. Decision. Within 30 days of the determination of completeness, the City 
Commission shall approve the application, approve it with conditions, or 
deny it. Such decision shall be in writing and shall include the findings 
in support of its decision and if approved any conditions as may be 
imposed. 

G. Applicant notification. Within 5 days following the decision, the 
director shall mail the applicant the original (signed) copy of the decision 
and retain a copy for the public record. 

H. Additional procedural steps. If the City Commission grants the 
variance, the applicant shall then follow other review procedures as may 
be required. 

17.16.32.080 
Imposition of 
conditions 

In approving a variance, the Board of Adjustment or City Commission may 
impose such conditions and restriction as may be necessary to grant approval. Clarified process 

17.16.40.010 
Generally 

From time to time it may be necessary to amend the text of Chapter 20 of this 
Title relative to subdivisions and/or zoning, and the associated zoning map, 
provided the amendment is consistent with the City’s growth policy, 
neighborhood plans, and other officially adopted plans. 

Clarified applicability 

17.16.40.020 
Application and 
review procedure for 
map amendments  

C. Determination of review authority. The director shall determine the 
appropriate review authority. If the amendment is intended to amend the 
text of this Title as it relates to the subdivision of land, the Planning 
Board shall hear the amendment and render a recommendation to the 
City Commission. The Zoning Commission shall hear all other 
amendments relating to zoning. 

Clarified authority 

17.16.46.050 
Enforcement 
procedure for 
provisions not 
relating to 

C. Notification of violation. If the City determines that a violation does 
exist, the appropriate department head, in consultation with the City 
Attorney, will initiate court action as provided in this part. send a notice 
of violation to the property owner as provided for in this Article. 

Clarified process 

5 



 

 

 

 

 
  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

subdivision process 

17.16.46.090 
Penalties for 
violation of a 
subdivision 
provision 

Any person who sells, leases, or otherwise transfers land not in conformance 
with this Title or State law shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and shall be 
subject to a fine of not less than $100 or more than $500, imprisonment in the 
county jail for not more than 6 3 months, or both. Each sale, lease, or transfer 
of each separate parcel shall constitute a separate offense.  (See: 76-3-105, 
MCA) 

Edited to conform with State law 

17.16.46.110 
Penalties for 
violation for other 
provisions 

Any person who violates any provision of this Title, with the exception of 
subdivision and floodplain regulations, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and 
shall be subject to a fine of not more than $500 or imprisonment in the county 
jail for not more than 6 months, or both the penalties as provided for in 
OCCGF 1.4.070; and each day a violation continues to exist shall constitute a 
separate offense. 

Edited to ensure conformance with OCCGF 
(Title 4) 

17.20.2.040.A.17 
Establishment and 
purpose of districts 

After January 1, 2005, new PUD districts are to be numbered sequentially. Clarified process - PUDs named, not 
numbered 

17.20-Exhibit 20-1 
Principal uses by 
district 

See Exhibit for changes 

Some land uses were adjusted to be 
consistent with similar uses and zoning 
districts and to allow for flexibility. A few 
new uses were added, a few removed. 

17.20-Exhibit 20-2 
Accessory uses by 
district 

See Exhibit for changes 

Some land uses were adjusted to be 
consistent with similar uses and zoning 
districts and to allow for flexibility. One 
new use was added, one removed. 

17.20-Exhibit 20-3 
Temporary uses by 
district 

See Exhibit for changes 

Some land uses were adjusted to be 
consistent with similar uses and zoning 
districts and to allow for flexibility. One 
new use was added. 

17.20-Exhibit 20-4 
Development 
standards table 

The ‘Maximum building height of detached garage [1]’ for R-5 added the 
following: but may not be higher than the uppermost elevation of the 
principal building 

Refined standard for consistency 
The additional wording is meant to be 
consistent with the other residential zoning 
districts R-1, R-2, R-3 and R-9 

17.20-Exhibit 20-4 
Development 
standards table 

The ‘Maximum building height of detached garage [1]’ for R-6 added the 
following: but may not be higher than the uppermost elevation of the 
principal building 

Refined standard for consistency 
The additional wording is meant to be 
consistent with the other residential zoning 
districts R-1, R-2, R-3 and R-9 

17.20-Exhibit 20-4 
Development 
standards table 

The ‘Maximum lot coverage of principal and accessory buildings’ for R-3 
deleted a Corner Lot coverage of 70% and changed it to 55%, and deleted 
Other Types coverage of 60% and changed it to 50%. 

Refined standards 
This was an error in the original LDC.  The 
prior code stated maximum lot coverage for 
single family districts was 45% for a corner 

6 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
 

 

  

lot and 35% for other lots.  The proposed 
change is more lenient at 55% for corner 
lots and 50% for other lots zoned R-3. 

17.20-Exhibit 20-4 
Development 
standards table 

Footnote [6] was added. It reads: For townhouses, see Section 17.20.6.050 
for additional and superseding requirements. Reference provided for ease of application 

17.20-Exhibit 20-4 
Development 
standards table 

Footnote [7] was added. It reads: Permitted accessory structures and
buildings shall have a minimum rear setback of 2 feet in all residential 
zoning districts. 

Added standard for completeness 

17.20-Exhibit 20-4 
Development 
standards table 

The ‘Maximum building height of a principal building’ for C-2 has been 
changed from 35 feet to 65 feet. Refined standard 

Increased allowable height to 
accommodate larger buildings in the 
General Commercial district 

17.20-Exhibit 20-4 
Development 
standards table 

The ‘Maximum building height of a principal building’ for PLI has been 
modified to include: except as follows:  in the proposed medical district
master plan area, 160 feet by right. 

Refined standard and clarified applicability 
of standard 

Increased height limit to accommodate 
hospital buildings in only the proposed 
“medical district”. 

17.20-Exhibit 20-4 
Development 
standards table 

The ‘Maximum building height of an accessory building’ for C-1 has been 
modified in the following way: 12 24 feet, but may not be higher than the
uppermost elevation of the principal building 

Refined standard 

To address accessory buildings in the 
Neighborhood Commercial districts to be 
consistent with other commercial and 
transitional zoning districts 

17.20-Exhibit 20-4 
Development 
standards table 

The ‘Maximum building height of an accessory building’ for C-2 has been 
modified in the following way: 12 24 feet, but may not be higher than the
uppermost elevation of the principal building 

Refined standard 

To address accessory buildings in the 
General Commercial districts to be 
consistent with other commercial and 
transitional zoning districts 

17.20.5.040 
Large format retail 
stores 

A. Legislative findings. The City Commission make  s the following findings: 
1.  Abandoned buildings are a blighting influence on the community and 

large vacant stores are especially detrim  ental. 
2.  Large retail buildings may be inconsistent with the existing 

community character and the imm  ediate area. 
3.  A diverse retail economy is desirable in that it provides consumer 

choice and fosters competition.   
B. Purpose. The provisions of this section are intended to accomplish the 
following purposes:  

1. ensure that large retail projects are consistent with the community       
character and the surrounding area   

2. ensure that large retail stores contribute to a diverse and sound 
economic base  

3. prevent urban blight due to vacant retail stor  es 

Removed Legislative Findings & Purpose 
language to be consistent with standard 
format of Article and which may have 
unintentionally provided some basis for 
applying other unintended provisions to 
large format retail store  s 

17.20.6.005 Agricultural, horticulture, nursery New standard added for clarification of 

7 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

   

Agriculture, 
horticulture, nursery 

The production or growing of agricultural, horticultural or nursery 
products is permitted in the R-1, I-1, and I-2 zoning districts.  The sale of 
such products is only permitted in zoning districts allowing such sales. 

applicability 

17.20.6.010.B 
Mobile home park 

Applicability. The design standards of this section shall apply during the 
establishment of new mobile home parks. Clarified applicability 

17.20.6.020.A 
Residence, zero-lot 
line 

Generally. Houses placed within a zero-lot line development shall comply 
with all applicable standards, except that side yard setbacks are modified. Zero-
lot line projects are considered a conditional use in several residential districts 
and are reviewed on a case-by-case basis. 

Simplified process 

17.20.6.030 
Residence, two 
family 

Two-family residences shall meet the standards for single-family residences. Referenced standards do not exist 

17.20.6.050 
Townhouse 

B.      Lot dimension and area. Each lot shall be a minimum of 1,300 
square feet in area. Any portion of the lot less than 16 feet in width 
shall not be included in the calculation of the minimum required 1,300 
square feet lot area. The minimum average lot width for the end 
dwelling unit of a townhouse structure shall be 32 feet and the 
minimum lot area of the end dwelling unit sh  all be 2,600 square feet. 
The minimum lot width to depth ratio shall be no greater than 1 to 7 
and shall be based upon the portion of the lot eligible for inclusion in 
the above mentioned area calculation.   

C.      Building setback line. 
1. Front yard. The minimum depth of a front yard shall be the 
depth required by the zoning district in which the townhouse is 
located. (See Exhibit 20-4).  In those instances where the entrance to 
off-street parking spaces for an individual lot is from a public 
roadway, the minimum building setback line from the public road 
right-of-way shall be 20 feet. 
2. Side yard. Every dwelling which is the end unit of a townhouse 
structure shall have a minimum side yard depth required by the 
zoning district in which the townhouse is located.  (See Exhibit 20-4).
3. Rear yard. The minimum depth of a rear yard shall be the depth
required by the zoning district in which the townhouse is located (See 
Exhibit 20-4), although the depth of a rear yard for a garage shall be 
20 feet where the vehicular entrance crosses the rear property line. 

BD. Lot Occupied area. No more than 50 percent of the lot area shall be 
occupied by a building.  

Standards and provisions were missed, 
added from old Code 

17.20.6.060.A.4 
Residence, An overhang shall extend at least 12 10 inches beyond the exterior wall. Reduced to conform with industry standard 

8 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

manufactured, 
factory-built 

17.20.6.140.A 
Casino, type 1 

Purpose. This section is intended to allow the location of new casinos or the 
relocation of existing casinos in certain zoning districts provided they meet 
more stringent development and appearance standards than type II casinos. 

Clarified applicability 

17.20.6.140.E 
Casino, type 1 

Design Review Board approval. The Design Review Board shall review and 
approve the exterior building design and finishes; and landscaping, signage, 
lighting and parking plan for any new or relocated casino, or an expansion or 
exterior renovation of an existing casino. 

Clarified applicability 

17.20.6.150.E 
Casino, type II 

Design Review Board Approval. The Design Review Board shall review and 
approve the exterior building design and finishes; and landscaping, signage, 
lighting and parking plan for any new or relocated casino, or an expansion or 
exterior renovation of an existing casino. 

Clarified applicability 

17.20.6.160.A 
Animal Shelter 

Confinement of animals. All animals shall be confined to an enclosed 
building. In an industrial zoning district, tThe facility may include a fenced or 
otherwise confined exercise area provided: 

Refined applicability of standard 

17.20.6.190 
Health care facility 

A heliport or heli-pad may only be allowed as a conditional use when used for 
transporting patients to and from a hospital. Removed as unnecessary 

17.20.6.250.B 
Telecommunications 
facility 

Applicability. The provisions of this section apply to all telecommunication 
facilities, except City government owned or public service use/facility 
owned and operated receive and/or transmit telemetry station antennas for 
supervisory control and data acquisition (SCADA) systems for water, flood 
alert, traffic control devices and signals, stormwater, pump stations and/or 
irrigation systems, public education and transportation with heights not 
exceeding 35 feet. Additionally, the provisions of this section do not apply 
to single satellite dishes smaller than 10 inches in diameter. 

Refined to reflect applicability from Title 5 
of OCCGF 

17.20.6.270.E 
Contractor yard, 
type I 

Buildings. A building(s) not exceeding a cumulative total of 1,500 3,000 
square feet shall be constructed on the premises to accommodate the 
contractor’s operations. 

Refined standard 

17.20-Exhibit 20-8 
Standards for fences 

Changed the maximum height for fences in Industrial Zoning Districts between 
the front lot line and the front of the principal building from 8 to 12. Refined standard 

17.20-Exhibit 20-8 
Standards for fences 

Changed the maximum height for fences in Industrial Zoning Districts from the 
front of the principal building to the rear lot line from 8 to 12. Refined standard 

17.20.7.040.C 
Fences 

Maximum height. Fences shall not exceed the heights listed in Exhibit 20-8.  
Fences shall comply with landscape screening requirements and standards 
of this Title. 

Refined standard 

17.20-Exhibit 20-9 Changed the Parcel Size from 10,001 and higher to 10,001 to 43,599 (square Refined standard 

9 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Garage area 
limitations 

feet) 

17.20-Exhibit 20-9 
Garage area 
limitations 

Added the Parcel Size 43,600 (1 acre) and higher with a total maximum garage 
area of 1,800 (square feet) Refined standard 

17.20.7.070.F 
Home occupation 

Signs. No exterior display shall be permitted except that one non-illuminated 
nameplate or home occupation sign shall be allowed. The sign shall be limited 
to 144 square inches (one square foot) in area. Such sign or nameplate shall be 
placed flat against the dwelling unit. Signage for home occupations must 
conform to the requirements in section 17.60.2.020(K) of chapter 60 of this 
Title. 

Moved requirement to Sign chapter 

17.20.7.070.I 
Home occupation 

Prohibited uses. The following uses do not qualify as a home occupation: 
veterinary services, medical offices, animal boarding or grooming, barber, hair 
care, restaurant, vehicle repair, or any other similar high traffic generation 
activity. 

Clarified applicability 

17.20.7.085 
Residence, 
accessory 

In the C-4 zoning district, only upper level residences are permitted. Clarified allowed use downtown 

17.20.8.010.A 
General provisions 

Generally. Prior to establishment, all temporary uses except for garage sales 
shall obtain a temporary use permit from the City. The requirements listed in 
this section are intended to address land-use related issues. As such, the City 
Commission may adopt additional requirements relating to the permitting 
process, hours of operation, specific use requirements, hold harmless 
provisions, insurance, and others appropriate to the temporary use. At its 
discretion, the City may develop a single application for all temporary uses or 
develop an application for each use. No temporary use included in this chapter 
may be allowed until the City has developed an appropriate application and 
supplemental requirements. 

Clarified exemption of garage sales from 
temporary use permit 

17.20.8.015 
Garage sales 

A. Generally. A temporary use permit from the City is not required for 
this temporary use. 

B. Frequency and duration. Sales are intended to be conducted no more 
than twice during a calendar year, for a period of not more than 
three consecutive days per occurrence. 

New standards for added use 

17.24.040.G 
Exemptions 

Subdivisions exempted from review but subject to survey requirements 
and zoning regulations (See: 76-3-207, MCA). Unless the method of 
disposition is adopted for the purpose of evading this chapter, the following are 
not subdivisions under this chapter but are subject to the surveying 
requirements of 76-3-401, MCA and zoning regulations provided by 

Clarified applicability 

10 



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 20 of this Title: 

17.28.050.I 
Standards and 
guidelines for 
specified projects 
and buildings 

commercial buildings in a commercial, mixed-use (M-1 and M-2), Public 
Lands and Institutional (PLI), and all residential zoning districts, including 
new construction, additions that exceed 500 square feet, and exterior 
renovations; 

Clarified applicability 

17.32.090 
Street design 
standards 

G. Curved streets. Curved collector streets shall have a centerline 
radius of not less than two hundred fifty feet.  Curved local (minor) streets 
shall have a centerline radius of not less than one hundred feet. 

Added missing standard 

17.32.150 
Driveway access 

G. Driveway paving. Driveways connecting to a public street must be 
surfaced and maintained with a cement or asphaltic concrete.  Paving of 
driveways connecting to a public street in an R-1 Zoning District shall be 
required at the discretion of the City Engineer. 

Clarified standard and applicability 

17.32.160 
Intersection 
visibility 

A. Generally. To provide motorists with a clear view of intersecting streets, 
alleys and driveways, nothing within the clear visibility triangle shall be 
erected, placed, parked, planted, or allowed to grow at a level between 2.5 feet 
and 8 feet above the adjoining street center line surface elevation. A tree whose 
branches are 8 feet or higher may be located in this area. 

Expanded applicability 

17.32.160 
Intersection 
visibility 

B. Size. The configuration of a clear visibility triangle is shown in Exhibit 
32-5 and the length of each leg measured along the curbline or edge of 
roadway, (indicated on Exhibit 32-5 as “x”) shall be 45 feet for street 
intersections, and 10 feet for alleys and 15 feet for driveways. 

Clarified standard 

17.32.160 
Intersection 
visibility 

C. Exemption. Properties in the C-4 Central Business zoning district 
are required to comply with the provisions in this section unless 
compliance is not possible due to the setback of the building. 

Clarified applicability exemption 

17.36.2.010 
General 
requirements 

H. Front and side yard prohibition. Off street parking for residential uses 
shall not be located within the setback of a lot frontage. This may be either 
a front or side yard setback, depending upon the lot location and 
configuration. It is not intended to apply to the rear yard setback of a lot 
bordering an alley. 

Removed parking prohibition 

17.36-Exhibit 36-1 
Non-accessible 
parking 
requirements 

The minimum number of required spaces for commercial motor vehicle 
maintenance and service shops has been modified in the following way:  2 per 
service area including or work bays plus 1 per employee per shift 

Clarified standard 

17.36.2.040 
Design requirements 

D. Drive-through stacking requirements. Drive-through facilities shall 
have stacking room for at least six vehicles, including one vehicle at the 
window (or call box, etc.). Stacked vehicles shall not extend into any public 

Added standard 

11 



 

 

 
 

street, road, alley or right-of-way, or required service drive. 
17.36.2.070 
Accessible parking 
and passenger 
loading 

B. Number required. If parking spaces are required, then accessible spaces 
shall be provided, in addition to inclusive of the required number of regular 
spaces, in the quantity as shown in Exhibit 36-4. One of 8 accessible parking 
spaces, but always at least one, must be van-accessible. 

Clarified standard 

17.44.1.030 
Installation and 
maintenance  

G. Tree protection and replacement. Existing significant trees that are 
alive and in healthy condition shall be preserved to the extent 
reasonably feasible during development or redevelopment, and may 
help satisfy the landscaping requirements of this chapter. Such trees  
shall be considered “protected” trees within the meaning of this 
chapter subject to the exceptions contained in item 3 below. Streets, 
buildings and lot layouts shall be designed to minimize the disturbance 
to existing significant trees. All required landscape plans shall
accurately identify the locations, species, size and condition of all 
existing significant trees, each labeled showing the applicant’s intent to 
either remove, transplant or protect.  Where it is not feasible to protect 
and retain existing significant tree(s), owners are encouraged to 
transplant them to another on-site location.
1. All existing street trees that are located on City rights-of-way 

abutting the development or redevelopment shall be accurately 
identified by species, size, location and condition on required 
landscape plans, and shall be preserved and protected in
accordance with the City of Great Falls, “Arboricultural 
Standards and Specifications.” Unauthorized removal or 
destruction of such trees shall require the following: 

a. Payment to the City of Great Falls of the value of the trees 
removed or damaged. The party responsible for the
removal or destruction shall select either the City Forester 
or a qualified landscape appraiser to determine such loss 
based upon an appraisal of the tree to be removed by using 
the most recent published methods established by the 
Council of Tree and Landscape Appraisers; or,  

b. Replacement of lost or damaged trees, as directed by the 
City, with a sum of total trunk diameters equal to 100% of 
the trunk diameters of the trees removed.  Replacement 
shall conform to the requirements in Article 2 to this 
chapter.

2. Replacement trees shall meet the following minimum size  
requirements: 

a. Canopy Shade Trees 2.0” caliper balled and burlap or 

New standard added to provide for better 
mature tree protection 

New standard added to provide for better 
mature tree protection. Damage to trees, 
both private and public, during 
development has been substantial and 
persistent for many years with many mature 
trees succumbing to the damage several 
years after project completion. Often, trees 
scheduled to be saved and protected by the 
developer are part of the landscape 
requirements for interior trees and 
boulevard trees. 
 
The Design Review Board has expressed 
concerns for sometime that trees which are 
scheduled to be saved and protected during 
construction in fact are not. On many 
projects throughout the community, mature 
trees suffer extensive and preventable root 
loss, soil compaction, wounds to trunks and 
branches and poisoning from concrete wash 
and other construction materials deposited 
over their root systems.   This results in the 
death of the trees often several years after 
project completion. 
 
This code is proactive in that it requires that  
developers and contractors consider the lay 
out of the project and its impacts to mature 
trees and present a plan for protecting those 
trees which they have selected to remain.  It 
does not require reimbursement for those 
trees which may be damaged or destroyed 

12 



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 

      

equivalent 
b. Ornamental Trees 2.0” caliper balled and burlap or 

equivalent 
c. Evergreen Trees 6’ height balled and burlap or 

equivalent
3. Trees that meet one or more of the following removal criteria 

shall be exempt from the requirements of this subsection. 
a. dead, dying or naturally fallen trees, or trees found to be a

threat to public health, safety or welfare; 
b. trees that are determined by the City to substantially 

obstruct clear visibility at driveways and intersections; 
c. tree species that constitute a nuisance to the public such as 

cotton-bearing cottonwood, Siberian Elm and Russian Olive. 
However, native cotton-bearing cottonwood trees, when 
located in a natural area buffer zone or riparian area, are 

 not nuisance tree species. 

on private property. It does require
reimbursement for trees damaged or 
destroyed which are public trees located on 
public property such as boulevards.
 
The valuation methods and damage 
assessment protocol will be done using 
nationally accepted and adopted standards 
developed by the Council of Landscape 
appraisers and the International Society of 
Arboriculture. 
 
Tree damage is not understood well by 
developers or contractors. An education 
program should be implemented as an 
integral part of this program.  

 

17.44.1.050 
Use of low water 
adaptive vegetation 
Retaining wall 
standards 

The use of low-water-adaptive vegetation should be incorporated into 
landscape designs to the extent possible.  When the total amount of 
landscaping in a project, excluding boulevard areas, exceeds 5,000 square feet, 
at least 30% of the required vegetation shall be low-water-adaptive vegetation 
and planted in one or more groupings. Retaining walls shall not be taller 
than 6 feet. A series of more or less parallel retaining walls may be used 
provided there is at least a 5-foot horizontal separation between the 2 walls 
and the area is landscaped with shrubs at a rate of at least 10 shrubs per 
100 feet (Exhibit 44-1). 

Removed low-water adaptive vegetation 
standard and added retaining wall standard 
from eliminated Hillside Standards chapter 

17.44-Exhibit 44-1 
Dimensional 
standards for 
retaining walls 

A dimensional standard exhibit for retaining walls was added.  See above 

17.44.2.2.040.B 
Landscaping for 
boulevard areas 

2. At least one canopy type tree shall be planted and maintained in a 
boulevard section for each 35 lineal feet of street and avenue frontage or 
portion thereof, not covered by driveway, sidewalks, or other approved 
hard surface. 

Clarified calculation methodology 

17.44.3.010.A 
Applicability 

3. All buildings greater than 20,000 sq. ft. changing occupancy or 
undergoing interior or exterior remodeling. 

Added requirement and clarified 
applicability 

17.44.3.010.B 2. Single-family dwellings or duplex units. Removed unnecessary exemption language 

13 



 

 

 

 

 

 

      

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Applicability 
17.44.3.030.B 
Landscaping 
requirements 

5. At least 75% of the area within landscaped islands shall be in turf grass. 
Landscaped islands shall contain canopy shade trees, shrubs and/or 
turf grass. 

Modified standard 

17.44.3.030 
Landscaping 
requirements 

H. Boulevard landscaping credit. 25% of the boulevard landscaping, 
excluding sidewalks and driveways, may be credited to the interior 
landscaping requirement specified in item A above. 

Clarified standard 

17.44.4 
Design Standards 
for Industrial 
Buildings 

Added Article 4, (Landscaping) Design Standards For Industrial Buildings. See 
actual Chapter for complete text. 

Separated Industrial landscaping 
requirements from Commercial landscaping 
requirements 

17.64.010 
Legislative findings 

2. It is reasonable to generally allow, but not encourage, nonconformities to 
continue until such time as they are moved, removed or discontinued. Clarified applicability 

17.64.010 
Legislative findings 

3. Nonconformities that are moved, removed, discontinued, changed, 
extended, or enlarged shall be made to conform with the regulations that 
apply to all other parcels of land within the district. However, changes in 
use may be allowed under certain circumstances. 

Clarified applicability and acknowledged 
the need to allow for changes under certain 
circumstances 

17.64.020.A 
Nonconforming uses 

1. Change or expansion of nonresidential uses. 
a. A nonconforming, nonresidential use shall not be changed except in 

conformance with the zoning district in which it is located. 
b.a. A nonconforming nonresidential use may be changed to 

another nonconforming nonresidential use, or may be 
increased or expanded, if the Planning Director determines 
the application for the proposed, expanded or increased use 
meets the following criteria, without requiring or requesting 
any dimensional, lighting, parking, landscaping or other
similar variance: 
1. The off-street parking and loading requirements for and 

traffic generated by the proposed, expanded or increased 
use do not exceed that of the existing or most recent use. 

2. The proposed use is permitted in the same zoning district 
in which the existing or most recent use is first permitted 
in Table 20-4 of Chapter 20 to this Title. For the purposes 
of this Chapter, “first permitted” shall mean the first 
zoning district in Table 20-4 in which a “P” occurs, when 
reading the table from left to right. 

3. The intensity of onsite and offsite impacts from noise, 
dust, smoke and other environmental impacts associated 
with the proposed, expanded or increased use is equal to 

Expanded ability to change existing 
nonconforming nonresidential uses 

14 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

or less than that associated with the existing or most 
recent use. 

Such application may require a fee, as may be established by the 
City Commission. 
c.b. Alternatively, a nonconforming, nonresidential use may also be 

changed to another nonconforming use, or may be increased or 
expanded, through a conditional use permit procedure as set forth in 
Chapter 16 

17.68-Exhibit 68-1 
Timing of 
improvements 

The “improvement agreement allowable” for the potable water infrastructure 
improvement was changed from no to yes. Refined requirement 

17.68-Exhibit 68-1 
Timing of 
improvements 

The “improvement agreement allowable” for the sewer infrastructure 
improvement was changed from no to yes. Refined requirement 

17.68-Exhibit 68-1 
Timing of 
improvements 

The “completion prior to requirement” for the landscaping improvement was 
changed from ‘filing of final plat,’ to ‘issuance of occupancy permit.’ Refined requirement 

17.68-Exhibit 68-1 
Timing of 
improvements 

The “completion prior to...” requirement for the screening improvement was 
changed from ‘filing of final subdivision plat,’ to ‘issuance of occupancy 
permit.’ 

Refined requirement 

17.68-Exhibit 68-1 
Timing of 
improvements 

The “improvement agreement allowable” for the street/alleys – base course 
improvement was changed from no to yes. Refined requirement 

17.68-Exhibit 68-1 
Timing of 
improvements 

The “completion prior to...” requirement for the street/alleys – pavement 
improvement was changed from ‘filing of final subdivision plat’ to ‘issuance of 
occupancy permit.’ 

Refined requirement 

17.68-Exhibit 68-1 
Timing of 
improvements 

The “completion prior to...” requirement for the parking improvement was 
changed from ‘filing of final subdivision plat’ to ‘issuance of occupancy 
permit.’ 

Refined requirement 

17.68-Exhibit 68-1 
Timing of 
improvements 

The “completion prior to...” requirement for the lighting improvement was 
changed from ‘filing of final subdivision plat’ to ‘issuance of occupancy 
permit.’ 

Refined requirement 

17.68-Exhibit 68-1 
Timing of 
improvements 

The “improvement agreement allowable” for the lighting improvement was 
changed from yes to no. Refined requirement 

17.68-Exhibit 68-1 
Timing of 

The “improvement agreement allowable” for the stormwater facilities 
improvement was changed from no to yes. Refined requirement 

15 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
 

 

  

improvements 
17.68.050 
Dedication of 
improvements 

E. Administration. The Director of the Planning Department shall be 
responsible for signing agreements and administering them on behalf of the 
City. 

Clarified authority 

Appendix F 
Agricultural Uses 

“Agriculture, horticulture, nursery” means a place and/or building, or portion 
thereof, that is used or is intended for growing fruit, vegetables, flowers, and 
other plants typically grown on farming operations in the region. 

Clarified/expanded definition 

Appendix F 
Residential Uses 

“Residence, condominiums” means separately owned single-family 
dwelling units with common elements located on property submitted to the 
provisions of the Montana unit ownership act, title 70, chapter 23, MCA. 

Added missing definition 

Appendix F 
Special Care 
Facilities 

“Day care center” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is 
used or is intended to provide day care to 13 or more children on a regular 
basis. (Source: 52-2-703, MCA) 

Clarified definition 

Appendix F 
Food and Beverage 
Sales 

“Restaurant” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is used or 
is intended for the preparation and sale of food and beverages for immediate 
consumption on or off site the premises, and where consumption of beer, wine, 
or other liquors, if any, is clearly secondary and subordinate to the sale of food 
and beverages. The term does not include a grocery or convenience store with 
a food service section. Such establishments may include a drive-through 
window, and may or may not include on-site seating. 

Clarified/expanded definition 

Appendix F 
General Storage 

“Truck Freight terminal” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, 
that is used or is intended for unloading, loading or storage of freight for 
routing or reshipment. 

Combined similar land uses, revised 
definition 

Appendix F 
Community 
Services/Uses 

“Worship facility” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that has 
tax-exempt status and that is used or is intended as a place where people can 
regularly assemble for religious worship and associated activities. The term 
includes sanctuaries, chapels, cathedrals, churches, synagogues, and temples 
and other onsite accessory buildings such as parsonages, friaries, convents, 
fellowship halls, Sunday schools, and rectories, and day care centers within 
the same structure. The term does not include day care centers, community 
recreation facilities, dormitories, private educational facilities, emergency 
shelters, health care facilities, and the like. 

Added day care centers as allowable use 

Appendix F 
Health Care 

“Health care sales and services” means a place and/or building or portion 
thereof, that is used or intended to provide for the sale of health care 
products and services. The term includes pharmacies, vision care 
facilities, hearing aid facilities, prosthetic facilities, etc. 

New definition for new land use category 

Appendix F “Utility installation” means a place, building and/or structure, or portion Revised definition to reflect removal of 

16 



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilities thereof, whether public or private, that is used or is intended for providing 
basic infrastructure or utility services.“Utility installation, major” means a 
utility installation generally having moderate to high impact on neighboring 
property. The term includes pipeline pumping stations, sewage treatment 
plants, electrical substations, water towers, wind turbines and the like. It does 
not include “Utility installation, minor” means a utility installation generally 
having low impact on neighboring property.  The term includes public water 
system wells, sewer lift stations, irrigation ditches, or linear electric, 
communications or natural gas utilities, and the like. 

Minor Utility Installation as a regulated use 

Appendix F 
Transportation 

“Airport, private” means an airport that is used by the owner and other persons 
authorized by the owner and not open for general public use. 

“Airport, public” means an airport that is open for general public use. 
Removed definitions as unnecessary  

Appendix F 
Transportation 

“Freight terminal” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, that is 
used or is intended for the temporary storage of items that will be reloaded onto 
trucks for final shipment. 

See “Truck Terminal” above 

Appendix F 
Transportation 

“Parking lot, principal use” means an off-street parking facility intended 
to temporarily store vehicles, not accessory to any principal use. Added missing definition 

Appendix F 
Accessory Uses 

“Automated teller machine (ATM), interior” means an automated teller 
machine that is accessed from inside of an enclosed building. 

Removed definition as this use is not 
regulated 

Appendix F 
Accessory Uses 

“Garage, private” means a building that is intended to house vehicles and 
household items belonging to the owner or occupant of the principal 
residence. 

Clarified definition 

Appendix F 
Accessory Uses 

“Residence, accessory” means a place and/or building, or portion thereof, 
that is used, or is intended to provide housing, as a single family residence 
for a caretaker, employee or owner of the principal use and the like.  This 
residence is accessory to a principal use. 

New definition for new land use category 

Appendix F 
Temporary Uses 

“Garage sales” means the occasional non-business public sale of 
secondhand household goods and other goods incidental to household uses. 
The term also includes yard sales, patio sales, and the like.  The term does 
not include any sales defined as itinerant outdoor sales. 

New definition for new land use category 

Appendix F 
Temporary Uses 

“Outdoor entertainment, temporary” means a short-term outdoor event 
such as concerts, performances, religious assemblages and the like. The 
term does not include sporting events such as motocross, auto racing and 
the like. 

Added missing definition 

17 



 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

    

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA  AGENDA #  7 

A G E N D A R E P O R T  DATE  March 6, 2007 

ITEM         Ordinance No. 2963 to Establish City Zoning Upon Northview Addition Phase 2 

INITIATED BY       Jim Workman Construction Co., Property Owner and Developer 

ACTION REQUESTED     Commission Accept Ordinance No. 2963 on First Reading and Set Hearing 

PREPARED BY  Charles Sheets, Planner 1 

APPROVED & PRESENTED BY    Benjamin Rangel, Planning Director 

RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended the City Commission assign a zoning classification of PUD Planned unit development 
district to Northview Addition Phase 2, upon annexation to the City. 

MOTION: 
“I move the City Commission accept Ordinance No. 2963 on first reading and set a public hearing for April 3, 
2007, to consider adoption of Ordinance No. 2963.” 

SYNOPSIS: 
Ordinance No. 2963 assigns a zoning classification of PUD Planned unit development district to Northview 
Addition Phase 2, upon annexation of same to City. The proposed development consists of 18 residential lots 
along the easterly extension of 38th Avenue Northeast located immediately east of 9th Street Northeast. 

BACKGROUND: 
Phase 2 is a portion of the Preliminary Plat of Northview Addition Phases 2 thru 7 which was conditionally 
approved by the Planning Board on January 9, 2007 and by the City Commission on February 6, 2007.  The 
preliminary plat consisted of 80 internal lots for single-family residences and 3 lots around the perimeter to 
contain a total of 21 duplex condos. The Minor Plat of Northview Addition Phase 1 was annexed in July of 
2006 and is being built as planned with 9 duplex condos along the west side of 9th Street Northeast. 

The developer intends to build speculation homes and to sell other lots to custom home builders. 

Access to subject property will be provided by 9th Street Northeast. It is anticipated eventually Phase 2 will 
be accessible from Bootlegger Trail and an 11th Street Northeast connection to 36th Avenue Northeast as 
future phases and other properties in the vicinity subdivide and develop. 

The developer will install standard City paving, curb and gutter to extend 38th Avenue Northeast to the east for the 
future connection to 11th Street Northeast which is proposed to be part of Northview Addition Phase 7. 

City water and sanitary sewer mains are proposed to be installed to City standards.  The owner’s representative has 
been working with the City Engineer’s Office concerning water mains, sanitary sewer and future connections.  The 
final plat will contain utility easements at the rear of each lot. 

Surface drainage from the subdivision will flow northwesterly to existing private retention ponds.  The owner 
will be required to obtain signed agreements with the pond owners to utilize the retention ponds. 

The final engineering documents relative to the Final Plat of Northview Addition Phase 2 have been prepared 
by the project engineer and are in the process of being submitted to the City Engineer.   



 

 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Staff concludes that the basic conditions set forth in the conditional approval of the Preliminary Plat of 
Northview Addition Phases 2 thru 7 are being met by the developer in the overall process of final plat, final 
engineering and Annexation Agreement preparation for Northview Addition Phase 2. 

Section 76-2-304 Montana Code Annotated lists criteria and guidelines, which must be considered in 
conjunction with establishing municipal zoning on land: 

a) is designed in accordance with the growth policy (comprehensive plan); 
b) is designed to lessen congestion in the streets; 
c) will secure safety from fire, panic or other dangers; 
d) will promote health and the general welfare; 
e) will provide adequate light and air; 
f) will prevent overcrowding of land; 
g) will avoid undue concentration of population; 
h) will facilitate the adequate provision of transportation, water, sewerage, schools, parks and 

other public requirements; 
i) gives reasonable consideration to the character of the district; 
j) gives reasonable consideration to the peculiar suitability of the property for particular uses; 
k) will conserve the value of buildings; and 
l) will encourage the most appropriate use of land throughout the municipality. 

The developer requested as part of the preliminary plat that upon annexation the zoning be changed from the 
current County “A” Agricultural District to the City zoning classification of PUD, Planned unit development, 
as each phase is annexed to the City.  The Great Falls Zoning Commission approved the PUD zoning request 
on January 9, 2007. 

The primary reason the applicant is requesting the PUD Planned unit development district zoning 
classification is to provide for a larger front yard setback then the minimum front yard setback (20 ft.) 
required by the R-3 zoning district which Phase 2 would normally be based upon proposed lot sizes.   

Staff concludes all of the above mentioned zoning criteria are substantially met. 

It is anticipated the City Commission, following the public hearing on April 3, 2007 will consider an 
annexation resolution, annexation agreement and final plat for Northview Addition Phase 2, simultaneously 
with Ordinance No. 2963 

Attach: Vicinity/Zoning Map 
Reduced Copy of Final Plat 
Ord. No. 2963 with Exhibit “A” illustrating building envelopes, setbacks and height 

cc: Jim Workman Construction Co., 1024 36th Ave NE 
Woith Engineering, 1725 41st St S 



 
 
 

 

 
 

  
 
 

   

 
 

 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
     

 
 

  

 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2963 

AN ORDINANCE ASSIGNING A ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF  
PUD PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT TO  

NORTHVIEW ADDITION PHASE 2,  
IN THE SE1/4 OF SECTION 25, TOWNSHIP 21 NORTH, RANGE 3 EAST, 

 P.M.M., CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA 

* * * *  * *  * *  * * * * 

        WHEREAS, Jim Workman Construction Co., has petitioned the City of Great Falls to annex 
Northview Addition Phase 2, located in the SE1/4 of Section 25, Township 21 North, Range 3 East, 
P.M.M., Cascade County, Montana; and, 

        WHEREAS, Jim Workman Construction Co., has petitioned said Northview Addition Phase 2, be 
assigned a City zoning classification of PUD Planned unit development district, upon annexation to City; 
and, 

        WHEREAS, notice of assigning a zoning classification of PUD Planned unit development district, to 
said Northview Addition Phase 2, was published in the Great Falls Tribune advising that a public hearing 
on this zoning designation would be held on the 3rd day of April, 2007, before final passage of said 
Ordinance herein; and, 

WHEREAS, following said public hearing, it was found and recommended that the said zoning 
designation be made, NOW THEREFORE, 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, STATE OF 
MONTANA:

        Section 1. It is determined that the herein requested zoning designation will meet the criteria and 
guidelines cited in Section 76-2-304 Montana Code Annotated, and Section 17.16.40.030 of the Unified 
Land Development Code of the City of Great Falls. 

        Section 2. That the zoning of Northview Addition Phase 2, be designated as PUD Planned unit 
development district classification subject to the building envelopes, setbacks and height attached hereto 
as Exhibit “A” and by this reference made a part of hereof. 

        Section 3.  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect either thirty (30) days after its passage and 
adoption by the City Commission or upon filing in the office of the Cascade County Clerk and Recorder 
the resolution annexing Northview Addition Phase 2, into the corporate limits of the City of Great Falls, 
Montana, whichever event shall occur later. 



         

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
   

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
          

  
 

 
        
        
         
 

 

___________________________ 

_________________________ 

PASSED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, this 3rd 

day of April, 2007. 

 _______________________________________
Dona R. Stebbins, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

David V. Gliko, City Attorney 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade  : ss. 
City of Great Falls ) 

I, Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do hereby certify that the 
foregoing Ordinance No. 2963 was placed on its final passage and passed by the Commission of the City 
of Great Falls, Montana at a meeting thereof held on the 3rd day of April, 2007. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Seal of said City on this 3rd 

day of April, 2007. 

 _______________________________________ 
Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk   

(SEAL OF CITY) 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade  : ss. 
City of Great Falls  ) 

   Peggy J. Bourne, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: That on the 3rd day of April, 2007, and 
prior thereto, she was the City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana; that as said City Clerk she did 
publish and post as required by law and as prescribed and directed by the Commission, Ordinance No. 
2963 of the City of Great Falls, in three conspicuous places within the limits of said City to-wit: 

   On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Civic Center Building; 
   On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Cascade County Court House; 
   On the Bulletin Board, Great Falls Public Library

 _______________________________________
Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk   

 

(SEAL OF CITY) 



 



 



 



 
 
 

   
 

 
 

    
 

 
 

        
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
 

 
 

  

 

 
 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA  AGENDA #  8 

A G E N D A R E P O R T  DATE  March 6, 2007 

ITEM         Ordinance No. 2964 to Establish City Zoning Upon Cottage Grove Addition Phase 2 

INITIATED BY       Discovery Meadows Inc., Property Owner and Developer 

ACTION REQUESTED     Commission Accept Ordinance No. 2964 on First Reading and Set Hearing 

PREPARED BY  Charles Sheets, Planner 1 

APPROVED & PRESENTED BY    Benjamin Rangel, Planning Director                                            

RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended the City Commission assign a zoning classification of PUD Planned unit development 
district to Cottage Grove Addition Phase 2, upon annexation to the City. 

MOTION: 
“I move the City Commission accept Ordinance No. 2964 on first reading and set a public hearing for April 3, 
2007, to consider adoption of Ordinance No. 2964.” 

SYNOPSIS: 
Ordinance No. 2964 assigns a zoning classification of PUD Planned unit development district to Cottage 
Grove Addition Phase 2, upon annexation of same to City.  The proposed development consists of 10 
residential lots along the northerly extension of 49th Street North located immediately north of 8th Avenue 
North. 

BACKGROUND: 
In 2001, the City and County Commissions conditionally approved the preliminary plat of Discovery 
Meadows Addition, located immediately north of Portage Meadows Addition and west of 52nd Street North, 
consisting of 62 single-family residential lots to be brought into the City in phases. 

Discovery Meadows Addition Phase 1, consisting of 10 residential lots along 48th Street North, was final 
platted and annexed to the City in 2001.  The Planning Board/Zoning Commission on March 14, 2006, 
conditionally approved the final plat, annexation and conditional use allowing duplexes for Discovery 
Meadows Addition Phase 2 consisting of 10 more lots located immediately north of Phase 1.  Cottage Grove 
Addition Phase 1 (formerly a portion of Discovery Meadows Addition Phase 3) was final platted, granted a 
change in zoning and annexed to the City in July 2006.  The applicant now wants to proceed with the final 
portion of the Discovery Meadows Addition Phase 3 under the new title of Cottage Grove Addition Phase 2 
consisting of 10 lots along the northerly extension of 49th Street North. The applicant also desires to have 
Cottage Grove Addition Phase 2 zoned PUD, Planned unit development district upon annexation to the City 
to accommodate a mix of residential lots ranging in size from 4,608 to 11,107 sq ft. 

Find attached, a Vicinity/Zoning Map and a reduced copy of the final plat of Cottage Grove Addition Phase 2. 

City water mains, sanitary sewer mains, paving, and curb and gutter are proposed to be installed to City 
standards in the extension of 49th Street North. Paving, curb and gutter will be added to the portion of 8th 

Avenue North abutting the south boundary of the subdivision.  Surface drainage from the subdivision will 
flow southerly to 7th Avenue North to the existing storm sewer drains. 

The final engineering documents relative to the final plat of Cottage Grove Addition Phase 2 have been 
prepared by the project engineer and are in the process of being submitted to the City Engineer.  Staff 
concludes that the basic conditions set forth in the conditional approval of the preliminary plat of Discovery 
Meadows Addition are being met by the developer in the overall process of final plat, final engineering and 



 

 

 

 

 
 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Annexation Agreement preparation for Cottage Grove Addition Phase 2. 

Section 76-2-304 Montana Code Annotated lists criteria and guidelines, which must be considered in 
conjunction with establishing municipal zoning on land: 

a) is designed in accordance with the growth policy (comprehensive plan); 
b) is designed to lessen congestion in the streets; 
c) will secure safety from fire, panic or other dangers; 
d) will promote health and the general welfare; 
e) will provide adequate light and air; 
f) will prevent overcrowding of land; 
g) will avoid undue concentration of population; 
h) will facilitate the adequate provision of transportation, water, sewerage, schools, parks and 

other public requirements; 
i) gives reasonable consideration to the character of the district; 
j) gives reasonable consideration to the peculiar suitability of the property for particular uses; 
k) will conserve the value of buildings; and 
l) will encourage the most appropriate use of land throughout the municipality. 

The Great Falls City–County Planning Board had previously recommended the subdivision be assigned a 
zoning classification of “A” Residence Use, “B” Area District on the preliminary plat.  With the adoption of 
the Unified Land Development Code by the City Commission on September 6, 2005, the compatible 
classification would be “R-3” Single-family high density.  However, the applicant has instead requested 
Cottage Grove Addition Phase 2, be assigned a PUD Planned unit development. 

The primary reason the applicant is requesting the PUD Planned unit development district zoning 
classification is to allow more flexibility in lot sizes in order to accommodate more affordable housing.  The 
applicant is proposing the same setbacks as those approved for Cottage Grove Addition Phase 1. The 
proposed lot sizes range from 4,608 to 11,107 sq ft and the minimum setbacks are: front – 20ft; side – 5ft; and 
rear – 10ft. The lot sizes in Phase 1 are 3,779 to 6,106 sq. ft. For comparison, the R-3 Single-family high 
density district has a minimum lot size of 7500 sq ft with minimum setbacks of: front – 20ft; side – 5ft; and 
rear – 10ft. Assuming equal building sizes, the main difference between the proposed PUD lots in Cottage 
Grove Addition Phase 2 and a conventional R-3 zoning district is less yard space.  Also, for comparison 
purposes, the lots in the Portage Meadows PUD, located directly to the south of Cottage Grove, range in size 
from 3,000 to 6,000 sq ft. 

Considering the proposed PUD zoning designation is similar to an adjoining phase of Cottage Grove Addition 
and an abutting existing large PUD zoning district, it is not out of character for the neighborhood.  Staff 
concludes the above-cited criteria are substantially met. 

It is anticipated the City Commission, following the public hearing on April 3, 2007, will consider an 
annexation resolution, annexation agreement and final plat for Cottage Grove Addition Phase 2, 
simultaneously with Ordinance No. 2964 

Attach: Vicinity/Zoning Map 
Reduced Copy of Final Plat 
Ord. No. 2964 with Exhibit “A” illustrating building envelopes, setbacks and heights 

cc: Discovery Meadows, Inc., 1725 41st St S 



 
  

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
  

          

 
 

 

 

  

ORDINANCE NO. 2964 

AN ORDINANCE ASSIGNING 
A ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF 

PUD PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
TO COTTAGE GROVE ADDITION PHASE 2, 

IN SECTION 4, TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 4 EAST, 
P.M.M., CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA 

* * * *  * *  * *  * * * * 

WHEREAS, Discovery Meadows Inc., has petitioned the City of Great Falls to 
annex Cottage Grove Addition Phase 2, located in Section 4, Township 20 North, 
Range 4 East, P.M.M., Cascade County, Montana; and, 

WHEREAS, Discovery Meadows Inc., has petitioned said Cottage Grove 
Addition Phase 2, be assigned a City zoning classification PUD Planned Unit 
Development to accommodate affordable single-family residences, upon annexation 
to City; and, 

WHEREAS, notice of assigning a zoning classification of PUD Planned unit 
development district on the lots within said Cottage Grove Addition Phase 2, was 
published in the Great Falls Tribune advising that a public hearing on this zoning 
designation would be held on the 3rd day of April, 2007, before final passage of said 
Ordinance herein; and, 

WHEREAS, following said public hearing, it was found and recommended that 
the said zoning designation be made, NOW THEREFORE, 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT 
FALLS, STATE OF MONTANA: 

Section 1. It is determined that the herein requested zoning designation will 
meet the criteria and guidelines cited in Section 76-2-304 Montana Code Annotated, 
and Section 17.16.40.030 of the Unified Land Development Code of the City of Great 
Falls. 

        Section 2. That the zoning of Cottage Grove Addition Phase 2, be designated as 
PUD Planned unit development district classification subject to the building 
envelopes, setbacks and heights attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and by this reference 
made a part of hereof. 

        Section 3.  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect thirty (30) days after its 
passage and adoption by the City Commission or upon filing in the office of the 
Cascade County Clerk and Recorder the resolution annexing Cottage Grove Addition 
Phase 2 into the corporate limits of the City of Great Falls, Montana, whichever event 
shall occur later. 



         

 
                                                                                                     

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  

 

                                                                                                      
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 
      
      
      

                                                                                                      

_________________________________

______________________________ 

________________________ 

________________________________ 

PASSED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, this 3rd 

day of April, 2007. 

   Dona R. Stebbins, Mayor     
ATTEST: 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

David V. Gliko, City Attorney 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade  : ss. 
City of Great Falls  ) 

I, Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do hereby certify that the foregoing 
Ordinance No. 2964 was placed on its final passage and passed by the Commission of the City of Great 
Falls, Montana, at a meeting thereof held on the 3rd day of April, 2007, wherein it was approved by said 
City Commission. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Seal of said City this 3rd day of   
April, 2007. 
 ________________________________ 

  Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade  : ss. 
City of Great Falls  ) 

Peggy J. Bourne, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: That on the 3rd day of April, 2007, and prior 
thereto, she was the City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana; that as said City Clerk she did publish 
and post as required by law and as prescribed and directed by the Commission, Ordinance No. 2964 of the 
City of Great Falls, in three conspicuous places within the limits of said City to-wit: 

     On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Civic Center Building; 
     On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Cascade County Court House; 
     On the Bulletin Board, Great Falls Public Library 

  Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 
(SEAL OF CITY) 



 



 



 



 
    

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  
  

 
 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA     AGENDA#  9   
 
A G E N D A R E P O R T      DATE  March 6, 2007_  

ITEM  Ordinance 2965, Amending OCCGF 9.90 Fireworks Policy. 

INITIATED BY  Randy McCamley, Fire Chief 

ACTION REQUESTED   Accept Ordinance 2965 on first reading and set the public hearing 
and final reading for March 20, 2007 at 7 pm. 

PRESENTED BY:  Randy McCamley, Fire Chief 

RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended that the City Commission accept Ordinance 2965 on first reading and set the 
public hearing and final reading for March 20, 2007.  Ordinance 2965 pertains to revisions 
OCCGF 9.90 Fireworks Policy. 

MOTION: 
I move the City Commission accept Ordinance 2965 on first reading and set the public hearing 
and final reading for March 20, 2007 at 7 pm.   

SYNOPSIS: 
Ordinance 2965 would revise the current fireworks Ordinance the city operates under. These 
revisions are an attempt to address issues the public has raised relating to the use of fireworks 
within the city limits. More specifically the revisions include: reducing the number of days 
fireworks can be sold and discharged; setting the time of day fireworks may be discharged; 
expanding the types of fireworks permitted; prohibiting the discharge of fireworks from any 
public property; increasing the fees for fireworks stands; and establishing a fine schedule for 
fireworks violations. 

BACKGROUND: 

The last time the City Commission thoroughly reviewed the use of fireworks appears to have 
been in 1994. At that time the City Commission conducted public hearings and solicited input 
from the public and fireworks vendors regarding Ordinance 2664, Fireworks policy and later 
Ordinance 2673. 

Prior to 1992, fireworks were banned in the City of Great Falls through an adopted chapter in the 
Fire Code. However, the ban was not enforced.   The enforcement problems experienced in the 
early 1990s are similar to what we face today: 

1. Legal sales of fireworks from County property in or around the City limits; 
2. Discharge of illegal fireworks inside the City;  



  
   

 
  

 

 

  
 

 
 

 

 

 

3. The relative ease of anonymity when committing infractions; (by the time the  
complaint has been called in and a response initiated, the activity has stopped or the  
violators have vanished); 

4. Juvenile violators processed through juvenile court; and  
5. The difficulty in educating enforcement personnel and the public concerning which  

fireworks are legal/illegal within the City.   

In 1992, the Chief of Police and the Assistant Fire Chief met with the County Commissioners to 
discuss a joint City/County action to either permit or prohibit fireworks to achieve a consistent 
and enforceable rule. Probably due to the County’s inability to regulate, the City was left with 
two options: 

1. Strict enforcement of the fire codes prohibiting fireworks and its associated cost 
2. Repeal the adopted fire code chapter, making fireworks legal. 

The issue received further attention, as the City Commission convened a committee to address 
the issue.  This committee consisted of Fire Marshal Dick Swingley, City Commissioner Bob 
Deming, Mike Mader and Blaine Martin, representing the fireworks industry.  The charge of the 
committee was to lessen the potential risk of fire or injury to the citizens from fireworks.  The 
outcome was the regulations we have in place now, which attempt to limit the type of fireworks 
used in the City and the days fireworks could be sold.  Based on this year’s complaints, current 
regulations may not be effective.  

Recently a fireworks survey was conducted by the city which revealed a strong desire to revise 
the current fireworks ordinance. The option clearly generating the most support was for further 
limits on the number of days fireworks can be sold and discharged, and for setting the specific 
times of day fireworks may be discharged. 

In closing, it should be stated that any changes the city desires to make regarding fireworks is not 
binding upon Cascade County and those who wish to utilize fireworks with less restriction are 
still permitted to do so in the county. 



  
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

      

 

  

 
 

 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE 2965 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING OCCGF TITLE 9 CHAPTER 90 
PERTAINING TO FIREWORKS 

WHEREAS, the City Commission adopted a Fireworks Policy in 1994; and  

WHEREAS, the fireworks policy was difficult to enforce and following each 4th of July 
celebration the City Commission heard from many constituents calling for a change; and 

WHEREAS, the City Commission requested staff to conduct a non-scientific survey asking for 
public input on a fireworks policy; and 

WHEREAS, the results of the survey clearly indicated the community wanted the ability to 
discharge fireworks, but also supported shortening the number of days fireworks could be 
discharged and for the City to enforce such an ordinance. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 
OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA: 

Section 1. That OCCGF Title 9, Chapter 90, is amended as depicted in Exhibit A 
wherein all language with a bold-face font will be added and all language with a strikeout is 
removed.    

PASSED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, 
MONTANA, this 20th day of March, 2007. 

Dona R. Stebbins, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

      
Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF THE CITY) 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 



  
 

 
 
 
                                          

 
 
 
 

    

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

    

 

 
 

 

_________________________________________ 

__________________________________________ 

David V. Gliko, City Attorney 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade : ss 
City of Great Falls ) 

I, Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do hereby certify that 
the foregoing Ordinance 2965 was placed on its final passage and passed by the Commission of 
the City of Great Falls, Montana, at a meeting thereof held on the 20th day of March, 2007, and 
approved by the Mayor of said City on the 20th day of March, 2007. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Seal of said City 
this 20th day of March, 2007. 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade : ss 
City of Great Falls ) 

Peggy J. Bourne, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: That on the 20th day of 
 March, 2007, and prior thereto, she was the City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana; that 
as said City Clerk she did post as required by law and as prescribed and directed by the 
Commission, Ordinance 2965 of the City of Great Falls, in three conspicuous places within the 
limits of said City to-wit: 

On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Civic Center Building; 
On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Cascade County Court House; 
On the Bulletin Board, Great Falls Public Library 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 
(SEAL OF CITY) 



 

          

 

 
 

   
   
   
  

   
  

 
 
  

   
  

    

 

     
    

  

 
   

 
 

  
       

  
 

 
 

 
    

  
 

 
  

  
 

   
  

  
 

Ordinance 2965 
Exhibit A 

Chapter 9.90 
FIREWORKS POLICY   

Sections: 
9.90.010  Selling purchasing, and discharging dates and times 
9.90.020 030 Permissible, banned fireworks 
9.90.030 020 Possession illegal 
9.90.035 Littering - illegal 
9.90.040  Enforcement 
9.90.050 Public Displays 
9.90.060  Fireworks prohibited on all public property  City park ban 
9.90.070  Fireworks stands operator requirements and permit fees 

9.90.010 Selling  purchasing, discharging dates and times 
A. The selling and discharging of fireworks within the incorporated limits of Great Falls shall be July 2 

through July 4 from 8 am to midnight.  to begin in 1995.  (Ord. 2664, 1994). 
B. Fireworks may be discharged on December 31 from 10 pm to 12:30 am January 1.  Fireworks may 

not be sold within the incorporated city limits except as provided in 9.90.010 (A). 
C. The Fire Chief, or designee, shall determine if there are special circumstances that warrant the 

discharge of fireworks not provided for in 9.90.010 A and B,  and authorize such use if the 
circumstance is community wide and of national, state and local significance.   

D.   Professional Fireworks Displays using display fireworks. These rules and regulations do not exempt the 
Public displays of fireworks by a licensed, bonded pyrotechnic operator are exempt from 9.90.010A-C. 
Permits for any public display by a licensed bonded pyrotechnic operator from the Fire Department are 
required to conduct a public fireworks display.  "Display Fireworks" means an aerial shell, salute, flash 
shell, comet, sky battle, mine, and any similar Class C or Class B 1.3g (display fireworks) and 
1.4g (consumer fireworks) explosive as defined by the U.S. Department of Transportation in Part 173, 
Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations.  (Ord. 2664, 1994). 

9.90.020  Possession illegal 
A. Possession of fireworks not allowed to be sold or discharged within the City limits by the State of 

Montana shall be illegal.  (Ord. 2664, 1994). 
B. It shall be unlawful for any parent, guardian, or custodian of any child, the child being age seven (7) 

or younger, to permit or consent to the possession or discharge by the child of any fireworks as 
defined herein, unless that parent, guardian or custodian be in direct supervision of the child at the 
time of discharge. For purposes of 9.20.020(B) “direct supervision” means the overall direction and 
control of an individual and requires the individual furnishing direct supervision to be present and 
immediately available to furnish assistance while he or she is I possession of or is discharging any and 
all fireworks. Direct supervision also requires the individual directly supervising to control the 
application of flame or other means of discharge of the firework and must be no greater than 10 feet 
away form the individual being directly supervised at time of the firework’s discharge. 

9.90.030 Permissible and prohibited fireworks 
Shall be the same as those authorized by the State of Montana. 
A. The following type of Class C common fireworks are allowed to be sold and displayed within the City 
limits: 

1.  A cardboard or heavy paper cylindrical tube or cone that: 
a. produces a shower of color and sparks that reach a maximum of 15 feet; 
b.  may whistle or pop; and 
c. is not designed to explode or leave the ground; 



 

          

  
 

   
    

  
  

   
   

 
  

 
  

 
 

  
 

    

 
 

 
 
 

   

   
    

 
 

 
 

 
   

    
 

 
  

  
 

 

  
 

 

    
  

   
   

  
 

2. A pyrotechnic wheel device: 
a. may be attached to a post or tree; and 
b.  contains up to six “driver” units or tubes; 

3. Any device that: 
a. spins, jumps, or emits popping sounds when placed on the ground; 
b. does not exceed a height of 15 feet when discharged; and 
c. does not travel laterally more than 10 feet on a smooth surface when discharged; 

4. Sparklers under 12 inches in length and do not have a magnesium make-up, glow worms, 
snakes, party popper, trick noisemakers; 

a. “Trick noisemakers” include: 
1. tube or sphere containing pyrotechnic composition that produces a white 

or colored smoke as its primary effect when ignited; and 
2. device that produces a small report intended to surprise the user, 

including a: 
a) “booby trap” which is a small tube with a string protruding from 

both ends that ignites the friction sensitive composition in the tube when the string is pulled; 
b) “snapper” which is a small paper-wrapped device containing a 

minute quantity of explosive composition coated on bits of sand that explodes producing a small report; 
c) “trick match” which is a kitchen or book match coated with a 

small quantity of explosive or pyrotechnic composition that produces s small shower of sparks when ignited; 
d) “cigarette load” which is a small wooden peg coated with a 

small quantity of explosive composition that produces a small report when the cigarette is ignited; 
e) “auto burglar alarm” which is a tube that contains pyrotechnic 

composition that produces a loud whistle and smoke when ignited and may contain a small quantity of 
explosive to produce a small noise; 

5.  certain mortar type aerial devices and multi-shot cakes that are found acceptable by the 
Fire Chief or authorized representative, would be allowed to be sold and set off within the City limits. 

B. The following type of fireworks that are not allowed to be sold and set off within the City limits 
are: 

1. explosive: 
a. Firecracker, cannon cracker, salutes, cherry bomb, M-80, or similar explosives; 

2. aerial type fireworks that use combustible or explosive material and rises more than 15 feet 
in height; 

3.  fireworks that discharge balls of fire over 15 feet in height; 
4.  a tube or cone aerial firework that propels comets shells, saluted, flash shells, or similar 

devices more than 15 feet in height; 
5. a chaser, whistler, or other devices that darts or travels more than 10 feet laterally  on a 

smooth surface or exceeds 15 feet in height when discharged. 
C. Fireworks shall not be sold to any person under the age of 12 years, unless accompanied 

by an adult.  (Ord. 2673, 1994). 

9.90.030   Possession illegal  
Possession of fireworks not allowed to be sold or discharged within the City limits State of Montana shall be 
illegal.  (Ord. 2664, 1994). 

9.90.035  Littering illegal   
It shall be illegal for anyone to leave debris from discharged fireworks on any public place including but 
not limited to parks, sidewalks, streets, and alleys, or on private property not owned by the individual 
discharging the fireworks.   

9.90.040 Enforcement 
A.  City Police Officers and Firefighters shall enforce these rules and regulations. 
B. Any official charged with enforcing these rules and regulations may; 



 

          

   

 

 
 

   
 
 

     
 

   

    
 

   
 

 
   

     
  

 

 
  

 
      
        
      
 

  
 

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
   

 
   

 
  

 
   

 
  

 
     

 
  

 
   

 
 

1.  Issue a Notice to Appear to Great Falls Municipal Court for violations of this Chapter.  
2.  Seize illegal fireworks that are offered for sale, sold, or in the possession of any individual in violations 

of this chapter.   
3. Recommend to the Community Development Department that any wholesaler/retailer found in violation 

of this chapter have his/her license revoked. 
C. Any person who violates these rules and regulations shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and subject to the 

following fines.  (Ord. 2664, 1994). 
1st Offense - $100
 2nd Offense - $200
 3rd Offense - $300
 4th and higher - $1000 

9.90.050 Public Displays 
These rules and regulations do not exempt the public display of fireworks by a licensed, bonded Pyrotechnic 
Operator.  Permits from the Fire Department are required to conduct a public fireworks display. 

"Display Fireworks" means an aerial shell, salute, flash shell, comet, sky battle, mine, and any similar Class C 
or Class B explosive as defined by the U.S. Department of Transportation in Part 173, Title 49, Code of Federal 
Regulations.  (Ord. 2664, 1994). 

9.90.060 Fireworks prohibited on all public property  City park ban 
All fireworks are banned from all City parks.  (Ord. 2664, 1994). Fireworks may not be discharged in any 
city park or on any public sidewalk, street, public right-of-way, public easement or alley. 

9.90.070 Fireworks stands and permit fees 
A. Anyone, group or organization wishing to sell fireworks within the incorporated boundaries of the 

City of Great Falls shall obtain a special permit.  The fees collected from the permit shall cover the 
costs to issue said permit; to inspect the fireworks stands; and costs of enforcement.   

B.  Operators of fireworks stands shall educate all patrons on the 
1.  legal, safe use of fireworks  
2.  the dates and times allowed for fireworks to be discharged, and 
3.  the requirement to clean up all debris left from discharged fireworks. 

C. Fireworks stand permit fees are based upon square footage as follows:  (Ord. 2664, 1994). 

SIZE FEES 

0 – 300 sq. ft.  $100  $125 

301 – 1,000 sq. ft.  $300 $375 

1,001 – 2,000 sq. ft.  $500 $625 

2,001 – 3,000 sq. ft.  $700 $875 

3,001 sq. ft. or larger  $900 $1125 



 

  

  
                             
 

     
           

           
                                                                                                

    
                                                                                    

      
                                             
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_   _   _   _   _  

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA     AGENDA #       10   
     
A G E N D A R E P O R T     DATE  March 6, 2006   

ITEM    Ordinance 2967, Great Falls West Bank Urban Renewal Plan, O.F. 1499  

INITIATED BY     City Administration 

ACTION REQUESTED Accept Ordinance 2967 on First Reading and Set Public Hearing 

PREPARED AND PRESENTED BY     Benjamin Rangel, Planning Director 

RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended the City Commission accept Ordinance 2967 on first reading and set public hearing 
regarding the Great Falls West Bank Urban Renewal Plan. 

MOTION: 
“I move the City Commission accept Ordinance 2967 on first reading and set public hearing for March 
20, 2007.” 

SYNOPSIS: 
On December 5, 2006, the City Commission adopted Resolution 9626, which established the 
boundaries of the proposed West Bank Urban Renewal District, identified the area as a proposed urban 
renewal district, and established that the area is “blighted” per Montana Statute. 

Ordinance 2967 adopts the resulting West Bank Urban Renewal Plan, including a Tax Increment 
Financing provision, and fulfills the public hearing requirements for adoption of urban renewal plans, in 
accordance with Section 7-15-4214, MCA. 

The City Planning Board recommends that the West Bank Urban Renewal Plan conforms to the Great 
Falls, Growth Policy. 

BACKGROUND: 
In conjunction with several area property owners, the City is interested in the revitalization and 
redevelopment of an area located near the west bank of the Missouri River, generally north and south of 
Central Avenue West.  Initial steps have already been taken by various entities to address 
contamination in the area with an assessment of environmental conditions and with the development of 
a conceptual master plan, under the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Brownfields Program.  

In order to give the City an additional funding tool in this redevelopment effort, it has taken steps to 
establish an urban renewal district and plan under Montana’s urban renewal authority, including a tax 
increment financing provision.   

On November 8, 2006, the Commission hired Ms. Janet Cornish of Community Development Services 
of Montana to help prepare an urban renewal plan for what is being called the Great Falls West Bank 
Urban Renewal Program.  The TIF element of the plan will establish a “base year” of January 1, 2007 
for the purpose of segregating and calculating the incremental increase in the taxable value of the 

 1 



  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

   

district. The funds derived through the increment program will be used for public improvements. 
Additionally, future EPA funding, private investment and other public and private funding will be used 
in conjunction with the increment program funding to implement the urban renewal plan.     

Ms. Cornish has been working with City staff, Neighborhood Council #2 and several of the principle 
property owners in the urban renewal area and has to date helped to conduct and prepare the following: 

1. Defined, described and mapped the boundaries of the urban renewal district; 
2. Prepared a “Finding of Blight” report, as required and defined in Montana Statute;  
3. Prepared a resolution of blight, as approved by the City Commission; and,  
4. Prepared a draft urban renewal plan. 

Additionally, in accordance with Section 7-15-4213, MCA, prior to its approval of an urban renewal 
plan, the local governing body shall submit the plan to its planning board for review and 
recommendation as to its conformity with the local growth policy.  On February 27, 2007, the City 
Planning Board held a meeting during which the urban renewal plan was presented to them by Ms. 
Cornish and during which the Planning staff reviewed with the Board the goals and strategies of the 
urban renewal plan and compared them with the City, Growth Policy. The Planning Board 
unanimously concurred and recommended that the West Bank Urban Renewal Plan conforms to the 
City, Growth Policy. 

Attachments: Ordinance 2967, with attached West Bank Urban Renewal Plan 

Cc: Janet Cornish, 954 West Caledonia, Butte, MT 59701-9002  

2 



 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 AMENDED ORDINANCE 2967 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE GREAT 
FALLS WEST BANK URBAN RENEWAL PLAN, 
INCLUDING A TAX INCREMENT FINANCING 
PROVISION PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 7-15-
4211 THROUGH 7-15-4218, MCA 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, 
MONTANA: 

Section 1. Recitals. On November 8, 2006, the City Commission directed a study be 
conducted to determine the existence of blight within an urban area known as the West Bank and 
generally described as bounded on the West by 3rd Street NW/SW, on the East by the center line 
of the Missouri River, on the North by a point just north of 14th Avenue NW and on the South 
by a point just south of 5th Avenue SW and excludes any unincorporated property, as of October 
2006. 

On December 5, 2006, the City Commission adopted Resolution 9626, which established the 
boundaries of the proposed West Bank Urban Renewal Area (the “West Bank Urban Renewal 
Area”), identified the area as a proposed urban renewal area, established that the area is 
“blighted” in accordance with 7-15-4202 Section M.C.A., and declared that rehabilitation and 
redevelopment of the area is necessary, desirable, and in the interest of the public health, safety, 
and welfare of the residents of the City of Great Falls and that the rehabilitation and 
redevelopment be made with a commitment to quality improvement and a commitment to 
property owner and community involvement in decision making. 

An urban renewal plan has been prepared for the rehabilitation and redevelopment of the West 
Bank Urban Renewal Area which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 
"A", (the “West Bank Urban Renewal Plan”).   

In accordance with Section 7-15-4213 M.C.A. the West Bank Urban Renewal Plan was 
submitted to the Great Falls City Planning Board (the “Planning Board”) for review.  On 
February 27, 2007, the Planning Board found the West Bank Urban Renewal Plan in 
conformance with the Great Falls Growth Policy. 

On March 20, 2007, the City Commission held a public hearing on the West Bank Urban 
Renewal Area and Plan. The notice of public hearing was mailed to all property owners in the 
District via registered mail and published on March 11 and 18, 2007 in the Great Falls, Tribune 
as required by Section 7-15-4215 M.C.A. 

Section 2. Approval of Plan. The West Bank Urban Renewal Area and Plan is hereby 
adopted by the Great Falls City Commission based on the following findings of the City 
Commission: 



 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

________________________________________ 

________________________________________ 

1. The implementation of the West Bank Urban Renewal Plan in the West Bank Urban Renewal 
Area will not result in the displacement of any persons within the urban renewal area; 
2. The West Bank Urban Renewal Plan conforms to the Growth Policy or parts thereof for the 
City as a whole; 
3. The West Bank Urban Renewal Plan will afford maximum opportunity, consistent with the 
sound needs of the City as a whole, for the rehabilitation or redevelopment of the urban renewal 
area by the private sector; and, 
4. A sound and adequate financial program exists for the financing of the West Bank Urban 
Renewal Plan including, but not limited to, tax increment financing, special improvement 
districts, general obligation bonds, and private financing. 

Section 3. Tax Increment Provision. The West Bank Urban Renewal Plan contains a 
provision for the use of tax increment financing.  The TIF district shall be created and
administered pursuant to Section 7-15-4282 through 7/15/4292 M.C.A. 

Section 4. Severability. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or word of 
this ordinance is for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional, such decision by a court of 
competent jurisdiction shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance 
and, if for any reason, a portion of this ordinance should be declared invalid or unconstitutional, 
the remaining portions will be in full force and effect. 

PASSED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA, this 
20th day of March, 2007. 

___________________________________ 
       Dona R. Stebbins, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

David V. Gliko, City Attorney 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade : ss. 
City of Great Falls ) 

I, Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do hereby certify that 
the foregoing Ordinance 2967 was placed on its final passage and passed by the Commission of the 
City of Great Falls, Montana, at a meeting thereof held on the 20th day of March, 2007, and 
approved by the Mayor of said City on the 20th day of March, 2007. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Seal of said City 
on this 20th day of March, 2007. 

____________________________________ 
       Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade : ss. 
City of Great Falls ) 

Peggy J. Bourne, being first duly sworn, deposes and says:  That on the 20th day of March, 
2007, and prior thereto, she was the City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana; that as said 
City Clerk she did publish and post as required by law and as prescribed and directed by the 
Commission, Ordinance 2967 of the City of Great Falls, in three conspicuous places within the 
limits of said City to-wit: 

On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Civic Center Building; 
On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Cascade County Court House; 
On the Bulletin Board, Great Falls Public Library 

____________________________________
       Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

         
     

West Bank Urban Renewal Plan 
Great Falls, Montana 

2007 



 
 

 
 

    
            

 
 

   
             

 
 

Acknowledgements 

We  wish  to  thank  the  following  for  their  contributions  to  the  West  Bank  Urban  Renewal   
Plan:                    

‐Great  Falls  City  Commission  
‐Great  Falls  Planning,  Community  Development,  Fiscal  Services,  

and  Public  Works  Departments  
‐City  Manager’s  Office  
‐Great  Falls  Neighborhood  Council  #2  
‐Great  Falls  Economic  Development  Authority  
‐West  Bank  Area  Property  Owners  and  Stakeholders  
‐Great  Falls  Planning  Board  

Planning Oversight:
 ‐Benjamin Rangel, Great Falls Planning Director 

Project Consultant:
 ‐Janet Cornish, Community Development Services of Montana 



                 
 

                     
                                                 

                     
 

                      
                     
                     
                   
 

                       
                    
                     
                     
 

                     
                     
                 
                 
                 
                 
                    
 

                     
                     
                   
               
                    
                   
 

                    
                   
                     
                   
                   

                 

West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ Table of Contents 

Section Page Number 
Chapter 1. Introduction 1 

Statement of Purpose 3 

Chapter 2. Description of the Urban Renewal District 5 
Legal Description 5 
Area History 5 
Existing Characteristics 7 

Chapter 3. Key Findings 10 
Area Assets and Opportunities 10 
Challenges 11 
Blighted Conditions in the West Bank Urban Renewal Dist. 12 

Chapter 4. Goals and Strategies of the West Bank Urban 
Renewal Plan 15 

Remediation of Environmental Pollutants 15 
Public Infrastructure Improvements 17 
Community and Economic Development 21 
Historic/Cultural Resources 23 
Natural Resources 25 

Chapter 5. Planning Approach – The Defining Elements 26 
Sub Area Planning – Phased Approach 26 
Thoughtful Design 26 
Intergovernmental Cooperation 26 
Public Investment 27 
Planning Consistency 27 

Chapter 6. Implementation 28 
Administration 28 
Program Funding 30 

Tax Increment Financing Provision 30 
Other Funding Mechanisms 30 

West Bank Urban Renewal Program Evaluation 39 



   
     

 
      
    
    
            

Table of Appendices: 

A. Resolution of Blight 
B. Parcel Data 
C. Public Utilities 
D. Allowable Uses of Tax Increment Funds 



 
 

       
 

                               
                                 
                                   
                                       
                             
                       

                         
                               

                     
                         
                               
                         

                           
                         

                           
                      

 
                         

                           
     

 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                     
                             

          
                              
                  
                          
                               
                          

                          
                                   

                     
      

                             
                 
                   

            
                           

Chapter 1. Introduction 

The City of Great Falls, Montana is embarking on a program of urban renewal for the 
area known as West Bank, bounded on the West by 3rd Street NW/SW, on the East by 
the center line of the Missouri River, on the North by a point just north of 14th Avenue 
NW and on the South by a point just south of 5th Avenue SW. (See Figure 1, below.) 
The area, which has been designated by the Great Falls City Commission as the West 
Bank Urban Renewal District is in transition. Historically, the District was 
characterized by heavy industrial uses. However, as the City has grown, industrial 
development has shifted to the city’s periphery. At the same time, the community is 
promoting a more diversified and integrated development within the city’s core, 
focusing on mixed uses – recreational, commercial and residential. The West Bank’s 
proximity to the River and associated parkland, as well as to a major roadway (3rd Street 
NW/SW), makes it a logical place to encourage new mixed‐use development in concert 
with efforts to revitalize downtown Great Falls. The revitalization of the West Bank area 
is being undertaken in cooperation with efforts to address contamination of an area 
within the District, formerly occupied by a brewery and an oil refinery and currently 
occupied by the County Shop complex and a specialty seed mill. 

This urban renewal effort is being undertaken in accordance with the Montana Urban 
Renewal Law which provides for the renewal of “blighted” areas in 7‐15‐42 and 7‐15‐43, 
MCA, as follows: 

7‐15‐4209. Development of workable urban renewal program. (1) A municipality, for 
the purposes of this part and part 43, may formulate a workable program for utilizing 
appropriate private and public resources: 

(a) to eliminate and prevent the development or spread of blighted areas; 
(b) to encourage needed urban rehabilitation; 
(c) to provide for the redevelopment of such areas; or 
(d) to undertake such of the aforesaid activities or other feasible municipal activities 

as may be suitably employed to achieve the objectives of such workable program. 
(2) Such workable program may include, without limitation, provision for: 
(a) the prevention of the spread of blight into areas of the municipality which are 

free from blight through diligent enforcement of housing, zoning, and occupancy 
controls and standards; 

(b) the rehabilitation of blighted areas or portions thereof by replanning, removing 
congestion, providing parks, playgrounds, and other public improvements; by 
encouraging voluntary rehabilitation; and by compelling the repair and rehabilitation 
of deteriorated or deteriorating structures; and 

(c) the clearance and redevelopment of blighted areas or portions thereof. 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 1 



 
 

                         
                             
                             
                                     
                         
                           
                   

 
           
                           

                    
                     

     
               

                       
             
                          
                 

     
                         
             
       
                         
                 

             
                       

                  
                     

                
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

On November 8, 2006, the Great Falls City Commission authorized an investigation of 
the West Bank area. The purpose of the investigation was to determine the presence 
and extent of blight within the area as defined by the Montana Urban Renewal Law (7‐
15, Parts 42 and 43 MCA) as a first step in preparing a West Bank Urban Renewal Plan. 
The investigation culminated in a “Finding of Blight”, that was adopted by Resolution 
9626 (attached as Appendix A) by the Great Falls City Commission on December 5, 
2006. In particular, the Resolution identified the following blighted conditions: 

1.  Physical deterioration of buildings and properties 
•  Many of the structures in the defined area are in poor repair and properties 

are poorly maintained. City building permit information indicates that the 
majority of existing structures have not been substantially improved for at 
least twenty years. 

2.  Inappropriate or mixed uses of land or buildings 
•  The presence of existing heavy industrial uses within the defined area is 

incompatible with retail, commercial, residential and parkland 
development. This land use conflict has proven to be a disincentive to the 
improvement of properties within the area by private enterprise. 

3.  Defective street layout 
•  Much of the area is without streets, sidewalks, curbs, or gutters resulting in 

poor traffic circulation and storm drainage problems. 
4.  Unsanitary and unsafe conditions 

•  Portions of the defined area are included in the list of priority sites 
maintained by the Montana Department of Environmental Quality under 
the Comprehensive Environmental Cleanup and Responsibility Act 
(CECRA) and are designated a Brownfield site as defined by the U.S. 
Environmental Protection Agency. Contamination on the site is associated 
with historic industrial activity and has affected both the soil and 
groundwater and threatens to contaminate the Missouri River. 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 2 



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

     
                             

                   
                       
                           

                       
           

Figure 1. Great Falls West Bank Urban Renewal District 

Statement of Purpose 
Changes in land use in the West Bank area, in conjunction with the proposed removal 
of contamination associated with historic industrial activities, provides an opportunity 
for area redevelopment through public‐private partnerships. The City of Great Falls 
has chosen to participate in this redevelopment effort through the creation of an urban 
renewal program, including a tax increment financing (TIF) provision to help fund 
public investment in the area. 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 3 



 
 

                             
                      

                         
                            
                             
                       

                   
             

 
                       

                           
                               
                           

                       
 

                        
       

                        
       

                        
                           

           
 

                             
                         

                   
                              

                         
                           

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This Urban Renewal Plan provides direction to the City of Great Falls in fostering the 
revitalization and economic development of the West Bank Urban Renewal District. 
The Plan provides a “platform” for redevelopment activities that will be undertaken by 
a variety of public and private entities over the next several decades. More particularly, 
this Plan recommends a series of programs and projects that will be undertaken by the 
local government to encourage reinvestment in the District and to address blighted 
conditions that have diminished the environmental, economic and cultural well‐being 
of the West Bank area over time. 

Although the Montana Urban Renewal Law recognizes that eliminating urban blight is 
a matter of public interest, this Plan has been developed, based on the underlying 
principle that it is the citizens who work, reside and own property in the West Bank 
Renewal District who will be engaged directly in the revitalization effort. Further, the 
Plan has been prepared with respect to three Guiding Principles as follows: 

 The plan for the West Bank Urban Renewal District should foster economic 
development and job creation. 

 The improvement of the overall environmental quality of the West Bank Urban 
Renewal District is critical. 

 Protection and enhancement of the West Bank Park and the Missouri River, 
which form the eastern boundary of the District are key in the redevelopment of 
the West Bank Urban Renewal District. 

The West Bank Urban Renewal Plan outlines the approach that the City of Great Falls 
will take in responding to blighted conditions within the District. The Plan 
recommends ways to comprehensively address the problems and opportunities that 
face the area. However, the Plan recognizes that this area is in transition and therefore 
prescribes a large measure of flexibility in devising solutions and provides for ongoing 
planning on the part of the City, the residents, the businesses and property owners. 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 4 



 
 

                
 

                 
                               

                         
                   

 
 

      
   

 

 

Chapter 2. Description of the Urban Renewal District 

Legal Description of the West Bank Urban Renewal District 
The West Bank Urban Renewal District includes all that real property in the City of 
Great Falls, County of Cascade, State of Montana, which lies within the following 
described boundary, excluding any unincorporated property, as of October 2006: 

“The  POINT  OF  BEGINNING  is  at  the  intersection  of  the  north  right  of  way  line  of  4th  
Avenue  SW  and  the  east  right  of  way  line  of  4th  Street  SW;  thence  northeasterly  along  
the  west  right  of  way  line  of  3rd  Street  SW  and  3rd  Street  NW  to  its  intersection  with  the  
northwest/southeast  projection  of   the  north  property   line  of   the  parcel  of   land   legally  
described  as  Mark  No.13,  Section  2,  Township  20  North,  Range  3  East  (Geo‐code  #3015‐
02‐1‐10‐06);  thence  southeasterly  along  the  northwest/southeast  projection  of  the  north  
property  line  of  the  parcel  of  land  legally  described  as  Mark  No.13,  Section  2,  Township  
20  North,  Range   3  East   (Geo‐code   #3015‐02‐1‐10‐06)   to   the   centerline   of   the  Missouri  
River;  thence  southwesterly/southeasterly  along  the  centerline  of  the  Missouri  River  to  
the  north  edge  of  the  BNSF  Railway/Missouri  River  Bridge;  thence  southwesterly  along  
the  north  edge  of  the  BNSF  Railway/Missouri  River  Bridge  and  the  north  right  of  way  
line  of  the  BNSF  Railway  main  line  (coincidental  with  the  south  property  line  of  Lots  1‐
4,  Block  9,  BN  Car  Shop  Addition  to  Great  Falls)   to   its    extended  connection  with  the  
south  end  of  the  east  right  of  way  line  of  5th  Street  SW  (coincidental  with  the  southwest  
corner  of  Lot  10,  Block  546,  6th  Addition  to  Great  Falls);  thence  northeasterly  along  the  
west  right  of   way  line   of   the   BNSF  Railway  spur  line   (coincidental   with  the  
south/southeast  boundary  of  Block  546,  6th  Addition  to  Great  Falls)  to  the  intersection  of  
the  south  right  of  way  line  of  5th  Avenue  SW  and  the  west  right  of  way  line  of  4th  Street  
SW;  thence  north  along  the  west  right  of  way  line  of  4th  Street  SW  to  its  intersection  with  
the   north   right  of   way  line   of   4th  Avenue  SW;  thence   east  to   the   POINT  OF  
BEGINNING.”  

Area History 
Historically,   the   west  side   of   the   Missouri  River  in  Great  Falls   was  the  home  of  
Montana’s  largest  gasoline  refinery,  built  by  the  Great  Falls  Sunburst  Oil  and  Refinery  
Company.    The  refinery  began  operations  in  early  1923  along  the  300  and  400  block  of  
3rd  Street  Northwest   and  was  subsequently  purchased  by  the  California  Eastern  Oil  
Company  in  1927.     Cascade   County  took   possession  of   the  property  in  1936  after  
California  Eastern  failed  to  pay  gasoline   license   taxes  and  associated  delinquent  fees.   
By  1938  Cascade  County  had  constructed  its   shops   (Figure   2)   at  the   site   (Great  Falls  
Tribune,  December  16,  2001).    

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 5 



 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                         
                            

                               
                                   
                             
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                   

           

    Figure 2 Cascade County Shops 

The West Bank area includes the site of the former Montana Brewing Company 
complex, built in 1893‐94, just north of Central Avenue West, along the Missouri River. 
In 1933, it became the malt plant for the Great Falls Select Brewery, finally closing in 
1968. (Figure 3.) The last remnants of the site were finally removed in July of 2006 to 
make way for a new 54,000 square foot Federal Courthouse (July 11, 2006, Sun River 
News). 

Figure 3. Montana Brewery. 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 6 



 
 

   
                       

                             
                       
                                   
                         

                           
                         
                          
                         
                           
       

 

 

 
                              
                       

 
 
 
 
 
 

Existing Characteristics 
The West Bank Urban Renewal District continues to be largely characterized by 
industrial and warehouse uses. It also contains a small number of residences and a 
variety of retail and service oriented businesses, including a veterinary clinic, the 
Cowboy’s Bar and the J Bar T Tavern. The area just south of the County Shops and 
Montana Specialty Mills includes the site where the new Federal Courthouse will be 
built. South of Central Avenue West, the District is more sparsely developed, but 
includes the Montana Association of Electrical Cooperatives offices as well as a former 
highway department structure, now held privately (Figure 4). The northern end of the 
District is directly adjacent to a growing commercial area. It includes the Stockman 
Bank, built within the last few years and will include a new Walgreens Pharmacy, 
already under construction. 

Figure 4. Former Highway Department Building 

The District encompasses portions of two Census Tracks (See Table 1) and 51 parcels. A 
list of the properties by parcel is included in Appendix B. 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 7 



 
 

 
 

 

 
             

 

                              
                         

                         
                         
                              
                       
                           
                       
                        

 

Table 1. West Bank Urban Renewal District – Census Information 

Census 
Track 

Census Block Group Block Number Population Housing Units 

16 2 2000 0 0 
16 2 2017* 45 15 
16 5 5001 8 3 
16 5 5002 0 0 
16 5 5004 0 0 
16 5 5005 0 0 
18 3 3000* 4 2 
18 3 3019** 0 0 
18 3 3020* 0 0 
Totals 57 20 

Source:  U.S. Census (2000 Information) 
Notes:  * Only a portion of this block is in the Urban Renewal District 
          ** This is the parcel that is  not incorporated into the City of Great Falls 

Census designations are noted in Figure 5. 

   Zoning Designation 
The City of Great Falls has zoned the West Bank area M‐2, Mixed‐use Transitional. The 
Great Falls Zoning Ordinance describes an M‐2 zone as follows: “This zoning 
designation is intended to promote a transition over time to a predominately mixed‐use 
land use pattern. Because of changing economic conditions and other factors, some 
current uses do not represent the highest and best use, given other more suitable areas. 
Current industrial uses and warehouses are not considered nonconforming. As such, 
current industrial uses and warehouses existing at the time this Title was adopted are 
allowed to expand or to be re‐established, if damaged, provided development and 
appearance standards under the purview of the Design Review Board are met.” 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 8 



 
 

 

 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 9 

Figure 5. Census Designations 



 

        
 

                           
                     

                         
                   
                           

                             
                       

                      
 

       
              
                               
                     

                             
                         

                       
                             

                     
       

 
         

                                   
                           

                         
                         

                 
                               

   
 

       
                           
                       
                          
                       

                         
                          

Chapter 3. Key Findings 

This chapter of the Urban Renewal Plan provides an overview of the challenges and 
opportunities associated with the redevelopment of the West Bank Urban Renewal 
District. Information presented here has been gleaned from interviews and meetings 
with area property owners and residents, local government staff, Neighborhood 
Council #2 and other area stakeholders. While the West Bank Urban Renewal District 
can be characterized as blighted, the area has a number of recognized assets that will 
help foster redevelopment. For example, there is wide‐spread support for area 
revitalization among property owners, stakeholders and the community in general. 

Area Assets and Opportunities 
The Missouri River and West Bank Park 
The West Bank Urban Renewal District is bounded on the east by West Bank Park and 
the Missouri River which provide important scenic, natural, historic and recreational 
resources to residents and visitors. As noted in the 2004 Missouri River Urban Corridor 
Plan, the River is “a major community asset for enhanced livability, growth and 
economic development”. The District’s proximity to the river, in combination with 
West Bank Park can attract new development. The Corridor Plan also points out that the 
“Riverfront…creates real estate value [associated with its] proximity to water, views 
and public open space.” 

Proximity to Downtown/Combating Urban Sprawl 
The City’s plan to undertake the renewal of the West Bank area can be viewed as part of 
the overall effort to revitalize the city’s central business district and to discourage urban 
sprawl in general. As noted in the 2002 Great Falls Development Authority’s proposal 
to EPA for Brownfield Assessment grant funds, the redevelopment of “lands that have 
existing infrastructure…makes good planning sense, and it keeps redevelopment 
affordable and reduces urban sprawl. It also creates jobs in the city, close to where 
people live.” 

Proximity to Transportation Corridors 
The West Bank area is situated along two critical four‐lane arterials – Central Avenue 
West and 3rd Street NW, which provide important links between downtown Great 
Falls, Interstate 15, the airport and the fairgrounds. The area has experienced increased 
traffic counts on 3rd Street Northwest and the Northwest Bypass, offering opportunities 
for successful development. The 2003 Great Falls Area Transportation Plan identifies 3rd 

Street Northwest as a major traffic corridor that is experiencing heavy traffic volumes. 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 10 



 

                           
         

 
         

                             
                             
                         

                         
                                  

                         
                       

 
 

     
                           

                         
                               
                       
         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
       

 

Finally, railroad service is provided on an as needed basis to service Montana Specialty 
Mills and Montana Refining Company. 

Existing and Proposed Area Development 
As noted above, the West Bank Urban Renewal District is experiencing a change in land 
use, from heavy industrial to mixed uses. The new Federal Building, to be located 
south of the existing County Shops, and the Walgreens Pharmacy, which is under 
construction in the northern portion of the District, will provide two important anchors 
for the District. The area is also home to a number of retail and service businesses. 
Finally, the Montana Expo Park borders the District on the west, providing an 
important traffic generator, as well as a potential partner in redevelopment efforts. 

Challenges 
Clean‐up of Contaminants 
The 3rd Street NW Groundwater Site is located within the West Bank Urban Renewal 
District and includes the County Shops, Montana Specialty Mills, portions of the BNSF 
Railway spur and West Bank Park. The Site is listed on the State of Montana’s “Mini‐
Superfund Sites” because of petrochemical related contamination. Figure 6 shows the 
contaminated portion of the District. 

Figure 6. Contaminated Area 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 11 



 

                     
                         
                         
                       

               
 
   
                           
                     
                             

             
 

 
                               

                              
                         
                         
                             

                              
                     

                 
 

                 
                             

                         
       

 
       
                          

                             
                         
    

 
                     
                     

                              
                   

               
 

Clean‐up of these contaminates will occur sequentially. For example, contaminants 
cannot be removed from West Bank Park until the County Shops and Montana 
Specialty Mill areas are addressed, because they are the “upstream” source of the 
pollutants. (See Table 2, Remediation Schedule in Chapter 4.) Redevelopment cannot 
occur in these areas until clean‐up is complete. 

Lot Size 
Some of the properties within the urban renewal district are too small to accommodate 
new office or commercial development. Prior to significant redevelopment occurring, 
some of the smaller parcels of land will have to be consolidated, particularly those at 
the southern end of the District. 

Access 
While the District is adjacent to major arterials, access to and within the West Bank area 
is limited. In addition to the absence of roads, the railroad tracks that run north‐south 
and parallel to the riverfront make it difficult to address the District’s transportation 
needs of vehicles and pedestrians. In particular, the sidetrack which currently serves 
Montana Specialty Mills, and which will no longer be needed once the mill is relocated, 
limits east‐west access through a large portion of the District. Overall, the area lacks the 
necessary infrastructure to link recreational and commercial uses, which will ultimately 
be key to the successful redevelopment of the District. 

Blighted Conditions in the West Bank Urban Renewal District 
A Finding of Blight report for the West Bank Urban Renewal District was prepared in 
November of 2006. The following excerpts provide a general overview of blighted 
conditions in the District. 

Physical deterioration of buildings 
Although most of the buildings within the proposed West Bank Urban Renewal District 
are in use, the area generally has a deteriorating appearance. Many structures are in 
poor repair and properties are often poorly maintained, cluttered with refuse and waste 
storage areas. 

According to building permit information prepared by the Great Falls Community 
Development Department, the majority of structures in the proposed district were 
constructed prior to the 1980s and many were constructed in the 1950s. While age alone 
does not indicate deterioration, permit information indicates that few major 
improvements have been made in recent decades. 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 12 



 

               
                           
                              
                           
                             
                         

                            
                     

               
 

                             
                           
                           

                         
             

 
           

                             
                              
                              

                         
                         
                             
                                  

                              
                       
                           

                             
                             

                         
         

 
       

                     
                   

                    
                     

                   
           

Inappropriate or mixed uses of land or buildings 
The eastern edge of the West Bank Urban Renewal District includes portions of West 
Bank Park, an important recreation and scenic resource for the City of Great Falls. The 
park is located adjacent to areas that have been blighted by industrial pollution and 
refuse storage sites. These detract from and diminish the quality of the park. The 
District includes a number of retail and service establishments, reflective of the land 
uses on those properties adjacent to the urban renewal district. The presence of heavy 
industrial activities in close proximity to these less intensive uses creates 
incompatibilities associated with industrial noise, odor and dust. 

The West Bank Urban Renewal District also includes a small number of homes. The 
presence of heavy industrial sites in close proximity to residences can result in the 
devaluation of property over time. A review of residential property values within the 
district indicates that while the land values have increased slightly, the value of 
improvements has stagnated between 2000 and 2006. 

Public Infrastructure/Defective or Inadequate Street Layout 
The sewer and water lines within the district were installed primarily in the 1960ʹs and 
1970ʹs to serve the commercial and large industrial users in the area. There are also 
some large sewer trunk lines which traverse the area from south to north. They are 
generally in good condition and would be able to accommodate new commercial, office 
and residential development. (See Appendix C, Public Utilities.) The streets that are in 
the area serve the perimeter of the planning area well, but are virtually non‐existent in 
the interior, especially on the north end of the district. Access is very poor to the area 
between the River and the railroad tracks. Of the roads that do exist, some require 
paving, while others should be realigned. The district is characterized by large 
industrial and heavy commercial uses and in some cases, there is no public access 
to individual sites via roads. For example, better access is needed to West Bank Park 
and the new Federal Building that is slated for construction to the north of Central 
Avenue West. Overall the interior of the area lacks sidewalks, curbs and gutters, 
landscaping and adequate lighting. 

Unhealthy or Unsafe Conditions 
The West Bank Urban Renewal District includes the Third Street Northwest 
Groundwater Site, which is listed on the Montana Comprehensive Environmental 
Cleanup and Responsibility Act (CECRA) listing of “Mini‐Superfund” priority sites. 
According to the Montana Department of Environmental Quality, contaminants at the 
site include benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, xylene, chlorinated solvents and phenols. 
(Great Falls Tribune, December 16, 2001) 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 13 



 

 
                             

                       
                       

        
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In  2002,  the  Great  Falls   Development  Authority   applied   for   and   obtained  a   U.S.  
Environmental  Protection  Agency  (EPA)  Brownfields  Assessment  Grant  as  a   first  step  
in  facilitating  the   redevelopment  of   the  West  Bank   area.    Brownfields   are  defined  as  
those  properties  for  which  the  expansion,  redevelopment,  or  reuse  may  be  complicated  
by  the   presence   or  potential   presence  of   a   hazardous   substance,   pollutant,   or  
contaminant.  (http://www.epa.gov/brownfields/)   

The proposal to EPA noted that the potential for in‐fill development and reuse of lands 
in the West Bank area had been “marginalized” by the environmental pollution, 
creating a “lost opportunity” for reinvestment in the area. (Great Falls Riverfront 
Redevelopment Project…Final Grant Proposal). 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 14 



 

                        
                             

      
 

          

 

 
                         

                         
                           

                      
               

 
 
 
 
 

Chapter 4. Goals and Strategies of the West Bank Urban Renewal Plan 
This chapter presents the goals and strategies of the West Bank Urban Renewal Plan by 
category of concern. 

Remediation of Environmental Pollutants 
The   West  Bank   Urban  Renewal  District  includes  the   Third  Street  Northwest  
Groundwater  Site,  which  is   listed  on  the   Montana   Comprehensive  Environmental  
Cleanup  and   Responsibility  Act  (CECRA)  listing   of   “Mini‐Superfund”   priority   sites.   
CECRA   provides  the   Montana   Department   of   Environmental  Quality  with  similar  
authorities  as  provided  under  the  federal  Superfund  Act.    CECRA  ranks  these  sites  as  
maximum,  high,  medium,  low   and  operation  and  maintenance  priority  based  on  the  
severity  of  contamination  at  the  facility  and   the   actual  and   potential   impacts   of  
contamination  to  public  health,  safety,  and  welfare  and  the  environment.      The  Third  
Street  Northwest  Groundwater  Site   has   been  listed  with   a  ranking   of   medium.  
(http://www.deq.state.mt.us/StateSuperfund/index.asp).    According  to   the  Montana  
Department   of   Environmental  Quality,   contaminants   at  the   site   include   benzene,  
toluene,  ethylbenzene,  xylene,  chlorinated  solvents  and  phenols.   (Great  Falls,  Tribune,  
December  16,  2001)   

In  2002,  the  Great  Falls   Development  Authority   applied  for   and   obtained  a  U.S.  
Environmental  Protection  Agency  (EPA)  Brownfields  Assessment  Grant  as  a  first  step  
in  facilitating  the   redevelopment  of   the  West  Bank   area.  Brownfields   are   defined  as  
those  properties  for  which  the  expansion,  redevelopment,  or  reuse  may  be  complicated  
by  the   presence  or  potential   presence  of   a  hazardous   substance,   pollutant,   or  
contaminant.   (http://www.epa.gov/brownfields/).    The  proposal  noted  that  the  grant  would  
help   “facilitate   development  through  completion  of   environmental  assessments  on  
properties  in  the  area…and  would  identify  the  nature  and  severity  of  contamination  on  
the  properties  and  allow  for  the  selection  of  cleanup  remedies“.  (Finding  of  Blight  Report,  
2006)  

Cascade County is largely responsible for the removal of contaminants from the Third 
Street Northwest Groundwater Site which includes the site of the County Shops and 
Montana Specialty Mills (Figure 7). The clean‐up of contaminates needs to occur 
sequentially. The clean‐up phases are summarized below in Table 2. (Commencement 
dates, as provided by Cascade County, are approximate.) 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 15 



 

  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

                           
                           
                           

                        
                           
                 

 

 

 
 

Table 2. Remediation Schedule for the Third Street Northwest Groundwater Site 

Phase Corrective Action Proposed Date of 
Commencement 

I Remove contaminants from Cascade County Road 
and Bridge Department Shop (southern end of 
property) 

November, 2007 

II Remove contaminants from Montana Specialty 
Mills site 

Late, 2008 

III Clean-up Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railroad 
(BNSF) right of way  

2009 

IV Clean-up West Bank Park area 2010 

V Remove contaminants from the Cascade County 
Solid Waste District Shop (northern end of 
property) 

2007-2008 

VI Clean-up northeast area of County Shop 2007-2008 

The Great Falls Growth Policy notes that Brownfields are currently “dealt with on a case‐
by‐case basis, with clean‐up usually funded as part of the cost of redeveloping the 
property”. The removal of contaminants in the West Bank Urban Renewal District by 
Cascade County will enable the property to be redeveloped for non‐industrial uses. 
While the City of Great Falls is not responsible for contaminant removal, the Urban 
Renewal Plan must reflect the timing of clean‐up activities. 

Figure 7. Montana Specialty Mills 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 16 



 

                          
                      

 
 

                    
           

                      
                 

 
     
       

                         
                           

                                
                              

                        
                             
 

 
                             
                   

                 
                   

 
 

                            
                         

               
                        

                     
   

 
           
                               

                            
                                    

                       
                           

                                

Goal: Foster development in the West Bank Urban Renewal District in phases with 
respect to the availability of land following the removal of contaminants. 

Strategies: 
 Communicate regularly with Cascade County to enable the coordination of 

development activities as contaminants are removed. 
 Work with Cascade County in determining an approach to clean‐up non‐county 

properties including the BNSF railroad and West Bank Park. 

Public Infrastructure Improvements 
Sewer and Water Services 
The sewer and water lines within the West Bank Urban Renewal District were 
installed primarily in the 1960ʹs and 1970ʹs to serve the commercial and large industrial 
users in the area. There are also some large sewer trunk lines which traverse the area 
from south to north. They are generally in good condition and would be able to 
accommodate new development. However, due to the lack of streets, curbs and 
sidewalks in the area, the storm drain system is inadequate and will have to be 
addressed. 

Goal: Ensure that all land uses within the West Bank Urban Renewal District have 
safe water supplies, environmentally sound wastewater disposal systems, solid waste 
recycling/collection programs, and stormwater management systems that protect the 
public health, safety and welfare.” (Great Falls Growth Policy, 2005) 

Strategies: 
 Work with the City of Great Falls Public Works Department to assure that the 

sewer and water infrastructure is appropriate for the scale and type of proposed 
development in the West Bank Urban Renewal District. 

 Evaluate the current condition of the storm drain system with respect to 
proposed development within the West Bank Urban Renewal District and make 
improvements accordingly. 

Area Access – Pedestrian and Vehicular 
The streets in the area serve the perimeter of the Urban Renewal District well, but are 
virtually non‐existent in the interior, especially on the north end of the District. Access 
is very poor to the area between the River and the railroad tracks. Of the roads that do 
exist, some require paving, while others should be realigned. The District is 
characterized by large industrial and heavy commercial uses and in some cases there is 
no public road access to individual sites. Better access is needed to West Bank Park and 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 17 



 

                             
                                  
                           
                             
       

 
                     
                         
             

 
 

                      
                   

            
  
  
        

                        
   

                        
           

                        
                     

                        
                     

         
 

   
                           
                             
                          
                           
                           
                         
                               
                         

                         
                   

               

the new Federal Building that is slated for construction to the north of Central Avenue 
West. In addition to the absence of roads within the District, it is difficult to access 3rd 

Street Northwest and Central Avenue West via a left turn from the existing roads 
within the District. The entire interior of the District lacks sidewalks, curbs and gutters. 
(Finding of Blight Report) 

Goal: Provide a safe, efficient, accessible and cost‐effective transportation system 
that offers viable choices for moving people and goods throughout the West Bank 
Urban Renewal District. (Great Falls Growth Policy) 

Strategies: 
 Identify and construct road system improvements for the West Bank Urban 

Renewal District that serve existing and proposed uses and address: 
o Access to and within the District 
o Sidewalks/Trails 
o Curbs 
o Gutters and Storm Drains 

 Install traffic control signals and other safety features to improve access at 
appropriate locations. 

 Work with BNSF to identify ways to provide access across the railroad right‐of‐
way for both vehicles and pedestrians. 

 Work with BNSF to determine the feasibility of removing the sidetrack rail 
serving Montana Specialty Mills to accommodate better access to the area. 

 Provide for pedestrian access to and within the West Bank Urban Renewal 
District, providing links to Montana ExpoPark, West Bank Park, River’s Edge 
Trail and nearby residential areas. 

Park Development 
West Bank Park (Figure 8) is an important area and community resource. Protection 
and enhancement of the Park is a key component in the redevelopment of the West 
Bank Urban Renewal District. More particularly, the Park is located within the Primary 
Impact Area, as defined in the Great Falls Missouri River Urban Corridor Plan (2004), 
“which includes those lands that have strong relationships to the river…” The Plan, 
which was called for in the1999 Great Falls City‐County Comprehensive Plan (now the 
Great Falls Growth Policy, 2005) presents a vision for what is possible in this corridor and 
includes general recommendations for access to the river, trails and the maintenance of 
public land. A companion document, the Missouri River Urban Corridor Inventory & 
Assessment (September 2002) characterizes existing conditions in the Corridor and 
makes recommendations for appropriate stabilization and recreational improvements. 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 18 



 

                             
                             
                              
                         

           
 

 

 
                          
 

 
 

                  
        
       
              
              
        
  
        

                      
             

 
 
 
 

The West Bank Park has also been identified by Great Falls Neighborhood Council #2 as 
an important neighborhood asset that contributes to the quality of life in the area and 
ties well to the Montana Expo Park. Area property owners have noted that West Bank 
Park and the riverfront help contribute to adjacent property values and provide an 
attractive setting for tenants and customers. 

Figure 8. West Bank Park (Missouri River Corridor Plan) 

Goal: Maintain and Improve West Bank Park within the West Bank Urban Renewal 
District. 

Strategies: 
 Prepare and Implement a Park Improvement Plan that addresses: 

o Pedestrian and Vehicular Access 
o Vegetation and Habitat 
o Trail & Pedestrian Use Within the Park 
o Connections to the River’s Edge Trail System 
o Park Amenities and Facilities 
o Maintenance 
o Implementation Tools and Resources 

 Work with adjacent property owners and developers to address Park access, 
visual integration with adjoining development/uses, and maintenance. 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 19 



 

 
             
                           
                     
                       
                         
                     

                       
                       

                         
     

 
                                 

                         
                       

      
 

                   
                              
                     

 
                             

                       
 

 
 

                        
                     

                       
                      
                     

                     
                          

             
                      

                   
                       

                    

Area Design Features, Including Lighting and Landscaping 
The Missouri River Urban Corridor Plan observes that “...there is a hodgepodge of poor 
quality design elements. In some areas, Quonset hut‐style buildings and other 
structures of little aesthetic or architectural value, a surplus of unattractive and 
prominent signage, and a lack of unifying design details like street lighting and 
landscaping have resulted in a chaotic, unappealing environment. Development of this 
type discourages investment and upgrade to area properties.” Design concepts such as 
buffering, shared open spaces, connection to public spaces, preservation of river views, 
street trees, and mixed uses are all encouraged to promote area identity, marketability 
and area vibrancy. 

In addition, the Great Falls Growth Policy notes that it is the policy of the City to 
“encourage and promote street tree planting throughout the community and as a matter 
of policy, consider street trees as public infrastructure with priorities for preservation, 
replacement and maintenance”. 

Landscaping undertaken in association with development of streets, sidewalks and 
trails will serve to enhance the West Bank Urban Renewal District. In addition, the area 
will need adequate lighting to provide a safe and welcoming environment. 

Goal: Urban Renewal Projects should be designed in a manner that is respectful of 
the area’s natural and cultural setting with particular attention to landscaping and 
lighting. 

Strategies: 
 Develop and implement an urban tree planting program for the West Bank 

Urban Renewal District in association with the development of streets and 
sidewalks and in conjunction with the City Parks & Recreation Department that 
defines appropriate species, planting cycles and maintenance. Per the Great Falls 
Growth Policy, the City should prepare and implement a comprehensive planting, 
management and maintenance plan for street trees in the public rights‐of‐way. 

 Identify an appropriate light standard that can be used throughout the District in 
conjunction with public improvements and private development. 

 Encourage the preparation and adoption by area property owners of area‐wide 
development standards to provide for cohesive development with a unique 
identity. Such standards could be used by developers when preparing plans and 
by the City’s Design Review Board when considering proposed developments. 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 20 



 

                   
    

       
                       

                         
   

 
        
                
                  

 
                       

                         
                          

               
 

     
                           
                             

                            
                         

                     
              

 
                     

                           
                     
                           
                       
                       

                          
       

                    
                     
 

                      
                     

   
 

This could be accomplished through the creation of neighborhood conservation 
overlay district. 

Community and Economic Development 
The Great Falls Growth Policy identifies a series of economic development goals, 
including the following that directly relate to the West Bank Urban Renewal District. 
These are: 

• Diversify the base economy 
• Enhance, strengthen and expand the existing economic base 
• Encourage businesses and industries that will utilize existing infrastructure 

The redevelopment of the West Bank Urban Renewal District can strengthen the 
economic base of Great Falls while taking advantage of existing sewer and water 
infrastructure within the urban core. This approach helps to counter urban sprawl and 
the associated costs in providing public services. 

Fostering Private Development 
The West Bank Urban Renewal Plan calls for public improvements in the West Bank 
Urban Renewal District in support of new investment. The role of the private sector 
will be critical in the redevelopment process. Private investments made in the area will, 
in turn, provide the City with the necessary financial resources (via Tax Increment 
Financing and other mechanisms) to develop public infrastructure that will contribute 
to the overall revitalization of the area. 

This Urban Renewal Plan provides the necessary administrative structure to direct 
community resources to renewal activities within the District. However, it will be the 
private sector that undertakes specific site planning and development activities on 
privately owned lands. To achieve a high quality of design, representatives of private 
property owners, including Cascade County and area developers will work together to 
prepare a development master plan that will reflect the following underlying principles: 
 Public access to West Bank Park and other riverfront parks will be incorporated 

into area design schemes. 
 Lighting, street design and other landscaping features will be consistent 

throughout the District. Unifying architectural features and signage is also 
encouraged. 

 Development will be phased in accordance with the contaminated soils clean‐up 
schedule, as developed by Cascade County and the Montana Department of 
Environmental Quality. 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 21 



 

 
 

                
 

 
                        

                     
               

                      
                 

                          
       

                        
     

                    
                      

                 
                      

         
                          
                        

                   
 

                        
         

                      
         

 
         

                                 
                             

                           
                           
                           
                  

 
                         

       
 

Goal: Encourage thoughtful, well designed private development activity. 

Strategies: 
 Encourage the preparation of a development master plan for the West Bank 

District by property owners and developers that recognizes the sequential nature 
of the removal of pollutants from the area. 

 Encourage the preparation of a development master plan that addresses the 
various sub‐areas within the Urban Renewal District as follows: 

o The area to the south of the Cascade County Shops (including the area 
south of Central Avenue 

o The area that includes both the Cascade County Shops and the Montana 
Specialty Mills (MSM) 

o The area to the north of the Shops and MSM 
 Consider the use of protective covenants in addition to existing zoning 

provisions to assure high quality development within the area 
 Facilitate thoughtful project design that focuses on enhancing and protecting the 

area’s natural and scenic resources 
 Work with the private sector to identify public infrastructure needs for the area. 
 Work with BNSF to determine the feasibility of removing the sidetrack rail 

serving Montana Specialty Mills to create more privately‐owned land for 
development 

 Foster cooperative efforts among public and private entities to achieve the goals 
of the Urban Renewal Plan 

 Work with property owners and developers to identify opportunities to realign 
Bay Drive to facilitate redevelopment 

Working in Partnership with Downtown 
The City’s plan to undertake the renewal of the West Bank District is part of an overall 
effort to revitalize the City’s urban core and to discourage urban sprawl in general. The 
redevelopment of the West Bank District will serve to both expand and enhance Great 
Falls’ urban center. The proposed private and public investment in the West Bank 
District will enable the City’s core business area to encompass both sides of the 
Missouri River, taking full advantage of this important asset. 

Goal: Coordinate the West Bank Urban Renewal program with ongoing efforts to 
revitalize Downtown Great Falls. 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 22 



 

 
                    
                      

                 
 

   

 
                             
                             
                              

                         
                       

                                 
                     

                   
                       

                          
                       

                         
                            
                          
                   

 
                        
       

 

Strategies: 
 Coordinate planning efforts between the West Bank District and Downtown. 
 Identify joint activities, such as the creation of transportation and recreation 

services that connect Downtown and the West Bank District. 

Historic/Cultural Resources 
Historically,   the   west  side   of   the   Missouri  River  in  Great  Falls   was  the  home  of  
Montana’s  largest  gasoline  refinery,  built  by  the  Great  Falls  Sunburst  Oil  and  Refinery  
Company.   The  refinery  began  operations  in  early  1923  along  the  300  and  400  blocks  of  
3rd  Street  Northwest   and  was  subsequently  purchased  by  the  California  Eastern  Oil  
Company  in  1927.     Cascade   County  took   possession  of   the  property  in  1936   after  
California  Eastern  failed  to  pay  gasoline   license   taxes  and  associated  delinquent  fees.   
By  1938,  Cascade  County  had  constructed  its  road  and  bridge  department  shops  at  the  
site  (Great  Falls,  Tribune,  December  16,  2001).   The  West  Bank  District  also  included  the  
site  of   the   former  Montana  Brewing  Company  complex,  built   in  1893‐94,  just  north  of  
Central  Avenue  West,  along   the  Missouri  River.    In  1933,  it  became  the  malt  plant  for  
the  Great  Falls  Breweries,  Inc.,  which  closed  in  1968.  The  last  remnants  of  the  site  were  
removed  in   July,  2006   to  make  way  for  a  new  54,000  square   foot  Federal  Courthouse  
(Sun  River  News,  July  11,  2006).    

Today, there are 51 parcels in the West Bank Urban Renewal District, including a small 
number of residences and a variety of retail and service oriented businesses, such as, a 
veterinary clinic, J Bar T Tavern, and the Cowboy’s Bar. Overall, the West Bank District 
is undergoing a transition from heavy industrial uses to commercial and retail uses, 
reflective of development that is occurring on adjacent properties, particularly along 3rd 

Street NW/SW. As this transition continues, it will be important to take stock of the 
remaining historic properties and to plan carefully for their interpretation, preservation 
and appropriate integration into area development. For example, the Montana 
Cowboy’s Association is interested in having the Cowboy’s Bar and associated museum 
placed on the National Register of Historic Places. (See Figure 9, below.) Additionally, 
the Missouri River and Sacagawea Island are important natural, cultural and historic 
resources that should be included in any area assessments. Other properties may be 
eligible for listing as well. Most federal and state grant programs require applicants to 
address potential impacts on properties eligible for listing in the National Register. An 
inventory of historic resources would help assure more thoughtful development. 

Goal: Assess, preserve and interpret historic and cultural resources within the West 
Bank Urban Renewal District. 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 23 



 

 
 

 
                        

     
                  
                  

 
              
           
          
        

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Strategies: 
 Conduct an inventory of historic and cultural resources within the West Bank 

Urban Renewal District 
 Work with private property owners to preserve historic sites 
 Develop a pedestrian oriented interpretive program to include information 

concerning: 
o Existing sites of historic or cultural interest 
o Former occupants of the area 
o Environmental history of the area 
o History of the River 

Figure 9. Cowboy’s Bar 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 24 



 

 
 

   
                             
                             

                         
                                 

                       
 

                              
                                 
                             
                            

                                 
         

 
                     

                           
                             
                        

                       
 

                    
                       

 
 

 
                    

                       
   

                          
 

                    
         

 
 
 
 
 

Natural Resources 
The Missouri River and the associated West Bank Park are the defining features of the 
West Bank Urban Renewal District. Not only do these resources make the area more 
attractive for investment and overall community renewal, but they are intrinsic to the 
quality of life in the City of Great Falls and the surrounding region. They offer scenic 
and recreational opportunities for both residents and visitors to Great Falls. 

The area along the River has undergone a significant transition. As recently as 20 years 
ago, the current West Bank Park was the site of a construction waste dump. The area 
was “reclaimed” through a major effort to remove the waste and restore the river front 
area, providing an important recreation resource for the people of Great Falls. The Park 
is now part of the city wide park system and a key component of the public corridor 
along the Missouri River. 

The Missouri River Urban Corridor Plan identifies guiding principles and “communicates 
a vision for economic vitality” associated with the River while, at the same time 
recognizing “that the River is a vital part of a large ecosystem and that the 
environmental integrity of the River must be protected.” The following Urban Renewal 
Plan Goal is taken directly from the Missouri River Urban Corridor Plan. 

Goal: Promote beneficial, sustainable economic development that utilizes the River 
as an amenity while preserving and enhancing its ecological integrity and asset 
values. 

Strategies 
 Restore, enhance and protect water quality, natural shoreline vegetation and 

wetlands in association with improvements to West Bank Park and the River’s 
Edge Trail 

 Assure that the environmental health of the River will not be compromised by 
development 

 Work with property owners to develop shoreline protection programs in 
conjunction with their development activities 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 25 



 

 
                

                         
                         

                            
                     

             
 

           
                             

                         
                           
                            

                           
                             

                           
                     

                         
 

 
   

                           
                               
                                

                   
                         
                     

                     
    

 
   

                         
                             

                         
                     

                          
                          
                           
                             

Chapter 5. Planning Approach – The Defining Elements 
The design and implementation of the West Bank Urban Renewal Plan is being 
undertaken in a manner that is reflective of sound public policy and thoughtful 
planning. To this end, a number of “defining” elements have been identified that will 
characterize the projects and activities undertaken in connection with the revitalization 
and redevelopment of the West Bank area. 

Sub Area Planning – Phased Development 
The West Bank Urban Renewal District is likely to be developed in stages. The 
sequential nature of the removal of contaminants from the area currently occupied by 
the County Shops and Montana Specialty Mills will dictate, to some extent, which lands 
are redeveloped first. Given that the removal of contaminants will not be completed for 
approximately three years, the areas to the north and south of the Third Street 
Northwest Groundwater Site will likely be developed first. The building of the new 
Federal Courthouse to the south and the new Walgreens Pharmacy to the north provide 
examples of likely development patterns. Private development and public 
infrastructure improvements should be designed in a manner that will allow for phased 
implementation. 

Thoughtful Design 
The location of the West Bank Urban Renewal District, adjacent to the Missouri River 
and West Bank Park, requires that projects are designed in a manner that is sensitive to 
the area’s natural resources. The River and the Park add value to the lands within the 
District by providing an aesthetically pleasing environment within which reinvestment 
can occur. Urban renewal projects should serve to complement these resources rather 
than create a development pattern that diminishes their value. Thoughtful, well‐
designed development will, in turn, enhance the natural setting, drawing additional 
investment. 

Intergovernmental Cooperation 
The successful implementation of the West Bank Urban Renewal Plan will rely on 
cooperation between the City of Great Falls, Cascade County and the State of Montana. 
Cascade County, over the next several years, will be working with the Montana 
Department of Environmental Quality to address contaminated soils in the central 
portions of the West Bank Urban Renewal District. Following clean‐up, the County will 
exercise its options regarding redevelopment of its properties. It will be important for 
Cascade County to be involved with other property owners in the West Bank Urban 
Renewal District, as well as the City of Great Falls in planning for the District’s 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 26 



 

                   
                             

                               
                         

 
   

                       
                              

                          
                       
                          

                       
                           
                       

 
 

   
         

                           
                          
                                

                               
           

 
           

                             
                         

                           
                
            
            

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

redevelopment. The County’s participation in the development master planning 
process for the area will be particularly critical. The proximity of the Montana Expo 
Park with the Renewal District is also a key factor in redevelopment. The Expo Park 
provides an important area asset that can help contribute to the District’s revitalization. 

Public Investment 
The revitalization of the West Bank Urban Renewal District will require cooperation 
between the public and private sectors. As noted above, the City of Great Falls intends 
to invest in public infrastructure improvements in order to foster private investment. 
Public improvement projects will be undertaken in support of private development and 
with respect to area master plans developed by area property owners and investors. 
Funding for public infrastructure improvements will come from a number of sources 
including, but not limited to Tax Increment Financing (TIF). Specific projects will be 
undertaken in accordance with the Montana Urban Renewal Law, 7‐15‐42 and 7‐15‐43, 
MCA. 

Planning Consistency 
Conformity with the Growth Policy 
This Urban Renewal Plan must conform to the Great Falls, Growth Policy, adopted in 
2005, per 7‐15‐4213, MCA. Where appropriate, specific reference has been made to the 
Growth Policy, particularly in Chapter 4 of this Plan. On February 27, 2007, the Great Falls 
City Planning Board reviewed this Urban Renewal Plan and found it to be in conformance with 
the Growth Policy, per statutory requirements. 

Other Planning Documents 
In the preparation of the West Bank Urban Renewal Plan, a variety of other planning 
documents were consulted to assure that the Urban Renewal Plan would work in 
concert with other efforts to plan for the future of Great Falls. These included: 
 Missouri River Urban Corridor Inventory and Assessment (2002) 
 Great Falls Area Transportation Plan (2003) 
 Missouri River Urban Corridor Plan (2004) 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 27 



 

      
                       

                           
                              
                       

                   
  

 
 

                         
                       
                         

                            
                       
                         

                   
 

                             
                               
                             

                               
                         

                             
                           

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chapter 6. Implementation 
The West Bank Urban Renewal Plan sets a direction for redevelopment and 
revitalization of the West Bank Urban Renewal District. Upon its adoption, this Plan 
will serve as the official policy guide for public action. However, these policies can only 
be transformed to action through an effective implementation program. Key to 
implementation will be sound processes of administration, financing and program 
evaluation. 

Administration 
The administration of the redevelopment effort outlined in this plan will be the 
responsibility of the Great Falls City Commission. Under 7‐15‐ 4232, the City 
Commission may choose to create a separate urban renewal agency or authorize an 
existing department to implement this Urban Renewal Plan. However, it is the intent of 
the Commission to retain the responsibility and authority for administering the West 
Bank Urban Renewal Program. Various city departments will be authorized by the 
Commission to undertake specific tasks associated with implementation as necessary. 

Each year the City of Great Falls, or the authorized department will prepare an annual 
work program and budget and will list the activities and costs of the activities for the 
coming fiscal year, as well as the method of financing those activities. This program 
and budget may be amended during the course of the fiscal year, in light of funding 
and program changes. All budgets and revised budgets shall be reviewed and 
approved by the City of Great Falls. Urban renewal activities undertaken by the City 
of Great Falls will be in accordance with Montana State statute. (See specific provisions 
below.) 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 28 



 

 
 
 
 

                             
                             

                               
        

                              
                  
                            
                                      
                                   
                            

                        
                                     

                               
            

                                         
              

                                       
  

                            
                        
                                       

                
                                     
        

                                 
                    

                      
                                     

                
                                        
                                         

                           
            

                                               
                                   
                             
   

7‐15‐4233. Powers which may be exercised by urban renewal agency or authorized department. (1) In 
the event the local governing body makes such determination, such body may authorize the urban 
renewal agency or department or other officers of the municipality to exercise any of the following 
urban renewal project powers: 

(a) to formulate and coordinate a workable program as specified in 7‐15‐4209; 
(b) to prepare urban renewal plans; 
(c) to prepare recommended modifications to an urban renewal project plan; 
(d) to undertake and carry out urban renewal projects as required by the local governing body; 
(e) to make and execute contracts as specified in 7‐15‐4251, 7‐15‐4254, 7‐15‐4255, and 7‐15‐4281, with 

the exception of contracts for the purchase or sale of real or personal property; 
(f) to disseminate blight clearance and urban renewal information; 
(g) to exercise the powers prescribed by 7‐15‐4255, except the power to agree to conditions for 

federal financial assistance and imposed pursuant to federal law relating to salaries and wages shall be 
reserved to the local governing body; 

(h) to enter any building or property in any urban renewal area in order to make surveys and 
appraisals in the manner specified in 7‐15‐4257; 

(i) to improve, clear, or prepare for redevelopment any real or personal property in an urban renewal 
area; 

(j) to insure real or personal property as provided in 7‐15‐4258; 
(k) to effectuate the plans provided for in 7‐15‐4254; 
(l) to prepare plans for the relocation of families displaced from an urban renewal area and to 

coordinate public and private agencies in such relocation; 
(m) to prepare plans for carrying out a program of voluntary or compulsory repair and rehabilitation 

of buildings and improvements; 
(n) to conduct appraisals, title searches, surveys, studies, and other preliminary plans and work 

necessary to prepare for the undertaking of urban renewal projects; 
(o) to negotiate for the acquisition of land; 
(p) to study the closing, vacating, planning, or replanning of streets, roads, sidewalks, ways, or other 

places and to make recommendations with respect thereto; 
(q) to organize, coordinate, and direct the administration of the provisions of this part and part 43; 
(r) to perform such duties as the local governing body may direct so as to make the necessary 

arrangements for the exercise of the powers and performance of the duties and responsibilities 
entrusted to the local governing body. 

(2) Any powers granted in this part or part 43 that are not included in subsection (1) as powers of the 
urban renewal agency or a department or other officers of a municipality in lieu thereof may only be 
exercised by the local governing body or other officers, boards, and commissions as provided under 
existing law. 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 29 



 

   
 

       
                             

                       
                       

                    
                             
                             

                       
                          
                       
                             

                       
 
                             

                           
                               
                             

                         
 

                             
                              
                              

 
                             

                             
                           

                               
 

     
                           

                         
                       

                          
                       

                            
               

 

Program Funding 

Tax Increment Financing Provision 
The implementation of the West Bank Urban Renewal Plan will include the use of Tax 
Increment Financing (TIF). Under Section 7‐15‐4282 of the Montana Urban Renewal 
Law communities may establish tax increment districts for the purposes of revitalizing 
blighted neighborhoods and central business districts. Tax increment financing directs 
new property tax dollars resulting from increases in the market value of real property to 
the area where the real property is located. The base property tax (before any 
improvements to real property) continues to be distributed to the local governments 
and school districts. However, tax dollars that accrue from increases in property values 
(from rehabilitation, new construction, etc.) are available for urban renewal projects as 
defined by the Montana Urban Renewal Law. More particularly, costs which may be 
paid using TIF dollars are included in 7‐15‐4288, MCA. (See Appendix D.) 

A tax increment program is authorized for 15 years or longer if the tax increment 
revenue is pledged to the payment of tax increment bonds. 7‐15‐4289, MCA provides 
for the use of tax increments for bond payments. The tax increment may be pledged to 
the payment of the principal of premiums, if any, and interest on bonds which the 
municipality may issue for the purpose of providing funds to pay such costs. 

The City of Great Falls will establish a Tax Increment Financing program for the West 
Bank Urban Renewal District, as defined in Chapter 2 of this Urban Renewal Plan. The 
base year for the purposes of measuring any incremental value will be January 1, 2007. 

Per 7‐15‐4291, MCA, the City of Great Falls may enter into agreements with the other 
affected taxing bodies to remit to such taxing bodies any portion of the annual tax 
increment not currently required for the payment of the costs listed in 7‐15‐4288, MCA 
or pledged to the payment of the principal of premiums, if any, and interest on bonds. 

Other Financing Mechanisms 
There are a number of financial assistance programs that can be used in the 
revitalization of the West Bank Urban Renewal District in addition to Tax Increment 
Financing. Financing strategies for addressing urban renewal needs identified in this 
Plan will likely include combining various funding sources. For example, a local special 
improvement district might be used in combination with a Montana Board of 
Investment Intercap loan to match federal or state dollars. The following is a summary 
of programs available to fund urban renewal projects 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 30 



 

   
                         

                       
                       

                         
                         

             
 

 

                   
                           
                           

                       
                     
                        

               
 

                           
                      

                       
               

                       
                              

                         
                 

 
                       
                   

            
        
    

Transportation Infrastructure 
This section describes funds and funding sources that are available to finance urban 
renewal transportation related projects. These funding methods, such as local option 
taxes, improvement districts and other types of bonds, enable local citizens to 
participate in funding projects. In general, however, the ability to use additional 
property tax levies to fund urban renewal is governed by Montana Statute under 15‐10‐
402 MCA that limits taxes to1996 levels. 

A.   Bridge  and  Road  Mills  (Property  Taxes)  
Montana   law   provides  for  cities  (7‐14‐4101,  MCA)  to  manage  transportation  
infrastructure.    Counties  are   specifically  responsible   for  all  the  bridges   in  a  county,  
including   those   within  cities  and  towns,  except  those  managed  by  the   Montana  
Department  of  Transportation.   Municipalities  may  establish  a  city  road  fund  under  7‐
14‐4113  MCA.  

B.   Transportation  Improvement  Authority     
Established under 7‐14‐1001, MCA, the purpose of a transportation improvement 
authority is to blend the interests of local, state, and federal governments with the 
interests of the general public and the business community to build, modify, or improve 
transportation facilities and systems within its jurisdiction. A county and a 
municipality within a county may, by joint resolution, create a transportation 
improvement authority. The Authority may enter into contracts and accept local, state, 
federal and private funds to undertake transportation projects. 

C.  Community  Transportation  Enhancement  Program   
Under 23 USC 133 (d) (2) (Federal Code) 10 percent of the Surface Transportation 
Program monies are awarded to each state for transportation enhancements. Montana 
is unique in that enhancements are made available to communities under the 
Community Transportation Enhancement Program (CTEP) administered by the 
Montana Department of Transportation. The MDT distributes these funds for all 
counties and cities that are 1st, 2nd, and 3rd class cities, and tribal governments. Local 
governments are responsible for providing the required 13 percent of project costs as 
non‐federal match for their transportation enhancement projects. 

In order to receive funding, transportation enhancement projects must be included in 
the local Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) and the Statewide Transportation 
Improvement Program. Eligible CTEP categories include: 

• Pedestrian and bicycle facilities 
• Historic preservation 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 31 



 

                  
        
                      
            
                    

     
          
                       

         
                        

     
            
        
                    

 
                         
                     

                         
                     
                    

 
      
                             

                         
                         

 
                               
           
                                 
                              

             
 
                           

                         
                           

  
             
                              
                   

• Acquisition of scenic easements and historic or scenic sites 
• Archaeological planning and research 
• Mitigation of water pollution due to highway runoff or reduce vehicle‐caused 
• Wildlife mortality while maintaining habitat connectivity 
• Scenic or historic highway programs including provisions of tourist and 

welcome center facilities 
• Landscaping and other scenic beautification 
• Preservation of abandoned railway corridors (including the conversion and use 

for bicycle or pedestrian trails) 
• Rehabilitation and operation of historic transportation buildings, structures or 

facilities (including railroads) 
• Control and removal of outdoor advertising 
• Establishment of transportation museums 
• Provisions of safety and educational activities for pedestrians and bicyclists 

Projects addressing these categories and that are linked to the transportation system by 
proximity, function or impact, and where required, meet the  ʺhistoricʺ criteria, may be 
eligible for enhancement funding. For example, where an historic bridge must be 
replaced because of structural deficiencies, enhancement funds might be used to 
preserve the original bridge as part of an interpretive trail. 

D.   State Fuel Tax 
Under 15‐70‐101, MCA, Montana assesses a tax of $.27 per gallon on gasoline and diesel 
fuel used for transportation purposes. Each incorporated city and town receives a 
portion of the total tax funds allocated to cities and towns based on: 

1)   The ratio of the population within each city and town to the total population in all 
cities and towns in the State; 

2)   The ratio of the street mileage within each city and town to the total street mileage in 
all incorporated cities and towns in the State. The street mileage is exclusive of the 
Interstate, National Highway, and Primary Systems. 

All fuel tax funds allocated to city governments must be used for the construction, 
reconstruction, maintenance, and repair of rural roads or city streets and alleys. 
Priorities for the use of these funds are established by the cities receiving them. 

Debt Financing – All Types of Projects 
Cities can make use of various kinds of debt financing to fund urban renewal projects. 
These include general obligation bonds, special improvement district bonds and 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 32 



 

                          
                     
                             

                       
                     

                
                      
                             

                  
                                 

                             
  

                         
    

                             
                 

                                
                             

                   
              

                       
                              

                      
                               
 

                     
                          

                       
                      

                            
                         

 
        
                         
       

                    
                  

                   

revenue bonds as well as Tax Increment Financing Bonds. Debt financing enables local 
governments to finance major infrastructure projects using future revenue from special 
assessments, user fees, and other forms of revenue. Under 7‐7‐4101, MCA, a city or 
town council has power to incur indebtedness by borrowing money, issuing bonds, 
issuing notes, entering into leases, entering into lease‐purchase agreements, or entering 
into installment purchase contracts for the following purposes: 
  (1)   acquiring land for and designing and erecting public buildings; 
(2) acquiring land for and designing and constructing sewers, sewage treatment and 

disposal plants, waterworks, reservoirs, reservoir sites, and lighting plants; 
(3) supplying the city or town with water by contract and the construction or 

purchase of canals or ditches and water rights for supplying the city or town with 
water; 

(4) designing and constructing bridges, docks, wharves, breakwaters, piers, jetties, 
and moles; 

(5) acquiring, opening, or widening any street and improving the street by 
constructing, reconstructing, and repairing pavement, gutters, curbs, and vehicle 
parking strips and to pay all or any portion of the cost relating to the project; 

(6) purchasing or leasing fire apparatus, street and other equipment, and personal 
property, including without limitation, vehicles, telephone systems, and photocopy and 
office equipment, including computer hardware and software; 

(7) building, purchasing, designing, constructing, and maintaining devices intended 
to protect the safety of the public from open ditches carrying irrigation or other water; 

(8) funding outstanding warrants and maturing bonds; and 
(9) repaying tax protests lost by the city, town, or other municipal corporation. 

The local government incurs various administrative costs in conjunction with issuing 
bonds. These costs include the retention of legal counsel and financial consultants, the 
establishment of reserve funds and the preparation of the prospectus and various 
required documents. These bonds provide tax‐free interest earnings to purchasers and 
are therefore subject to detailed scrutiny under both state and federal law. The citations 
in the Montana Code are listed below, for each type of bond described. 

A.  Special Improvement Districts 
Under 7‐12‐4101, MCA, cities and towns can create special improvement districts for a 
number of activities including: 
 The acquisition, construction or reconstruction of public streets and roads 
 The acquisition, construction or reconstruction of sidewalks, culverts, bridges, 

gutters, curbs, steps and parks including the planting of trees 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 33 



 

                    
                   

                   
         

                    
                          

   
                    

         
                  

   
 

     
                                 
                           

                              
                           

                              
                           
   

 
      

                               
    

 

         
                         

                           
                     
                       

                               
                       

 
           

                         
                       

                      

 The construction or reconstruction of sewers, ditches, drains, conduits, and 
channels for sanitary or drainage purposes, with outlets, cesspools, manholes, 
catch basins, flush tanks, septic tanks, connecting sewers, ditches, drains, 
conduits, channels, and other appurtenances 

 The construction of sewer and water systems including fire hydrants 
 The acquisition and improvement of land to be designated as public park or 

open‐space land 
 The conversion of overhead utilities to underground locations in accordance 

with 69‐4‐311 through 69‐4‐314, MCA 
 The purchase, installation, maintenance, and management of alternative energy 

production facilities 

B.  General Obligation Bonds 
General obligation bonds are backed by the full faith and credit of the city and must be 
approved by the voters in an election. General obligation bonds are generally payable 
from ad valorem taxes (based on the value of property) and expressed in mills. General 
obligation bonds are attractive to bond buyers because they have voter approval and are 
not as vulnerable to fluctuations in revenue. Cities are assigned a bond debt limit based 
on a percentage of taxable valuation. General obligation bonds must fall within this 
limit. 

C  . Revenue Bonds 
Under 7‐7‐4401, MCA, a city or town may issue revenue bonds to finance any project or 
activity authorized 

Railroad Crossing Related Programs 
A.  STPRP ‐ Rail/Highway Crossing Protective Devices Program 
The purpose of the Federal Rail/Highway Crossing – Protective Devices Program is to 
identify high hazard rail crossing sites and install new rail crossing signals. MDTʹs Rail ‐
Highway Safety manager is responsible for surveying, identifying and prioritizing those 
railroad crossings that require new protective devices or upgrading of existing devices. 
The funds are distributed on a statewide basis determined by a priority list ranked by a 
hazard index. The Federal/State ratio is 90% Federal and 10% State. 

B.  STPRR ‐ Rail/Highway Crossing Elimination of Hazard Program 
The purpose of the Federal Rail/Highway Crossing – Elimination of Hazard Program is 
to identify high hazard rail crossing sites and construct new rail/highway grade 
crossings. The program also uses funds to rehabilitate existing grade separations. 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 34 



 

                            
                           

                   
 

                   
                     

 
                           
                       

             
 

                   
                              

                     
                       
                         

                         
                         

                          
                

 
                           

                     
                           

                           
                            
                                

                         
              

            
                        

 
                      

             
                          
                      

                       
                       
 

Grade separation projects are funded with 90% Federal funds and 10% State funds. Since 
funding for this program is limited, STPRR funds are often used in combination with 
other Federal funding sources to fund costly grade separation projects. 

Eligible expenditures include the separation or protection at grade crossings, 
reconstruction of existing crossings and relocation of highways to eliminate crossings. 

Projects for this program are selected by identifying those sites where only a grade 
separation will eliminate an identified hazard or where an existing grade separation 
exists but needs rehabilitation or replacement. 

Funding for Public Improvements (Sewer, Water, Roads, Community Facilities, Parks) 
A.   Treasure State Endowment Program ~ Montana Department of Commerce 
The Montana Treasure State Endowment Program (TSEP) is a state‐funded program, 
authorized under 90‐6‐701 through 710, MCA, and is administered by the Montana 
Department of Commerce (MDOC). It is designed to assist local governments in 
financing capital improvements to sewer and water facilities. Funds are derived from the 
Montana coal severance tax and made available to local governments as matching grants, 
loans and grant/loan combinations. TSEP also provides matching grants of up to $15,000 
to local governments for preliminary engineering study costs. 

TSEP funds may not be used for annual operation and maintenance; the purchase of non‐
permanent furnishings; or for refinancing existing debt, except when required in 
conjunction with the financing of a new TSEP project. Grant requests cannot exceed 
$500,000 and the local government must typically provide a dollar for dollar match that 
can include other grant funds. Matching funds can be public or private funds provided 
by a TSEP applicant to directly support the cost of eligible project activities. There are a 
number of ways in which local governments can provide matching funds for bridge 
projects. Eligible types of matching funds include: 

 local general funds or other cash; 
 proceeds from the sale of general obligation, revenue, special assessment or other 

bonds; 
 entitlement or formula‐based federal or state funds such as federal highway 

funds or payments in lieu of taxes; 
 loan or grant funds from a state or federal program (including TSEP loans); 
 funds expended for engineering studies, reports, and plans, or other reasonable 

expenses expended for the preparation of the application, directly related to the 
proposed project during the period 24 months prior to the TSEP application 
deadline; 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 35 



 

                      
                     

                       
         

                            
                    

                      
                       

                  
                  
                        

                         
                               
                       

                            
                               

                 
         

 
                  

                         
                         
                       

                   
                         
                  

 
                           

                            
                           

                                 
                                     

                             
                       
                                  
                     

                   
                           

                           

 funds expended after the TSEP application deadline, but before being approved 
by the Legislature, for project management, final engineering design, and other 
reasonable expenses necessary to prepare the project as proposed in the TSEP 
application for the construction phase; 

 the value of land or materials provided by the applicant, if appraised within a 
two‐year period preceding the application deadline. The appraisal must be: 

 an impartially written statement that adequately describes the land or materials, 
and states an opinion of defined value as of a specific date; 

 supported by an analysis of relevant market information; and 
 prepared by a qualified appraiser independent from the applicant. 
 the value of labor performed by the applicant’s employees on the proposed 

project, after the TSEP project has been approved for funding and a TSEP 
contract has been signed, as long as the employee is paid at his or her standard 
hourly rate of pay and the time worked is adequately documented; and 

 the value of machinery used in the process of constructing the project that is 
owned (or leased) and operated by the applicant. The value of the use of the 
machinery will be determined using the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (FEMA) equipment rate schedules. 

B.   The Montana Intercap Program ~ Montana Board of Investments 
The INTERCAP Program is a low cost, variable‐rate program that lends money to 
Montana local governments, state agencies and the university system for the purpose of 
financing or refinancing the acquisition and installation of equipment or personal and 
real property and infrastructure improvements. The Board of Investments issues tax‐
exempt bonds and loans the proceeds to eligible borrowers. In addition to long‐term 
financing, INTERCAP is an excellent source for interim financing. 

Funding is always available with no specific cycle. Allocations of $200,000 and under 
are considered and approved by the Board of Investments staff. Allocations in excess of 
$200,000 are considered and approved by the Board. Funds are released on an on‐going 
basis as the project is completed. The program provides loans at a variable rate plus a 
one percent loan origination fee on loans over one year and for a term of 5 or 10 years 
depending on the borrowerʹs legal authority. Short‐term loans of less than a year are 
also available. Interest and principal payments are due bi‐annually (February 15 and 
August 15 of each year). Loans may be pre‐paid without penalty with 30 days notice. 
Types of financing include installment purchase loans, general fund loans, general 
obligation bonds, revenue bonds and special improvement district and rural 
improvement district bonds. Gas tax revenues may not be used to service debt. 
Projects that will use rural improvement district payments to cover the annual debt are 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 36 



 

                                
                   

 
                   

 

                           
                         

                 
                         

                       
    

                           
             

                  

                 
                     

                           
                       

                       
                       
                             
                               

          

         

               
                     
                      

                    

                         
                       
                     

                           
              

limited to a total loan of $300,000. Intercap funds may be used in association with other 
grant and loan programs as well as local sources. 

C.   Community Development Block Grant (CDBG)‐ US Department of Urban Development 
(HUD) 

This program provides annual grants on a formula basis to entitled cities and counties 
to develop viable urban communities by providing decent housing and a suitable living 
environment, and by expanding economic opportunities, principally for low‐ and 
moderate‐income persons. The program is authorized under Title 1 of the Housing and 
Community Development Act of 1974, Public Law 93‐383, as amended; 42 U.S.C.‐5301 
et seq. 

HUD awards grants to entitlement community grantees to carry out a wide range of 
community development activities directed toward revitalizing neighborhoods, 
economic development, and providing improved community facilities and services. 

Entitlement communities develop their own programs and funding priorities. 
However, grantees must give maximum feasible priority to activities which benefit low‐
and moderate‐income persons. A grantee may also carry out activities which aid in the 
prevention or elimination of slums or blight. Additionally, grantees may fund activities 
when the grantee certifies that the activities meet other community development needs 
having a particular urgency because existing conditions pose a serious and immediate 
threat to the health or welfare of the community where other financial resources are not 
available to meet such needs. CDBG funds may not be used for activities which do not 
meet these broad national objectives. 

Eligible grantees are as follows: 

 principal cities of Metropolitan Statistical Areas (MSAs); 
 other metropolitan cities with populations of at least 50,000; and 
 qualified urban counties with populations of at least 200,000 (excluding the 

population of entitled cities) are entitled to receive annual grants. 

HUD determines the amount of each entitlement grant by a statutory dual formula 
which uses several objective measures of community needs, including the extent of 
poverty, population, housing overcrowding, age of housing and population growth lag 
in relationship to other metropolitan areas. CDBG funds may be used for activities 
which include, but are not limited to: 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 37 



 

         
       
             
                      

                   
      

           
                     
                    

          

                                    
                     

                           
                     

                             
                   

                 
                       

    
 

                               
                        
                   
                       
             

 
                           
                         

                       
                     
                    

                         
               

 
               

                         
                     
                            

                   

 acquisition of real property; 
 relocation and demolition; 
 rehabilitation of residential and non‐residential structures; 
 construction of public facilities and improvements, such as water and sewer 

facilities, streets, neighborhood centers, and the conversion of school buildings 
for eligible purposes; 

 public services, within certain limits; 
 activities relating to energy conservation and renewable energy resources; and 
 provision of assistance to profit‐motivated businesses to carry out economic 

development and job creation/retention activities. 

D.    Public Works Program ~ Economic Development Administration 
The Economic Development Administration (EDA) is an agency within the U.S. 
Department of Commerce. The purpose of the Public Works Program is to assist 
communities with the funding of public works and development facilities that 
contribute to the creation or retention of private sector jobs and to the alleviation of 
unemployment and underemployment. Such assistance is designed to help 
communities achieve lasting improvement by stabilizing and diversifying local 
economies, and improving local living conditions and the economic environment of the 
area. 

Grants are awarded up to a participation level of 80 percent but the average EDA grant 
covers approximately 50 percent of project costs. Acceptable sources of match include 
cash, local general obligation or revenue bonds; Community Development Block 
Grants, TSEP grants and loans, entitlement funds, Rural Development loans; and other 
public and private financing, including donations. 

Projects must result in private sector job and business development in order to be 
considered for funding. Eligible applicants under this program include any state, or 
political subdivision thereof, Indian tribe (and other U.S. political entities), private or 
public nonprofit organization or association representing any redevelopment area if the 
project is within an EDA‐designated redevelopment area. Redevelopment areas, other 
than those designated under the Public Works Impact Program must have a current 
EDA‐approved Overall Economic Development Program (OEDP) in place. 

E.  Water, Wastewater and Solid Waste Action Coordinating Team 
In 1982, a group of professionals from state, federal, and non‐profit organizations that 
finance, regulate, or provide technical assistance for community water and wastewater 
systems, decided to start meeting in order to coordinate and enhance their efforts. This 
group calls itself the  ʺWater, Wastewater and Solid Waste Action Coordinating Teamʺ 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 38 



 

                              
                      
                         

                             
                     

                           
                         
                 
  

 
    

                       
           

 
           
                             
                             

     
 

            
                
        
                
                              

     
 

                           
               

 
                        

       
                        

       
                        

                           
         

 

or W2ASACT for short. W2ASACT meets several times a year to find ways to improve 
our stateʹs environmental infrastructure. All of the programs represented in W2ASACT 
have different missions and meet unique needs. However, it has been the common 
elements shared by the funding programs that have been the driving force of W2 SACT. 
These programs provide money (grants or loans), take applications from communities 
to fund their projects, and administer those monies once the project is funded. While 
W2ASACT cannot change all of the state or federal requirements, it can identify 
unnecessary duplication of requirements that make compliance difficult for 
communities. 

Voluntary Programs 
In some cases, homeowner associations, business groups or other property owners may 
finance urban renewal projects voluntary basis. 

West Bank Urban Renewal Program Evaluation 
The West Bank Urban Renewal Plan will be evaluated on a yearly basis in conjunction 
with the preparation of the annual report. Measures that may be used in evaluating 
program success include: 

 Increases in the property tax base 
 Creation of jobs within the Urban Renewal District 
 Elimination of blighted conditions 
 The extent of redevelopment in previously contaminated areas 
 Use of the public spaces within the District including the West Bank Park and the 

riverfront trail system 

Success will also be measured in terms of the overall guiding principles noted in 
Chapter 1 of this plan and restated here: 

 The plan for the West Bank Urban Renewal District should foster economic 
development and job creation. 

 The improvement of the overall environmental quality of the West Bank Urban 
Renewal District is critical. 

 Protection and enhancement of West Bank Park and the Missouri River, which 
form the eastern boundary of the District are key in the redevelopment of the 
West Bank Urban Renewal District. 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 39 



 

                       
                       

                         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The plan provides flexibility to accommodate a variety of approaches. However, 
changes over time may necessitate more formal amendments to the Urban Renewal 
Plan. The Urban Renewal Plan may be modified by ordinance under 7‐15‐4221, MCA. 

Figure 10. Urban Renewal Area from the north 

Draft West Bank Urban Renewal Plan ~ February, 2007 ~ Page 40 



          
 

 

 
 
  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

APPENDIX A. RESOLUTION OF BLIGHT 

RESOLUTION 9626 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING A BLIGHTED AREA EXISTS WITHIN THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, 
MONTANA AND THAT THE REDEVELOPMENT OF THAT AREA IS NECESSARY IN THE INTEREST 

OF PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, OR WELFARE OF THE RESIDENTS OF GREAT FALLS AND TO 
DETERMINE THE BOUNDARIES OF THAT AREA 

WHEREAS, the State of Montana has provided for the redevelopment of those portions of its cities 
which constitute a menace to public health and safety, constitute an economic and social liability and 
substantially impair the sound growth of a municipality; and 

WHEREAS, the procedure provided in Title 7, Chapter 15, Part 42 and 43 of the Montana Codes 
Annotated authorizes municipalities to exercise statutory urban renewal powers for redevelopment and 
rehabilitation through urban renewal plans and projects, after the municipality has made a finding that a 
blighted area exists that substantially impairs or arrest the sound growth of the city or its environs; retards 
the provision of housing accommodations; constitutes an economic or social liability and/or is detrimental or 
constitutes a menace to the public health, safety, welfare, and morals in its present condition and use; and 

WHEREAS, on November 8, 2006, the City Commission directed the study to determine the 
existence of blight within the urban area; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Great Falls has conducted the study (attached to this resolution as Exhibit A) 
to determine the existence of blight in an area known as the West Bank and generally described as 
bounded on the West by 3rd Street NW/SW, on the East by the center line of the Missouri River, on the 
North by a point just north of 14th Avenue NW and on the South by a point just south of 5th Avenue SW and 
excludes any unincorporated property, as of October 2006,  and in particular found: 

1. Physical deterioration of buildings and properties 
o Many of the structures in the defined area are in poor repair and properties are poorly 

maintained. Building permit information indicates that the majority of existing structures have 
not been substantially improved for at least twenty years. 

2. Inappropriate or mixed uses of land or buildings 
o The presence of existing heavy industrial uses within the defined area is incompatible with 

retail, commercial, residential and parkland development.  This land use conflict has proven 
to be a disincentive to the improvement of properties within the area by private enterprise. 

3. Defective street layout 
o Much of the area is without streets, sidewalks, curbs, or gutters resulting in poor traffic 

circulation and storm drainage problems. 
4. Unsanitary and unsafe conditions 

o Portions of the defined area are included in the list of priority sites maintained by the 
Montana Department of Environmental Quality under the Comprehensive Environmental 
Cleanup and Responsibility Act (CECRA) and are designated a Brownfield site as defined by 
the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.  Contamination on the site is associated with 
historic industrial activity and has affected both the soil and groundwater and threatens to 
contaminate the Missouri River.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, 
MONTANA; 



 

 
  
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

_________________________ 

____________________________ 

That the City Commission finds that blight exists within the City of Great Falls in the area described in 
Exhibit “A” of this Resolution under the definition contained in Section 7-15-4206 (2), M.C.A. and that 
rehabilitation and redevelopment of such area (pursuant to the Montana Urban Renewal Law) is necessary 
and desirable in the interest of the public health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the City of Great 
Falls and that this rehabilitation and redevelopment be made with a commitment to quality improvement and 
a commitment to property owner and community involvement in decision making. 

PASSED by the Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana, this 5th day of December, 2006. 

__________________________
      Dona R. Stebbins, Mayor 

Attest: 

Peggy Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

Approved for Legal Content:  City Attorney 



 

  
  

 
 

 
  

   
   
   

  
    

 
 

 
  

   
  

     
   

   
     

  
  

   
  

   
  

     
   

  
     

  
   

   

    
 

 
  

     
   
     
     
     

  

APPENDIX B – WEST BANK URBAN RENEWAL DISTRICT PARCEL DATA 

OWNER OF RECORD BUSINESS NAME/OCCUPANCY STREET 
GRH GLENWOOD LLC ETAL WALGREENS (under construction) 3RD ST NW 
CITY OF GREAT FALLS SACAJAWIA ISLAND 
GRH GLENWOOD LLC ETAL WALGREENS (under construction) 
GRH GLENWOOD LLC ETAL WALGREENS (under construction) 3RD ST NW 
ROGERS JEWELERS INC ETAL ROGERS JEWELERS 3RD ST NW 
BYPASS PROPERTY LLC (Outside City Limits) BREEN OIL COMPANY 3RD ST NW 
HENDERSON MICHAEL S & WILLIAM L JOHNSON DISTRIBUTING 3RD ST NW 
HENDERSON MICHAEL S & WILLIAM L 3RD ST NW 
HENDERSON MICHAEL S ETAL 3RD ST NW 
HENDERSON MICHAEL S ETAL 3RD ST NW 
HILL RUSSELL & CATHERINE B 3RD ST NW 
STOCKMAN BANK OF MONTANA STOCKMAN BANK OF MONTANA 3RD ST NW 
KRALICH JOANNE 
MONTANA SPECIALTY MILLS LLC MONTANA SPECIALTY MILLS LLC 3RD ST NW 
JOHNSON MOLLIE L ETAL J BAR T INC 3RD ST NW 
CASCADE COUNTY CASCADE COUNTY SHOP COMPLEX 3RD ST NW 
MONTANA COWBOYS ASSOCIATION INC COWBOY'S BAR 3RD ST NW 
MONTANA COWBOYS ASSN INC COWBOY'S BAR 3RD ST NW 
MONTANA COWBOYS ASSOCIATION COWBOY'S BAR 4TH AVE NW 
TALCOTT JAMES CONSTRUCTION INC 1ST AVE NW 
FALLCAMP LLC 3RD ST NW 
MITCHELL DEVELOPMENT & INVESTMENTS LLC CENTRAL AVE W 
FALLCAMP LLC 
FALLCAMP LLC 3RD ST NW 
TALCOTT PROPERTIES LLC 3RD ST NW 
TALCOTT JAMES CONSTRUCTION CO 
BURLINGTON NORTHERN SANTA FE RAILROAD CO RIGHT OF WAY BAY DR 
CITY OF GREAT FALLS (West Bank Park - South End) WEST BANK PARK PARK-WEST BANK 
SCHUMAN HENRY & ALICE 3RD ST NW 
HIGH PLAINS PIZZA INC 3RD ST NW 
MYHRE ADVERTISING CENTRAL AVE W 
MONTANA DEPT OF TRANSPORTATION RIGHT OF WAY 
BUMBARGER FRED & PATRICIA S PAYLESS FURNITURE CENTRAL AVE W 
HOLMAN GRAIN (Brick Building) BAY DR 
JORGENSEN ROBERT F JR 2ND AVE SW 
HOLMAN GRAIN COMPANY 
HOLMAN GRAIN COMPANY BAY DR 
OKSNESS BERT 2ND AVE SW 
BN LEASING CORPORATION 
ROBERTSON ENTERPRISES LLC BAY DR 
MARTIN JOHN L 2ND AVE SW 
CITY OF GREAT FALLS (BN Park) BN PARK PARK-GARDEN HOME 
BN LEASING CORPORATION BAY DR 

BURLINGTON NORTHERN SANTA FE RAILROAD CO 

MONTANA ELECTRIC COOPERATIVES ASSO ETAL MONTANA ELECTRIC COOPERATIVES ASSOC. BAY DR 
BURLINGTON NORTHERN SANTA FE RAILROAD CO BAY DR 
BN LEASING CORPORATION 
BN LEASING CORPORATION MILES CT 
BN LEASING CORPORATION 
BN LEASING CORPORATION 
BN LEASING CORPORATION 
CITY OF GREAT FALLS (West Bank Park - North End) WEST BANK PARK 



                  
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX C. PUBLIC UTILITIES IN THE WEST BANK URBAN 
RENEWAL DISTRICT 



   
           

                    

 

 

APPENDIX D 
ALLOWABLE USES OF TAX INCREMENT FUNDS 

(Note: This is under revision by the 2007 Montana Legislature) 

7-15-4288. Costs that may be paid by tax increment financing. The tax increments may be 
used by the municipality to pay the following costs of or incurred in connection with an urban 
renewal project, industrial infrastructure development project, technology infrastructure 
development project, or aerospace transportation and technology infrastructure development 
project: 

(1) land acquisition; 
(2) demolition and removal of structures;  
(3) relocation of occupants; 
(4) the acquisition, construction, and improvement of infrastructure, industrial infrastructure, 

technology infrastructure, or aerospace transportation and technology infrastructure that includes 
streets, roads, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, pedestrian malls, alleys, parking lots and offstreet 
parking facilities, sewers, sewer lines, sewage treatment facilities, storm sewers, waterlines, 
waterways, water treatment facilities, natural gas lines, electrical lines, telecommunications lines, 
rail lines, rail spurs, bridges, spaceports for reusable launch vehicles with associated runways and 
launch, recovery, fuel manufacturing, and cargo holding facilities, publicly owned buildings, and 
any public improvements authorized by parts 41 through 45 of chapter 12, parts 42 and 43 of 
chapter 13, and part 47 of chapter 14 and items of personal property to be used in connection 
with improvements for which the foregoing costs may be incurred;  

(5) costs incurred in connection with the redevelopment activities allowed under 7-15-4233; 
(6) acquisition of infrastructure-deficient areas or portions of areas;  
(7) administrative costs associated with the management of the urban renewal area, industrial 

district, technology district, or aerospace transportation and technology district;  
(8) assemblage of land for development or redevelopment by private enterprise or public 

agencies, including sale, initial leasing, or retention by the municipality itself at its fair value;  
(9) the compilation and analysis of pertinent information required to adequately determine the 

infrastructure needs of secondary, value-adding industries in the industrial district, the needs of a 
technology infrastructure development project in the technology district, or the needs of an 
aerospace transportation and technology infrastructure development project in the aerospace 
transportation and technology district; 

(10) the connection of the urban renewal area, industrial district, technology district, or 
aerospace transportation and technology district to existing infrastructure outside the district;  

(11) the provision of direct assistance, through industrial infrastructure development projects, 
technology development projects, or aerospace transportation and technology infrastructure 
development projects, to secondary, value-adding industries to assist in meeting their 
infrastructure and land needs within the district; and  

(12) the acquisition, construction, or improvement of facilities or equipment for reducing, 
preventing, abating, or eliminating pollution.  



 
 

 
 

 
 

        
 

       
 
 

 

 

 
  

 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA     AGENDA#  11   
 
A G E N D A R E P O R T      DATE  March 6, 2007_  

ITEM Ordinance 2968, Amending OCCGF Title 2, Chapter 50, Section 040 pertaining 
to Neighborhood Council candidate requirements 

ACTION REQUESTED  Accept Ordinance 2968 on first reading and set the second and final 
reading for March 20, 2007 at 7 pm. 

PREPARED BY:  Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

PRESENTED BY:  David V. Gliko, City Attorney 

RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended the City Commission accept Ordinance 2968 on first reading and set the 
second and final reading for March 20, 2007, at 7 pm.   

MOTION: 
I move the City Commission accept Ordinance 2968 on first reading and set the second and final 
reading for March 20, 2007, at 7 pm. 

SYNOPSIS: 
The Cascade County Election Office requested the City Commission change the election 
requirements for neighborhood council members so they are the same as those for mayoral and 
commission candidates.  Currently, neighborhood council candidates do not have to be “qualified 
electors” in a city election to file for office which means they do not have to meet residency 
requirements to register to vote or actually register to vote.  The only requirement is that they 
live in the district for the council they want to be elected to.  Requiring neighborhood council 
candidates to be qualified electors will assist the election office with authenticating write-in 
candidates for neighborhood council positions. 

BACKGROUND: 
Until the 2005 election, those wishing to be a write-in candidate on a ballot were required to file 
a declaration for candidacy form with the election office.  This allowed election administrators to 
compare write-in names on the ballots to the form and authenticate who the person was and that 
they wanted to be elected. In 2005 that requirement was removed and the election office had to 
consider any name written on any ballot as an official write-in candidate.  This change caused 
significant problems during the last election for neighborhood council representatives because, in 
some cases, the election office could not authenticate the write-in candidate.   

For example, if Tom Jones was written in on the ballot, currently the election office has to use 
the Great Falls phone book and call each Thomas or Tom Jones to determine if they want to be 
elected and if they live within the correct neighborhood council district. While they are doing 
that, they cannot be completely certain that the Tom Jones they contacted was the same one the 



 

 
  

voter intended to write-in. By requiring neighborhood council candidates to be qualified 
electors, the election office can use the voter registration file as the base for their authentication 
process rather than the Great Falls phone book.  Keep in mind that if a candidate does not have a 
phone and is not listed in the phone book or has an unlisted number, there is no way the election 
office can verify that they contacted each Tom Jones during the authentication process. This 
allows the election office to use the tools they need to complete this authentication process.    



  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

      

 

  
      

 
 

 
 

 
                                          

ORDINANCE 2968 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING OCCGF TITLE 2 CHAPTER 50 SECTION 040 
PERTAINING TO NEIGHBORHOOD COUNCILS 

WHEREAS, Montana State law pertaining to write-in candidates has changed eliminating the 
requirement for a write-in candidate to file a declaration for office; and 

WHEREAS, this statute change has resulted in the Cascade County Election Office being 
unable to verify write-in candidates for neighborhood councils; and 

WHEREAS, the Cascade County Election Department requested the City Commission require 
neighborhood council candidates meet the same qualifications as candidates for mayor and city 
commission which means being a qualified elector.  This requirement will provide the Election 
Administrator the tool necessary to authenticate neighborhood council write-in candidates.         

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 
OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA: 

Section 1. That OCCGF Title 2, Chapter 50, Section 040 is amended as depicted in 
Exhibit A wherein all language with a bold-face font will be added and all language with a 
strikeout is removed.    

PASSED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, 
MONTANA, this 20th day of March, 2007. 

Dona R. Stebbins, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF THE CITY) 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

David V. Gliko, City Attorney 
State of Montana  ) 



  
 

 
 

    

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

    

 

 
 

 
 

 

_________________________________________ 

__________________________________________ 

County of Cascade : ss 
City of Great Falls ) 

I, Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana, do hereby certify that 
the foregoing Ordinance 2968 was placed on its final passage and passed by the Commission of 
the City of Great Falls, Montana, at a meeting thereof held on the 20th day of March, 2007, and 
approved by the Mayor of said City on the 20th day of March, 2007. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Seal of said City 
this 20th day of March, 2007. 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

State of Montana ) 
County of Cascade : ss 
City of Great Falls ) 

Peggy J. Bourne, being first duly sworn, deposes and says: That on the 20th day of 
 March, 2007, and prior thereto, she was the City Clerk of the City of Great Falls, Montana; that 
as said City Clerk she did post as required by law and as prescribed and directed by the 
Commission, Ordinance 2968 of the City of Great Falls, in three conspicuous places within the 
limits of said City to-wit: 

On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Civic Center Building; 
On the Bulletin Board, first floor, Cascade County Court House; 
On the Bulletin Board, Great Falls Public Library 

Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 



 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
  

  
  

   

  
   

   
   

 

Official Code of the City of Great Falls, Montana Title 2 – Administration and Personnel 

EXHIBIT A ORDINANCE 2968 
Chapter 50 

NEIGHBORHOOD COUNCILS 

2.50.040  Council Elections 
A.  Each neighborhood district shall have a council comprised of five (5) resident members; who must live within their 

designated neighborhood council district for which they were elected, as defined in M.C.A. 1-1-251, for their term of 
office; such members shall be elected to two (2) year terms at the election held in conjunction with the City general 
election. 

B. Nominees for election to a neighborhood council must be qualified electors and be residents of their designated 
neighborhood district. 

C.  The filing period for neighborhood councils shall open the same date as the filing period for mayoral and 
commission candidates.  The filing period for neighborhood council candidates shall open 135 days and close 45 days 
prior to the general election. Neighborhood council candidates are not subject to primary elections.  

Chapter 50 – Neighborhood Councils 1 



February 20, 2007       JOURNAL OF COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS  2007.22 
 

02/20/07 

Regular City Commission Meting           Mayor Stebbins presiding 
 
CALL TO ORDER: 5:30 PM  
 
PRESENTATION OF COLORS Boy Scout Troop 4 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
ROLL CALL: City Commissioners present: Dona Stebbins, Bill Beecher, Sandy Hinz, Diane 
Jovick-Kuntz and John Rosenbaum.  Also present were the City Manager, Assistant City 
Manager, City Attorney, Directors of Community Development, Planning, Park and Recreation, 
Library, Police Chief, Fire Chief, Public Works Director, the City Clerk and the Assistant to the 
City Clerk.  
 
MOMENT OF SILENCE in memory of the Mercy Flight Crew 
 
PROCLAMATIONS:  Mayor Stebbins read proclamations recognizing the 219th and 819th 
RED HORSE Squadrons for contributions they have made to our community. A proclamation 
for Spay Day USA was also presented. 
 

 
 

NEIGHBORHOOD COUNCILS 
 

Council of Councils.  1A. Karen Grove, NC8, thanked City staff for their assistance with the 
Council of Councils meeting,  The discussions would hopefully result in 
more park funding for our community.   

 

 
 
 
The Home Place and 
Pete’s Auto Sales. 

1B.  Bob Stubbs, NC4,  reported that cleanup of the Home Place was mostly 
complete with only weeds and a concession stand remaining.    

 
        Mr. Stubbs also updated the Commission on the ongoing nuisance of a 

telephone ringing at Pete’s Auto Sales. Mr. Stubbs also shared a letter 
from a resident that was unable to attend the Commission meeting but 
wanted to express her frustration with the Pete’s Auto Sales problem. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Neighorhood Watch. 1C. Richard Ledeaux, a representative of the Neighborhood Watch 

program, addressed the Commission about the need for more police 
officers and a quick police response time. 

 
  PUBLIC HEARINGS 

OLD BUSINESS 
 

Ord. 2950, Land 
Development Code 
Amendments.  
Tabled until March 
6, 2007, meeting.   

2. ORDINANCE 2950, LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE 
AMENDMENTS.  

 
Planning Director Ben Rangel reported that the City Commission adopted the 
Land Development Code on September 6, 2005.  With just over a year of 
experience working with it, staff identified a number of items and provisions 
warranting further consideration.  The majority of proposed amendments 



February 20, 2007       JOURNAL OF COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS  2007.23 
 

02/20/07 

could be placed into one of these categories: 
 
 typographical/editorial/housecleaning/debugging items 
 clarification/consistency items  
 improve and refine wording and definitions for better Code application, 

interpretation and enforcement 
 reduce some procedural steps and requirements 
 expand provisions for better Code application 

 
Following a public hearing on January 9, 2007, the Planning Board/Zoning 
Commission recommended to the City Commission that the amended Land 
Development Code be approved, as presented, with the exception that items 
A. “Legislative Findings” and B. “Purpose” in Section 17.20.5.040 large 
format retail stores be retained and that an economic analysis and a building 
size cap of 100,000 square feet be added to the referenced section.   
 
At their meeting of February 6, 2007, the City Commission voted 
unanimously to table discussion on the Ordinance for two weeks. 
 
Planning Director Ben Rangel reported that additional time was now being 
requested in order for City staff to provide the information requested by the 
City Commission. 
 
Commissioner Jovick-Kuntz moved, seconded by Commissioner 
Beecher, that final consideration of Ordinance 2950 be postponed until 
March 6, 2007, to give staff additional time to prepare information 
requested by this Commission. 
 
Commissioner Hinz asked Mr. Rangel if staff was moving along on 
answering the concerns expressed concerning this Ordinance.   
 
Mr. Rangel responded that staff would be prepared to provide any additional 
information required by the Commission. 
 
There being no further discussion, Mayor Stebbins called for the vote.  
Motion carried 5-0.  
 

 NEW BUSINESS 

Res. 9640, Golf 
Tournament Fees. 
Adopted.  

3.  RESOLUTION 9640, GOLF TOURNAMENT FEES.  
 

Park and Recreation Department Director Jim Sullivan reported that 
Resolution 9640 would repeal the golf tournament fees established in 
Resolution 9545 and set golf tournament fees for the 2007 golf season. 
 
Only those fees specifically outlined in the new ordinance would change.  
Other fees would be unchanged.  Mr. Sullivan also added that both the Golf 



February 20, 2007       JOURNAL OF COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS  2007.24 
 

02/20/07 

Advisory Board and the Golf Ad Hoc Committee supported the proposed 
rates. 
 
Commissioner Hinz moved, seconded by Commissioner Rosenbaum, that 
the City Commission adopt Resolution 9640. 
 
Motion carried 5-0.  
 

Consent Agenda.  
Approved as printed.   

CONSENT AGENDA  
4. Minutes, February 6, 2007, Commission meeting. 
5.   Total Expenditures of $1,040,251 for the period of January 31 through 

February 14, 2007, to include claims over $5000, in the amount of 
$859,911. 

6.   Contracts list. 
7. Set public hearing for March 6, 2007, on Res. 9625, Cost Recovery at 510 

11th Street South. 
8. Postpone bid award for one new 2007 tandem axle truck with a new 2007 

rearload refuse packer. 
 
Commissioner Beecher moved, seconded by Commissioner Hinz, that 
the City Commission approve the Consent Agenda as presented.  
 
Motion carried 5-0.  

 
 
Design Review 
Board.  Appointed 
Cantley and Price. 
 
 
 

 
9. APPOINTMENTS TO THE DESIGN REVIEW BOARD.  
 

Ryan Smith (architect) has served on the Design Review Board since March 
of 2001.  He was not eligible to be reappointed.  Bill Stuff (architect) was 
appointed in January of 2004.  Mr. Stuff was not interested in reappointment.  
Therefore, it was necessary to appoint two new members to fill these 
vacancies.  It was recommended that one of the new appointments be an 
architect. 
 
Commissioner Jovick-Kuntz moved, seconded by Commissioners 
Beecher and Hinz, that the City Commission appoint David J. Cantley 
and Jean L. Price to the Design Review Board for three-year terms 
expiring March 31, 2010. 
 

Motion carried 5-0. 
 

Board of 
Adjustment/Appeals.  
Appointed 
Cummings. 
 
 
 

10. APPOINTMENT TO THE BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT/APPEALS.  
 

Jeff Witte was appointed in September of 1999. Mr. Witte was not eligible 
for reappointment.  Therefore, it was necessary to appoint one member to the 
Board of Adjustment/Appeals. 
 
 



February 20, 2007       JOURNAL OF COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS  2007.25 
 

02/20/07 

Commissioner Rosenbaum moved, seconded by Commissioners Hinz and 
Jovick-Kuntz, that the City Commission appoint Casey Cummings to the 
Board of Adjustment/Appeals for a three-year term expiring September 
30, 2010. 
 

Motion carried 5-0. 
 

Scheel’s.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

13.  CITY COMMISSION REPORT.  
 
Commissioner Rosenbaum thanked Scheel’s for such a progressive store and 
a great investment in our community.  Commissioner Hinz added that it really 
is one of our only “Destination Stores” here in Great Falls and expressed her 
thanks to Scheel’s also. 
 

Highwood 
Generating Station.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

14.  PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS.   
 
The following people provided testimony regarding the Highwood 
Generating Station. Charles Bocock (Great Falls); Mary Jolley (1910 2nd 
Avenue North); Ron Gessaman (1006 36th Avenue NE); and Ken Thornton 
(31 Paradise Road). The comments generally pertained to Lewis & Clark 
landmark location, support ads published by SME, the R.W. Beck study, the 
Environmental Impact Statement, pollution, operating costs and technology to 
be used at the Highwood Generating Station.   
 
City Manager John Lawton addressed a number of the questions brought up 
under the Petitions and Communications and cautioned those testifying not to 
impugn the integrity of viable, credible companies.  
 
Commissioner Hinz inquired about the recouping of development costs and 
Mr. Lawton responded with an explanation of debt and bond issues. 
 

 
Adjourn. ADJOURNMENT 

 
There being no further business to come before the Commission, 
Commissioner Bill Beecher moved, seconded by Commission 
Rosenbaum that the regular meeting of February 20, 2007, be 
adjourned at 6:35 p.m.  
 
Motion carried 5-0.   
 
 
 

Mayor Dona R. Stebbins 
 

 
Cindy Kenczka, Assistant to the City Clerk 

 



CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA AGENDA   13

COMMUNICATION TO THE CITY COMMISSION DATE: March 6, 2007

ITEM: $5000 Report
Budget or Contract Claims in Excess of $5000

PRESENTED BY: City Controller

ACTION REQUESTED: Approval With Consent Agenda

APPROVAL:______________________________

TOTAL CHECKS ISSUED AND WIRE TRANSFERS MADE ARE NOTED BELOW WITH AN

ITEMIZED LISTING OF ALL TRANSACTIONS GREATER THAN $5000:

MASTER ACCOUNT CHECK RUN FOR  FEBRUARY 21, 2007 643,917.39
MASTER ACCOUNT CHECK RUN FOR  FEBRUARY 28, 2007 503,505.50
MUNICIPAL COURT ACCOUNT CHECK RUN FOR  FEBRUARY 16, 2007 76,927.72
MUNICIPAL COURT ACCOUNT CHECK RUN FOR  FEBRUARY 23, 2007 2,302.00
WIRE TRANSFERS FROM FEBRUARY 21, 2007 90,899.93
WIRE TRANSFERS FROM  FEBRUARY 27, 2007 43,160.00
WIRE TRANSFERS FROM FEBRUARY 28, 2007 47,820.99

TOTAL:  $ 1,408,533.53

GENERAL FUND

POLICE

ADVANCED INTERACTIVE SYSTEMS SCHOOLS CONTENT 2,010.00
ADVANCED INTERACTIVE SYSTEMS REMINGTON 870 DRY FIRE LASER 3,755.00
STANFORD POLICE & EMERGENCY GRANT TO PURCHASE VESTS 11,189.81

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND

SUPPORT & INNOVATION FUND

GREAT FALLS BUSINESS 07 TAX DISTRIBUTION 8,973.23

911 SPECIAL REVENUE

GRABAR  VOICE & DATA 16 CHANNEL NICELOG 7,960.00

POLICE SPECIAL

ROBERT LOPEZ BUY MONEY FOR NARCOTICS 8,000.00

STREET DISTRICT

HOLMAN GRAIN STREET SANDING MATERIAL 7,515.04

FEDERAL BLOCK GRANTS

A T KLEMENS & SONS TRANSFORMER/DUNN BROWN 15,345.00

HOME GRANTS

NEIGHBORHOOD HOUSING SERVICES PMT #1 HOME PROJECT FILE # 770501 6,044.08

Page 1 of 2



CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA AGENDA   13

COMMUNICATION TO THE CITY COMMISSION DATE: March 6, 2007

CAPITAL PROJECTS

GENERAL CAPITAL

CONTRACT FLOORING CARPET FISCAL SERVICES 12,977.00

ENTERPRISE FUNDS

WATER

CETA GROUP INC OF #1445.2 EMERALD GREENS 12,147.48
DANA KEPNER CO METERS 13,300.00
DANA KEPNER CO TOUCHREAD UNITS RADIO READ UNITS 21,260.00
THATCHER CO ALUMINUM SULFATE 11,392.41
THOMAS, DEAN & HOSKINS PMT #9 BNRR/RIVER DR  OF# 1307 17,047.56
THOMAS, DEAN & HOSKINS PMT #10 FLOCCULATION OF 1332.2 6,502.75
THOMAS, DEAN & HOSKINS PMT #4 SUNNYSIDE WATER PRESSURE 10,644.31

SEWER

NEWMECH COMPANIES INC PMT #1 FOR WWTP CO-GEN  OF#1404 370,722.82
VEOLIA WATER NORTH AMERICA OPERATION FEB 2007 192,281.92
VEOLIA WATER NORTH AMERICA MINOR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 12,500.00
FALLS CONSTRUCTION PMT #1  10TH AVE N STORM DRAIN 108,949.40

SAFETY SERVICES

QWEST FEBRUARY CHARGES 6,256.02

PARKING

APCOA/STANDARD PARKING MARCH 2007 COMPENSATION 22,650.01

GOLF COURSES

US BANK NA DEBT SERVICE SERIES 1998 32,797.50
US BANK NA DEBT SERVICE SERIES 1999 10,362.50

CIVIC CENTER

GREAT FALLS SYMPHONY PAYOUT TICKET PROCEEDS  "JESUS" 8,901.93

INTERNAL SERVICES FUND

BLUE CROSS/BLUE SHIELD  OF MT ADMIN & REINS. FEES JAN & FEB 2007 75,361.05
BLUE CROSS/BLUE SHIELD  OF MT GROUP/HMO CLMS 02/14/07 TO 02/20/07 90,899.93
BLUE CROSS/BLUE SHIELD  OF MT GROUP/HMO CLMS 02/21/07 TO 02/28/07 47,820.99

CENTRAL GARAGE

MOUNTAIN VIEW CO-OP UNLEADED 12,581.02
MOUNTAIN VIEW CO-OP UNLEADED 11,488.20
MOUNTAIN VIEW CO-OP DIESEL 14,489.97

FACILITIES MAINTENANCE

BLANKET PURCHASE ORDERS

MUNICIPAL COURT

CITY OF GREAT FALLS FINES AND FORFEITURES 75,172.72

CLAIMS OVER $5000 TOTAL: $ 1,269,299.65

Page 2 of 2



CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA                                                                                                         AGENDA:           14      
COMMUNICATION TO THE CITY COMMISSION DATE: March 6, 2007__     

                    

 
ITEM:    CONTRACT LIST 

Itemizing contracts not otherwise approved or ratified by City Commission Action 
(Listed contracts are available for inspection in the City Clerks Office.) 

 
PRESENTED BY:   Peggy J. Bourne, City Clerk 
 
ACTION REQUESTED:  Ratification of Contracts through the Consent Agenda 
 
MAYOR’S SIGNATURE:  ___________________________________________                                                                      

                 
 
 CONTRACT LIST 

 
  

DEPARTMENT 

 
OTHER PARTY 

(PERSON OR 
ENTITY) 

 
PERIOD  

 
FUND 

 
AMOUNT 

 
PURPOSE 

 
A 

Park and Recreation U.S. Air Force Hertiage 
Program (USAFHP) 

04/01/07 – 
03/31/08 

N/A None Loan of Aircraft F-102A for 
Static Display Program at 
Lion’s Park 

B 

Police Department Johnson Controls 07/01/05 -
06/30/07 

100-2111-522-3691 
(78%) and  
221-2113-522-3691 
Project #219273 
(12%) 

$7,123  
07/01/05-06/30/06 
$7,336 
07/01/06-06/30/07 

Service Agreement for the 
Police Department’s HVAC 
and automatic temperature 
control systems.  

 



 

 

 
 
 

 
 
            

 
       

 
         

 
   

 
                 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
   

 

  
 

 

 

 
 

  
 

-  -  -  -  -   

CITY OF GREAT FALLS      AGENDA      15   
 
AGENDA REPORT  DATE  March 6, 2007  

ITEM:   AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  AGREEMENT WITH  
INTERSTATE ENGINEERING FOR REHABILITATION OF THE MITCHELL, WATER 
TOWER, AND JAYCEE POOLS, O. F. 1501       

INITIATED BY:  PARK & RECREATION DEPARTMENT 

ACTION REQUESTED: APPROVE AMENDMENT NO.1 

PREPARED BY: PATTY REARDEN, DEPUTY PARK & RECREATION DIRECTOR 

PRESENTED BY:   JAMES SULLIVAN,  PARK & RECREATION DIRECTOR 

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends that Amendment No. 1 to the engineering 
agreement for the Rehabilitation of the Mitchell, Water Tower, and Jaycee Pools, O. F. 1501 be 
approved and the necessary documents executed by the City Manager.  

MOTION:  “I move the City Commission approve Amendment No. 1 in the amount of 
$19,700.00 with Interstate Engineering, Inc., for the Rehabilitation of the Mitchell, Water Tower 
and Jaycee Pools, O. F. 1501, and authorize the City Manager to execute the agreement.” 

SYNOPSIS:  Amendment No. 1 provides professional services for design of two splash decks to 
be located at the Water Tower and Jaycee Pools.  Construction is scheduled to begin on June 1st  
at the Water Tower Pool, with both splash decks to be completed by June 15, 2008.    

BACKGROUND: 
On December 19, 2006, the City Commission approved the Professional Services Agreement 
with Interstate Engineering, Inc., in the amount of $217,500 for the Rehabilitation of the 
Mitchell, Water Tower and Jaycee Pools, O. F. 1501.   

At the February 6, 2007 City Commission Work Sessions, Park & Recreation staff presented 
several options for the location of spray parks in the City.  After weighing the pros and cons of 
all locations, staff recommended that two spray parks be placed in conjunction with the two 
neighborhood pools, Water Tower and Jaycee. The City Commission concurred with that 
recommendation.  Rationale for these locations included:  With the combination of the pool, a 
proposed water slide and the splash deck, the facilities would become aquatics complexes that 
would add much more attraction and entertainment for youth in the community; they are good 
locations for children demographically; they could share facilities and infrastructure with the 
pools; parking is fairly good; and vandalism can be more easily controlled. 

The estimated cost for the two splash decks including engineering costs is $260,000. 

Attachments:  Professional Services Agreement (2 originals) 
[Not available online; on file in City Clerk’s office. ] 



 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
     

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA AGENDA # 16  
 
A G E N D A R E P O R T   DATE  March 6, 2007  

ITEM: CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT AWARD: SANITARY SEWER TRENCHLESS 
REHABILITATION, PHASE 11, O.F. 1425.6 

INITIATED BY: PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT/ENGINEERING DIVISION 

ACTION REQUESTED:  AWARD CONTRACT 

PRESENTED BY: JIM REARDEN, PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 

MOTION: "I move the City Commission award a contract in the amount of $120,791 to PEC, Inc. 
for the Sanitary Sewer Trenchless Rehabilitation, Phase 11, O.F. 1425.6, and authorize the City 
Manager to sign the construction contract documents." 

PROJECT TITLE: Sanitary Sewer Trenchless Rehabilitation, Phase 11, O.F. 1425.6 

RECOMMENDED CONTRACTOR: PEC, Inc. 

CONTRACT AMOUNT:   $120,791 

ENGINEER’S ESTIMATE: $100,780 

START DATE: April 1, 2007 

COMPLETION DATE: May 1, 2007 (30 Calendar Days) 

PENALTY/INCENTIVE TERMS: Liquidated Damages, $400.00/Day 

SYNOPSIS: This project is a continuation of an ongoing program to rehabilitate existing sewer 
mains utilizing trenchless technology methods.  This project will rehabilitate sewer mains that 
have severely deteriorated over the years. The project will install an interior liner in 1,762 feet 
of main, greatly extending the life and reducing routine maintenance costs.      

The bid opening was held on February 23, 2007 with 2 bids submitted.  PEC, Inc submitted the low 
bid in the amount of $120,791.  The bid tabulation summary is attached.  Funding for this project 
will come from the sewer capital funds. 

BACKGROUND:  This project will make use of trenchless technology installation methods, in 
particular lining the existing piping with a Cured-In-Place-Pipe (CIPP) liner.  Trenchless technology 
was recommended for this project for a number of reasons, including lower cost, ease of installation, 
greatly reduced surface disruption, and elimination of utility conflicts. 



 

 

 

This project will rehabilitate 1,762 feet of 8 and 9 inch diameter mains.  These mains are made of 
vitrified clay and are past their expected useful lifespan. The mains have begun to crack and in some 
cases pieces of pipe have broken away causing holes to form in the sewers. This causes an 
environmental concern and also maintenance problems with keeping the lines in working order. 

City Engineering Staff completed the project design and will perform construction inspection and 
administration. 

Attachment:  Bid Tabulation Summary 



 
 

 

 
 

 
     

 
   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

-  -  -  -  -      

CITY OF GREAT FALLS      AGENDA 17  
 
AGENDA REPORT     DATE  March 6, 2007  

ITEM:      CHANGE ORDER NO. 2 – CONTRACT O2, GENERAL CONSTRUCTION 
 FOR THE WATERWATER  TREATMENT PLANT COGENERATION  
PROJECT, O. F. 1404         

INITIATED BY:        PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT / ENGINEERING DIVISION 

ACTION REQUESTED:  APPROVE CHANGE ORDER NO. 2 

PRESENTED BY:     JIM REARDEN, PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 

RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends approval of Change Order No. 2 to 
NewMech Companies, Inc. (NewMech) for Contract 02 – General Construction for the 
Wastewater Treatment Plant Cogeneration Project, O. F. 1404.  

MOTION:  “I move the City Commission approve Change Order No. 2 of $8,129.00 to 
NewMech Companies, Inc. for Contract 02 – General Construction for the Wastewater 
Treatment Plant Cogeneration Project, O. F. 1404, and authorize the City Manager to 
execute the agreements.” 

SYNOPSIS:  This change order takes into account three separate items.  At the 
contractor’s request and with our consultant’s (Stanley Group) concurrence, $21,467.00 
is requested to be added to the contract for a variety of electrical and instrumentation  
modifications/upgrades.  At the same time, a credit of $9,267.00 is being received for an 
underground concrete vault that was eliminated, plus $4,071.00 for a change in the type 
of electrical transformer to be installed. The original contract price of $1,143,000.00 will 
be increased by $8,129.00 for a total contract price of $1,151,129.00 

BACKGROUND:  On November 21, 2006, the City Commission awarded a contract to 
NewMech for general construction and installation of equipment that will use methane 
gas produced in the treatment process at the wastewater treatment plant to generate 
electricity and heat to meet part of the plant’s energy requirements.  Construction started 
in December and is scheduled to be completed this spring.  Also of note, all of the 
equipment that was pre-purchased under Contract 01 has been delivered, and most of it 
has been installed. 

Attachments:  Change Order No. 2 (Not available online; on file in the City Clerk’s Office.) 

File: 1404co2ar 



 
      

  
  
 
 
 

     

     

     

     
                        
  
    
                             

   

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA   AGENDA #   18  
                       
AGENDA REPORT DATE:   March 6, 2007  

ITEM:                                   ONE NEW 2007 TANDEM AXLE ROLL-OFF CAB & CHASSIS  
                           
INITIATED BY:                  PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT      
                                             
ACTION REQUESTED:    POSTPONE BID AWARD       
                                                           
PRESENTED BY:               JIM REARDEN, PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR    

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends that the City Commission postpone the bid award for one new 2007 
tandem axle roll-off cab & chassis.     

MOTION: 

I move that the City Commission postpone the bid award for one new 2007 tandem axle roll-
off cab & chassis. 

SYNOPSIS: 

The specifications were advertised three times in the Great Falls Tribune and mailed to four 
prospective bidders, with three bidders responding.  The bids were opened on February 21, 
2007. All bids came in over the budgeted allocation.  Staff is requesting additional time to 
evaluate funding options for this purchase. 

BACKGROUND: 

This unit will be used in the Sanitation Division.  Funds for its purchase were provided in the 
FY 2007 Sanitation Budget. 



 

  
 

  
 

 

 
 

    
 

     
 

   
 

   
 

   
 
        
 
        
 
        
 
        
 
        
 
        
 
        

NEW 2006 OR 2007 TANDEM AXLE TRUCK 
CITY OF GREAT FALLS 
PO BOX 5021 
GREAT FALLS MT 59403 
 

Project Number 
Bids Taken at Civic Center 
Date: February 21, 2007  
Tabulated By: Kelly Audet 
Page 1 of 1 

NAME & ADDRESS 
OF BIDDER    Bid Security 

Affidavit of 
Non-

Collusion User’s List 
Bid Price for 

1 Unit Make Model 

I-State Truck Center BB 10% √ √ $98,528.00 Sterling LT9500 

I-State Alternate Bid BB 10% √ √ $95,063.00 Sterling LT9500 

Tri-State Equipment BB $10,500 * √ √ $98,235.00 Volvo VHD64F200 

Tri-State Alternate 
Bid √ √ $101,820.00 Mack GU713 

Motor Power BB $15,000 √ √ $96,950.00 Kenworth T800 

* Tri-State’s Bid Bond is good for both bids. 



 
 
 

   
 

 
   

 

 
   

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Roll-Off Cab & Chassis Bid List – Updated 2/21/07 

Tri-State Equipment 
5024 Tri-Hill Frontage Road 
Great Falls MT 59404 

I State Truck Center 
P.O. Box 2165 
Great Falls MT 59403 

Motor Power Great Falls 
P.O. Box 2264 
Great Falls MT 59403 

HCL Equipment 
ATTN:  Mike 
P.O. Box 1338 
Billings MT  59103 



 
 

 
  
 

 
 

 
     

 
            

 
   

 
 

 

 

 

 
     

 

 

  
 

   
 

 
 

 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA   AGENDA #  19  
 
AGENDA REPORT      DATE March 6, 2007 

ITEM:             ONE NEW 2007 TANDEM AXLE TRUCK     
                                               WITH A NEW 2007 REARLOAD REFUSE PACKER  

INITIATED BY:                  PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 

ACTION REQUESTED: AWARD BID 

PRESENTED BY:               JIM REARDEN, PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends that the City Commission award the bid for one new 2007 tandem axle 
truck with a new 2007 rearload refuse packer to I-State Truck Center in Great Falls for 
$149,137, including trade-in. 

MOTION: 

I move that the City Commission award the bid for one new 2007 tandem axle truck with a 
new 2007 rearload refuse packer to I-State Truck Center in Great Falls for $149,137, 
including trade-in. 

SYNOPSIS: 

The specifications were advertised three times in the Great Falls Tribune and mailed to six 
prospective bidders with two bidders responding.  The bids were opened on January 17, 
2007. The bid award was postponed by the City Commission on February 6, 2007 and 
postponed again on February 20, 2007 to allow staff additional time to review the bids. A 
demonstration of the truck being considered was viewed by staff as part of the evaluation 
process. 

Following further review staff recommends the purchase of the 2007 Sterling LT9500 cab 
and chassis with the Newway King Cobra 25-yard packer body from I-State Truck Center, 
the lowest bid meeting all of the specifications. 

Staff recommends accepting the trade-in offer of $13,550 for the City’s 1995 Volvo (#906), 
VIN# 4V5JCBPE0TR850557 with 1995 Leach 2RII 25-yard packer. 

BACKGROUND: 

This unit will be used in the Sanitation Division.  Funds for its purchase are provided for in 
the FY 2007 Sanitation Budget. 



 

 
  
 

 

 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
        
 
        
 
        
 
        
 
        
 
        
 
        
 
        

ONE NEW 2006 OR 2007 TANDEM AXLE TRUCK WITH  
NEW 2007 REARLOAD REFUSE PACKER  

CITY OF GREAT FALLS 
PO BOX 5021 
GREAT FALLS MT 59403 
 

Project Number 
Bids Taken at Civic Center 
Date: January 17, 2007   
Tabulated By: Elna Hensley 
Page 1 of 1 

NAME & ADDRESS 
OF BIDDER    

Bid Security 
Affidavit of 

Non-
Collusion User’s List 

Initial Bid 
Price (1) unit 

Trade In 
Allowance Net Bid Price 

Make/Model 
Cab & 
Chassis 

Make/Model 
Packer Body 

I-State Truck Center 
10% Bond 

Yes Yes $167,479 $13,550 $153,929 
Sterling 
LT9500 Leach 2RIII 

I-State Truck Center 
10% Bond 

Yes Yes $167,417 $15,000 $152,417 
Sterling 
LT9500 

Heil 
Durapack 5000 

I-State Truck Center 
10% Bond 

Yes Yes $162,687 $13,550 $149,137 
Sterling 
LT9500 

Newway King 
Cobra 25-yard 

Motorpower-Kenworth 
$20,000 Bond 

Yes Yes $169,650 $13,550 $156,100 Kenworth T800 Leach 2RIII 

Motorpower-Kenworth 
$20,000 Bond 

Yes Yes $164,870 $13,550 $151,320 Kenworth T800 
Newway King 

Cobra 

Motorpower-Kenworth 
$20,000 Bond 

Yes Yes $169,600 $15,000 $154,600 Kenworth T800 
Heil 

Durapack 5000 



 
 

 
 
 

   
 
 

 
   

 
 

  
 

   
 
 

 
   

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
   

 

REARLOADER 
BIDDERS LIST 

Tri-State Equipment 
5024 Tri-Hill Frontage Road 
Great Falls MT 59404 

I State Truck Center 
PO Box 2165 
Great Falls MT 59403 

Kois Brothers Equipment 
PO Box 1728 
Great Falls MT 59403 

Motor Power Great Falls 
PO Box 2264 
Great Falls MT 59403 

Solid Waste Systems 
Attn:  Ken Reistad 
PO Box 13040 
Spokane WA  99213 

McNeilus Truck & Mfg. 
Attn:  Aaron Lay 
PO Box 1128 
Commerce City CO 80022 

2/2/2007 



 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
     

 

 

_   _   _   _   _ 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA  AGENDA #  20 
 
A G E N D A R E P O R T  DATE  March 6, 2007 

ITEM      Preliminary Plat of Castle Pines Addition Phase 5 

INITIATED BY       Harold Poulson, Property Owner and Developer 

ACTION REQUESTED     Approve Preliminary Plat and Findings of Fact 

PREPARED BY  Charles Sheets, Planner I 

APPROVED & PRESENTED BY    Benjamin Rangel, Planning Director 

RECOMMENDATION: 
The Great Falls Planning Board has recommended the City Commission approve the Preliminary Plat of Castle 
Pines Addition Phase 5, and the accompanying Findings of Fact subject to fulfillment of stipulated conditions. 

MOTION: 
“I move the City Commission approve the Preliminary Plat of Castle Pines Addition Phase 5 and the 
accompanying Findings of Fact subject to fulfillment of conditions stipulated by the Planning Board.” 

SYNOPSIS: 
Castle Pines Addition Phase 5 is located along the east side of the 13th Street South and in the vicinity of 27th 

Avenue South.  The subdivision consists of 21 lots for single-family residences.   

BACKGROUND: 
Harold Poulsen has submitted applications regarding the following:  

1) Preliminary Plat of Castle Pines Addition, Phase 5, located in the Section 19, Township 20 North, Range 
4 East, Cascade County, Montana. 

2) Rezoning the addition from the current County “R-2” Low Density Residential District to the City zoning 
of R-3 Single-family high density, when annexed to the City. 

Castle Pines Addition was first preliminary platted in 1995 and was proposed to contain factory-built homes that 
would be sold as alternative housing to homes built on-site. 

For additional information, please refer to the attached Vicinity/Zoning Map and Preliminary Plat. 

Similar to Castle Pines Addition Phase 3, Neighborhood Housing Services is working with NeighborWorks to 
acquire all 21 lots in the subdivision to accommodate construction of “self-help” homes.  Funding arrangements 
stipulate the homes be constructed outside the City Limits.  Therefore, although the subdivision and annexation 
will be processed simultaneously, upon filing the final plat, the lots will be sold, homes constructed and 
infrastructure installed, with annexation becoming effective, probably in phases, when the homes are ready for 
occupancy. 

Access to the lots in the subdivision will be from 13th Street South at 27th Avenue South.  Within the subdivision, 
Castle Pines Way will connect to the north with Castle Pines Addition Phase 1.  27th Avenue South will connect to 
the east with Castle Pines Addition Phase 3. Roadways in the subdivision will be improved to City standards with 
paving, curb and gutter. 

City water and sewer mains exist in Castle Pines Way to the north and in 27th Avenue South to the east. 



        

 
  

 
 

 

 
  

 
 

      
       

  

 

 

 

    
    
      
    
  
     
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Based on land contours, the area generally slopes to the northwest.  The Master Plan Agreement which 
accompanied Castle Pines Addition Phase 1 indicates the developer of Phase 1 and the City participated jointly in 
the construction of a surface drainage control facility (south of the Multi-Sports Complex) and storm drain piping 
in 13th Street South to serve the area being developed as Castle Pines Addition.  City storm sewer will be extended 
south, with inlets in 27th Avenue South. 

According to the Master Plan Agreement, the developer of Castle Pines Phase 1 paid to the City $12,261 in lieu of 
dedicating park land for the area covered by the original master plan for Castle Pines Subdivision.  Castle Pines 
Phase 5 is included within that original master plan area. 

An Off-Site Improvement Trust Fund was established in conjunction with Castle Pines Phase 1 wherein as each lot 
is sold a monetary amount is deposited in the trust fund to assist in the eventual improvement of 13th Street South 
and 24th Avenue South, including water main installation and providing a secondary water source to the Castle 
Pines area. 

The Planning Board conducted a public hearing on the preliminary plat on February 13, 2007.  The development 
has generated no public comment.  At the conclusion of the public hearing, the Planning Board unanimously 
passed a motion recommending the City Commission approve the Preliminary Plat of Castle Pines Phase 5 and the 
accompanying Findings of Fact subject to the following conditions being fulfilled by the applicant: 

1) The final plat of Castle Pines Addition Phase 5 shall incorporate correction of any errors or 
omissions noted by staff including dedicating the westerly 10 feet to widen 13th Street South. 

2) The final engineering drawings and specifications for the required public improvements to serve 
Phase 5 shall be submitted to the City Public Works Department for review and approval prior to 
consideration of the final plat. 

3) An Annexation Agreement shall be prepared containing terms and conditions for annexation of 
Castle Pines Phase 5, including agreement by applicant to: 
a) install, within two years of the date of annexation of Castle Pines Phase 5, the public 

improvements referenced in Paragraph 2) above,  
b) adhere to the Agreement dated November 7, 1995, pertaining to the previously mentioned 

Off-Site Improvement Trust Fund, and  
c) prohibit private driveway approaches to 13th Street South from abutting lots in Phase 5. 

4) All applicable fees owed as a condition of plat or annexation approval shall be paid upon final 
platting and annexation, including: 
a) annexation resolution fee $ 100.00 
b) annexation agreement fee 200.00 
c) final plat fee 200.00 
d) storm sewer fee ($250/acre) to be determined 
e) recording fees for annexation 

documents ($11 per page)  to be determined 

The zoning for the subdivision will be further addressed as the final plat together with accompanying annexation 
documents are considered. 

Attach: Vicinity/Zoning Map 
  Preliminary  Plat 
  Findings of Fact 

cc: Jim Rearden, Public Works Director 
Dave Dobbs, City Engineer 
Harold Poulsen, P.O. Box 1376 
Woith Engineering, 1725 41st St S 
Neighborhood Housing Services, Al Henry, 509 1st Ave S 







 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

  

 

   

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 

 
 

 

  
 

 
   

    

FINDINGS OF FACT 
FOR PRELIMINARY PLAT OF CASTLE PINES PHASE 5 

IN SECTION 19, T20N, R4E, CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA 
(PREPARED IN RESPONSE TO 76-3-608(3)MCA) 

I. PRIMARY REVIEW CRITERIA 

Effect on Agricultural 
The subdivision site is not used for agricultural purposes. The subdivision will not interfere with any irrigation system or 
present any interference with agricultural operations in the vicinity. 

Effect on Local Services 
The subdivision will connect to City water and sewer systems.  The cost of extending the utility systems will be paid by 
the subdivider. The City should not experience an appreciable increase in maintenance and operating costs. The 
occupants of eventual homes within the subdivision will pay regular water and sewer charges. 

The subdivision will receive law enforcement and fire protection services from the City of Great Falls.  The nearest fire 
station is three miles from the subdivision site. Providing these services to the single family lots in the subdivision is 
expected to be a negligible cost to the City. Any increased costs likely will be covered by increased tax revenues from 
improved properties. 

Public streets will be extended into the subdivision to serve the proposed residential lots, but the subdivision will have a 
negligible impact on cost of road maintenance.  The subdivider will have responsibility to install curb, gutter and paving 
in the roadways within the subdivision. 

Effect on the Natural Environment 
The subdivision is not expected to adversely affect soils or the water quality or quantity of surface or ground waters. 
Surface drainage from the subdivision will be directed to the west into a storm sewer main in 13th Street South which 
discharges into an existing storm water detention facility along the south side of 21st Avenue South and west of 13th 

Street South which is owned and maintained by the City. 

Effect on Wildlife and Wildlife Habitat 
The subdivision is in close proximity to urban development.  The subdivision is not in an area of significant wildlife 
habitat and will not result in closure of public access to hunting or fishing areas, nor to public lands. 

Effect on Public Health and Safety 
Based on available information, the subdivision is not subject to abnormal potential natural hazards such as flooding, snow or 

rockslides, wildfire, nor potential man-made hazards such as high voltage power lines, nearby industrial or 
mining activity, or high traffic volumes.  

II. REQUIREMENTS OF MONTANA SUBDIVISION AND PLATTING ACT, UNIFORM STANDARDS FOR 
MONUMENTATION, AND LOCAL SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS 

The subdivision meets the requirements of the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act and the surveying requirements specified in 
the Uniform Standards for Monumentation, and will conform to the design standards specified in the local 
subdivision regulations.  The subdivider and the local government have complied with the subdivision review 
and approval procedures set forth in the local subdivision regulations. 

III. EASEMENT FOR UTILITIES 

Utilities will be accommodated in dedicated public road right-of-way and utility easements provided as part of the subdivision 
plat. 

IV. LEGAL AND PHYSICAL ACCESS 

Dedicated public roadways (Castle Pines Drive, Castle Pines Way, and 27th Avenue South) to be improved to municipal 
standards and maintained by the City will provide legal and physical access to the subdivision and to each proposed lot in 
the subdivision. 


	Agenda March 6, 2007
	Item 2 - Res. 9625, Cost Recovery, L7, B462, GF 1st Add., 510 11th St S
	Amended Resolution 9625
	Attachments Item 2

	Item 3 - Public Hearing – Resolution No. 9636 to Annex and Ordinance No. 2961 to Establish City Zoning Upon Eagle’s Crossing Phase II
	Resolution 9636
	Ordinance 2961
	Attachments Item 3

	Item 4 - Public Hearing – Resolution No. 9637 to Annex and Ordinance No. 2962 to Establish City Zoning Upon Eagle’s Crossing Phase III
	Resolution 9637
	Ord 2962
	Attachments Item 4

	Item 5 - Public Hearing - Resolutions 9639 & 9643 to annex and Ordinance 2960 to establish zoning for ULRRW&SD No 1
	Resolution 9639
	Resolution 9643
	Ordinance 2960

	Iten 6 - Ordinance 2950 Great Falls Land Development Code Amendments
	Ordinance 2950
	Ordinance 2950 -- Exhibit "A"
	Zoning & Land Development Code Proposed Amendments 2007
	08-Interpretation, Construction, and Definitions
	16-Administrative and Enforcement Procedures
	20-Land Use
	24-Subdivision and Platting
	28-Design Review
	32-Transportation Facilities
	36-Parking
	44-Landscaping
	56-Floodplain Overlay Districts
	64-Non Conformities
	68-Timing of Improvements, Improvemnt Agreements, and Dedications
	Appendix F - Land Use Definitions


	Attachment Item 6

	Item 7 - Ordinance No. 2963 to Establish City Zoning Upon Northview Addition Phase 2
	Ordinance 2963
	Attachments Item 7

	Item 8 - Ordinance No. 2964 to Establish City Zoning Upon Cottage Grove Addition Phase 2
	Ordinance 2964
	Attachments Item 8

	Item 9 - Ordinance 2965, Amending OCCGF 9.90 Fireworks Policy
	Ordinance 2965

	Item 10 - Ordinance 2967, Great Falls West Bank Urban Renewal Plan, O.F. 1499
	Amended Ordinance 2967
	West Bank Urban Renewal Plan; Great Falls, Montana, 2007
	Table of Contents
	Chapter 1. Introductions
	Chapter 2. Description of the Urban Renewal District
	Chapter 3. Key Findings
	Chapter 4. Goals and Strategies of the West Bank Urban Renewal Plan
	Chapter 5. Planning Approach -- The Defining Elements
	Chapter 6. Implementation
	Appendix A. Resolution of Blight
	Appendix B -- WEst Bank Urban Renewal District Parcel Data
	Appendix C. Public Utilities in teh West Bank Urban Renewal District
	Appendix D; Allowable Uses of Tax Increment Funds



	Item 11 - Ordinance 2968, Amending OCCGF Title 2, Chapter 50, Section 040 pertaining to Neighborhood Council candidate requirements
	Ordinance 2968

	Item 12 - Minutes, February 20, 2007, Commission meeting.
	Item 13 - $5,000 Report
	Item 14 - Contract List
	Item 15 - Amendment No. 1 to Professional Services Agreement for Rehabilitation of Mitchell, Water Tower, & Jaycee Pools, O.F. 1501
	Item 16 - Construction Contra Award: Sanitary Sewer Trenchless Rehabilitation, Phase11, O.F. 1425.6
	Item 17 - Change Order 2, Contract 2, General Construction Wastewater Treatment Plant Cogeneration Project, O.F. 1404
	Item 18 - New 2007 Tandem Axle Roll-offi Cab & Chassis
	Attachments Item 18

	Item 19 - New 2007 Tandem Axle Truck with New 2007 Rearload Refuse Packer
	Attachments Item 19

	Item 20 - Preliminary Plat of Castle Pines Addition Phase 5



